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Revenue increased by 45.8% year-to-year to RMB17,340.7 million in 2024
from RMB11,896.2 million in 2023.

Adjusted EBITDA increased by 29.7% year-to-year from RMB3,123.9
million in 2023 to RMB4,050.2 million in 2024. Adjusted EBITDA margin
decreased from 26.3% in 2023 to 23.4% in 2024.

Adjusted net profit increased by 26.7% from RMB2,199.1 million in 2023
to RMB2,785.4 million in 2024. Adjusted net margin decreased from
18.5% in 2023 t0 16.1% in 2024.

Average MPUs increased by 4.4% year-to-year from 41.3 million in 2023
to 43.1 million in 2024.

APUs increased by 1.5% year-to-year from 234.7 million in 2023 to 238.3
million in 2024.

Twelve-month Accumulated Number of Travelers Served increased 9.3%
from 1,764.3 million in 2023 to 1,928.1 million in 2024.
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KEY HIGHLIGHTS
HMESH

1. 82— -—mE+=-—gF=+-—

1. KEY FINANCIAL METRICS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2024 B FENBEMBKER
Year ended December 31,
BE+-H=+—HLEE
Year-to-year
2024 2023 change
SEoNE ZEBZ=F CilsdiE)
(in RMB'000)
(AR¥EFT)
Revenue L ON 17,340,686 11,896,244 45.8%
Profit before income tax KPS H AR F 2,397,826 1,853,689 29.4%
Profit for the year FRREN 1,988,266 1,565,563 27.0%
Adjusted EBITDA K FEEBITDA 4,050,156 3,123,894 29.7%
Adjusted net profit for the year FRLFAE T FE 2,785,403 2,199,101 26.7%
Revenue growth (year-to-year) WA R (FILL) 45.8% 80.7%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 4EFHFEEBITDAF B & 23.4% 26.3%
Adjusted net margin PR F R R 16.1% 18.5%
Note: BiaE -

Please refer to “Other Financial Information” below for the meaning of “adjusted EBITDA"

and “adjusted net profit for the year”.

BRAEAREBITOA] R FRL AL REFFRE AR

®B2HTXIAMEBER] -
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Starting from the first quarter of 2024, our chief operating decision
makers ("CODMs") started to review information under a new reporting
structure, and segment reporting has been updated to conform to
this change. We think the new segment disclosure better reflects our
business strategies, the development phases of various businesses and
the financial performance, and better aligns with our resource allocation.
Our updated reportable segments comprise (i) Core OTA, which mainly
includes the former OTA segment; and (ii) tourism, which mainly
comprising offline travel agency related services and the operation of

scenic park.

Comparative figures were reclassified to conform to this presentation.

Accommodation reservation fAEET
Transportation ticketing SRE
Others £
Total revenue 10N

HERE  BERXRANERR

Cost of revenue, operating expenses

and unallocated items

Operating profit/(loss) 2%/ (BE)

Note:

Unallocated items mainly include (i) share-based compensation expenses; (ii)
depreciation of property, plant an equipment and right-of use assets from
acquisition; (iii) amortization of intangible assets from acquisition; (iv) fair value
changes of other financial investments at fair value through profit or loss; (v) other
income; (vi) other losses, net; and (vii) certain corporate administrative expenses
and other miscellaneous items. They are not allocated to individual segment.
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Year ended December 31,
HETZA=t-HLEE
2023
3
(in RMB'000)
(AR%FT)
Unallocated
Core OTA Tourism items Total
BRLER
it ER RARER a5t
3899514 i - 3899514
6030047 s - 6030047
1699365 267318 - 1966683
11628926 267318 - 1189244

(8676985 (275019 (1,074875)  (10,026,879)

2951941 (7701)  (1,074875) 1869365
BEE
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KEY HIGHLIGHTS
BEEH

3. OPERATING METRICS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3. BE=E-WE+=ZA=1+—
DECEMBER 31, 2024 HIEFEWNEEREE

Year ended December 31,
HE+ZA=+—HIEFE Yeartoyear
2024 2023 change
—EomE —T-=F [l L &£ &)

GMV (in RMB billion) R (AREHET) 2415 5.9%
Number of average MPUs (in million) FHANEBRFPHE GREE) 413 4.4%
APUs (in million) FNEAP (RB&) 234.7 1.5%
Accumulated Number of Travelers Served  + {8 A 25 R AKX (RE B

for the twelve-month ended (in million) 1,764.3 9.3%

ZENEFERY | ANNUAL REPORT 2024 9



Year ended December 31,

HEt-A=+-BLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020
=y S = % —Z-%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARETFT ARETT ARBTT
Revenue WA 11,896,244 6,584,666 7,537,556 5,932,591
Gross profit E | 8,738211 4,778,026 5,647,875 4,235,985
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRATERAERN /(F]) 1,853,689 (117,080) 874,899 397,577
Profit/(loss) for the year EREF/(BE) 1,565,563 (163,570) 713,525 325,533
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity AAFEZIFEA
holders of the Company LR/ (F8) 1,554,131 (146,009) 723,404 327,593
Total comprehensive income/(loss) &R 2K /(BE) BE
for the year 1,584,021 (61,936) 674,355 199,689
Total comprehensive income/(loss) A2 AR FE A
equity holders of the Company 5 Z2EKE / (F18) B8 1,572,789 (44,375) 684,234 201,749
Adjusted profit for the year FRERREA 2,199,101 646,172 1307822 953,972

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F



As of December 31,

ASSETS BE

Non-current assets FRBEE

Current assets RBEE

Total assets BEEAE

EQUITY i

Capital and reserves attributable to KA FEHEZEFA
equity holders of the Company EEERRGEE

Non-controlling interest FERER

Total equity EREE

LIABILITIES &

Non-current liabilities FRBAE

Current liabilities RBAE

Total liabilities BEAH

Total equity and liabilities ERREEAE

BZ+=-A=1-H
2023 2022 2021 2020
~E-CF —ToCF T —F B S 3
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARETT AR®TT ARETT
16,816,963 14,650,611 14,133,120 10,284,109
14,899,646 10,384,089 7,373,278 8,829,682
31,716,609 25,034,700 21,506,398 19,113,791
17,702,711 15,731,912 15,219,151 14,013,741
843,578 258344 39,455 2,930
18,546,289 15,990,256 15,258,606 14,016,671
1283226 2,927,842 1536378 863,265
11,887,094 6,116,602 4711414 433,855
13,170,320 9,044,444 6,247,792 5,097,120
31,716,609 25,034,700 21,506,398 19,113,791
—E_UEFERE | ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Wu Zhixiang

e

\7_‘% TN

Co-Chairman of the Board and Executive Director

EREMEEERFEN

I 'am very pleased to present you our annual report for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

China’s travel industry experienced robust growth throughout 2024, driven
by consumers’ strong desire for immersive travel experiences and exploration
of various destinations. We observed a sustained growth trajectory in travel
demand from the beginning of the year, which grew steadily through the
second quarter and reached the peak in the third quarter. Despite the fourth
quarter traditionally being a slack season, the travel industry exhibited great

resilience.
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As a leading travel platform in China, we swiftly adapted to market dynamics
and implemented effective strategies to capture emerging opportunities. In
2024, we achieved remarkable milestones, with our user base expanding to
new heights, and both business volume and revenue setting all-time records.
These accomplishments were driven by our continuous efforts to enhance
products and services, venture into new markets, as well as proactively
elevating user value on our platform. Additionally, we made significant
progress in expanding our outbound business and strengthened our global
presence during the year. These achievements solidified our position in the

market and set the stage for sustainable growth.

By implementing effective user acquisition and engagement initiatives, we
have not only accumulated a large user base but also improved user value.
On a yearly basis, our MPUs increased by 4.4% year-to-year to 43.1 million.
Our APUs increased by 1.5% year-to-year and reached 238.3 million, marking
a record high. Our twelve-month Accumulated Number of Travelers Served
increased by 9.3% to 1.93 billion, driven by the continuous improvement in
user purchase frequency. Building on our core strengths in user acquisition
and operational efficiency, we continued to expand our presence in China’s
mass market. As of December 31, 2024, our registered users residing in non-
first tier cities in China accounted for over 87% of the total registered users.
For the three months ended December 31, 2024, around 70% of our new

paying users on the Weixin platform were from non-first tier cities in China.

We continuously capitalized on the market opportunities and outpaced the
market with excellent results. For the year ended December 31, 2024, our
total revenue increased by 45.8% year-to-year from RMB11,896.2 million in
2023 to RMB17,340.7 million in 2024. Our adjusted net profit for the year
increased by 26.7% from RMB2,199.1 million in 2023 to RMB2,785.4 million in
2024, also reaching a record high. The adjusted net margin stood at 16.1%.

ERTFEALNKEY 6 RAXBEETS
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TEERE -

BAERAINESTREEHRE RIFTMER
BTEAHAFPER  MRESTHPEME &
FHE  BMOANERPRLLIER44%ES3.]
BEA BMOFRNERAPRLLIERS%ITE
F2383EBA  BIELHS - XAPEBEER
BERAES - @A R RB A KM
93%E 19318 « BERMNEZERELEHEHE
WZLMED  RPFERAEREARTISHN
TEH -BEE-_NF+-_A=+—H &
MEEEREE—RNTHOEMASGERA
FHENT%AL - BE_ZT-_ME+-_A=+
—HIE=@A  MEFAaHHERBPHRLI70%RK
B EIIE— R T o
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We continued to expand our traffic sources through both online and offline
channels, with a focus on improving operational efficiency. The Weixin
ecosystem remained a vital traffic source for us, and we have effectively
established a vast user base across China by leveraging its huge and stable
traffic. We continued to refine our operations within the Weixin ecosystem
to enhance user interactions. In addition, we have been actively diversifying
our traffic sources. Our standalone APP has become increasingly important
on a strategic level. Throughout the year, we have increased investments
in our standalone APP and launched a variety of customized marketing
campaigns to attract new users. As a result, the DAU of our standalone APP
grew significantly during the year, more than doubling that of last year.
Furthermore, we have recognized the potential power of social media
platforms and have been actively leveraging this trend to enhance user

engagement.

Our platform serves as a one-stop shop that provide travelers with an
extensive array of products and services to address their diverse needs
throughout their journeys. As of December 31, 2024, our online platforms
offered around 460,000 routes operated by more than 740 airlines and
agencies, approximately 3.9 million hotel selections and alternative
accommodation options, more than 150,000 bus routes, over 800 ferry routes,

and over 10,000 domestic tourist attraction ticketing services.

We place a strong emphasis on user value and have strategically invested in
our user loyalty program. We offered premium members a range of tailored
benefits, including price protection, free cancellation, access to VIP lounges,
and priority customer service. Meanwhile, our Black Whale members were
granted access to exclusive travel perks associated with social events, such
as concerts and music festival. These initiatives have not only enhanced
customer satisfaction but also fostered brand loyalty, hence increasing user
value. Additionally, we continuously optimized our cross-selling strategy to

increase revenue generation across multiple business units.
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As we seek to expand our international presence and become a key market
player, we continued to leverage our large user base to grow our outbound
travel business. In 2024, we seized the opportunity presented by the recovery
of demand in the outbound travel market and proactively enriched our
product and service offerings by forging closer partnerships with travel
service providers. Meanwhile, we adopted dynamic marketing strategies to
engage with our users. As a result, our outbound business achieved terrific

growth in the past year, further elevating our market share.

Our core OTA business demonstrated remarkable growth. For the year ended
December 31, 2024, our revenue from transportation ticketing services
increased by 19.9% year-to-year from RMB6,030.0 million to RMB7,229.0
million. The growth was mainly driven by the increase in ticketing volume
and the enhancement in value-added products and services. Our air
ticketing business continued to gain market share throughout the year,
registering solid growth in volume that surpassed the overall industry
growth. In particular, our international air ticketing business continued its
rapid expansion, fueled by a competitive pricing approach and aggressive
marketing efforts. Consequently, our international air ticket volume
for the year recorded a remarkable growth rate of over 130% year-to-
year. In addition, our train ticketing business delivered decent revenue
growth, supported by ongoing efforts to improve monetization through
optimizations of our intelligent Huixing system. The Huixing system offers
practical and accessible travel solutions, which improves user experience and

enhances user value on our platform.
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Our accommodation business also experienced strong growth. We achieved
record highs in both room nights sold and revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2024, with revenue growing by 19.7% year-to-year from
RMB3,899.5 million to RMB4,668.2 million. During the year, we persisted
our efforts to increase penetration in the mass market in China amid the
resilient demand. We are committed to delivering the best value-for-money
products and services to our users. We strengthened our partnership with
suppliers and collaborated to offer users with differentiated products and
services, thereby enhancing our product competitiveness. We also continued
to implement our cross-selling strategy, further diverting traffic from our
transportation business to our accommodation business. Moreover, our
international accommodation business experienced robust growth, with
room nights sold registering a year-to-year increase of over 110% for the full

year.

Our other business segment once again delivered a solid performance. For
the year ended December 31, 2024, revenue from other business increased
by 35.5% year-to-year and reached RMB2,302.2 million. As one of our key
industry chain initiatives, our hotel management business has continued
its growth momentum. By the end of December 2024, the number of
hotels in operation under our management has risen to nearly 2,300, with

approximately 1,400 hotels in the pipeline.

Beyond our core OTA operations, we also expanded into the broader travel
industry to explore growth opportunities. Our tourism business generated
revenue of RMB3,141.2 million for the full year, benefiting from the steady

industry recovery and our efforts to capitalize on market opportunities.
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We are committed to fostering high-quality development within the
travel industry by empowering our industry partners and enhancing user
experiences. In the fourth quarter of 2024, we partnered with the Eastern
Airport Group to help them implement targeted marketing strategies to
attract traffic. We also joined hands with a number of airports in Western
China region to conduct joint marketing campaigns centered around a
popular game, aiming at promoting the travel routes featured within the

game and boosting local tourism development.

As a technology-oriented company, we strategically incorporated emerging
technologies to enhance operational efficiency and elevate user experiences.
We have implemented an Al-driven customer service system to streamline
workflows and reduce workloads for our staff. Additionally, we have
equipped our employees with DeepSeek and other generative Al agents
so as to enhance their productivity at work. Additionally, we have self-
developed Chengxin (¥2/)), a proprietary generative Al system focusing
on tourism, which helps users create personalized travel itineraries and
comparing accommodation options based on their preferences. Through
Chengxin, we have also developed digital assistants for several tourist
destinations, providing personalized recommendations and facilitating
seamless interaction with tourists. Moreover, Chengxin has been integrated
into multiple external generative Al platforms and mobile devices to expand

our user reach.

In pursuit of the best-in-class ESG practices globally, we have made significant
progress in enhancing our ESG performance over the past few years. In
recognition of our outstanding ESG performance, we received an "AA” rating
for our MSCI ESG rating for the third consecutive year in 2024. Additionally,
we were included in S&P Global Sustainability Yearbook (China) for the
second consecutive year. Moving forward, we will continue to enhance our
ESG performance by aligning with higher international standards, striving to

generate greater value for society and our stakeholders.
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Throughout 2024, China’s travel industry exhibited strong growth and
sustained its upward trajectory. This positive momentum has carried into
2025, as evidenced by the notable travel demand during the Chinese New

Year travel rush, highlighting the industry’s ongoing expansion and vitality.

We maintain an optimistic outlook on the growth potential of China's
travel industry. We have observed a clear trend toward diversification and
personalization. Consumers are increasingly seeking unique and authentic
experiences that go beyond traditional tourist attractions, driving the creation
of more diverse travel scenarios. At the same time, the Chinese government
has introduced a series of supportive policies to expand the supply of travel
products and enrich consumption experiences, aligning with the goal of
establishing the travel industry as a key pillar of the national economy.
Moreover, we are confident about the growth potential of China’s outbound
travel, mainly driven by expansion of international flight capacity, relaxed visa

policies, and evolving travel preferences shaped by generational changes.

Going forward, we will leverage our core strengths to foster enduring
expansion. We are committed to strengthening our core OTA business by
enriching our product and service offerings and delivering greater value to
our users. At the same time, we will prioritize the expansion of our outbound
business to seize emerging opportunities and bolster our global footprint.
Besides, we will continue to advance our hotel management and packaged
tour businesses to strengthen our influence and competitive edge within
the industry. Furthermore, we will actively seek strategic investments that
align with our long-term goals to fuel the Company's growth trajectory.
Last but not least, we will emphasize corporate governance, environmental
protection, and social responsibility in our operations to generate long-term

value for our stakeholders.

Wu Zhixiang
Co-Chairman of the Board and Executive Director
Hong Kong, March 20, 2025
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Year ended December 31, 2024 compared to Year ended December 31,

BE-Z-HNF+-A=+—HLFEHEHEBZE
CEC=F+ A=+ -HLEFEENLER

2023

Revenue ON

Cost of revenue SHEE R

Gross profit EF

Service development expenses FRIsF R
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHEMAY
Administrative expenses 1T 2

Net reversal of/(provision for) impairment loss
on financial assets

Fair value changes on investments measured at
fair value through profit or loss

Other income

Other (losses)/gains — net

ERMEEREBERERD S
(BtR) F8

AR EE AR
N (T
E AR

Hi (B518), ez — 588

FHARER

Operating profit FEE i

Finance income IR A ON

Finance costs HM%GER

Share of results of associates Sy /NI E S

Profit before income tax BRFT S B ADERI

Income tax expense FRiSHi =

Profit for the year FRER

Profit attributable to: T B EEEER
Equity holders of the Company PANGIL S S TSN
Non-controlling interests FEEIRE

Adjusted net profit for the year®

Note:

FRERE DN FEE

(@) Please see "Other Financial Information — Non-IFRS Financial Measures” below for

more information about “adjusted net profit for the year”.

Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=1+—HLEFE
2023

—E-=F

RMB'000

AR®ETT

11,896,244
(3,158,033)

8,738,211
(1,820,569)
(4,472,815)

(711,194)
(17,482)
(32,493)

122,783
62,924

1,869,365
174,776
(157,050)
(33,402)

1,853,689
(288,126)

1,565,563

1,554,131
11,432

1,565,563

2,199,101
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWED T

Ma Heping

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

HWTESRERHTE

REVENUE A

Our revenue was generated from (i) the core OTA business, which mainly BT AIR B (VDRI & %15 - T2
encompasses online accommodation reservations and transportation BIER HEBBRR RABRBRE | R()ER
ticketing services; and (i) the tourism business, which mainly includes offline EF ig@$ﬁ%?Tﬁﬁ?T$i¥?§ o ZMESD &
travel agency operations. These two segments collectively represent the core HEBKEMABRBOZOIR o

sources of our financial performance.

Year ended
December 31,

BE+=-A=+—8 Year-to-year

EFE change

2024 2023 Bt

—EomME ZT-=F B3
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR¥TRT

Core OTA BROESRIREFE

Accommodation reservation services EETERTBRTS 4,668,179 3,899,514 19.7%

Transportation ticketing services RIMEE R 7,229,031 6,030,047 19.9%

Others EAth 2,302,235 1,699,365 35.5%
14,199,445 11,628,926 22.1%

Tourism ER 3,141,241 267,318 1075%

Total revenue FAL N 17,340,686 11,896,244 45.8%

Revenue increased by 45.8% from RMB11,896.2 million for the year ended WARBE-_E-_=ZF+_A=+—BIFE

December 31, 2023 to RMB17,340.7 million for the year ended December 31, MAREE11,806 288 TIBIN458%2HE T
2024. W+ A=+ HIEFENARBE173407
BETT -
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The core OTA revenue was generated primarily from accommodation
reservation services and transportation ticketing services, and was increased
by 22.1% from RMB11,628.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMB14,199.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Revenue from accommodation reservation services increased by 19.7% from
RMB3,899.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB4,668.2
million in the same period of 2024. It was mainly due to (i) the increased
demand of accommodation reservation services; and (ii) cross-selling

strategies that we further enhanced.

Revenue from transportation ticketing services increased by 19.9% from
RMB6,030.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB7,229.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2024, which was mainly due to the
increase in demand in transportation ticketing services and value-added

product and services we provided.

Revenue from others increased by 35.5% to RMB2,302.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2024 from RMB1,699.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, which was mainly due to increase in (i) hotel
management services; (ii) online tourism services; and (iii) advertising

services.

Tourism revenue mainly represents revenue from offline travel agency related
services and the operation of scenic park, the businesses we acquired in late
2023 further expand our supply chain of the travel industry. Revenue for
the year ended December 2023 only represented revenue after acquisition

completed in fourth quarter of 2023.
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of our cost of revenue, operating
expense and unallocated items for the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023:

Cost of revenue HEKK

Service development expenses RmEERY

Selling and marketing expenses HEREHRT

Administrative expenses THAX

Net (reversal of)/provision for impairment SREERERE#ER)/
loss on financial assets BETE

Fair value changes on investments measured ROABEEEHEHTA
at fair value through profit or loss BRORELAEEEEY

Other income Hfp A

AthER /(K- 58

Other losses/(gains) - net

BHEERK  BERAXR
RABEEE

Total cost of revenue, operating expenses

and unallocated items

Cost of revenue increased by 97.2% from RMB3,158.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB6,227.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024. The increase was mainly due to the increase in (i)
the cost of travel products of tourism services, in which the Group act
as a principal; (i) employee benefits driven by the increased number of
our user services and TSP services employees; (iii) procurement cost of
membership services and value-added user services; and (iv) order payment
and settlement costs, as a result of increased GMV. Excluding share-based
compensation charges, cost of revenue accounted for 35.8% of revenue for
the year ended December 31, 2024, which increased from 26.5% for the year
ended December 31, 2023.
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TREVNBE_FT-_MFR_FT_=F+_A

ST —HALEFEBRMOBEERSN - LERAZ K
RoBLIE B A4 ¢
Year ended December 31,
BE+t-A=t+-HLEE
2023
—E-=F
RMB'000
N
3,158,033 31.5%
1,820,569 18.2%
4472815 44.6%
711,194 7.1%
17,482 0.2%
32,493 0.3%
(122,783) (1.2)%
(62,924) 0.7)%
10,026,879 100.0%
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Service development expenses increased by 9.9% from RMB1,820.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB2,000.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024. The increase was mainly due to the increased number
of IT employees and relevant increased employee benefits. Excluding share-
based compensation charges, service development expenses accounted for
11.0% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024, which decreased
from 14.7% for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Selling and marketing expenses increased by 25.7% from RMB4,472.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB5,620.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, which was mainly due to: (i) the increase in
advertising and promotion expenses; and (ii) the increase in employee benefit
expenses due to the increased number of sales employees. Excluding share-
based compensation charges, selling and marketing expenses accounted
for 32.2% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared with
37.3% for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Administrative expenses increased by 69.6% to RMB1,206.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2024 from RMB711.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023. The increase was mainly due to (i) the increase in
employee benefit expenses due to the increased number of administrative
employees; and (ii) a non-recurring reversal of a provision for reorganization
was recognised for the year ended December 31 2023, there was no such
reversal for the year December 31 2024. Excluding share-based compensation
charges, administrative expenses accounted for 5.4% of revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2024, which increased from 4.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2023.
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We recorded net reversal for impairment loss on financial assets of RMB17.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2024 and net provision for
impairment loss on financial assets of RMB17.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, respectively. This was mainly due to the decrease in

expected credit losses on trade and other receivables.

We recorded fair value gain on investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss of RMB27.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, which
mainly arose from the fair value gains recognized in wealth management
products, being offset by the fair value losses on investments in certain
public and private companies. For the year ended December 31, 2023, fair

value losses of RMB32.5 million was recorded.

Other income decreased from RMB122.8 million for the year ended December
31, 2023 to RMB104.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The

decrease primarily reflected the decrease in government subsidies received.
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We recorded net other losses of RMB11.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024 and net other gains of RMB62.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, respectively. The decrease was primarily due to
(i) the increase in foreign exchange loss; and (ii) the decrease in investment

income from time deposit.

We recorded an income tax expense of RMB409.6 million and RMB288.1
million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The
increase in income tax expense was primarily due to the increased current

income tax charge for the year ended December 31, 2024.

As a result of the foregoing, profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company increased from RMB1,554.1 million for the year ended December

31,2023 to RMB1,974.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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To supplement our consolidated results, which are presented in accordance
with IFRS, we also use certain non-IFRS measures, namely adjusted EBITDA
and adjusted net profit for the year, as additional financial metrics. These
non-IFRS financial measures are not required by or presented in accordance
with IFRS.

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as operating profit adjusted for (i) share-based
compensation; (i) amortization of intangible assets; (iii) depreciation of
property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets; (iv) foreign exchange
loss; (v) net losses/(gains) on investees; and (vi) others, including acquisition-
related cost and net gain on foreign currency financial instruments, and other
miscellaneous one-off items. Adjusted net profit for the year is defined as
profit for the year adjusted for (i) share-based compensation; (i) amortization
of acquired intangible assets; (iii) foreign exchange loss; (iv) net loss/(gains)
on investees; and (v) others, including acquisition-related cost, net gain on
foreign currency financial instruments, depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets from acquisition, and other miscellaneous

one-off items.

The above items are excluded from our adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net
profit for the year measures because these items are either non-cash in
nature, or are not driven by core operations which render comparisons with
prior years and competitors less meaningful. We believe the adjusted EBITDA
and adjusted net profit for the year are useful measures for the analysts
and investors as basis for evaluation of our future on-going operating
performance as these measures allow more meaningful comparison of our
performance and projected cash earnings with our historical results from
prior years and to the results of our competitors. Moreover, management
uses these measures internally to evaluate the performance of our business
as a whole. However, our presentation of such non-IFRS measures may not
be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.
The use of these non-IFRS measures has limitations as an analytical tool, and
you should not consider it in isolation from, or as substitute for analysis of,

our results of operations or financial condition as reported under IFRS.
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The following table reconciles adjusted EBITDA from operating profit, its TREIN KL FEEBITDARL
most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in B - RIR IR B R B 5 o 4

accordance with IFRS presented:

iRk
BIFtE R 27
WRAE BRI BETETE

.
§ B

Year ended

December 31,

BE+=-A=+—H
LLFE
2023
—E-=F
RMB'000
AREET T

Operating profit R F

Add/(less): m,CR) 1,869,365

Share-based compensation, gross® ARG BERH S ETE 348,136

Amortization of intangible assets A E 678,616

Depreciation of property, plant and WME - BENMRENEREEETE

equipment and right-of-use assets 232,141

Foreign exchange loss® fE 5 1B 66,767

Net losses/(gains) on investees'© WIREFREER,(Mes) F5mo (36,834)

Others HAth (34,297)

Adjusted EBITDA R FIEEBITDA 3,123,894

Notes: B %

(@) Represents gross expense related to equity-settled share-based payment (@) EHEUEREFEURND AEBONRZ 58
transactions. This is a non-cash item and the value is determined by BmBRY - L —BERESIEE - BED
valuation techniques involving a few parameters out of the management's EPRET2HNEERNETE @ #528#
control such as macro economy index and retention rate of grantees. PZERELES - PN RBEBEEBRAR

AHRFFE o

(b) Represents foreign exchange loss which is the result of macro-economic (b) EELEE EARBLCERZNER R
factors and can vary significantly from one period to the next. TRAEJELRERAER -

(@ Include dividend income, fair value changes on equity investments, and (© PEREKA BREREHIABEEHR

losses/(gains) on disposal of investees.

HERRE T HEE () o
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The following table reconciles our adjusted net profit for the year TRES N2 RAPE A F LA F

from profit for the year, its most directly comparable financial measure FREEF R T M EER - AIBIEBRY B
calculated and presented in accordance with IFRS, for the periods WEEAFERZINRAEE LMD
presented: WIEET 8% -
Year ended
December 31,
BEZE+=-A=+—H
LFE
2023
—E-=F
RMB'000
ARBTT
Profit for the year FREF
Add/(less): m/OR) 1,565,563
Share-based compensation, net® AR BERH B2 F5E 376,356
Amortization of intangible assets U B P A5
from acquisition® BEHHO 254,588
Foreign exchange loss© iRl =Gl 66,767
Net losses/(gains) on investees® WIRE FREE (W) FEe (36,834)
Others Hth (27,339)
Adjusted net profit for the year FRLABBRFE 2,199,101
Notes: MiaE :
(@) Represents expense related to equity-settled share-based payment (@) FHEAEZREZE RN AERNNRZSA

transactions, net of the tax effect of temporary difference arises between the
share-based compensation recognized in profit or loss and the tax deduction
to be obtained in the future.

(b) Represents amortization of intangible assets in relation to business (b)
combinations.

(c) Represents foreign exchange loss which is the result of macro-economic (0
factors and can vary significantly from one period to the next.

(d) Includes dividend income, fair value changes on equity investments, and (d)
losses net losses/(gains) on disposal of investees.
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&

Cost of revenue HE A

Service development expenses ARIGF B

Selling and marketing expenses $HE R & A
Administrative expenses THAX

Total share-based compensation, gross IR AERENHSEE

Tax effect of temporary difference

EREZRENRBRE

Total share-based compensation, net

LURGD R ER S T8

We fund our liquidity needs mainly from (i) the proceeds received from bank

borrowings; and (i) net cash generated from our business operations.

We had cash and cash equivalents of RMB8,020.0 million and RMB5,192.4
million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Year ended

December 31,

E+=A=+-H

HEE
2023
—ETo=4F
RMB'000
AR¥TT

10,266
74,663
36,676
226,531

348,136
28,220

376,356

BPEBLAORITERMBRIEA © R)EBE
ERERSFEBNRBESTR -

HE_FT-_NF R

e A =

B HZASNEERSMREEEVARE

b —

80200 BB LI AREES1024HETT °
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The following table sets forth our cash flows for the years indicated:

TR BRPINAREENRSRE

Year ended December 31,

BE+=-A=+—~H
LEE

2023

—TC=F

RMB'000

ARBFT

Net cash generated from operating activities KEEEMBEHRE T8 4,003,442

Net cash used in investing activities KREEBFARSFE (1,762,217)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities BMEEBME (A R /FE (592,227)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents HERRSEEYIEMNFE 1,648,998

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FURSMRESFEY 3,546,988
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash EERFHRE R

equivalents ReZEEMHNTE (3,588)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRESRESEEY 5,192,398

For the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash generated from operating
activities was RMB2,969.9 million, which was primarily attributable to the
profit before income tax of RMB2,397.8 million, as adjusted by (i) amortization
of intangible assets of RMB726.8 million, depreciation of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets of RMB355.8 million, share-based
compensation of RMB408.3 million, net foreign exchange loss of RMB96.1
million, fair value gains on investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss of RMB27.0 million, net other gain of RMB46.3 million, and finance
cost of RMB230.9 million; and (ii) changes in working capital, which primarily
consisted of an increase trade receivable of RMB477.2 million, an increase
in trade payables of RMB306.8 million, an increase in prepayment and other
receivables of RMB865.7 million, and an increase in accrued expenses and
current liabilities of RMB340.1 million. We also paid income tax of RMB435.0

million and received interest income of RMB180.8 million.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash used in investing activities
was RMB834.3 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) payment for
equity investment of RMB1,078.3 million; and (i) partially offset by net cash
received from time deposits and wealth management products of RMB563.7

million.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash generated from financing
activities was RMB678.8 million, which was primarily due to (i) net proceed
from long-term and short-term borrowings of RMB1,415.3 million; and (ii)
proceed from exercise of share options of RMB285.2 million. It is partially
offset by (i) payment for settlement of long-term payable in respect of
intangible assets of RMB578.9 million; (ii) payment of finial dividend of
RMB311.7 million; and (iii) payment for lease of RMB121.0 million.

As of December 31, 2024, our gearing ratio, calculated as total borrowings
and lease liabilities divided by total equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company was approximately 25.0%.

On January 9, 2024, the Group entered into a loan agreement with the
lending bank to borrow RMB410.0 million to provide financing for an
acquisition completed in 2023. The loan was secured by pledging 100% of

the equity interests of the target company.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities.

HE-Z-_MF+-A=1+—"HIEFE  #&&
EHARSFEAARKS4IEETL £ B
R ) BRI E N RARKE 107838 87T ¢ Kli)
PWEHGERNETERCUFREARE
563.7 BB ITATH o

BE-Z-_MF+-A=1+—"HIEFE  #®#E&
EBATBRESFEAARB/88EBIL £B
EHRRORAREHERFAERIBFEARE
14153887 RNTEBREMBREAR
B85 2 BB c AoV EEHEREERIE
NRERMRARES789BETT + (i) IR R IR
BARBINIBEL  R(NHENRARK
121,08 8T -

HE-_ZT-_NWE+-A=+—8  HMANEX
BELE(REREENMEEEBEATBRIUAR
RIERFA AL BERTTE) 895250% °
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Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2023
—E-=F
RMB'000
ARBTT
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, BEWE BELRERBARGHAEESE
and right-of-use assets 952,122
Purchase of intangible assets BEEREEE 550,971
Placement of long-term investments® RERE® 1,721,677
Total capital expenditure EARMZARE 3,224,770
Note: FisE -
(@  Placement of long-term investments represents investments accounted for @) FRHAREERAEZZAERORE KAARE

using the equity method, investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss and business combination.

Our capital expenditures primarily include purchase of property and
equipment, intangible assets, investments accounted for using the equity
method, investments measured at fair value through profit or loss and
business combination. We fund our capital expenditure requirements mainly

from cash generated from our operations as well as bank borrowings.
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As at December 31,

R+=—H=+—H

2023

—E-=F

RMB'000

AR¥EFTT

Investments accounted for using the equity method HAEREARNRE 1,429,800
Investments measured at fair value through RANEBEFEZEEE

profit or loss FFABZENEE 1,039,294

Investments measured at amortized cost LEIE AT B HIRE 683,879

Total long-term investments REREBE 3,152,973

Our long-term investments as of December 31, 2024 was RMB3,968.7 million,
as compared to RMB3,153.0 million as of December 31, 2023. The increase
in our investments accounted for using the equity method was caused
by more investments in certain private companies and further increased
investment in an investment fund that we have significant influences. The
decrease in our long-term investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss was caused by (i) transfer of investments in certain private
companies to investment accounted for using the equity method; and (ii)
disposal of certain investment funds that we have no significant influence.
Long-term investments measured at fair value through profit or loss also
consists of wealth management products with terms of more than one year,
denominated in RMB, with expected rates of return at 8.00% per annum
for the year ended December 31, 2024. The returns on all of these wealth
management products are not guaranteed, hence their contractual cash
flow do not qualify for solely payments of principal and interest. Therefore,
they are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Investments measured
at amortized cost represents investments in term deposits with terms from
2 years to 3 years which bear interests at fixed interest rates ranging from
2.70% to 3.55% per annum, denominated in RMB. As of December 31, 2024
and 2023, total long-term investments as a percentage to the Group's total
assets is 10.5% and 9.9%, respectively. We made long-term investments in
accordance with our general strategy of investing or acquiring businesses
that are supplement and benefit our business. As of December 31, 2024,
none of these individual investments is regarded as material. We plan to fund

our long-term investments using cash flows generated from our operations.

HE-_ZTZ-_NE+-A=+—H  ZMHEH
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As at December 31,

R+=—BA=+-—H

2023

—EC-=fF

RMB'000

AREETTT

Short-term investments measured at amortized cost ?ﬁfiﬁﬁﬁﬂ?ﬂiﬁ'%ﬂ’ﬂﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ 2,316,753
Short-term investments measured at fair value EAREERER FTAEEM

through profit or loss EHRE 1,631,715

Total short-term investments EHREHREE 3,948,468

Short-term investments measured at amortized cost in 2024 were time
deposits within one year with fixed interest rates, denominated in RMB or
USD. The investments were held for collection of contractual cash flow and
the contractual cash flows of these investments qualify for solely payments
of principal and interest, hence they were measured at amortized cost.
Short-term investment measured at fair value through profit or loss primarily
include wealth management products, denominated in RMB or USD, with
expected rates of return ranging from 1.59% to 3.84% per annum for the year
ended December 31, 2024. The returns on all of these wealth management
products are not guaranteed, hence their contractual cash flows do not
qualify for solely payments of principal and interest. Therefore, they are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. As of December 31, 2024, and
2023, total short-term investments as a percentage to the Group's total assets
is 7.7% and 12.5%, respectively. There is no individual investment having a
percentage of over 5% to the Group's total assets. In view of an upside of
earning with a more attractive return than current saving or fixed deposit are
under the low interest rate trend, as well as the risk nature and the relatively
short-term of maturity or flexible redemption terms of those financial
products, the Group selected products with strong liquidity, safety feature
and reasonable returns issued by reputable banks and licensed financial

institutions.
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There were no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates

and joint ventures during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognized assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not
our functional currency. We manage our foreign exchange risk by performing

regular reviews of our net foreign exchange exposures.

Our subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the PRC operate
mainly in the PRC with most of the transactions settled in RMB. There are
certain financial assets or liabilities of our Group are denominated in the
currencies other than the respective functional currencies of our Group's
subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entities operating in the PRC, and as
of December 31, 2024, the Group entered into certain derivative contracts
with financial institutions which are used for economic hedging purposes.
These derivative contracts are accounted for as financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss.

As of December 31, 2024, we had a total of 10,141 full-time employees. As of
the same date, approximately 31.18% and 6.90% of our full-time employees
were based in Suzhou and Beijing, respectively, while remaining 61.92% of

them were based in the rest of the PRC and overseas.

We primarily recruit our employees through on-campus job fairs, recruitment
agencies and online channels, including our corporate websites and social
networking platforms. We have adopted robust internal training policies,
pursuant to which management, technology and other training is regularly
provided to our employees by in-house trainers or third-party consultants.
We have also adopted 2018 Share Incentive Plan, 2019 RSU Plan, 2019 Share
Option Plan, 2022 RSU Plan, 2022 Share Option Plan and 2024 Share Scheme.
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As required by PRC laws, we participate in various statutory employee benefit
plans, including social insurance funds, namely a pension contribution plan,
a medical insurance plan, an unemployment insurance plan, a work-related
injury insurance plan, a maternity insurance plan, and a hosing provident
fund. We are required under PRC laws to contribute to employee benefit
plans at specified percentages of salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of
our employees up to a maximum amount specified by the local governments
from time to time. Details of the employees’ remuneration during the year
ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note 7 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements.

We believe that we maintain good working relationship with our employees
and we did not experience any significant labor disputes or any material
difficulty in recruiting employees for our operations in the year ended
December 31, 2024.

We will continue to explore potential acquisition, investment, joint venture
and partnership opportunities that we believe are in line with the Company’s
overall business strategies. Appropriate disclosure will be made by the
Company as and when appropriate under the Listing Rules on the Stock

Exchange.

Save as disclosed in this annual report and in the Prospectus, we did not
have any other plans for material investments and capital assets as at the

Latest Practicable Date.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F

REBHBEZENRTE RMA2ESBEEAEREE
w|AEE - BREMERRES  ARZ2HE
T8 BERRETE - REXRRFE - TERF
BREt8 - EERRIEREEAES - RETD
BxR  RMFERRERAGEELSEM
ENEEFHS  HARKLRENREBEN L
W K SBRHMT BT TRIEE - RE
EZE_NFE+_A=+—HILFEREEHMHM
MFISEN A M B mARMET -

BMBEERMERE ZHMERRIT TIEEE -
REZ-Z-_MNF+_A=+—RA1LFE &
PMEERGKEEBIMNERLSEAUDRNARA
BREERS AR EARNE -

RPBEESIRPRAGA KD ARELEY
W MEEMIE 28 AERABRE - R
i E TR AR E ISR S B R BB A2 PR
A -

BRAFHLRAREEMEEEN  HARKR
ERATEHTECAEGERRERELRE
ERTE



Current Directors

RITES

Executive Directors

HITEE

Wu Zhixiang (Co-Chairman)

RER (BEEFR)

Ma Heping (Chief Executive Officer)
BMF(EEHTE)

Non-executive Directors
FHTES

Liang Jianzhang (Co-Chairman)
REE (HEEFR)

Jiang Hao

P

Xie Qing Hua

il

Brent Richard Irvin

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHTES
Yang Chia Hung
BEER

Dai Xiaojing
I

Han Yuling
BEE

Number of Meetings in 2024
TERCNEEERRE

Notes:

C  Chairman of Board committee
M Member of Board committee

Age

&

48

47

55
53
47

53

62
65

69

Director Since

EEEH

BBk EH

2018 —E—\F
2018 ZE—\F
2018 ZE—N\F
2018 —E—\F
03 -T-=F
2018 ZE—\F
002 T -—F
2018 ZE—\F
2018 —E—\F

Audit
Committee

ENEEE

Remuneration
Committee

FHzEE

Environmental,

Social and Independent

Nomination Governance Board

Committee Committee Committee

BiR - #HER B

REZER EREES EExZEg

C

C C

M M M

M M M

1 2 1
SZEEFR
e

—E_MEFERE

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Wu Zhixiang (RE#), aged 48, was appointed as the Co-Chairman of our
Board in March 2018 and our executive Director in June 2018. Mr. Wu's main
responsibility is to provide overall strategic planning and business direction
to our Group. Mr. Wu has more than 19 years of experience in e-commerce
and OTA business. Among others, Mr. Wu established Tongcheng Network
in March 2004. He has served as the chairman of Tongcheng Network
since April 2008. As its cofounder, Mr. Wu was responsible for the strategic
planning of Tongcheng Network and has continuously provided leadership

and inspiration for the Company’s OTA business.

+

Mr. Wu received a bachelor's degree in history from Soochow University (%k
MK E) in the PRC in June 1998.

Mr. Wu currently holds the following positions in the subsidiaries of our
Group: the chairman of Tongcheng Network, and the executive director of

Suzhou Chengyi.

Ma Heping (55F1¥), aged 47, was appointed as our executive Director in
June 2018. Mr. Ma has served as our Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ") since
April 2018, responsible for the implementation of our business strategies
and the day-to-day business operation. From March to April 2018, together
with Mr. Jiang Hao, Mr. Ma served as our Co-CEO. Mr. Ma has over 15 years
of marketing experience for an internet company. From January 2006 to
March 2018, Mr. Ma has served as the chief marketing officer of Tongcheng
Network, responsible for the internet-based online and offline travel business,
as well as the promotion and development of the air ticket, hotel and other

transportation business of Tongcheng Network, before Tongcheng Spin-off.

Mr. Ma obtained a diploma in computer application and maintenance from
Soochow University (ER/MAKE2) in the PRC in June 1998, and received an
EMBA degree from Fudan University (€ B X2) in the PRC in June 2020.

Mr. Ma currently holds the following positions in the subsidiaries of our
Group: the director and general manager of Tongcheng Network, the
executive director and general manager of Longyue Tiancheng WFOE, the
chairman and general manager of E-dragon Beijing WFOE and the executive

director and manager of Beijing E-dragon.
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Liang Jianzhang (R#ZE), aged 55, was appointed as our Co-Chairman
of the Board in March 2018 and non-executive Director in June 2018. Mr.
Liang has served as one of our Directors since 2016. Mr. Liang is one of the
co-founders and the executive chairman of Trip.com Group, a company
whose shares are listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: TCOM) and the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9961). He has served as the
chairman of the board of directors of Trip.com Group since August 2003. Mr.
Liang served as the chief executive officer of Trip.com Group from 2000 to
2006, and from March 2013 to November 2016.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Liang has served as a director of BTG Hotels
Group (EHREJE), a company whose shares are listed on Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600258) since January 2017, and a director of
MakeMyTrip Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on NASDAQ (stock
symbol: MMYT) since January 2016.

Mr. Liang formerly served on the boards of Sina Corp. (FTJR/2&)), a company
whose shares were formerly listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: SINA) and
privatized in March 2021, Tuniu Corp (34 hR#249), a company whose shares
are listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: TOUR), eHi Car Services Ltd. (L/—
WEFRE RIS AR A A]), a company whose shares were formerly listed on
New York Stock Exchange (stock symbol: EHIC) and privatized in April 2019,
51job, Inc. (AITIZEEMR KB BRAF]), a company whose shares are listed
on NASDAQ (stock symbol: JOBS) and privatized in May 2022, jiayuan.com
International Ltd. (42 fELBIFEBRAR]), a company whose shares were
formerly listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: DATE) and privatized in May 2016,
and Homeinns Hotel Group (ZAZEES&E), a company whose shares were
formerly listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: HMIN) and privatized in April 2016.

Mr. Liang has won many accolades for his contributions to the Chinese travel
industry, including 2020 Literature and Tourism Leader by Global Times,
2019 Forbes China Multinational Business Leader, Best CEO in the Internet
category in the 2016 All-Asia Executive Team Rankings by Institutional
Investor and 2015 China’s Business Leader of the Year by Forbes. Mr. Liang
is one of China's leading population economists and a research professor of

economics at the Guanghua School of Management, Peking University.
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Mr. Liang holds a Ph.D. degree from Stanford University, a master's degree

and an undergraduate degree from Georgia Institute of Technology.

Jiang Hao (GI%), aged 53, served as the Company's Deputy Chairman of
the Board from April 2018 to March 2019, the Company’s President from
April 2018 to March 2019, an executive Director from June 2018 to March
2019, and has been re-designated as a non-executive Director in March 2019.
From March to April 2018, together with Mr. Ma Heping, Mr. Jiang served as
the Company's Co-CEO. Mr. Jiang has over 26 years of experience in leading
Internet companies. From 1999 to 2015, Mr. Jiang served as a senior vice

president in Trip.com Group.

Mr. Jiang received a bachelor's degree of engineering in ship engineering
from Shanghai Jiao Tong University (/8228 A22) in the PRC in 1993.
Mr. Jiang currently holds the following position in the subsidiary of our

Group: the director of Tongcheng Network.

Xie Qing Hua (i f5%), aged 47, has been appointed as our non-executive
Director in April 2023. Mr. Xie joined Tencent in December 2003, and
currently serves as the corporate vice president and deputy chief financial
officer of Tencent. Mr. Xie has served as a non-executive director of Yixin
Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2858), from April 2022, and a director and the chairman of
the compensation committee in Huya Inc. (FRF E &) (a company whose
shares are listed on NYSE (stock symbol: HUYA)) since April 2023. He is
also a non-executive director and a member of the audit committee of
China Literature Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 772)) since May 2023.

Mr. Xie obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from Sun Yat-Sen

University in 2001.

Brent Richard Irvin, aged 53, has been appointed as our non-executive
Director in June 2018. Mr. Irvin joined our Group and has been appointed as
one of our Directors since March 2018. Mr. Irvin joined Tencent in January
2010, and is currently serving as the vice president of Tencent. Prior to that,
Mr. Irvin worked as a lawyer at Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati from August

2005 to November 2009, with a focus on technology companies.
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Mr. Irvin has been a director of Tencent Music Entertainment Group (BT
FEYRELEE), a company whose shares are listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (stock symbol: TME) and the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1698), since July 2016.

Mr. Irvin obtained a bachelor's degree in history from Carleton College in
the United States in June 1994, a master's degree in East Asian studies from
Yale University in the United States in December 1995, and a doctor of
jurisprudence degree from Stanford University in the United States in June
2003.

Yang Chia Hung (%% %), aged 62, has been appointed as our independent
non-executive Director in June 2022. Mr. Yang is the chief financial officer
of Ehang Holdings Limited (NASDAQ: EH) since September 2023. From 2007
to 2023, Mr. Yang served in several chief financial officer positions, including
Tuniu Corporation (NASDAQ: TOUR), E-Commerce China Dangdang Inc., and
AirMedia Group Inc. Mr. Yang was the chief executive officer of Rock Mobile
Corporation from 2004 to 2007, and the chief financial officer of the Asia
Pacific region for CellStar Asia Corporation from 1999 to 2004. Prior to that,
Mr. Yang was a senior banker at Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C., Lehman Brothers
Asia Limited and Morgan Stanley Asia Limited from 1992 to 1999. Mr. Yang
currently also serves as an independent director of I-Mab (NASDAQ: IMAB),
iQIY1, Inc. (NASDAQ: 1Q), UP Fintech Holding Ltd (NASDAQ: TIGR) and Smart
Share Global Limited (NASDAQ: EM).

Mr. Yang received his master's degree in business administration from the
University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA) in 1992.
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Dai Xiaojing (&/)N3X), aged 65, has been appointed as our independent
non-executive Director since November 2018. Mr. Dai has profound
knowledge and experience in the research and studies of securities market
and finance. From December 1998 to April 2016, Mr. Dai served as an
executive director in SEEC Media Group Limited (B1 s EEEB AR A A), a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0205). Mr. Dai was engaged in economic policy research at the

Economic Development Research Institute of State Council of the PRC,

Mr. Dai received his bachelor's degree in science and master's degree in
law from Sun Yat-sen University (FFLUKER) in the PRC, in 1981 and 1984,

respectively.

Han Yuling (B E2), aged 69, has been appointed as our independent
non-executive Director since November 2018. Ms. Han currently holds
professorial fellowship and is the executive dean of the China Tourism Talent
Development Research Institute (P BIjR#EEA A ZRIFFEFL) at Beijing
International Studies University (At 88 ZHMNEIFEEEFT). Ms. Han also serves
as the vice president of Beijing Tourism Law Research Association (It T
FREEEBHIEE), Beijing Tourism Society (AL RIK#EEE L), and Women
Tourism Committee of China Tourism Association (7 Bk #2155 & i 22 ik
% ZE9@) She has consecutively served as a lecturer, associate professor
and professor at Beijing International Studies University since May 1986, and
served as a teaching assistant and lecturer at Central China Normal University
(ZE R &5 A E2) from October 1979 until April 1986.

Ms. Han graduated from the department of politics from Central China
Normal University (ZEFREMEIRER) in the PRC in July 1979.
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Ma Heping (F5H1F), our executive Director and CEO. See “Executive
Directors” in this section for his profile.

Fan Lei (&%), aged 43, was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer
of our Group in March 2018, and is responsible for the overall financial
management. From September 2016 to March 2018, Mr. Fan served as the
finance vice president of our Company. From April 2013 to September 2016,
Mr. Fan served as a principal and senior principal, in the financial plan and
analysis department of eLong Cayman. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Fan
consecutively served as a financial manager and a senior financial manager
in Lenovo Group Limited (Bt8EEABR A
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0992) from
March 2010 to April 2013.

A]), a company whose shares

Mr. Fan received a bachelor's degree of engineering in mechanical
engineering and automation from Beihang University (3t RALZE MR K
2 in the PRC in 2004. Mr. Fan also obtained a master's degree of business

administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2010.

Mr. Fan currently serves as a supervisor in various subsidiaries of our Group,
including Tianjin E-dragon Interactive International Travel Agency Co., Ltd.,
E-dragon (Suzhou) Technology Co., Ltd., Longyue Tiancheng WFOE, E-dragon
Beijing WFOE and Beijing E-dragon.

Xu Jianzhong (fREH), aged 38, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
our Group in January 2019, and is responsible for the transportation business
of the Group. From July 2010 to present, Mr. Xu consecutively served as a
vacation product manager of Tongcheng Network, the product manager,
principal, senior principal, vice president of air ticket business group, and the

head of transportation business Group.

Mr. Xu received a bachelor's degree from Guilin University of Technology in
the PRC in June 2009, and received an EMBA degree from Fudan University
(fE B K& in the PRC in January 2022.

Mr. Xu currently holds the following positions in the subsidiaries of our
Group: the executive director and general manager of Suzhou Chenghuiwan
International Travel Agency Co., Ltd., Chengdu Tongcheng Zhixing
Technology Co., Ltd. and Suzhou Chuanglv Tianxia Information Technology
Co., Ltd..
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Yu Pei (3R3), aged 42, was appointed as a Vice President of our Group in
March 2018, and is responsible for the overall research and development
activities of our Group. From February 2012 to March 2018, Mr. Yu
consecutively served as the structure design principal, chief structure officer

and chief technology officer of eLong Cayman.

Mr. Yu currently serves as the the director of E-dragon Beijing WFOE and the
executive director and general manager of Shanghai Linding Information

Technology Co., Ltd.

Bai Zhiwei (A& 1{&), aged 48, was appointed as a Vice President of our
Group in March 2018, and is responsible for the marketing and business
development of our Group. From June 2014 to March 2018, Mr. Bai served
as a vice president of eLong Cayman. From December 2010 to June 2014,
Mr. Bai served as a senior principal and business development vice president
at sales support department of eLong Cayman. From February 2008 to
December 2010, he served as a regional senior principal, responsible for the

strategic clients of eLong Cayman.

Mr. Bai received double bachelor’'s degrees of computer science and
economics from Peking University (1L7RKE}) in the PRC in 1998. He also
obtained a master’'s degree of business administration from Tsinghua
University (52X 28) in the PRC in 2007.

Wang Kai (E£8]l), aged 39, was appointed as a Vice President of our Group
in May 2019, and is responsible for the operation and management of
the vacation product of the Group. From April 2010 to present, Mr. Wang
consecutively served as a senior sales manager in the hotel business of
Tongcheng Network, the head of culture and tourism department, the head

of destination department and the head of vacation products center.

Mr. Wang received a master’'s degree of business administration from Asia
Metropolitan University in Malaysia in July 2019, and received an EMBA
degree from Fudan University (f8 B K2 in the PRC in June 2021.

Mr. Wang currently serves as the chairman of Suzhou Yangzi River Cultural

Tourism Development Co., Ltd..
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Gong Xiaolei (2/N&), aged 40, was appointed as the Assistant Vice
President of our Group in September 2020, and is responsible for the
operation and management of the transportation business of the Group.
From July 2007 to present, Ms. Gong consecutively served as senior
supervisor, manager, senior manager, principal, senior principal of air ticket
business of Tongcheng Network, and the head of international air ticket

business department.

Ms. Gong received a bachelor’'s degree from Jiangsu Ocean University
(formerly known as Huaihai Institute of Technology) in June 2007, and
received an EMBA degree from Fudan University (f8 B KE) in January 2022.

Ms. Gong currently serves as the Director of Sunan Airlines (Jiangsu) Co., Ltd..

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there has been no change in the
information of the Directors and senior management as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules since the publication
of 2024 interim report of the Company. None of our Directors and senior
management is related to other Directors, senior management or substantial

shareholders.
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The Board presents this Directors’ report in the Group's annual report for the
year ended December 31, 2024.

The Group is a market leader in China’s online travel industry. Through our
Tencent-based online platforms, mobile apps and websites, the Group offers
a comprehensive and innovative selection of products and services covering
nearly all aspects of travel, including transportation ticketing, accommodation
reservation, attraction ticketing services and various ancillary value-added
travel products and services designed to meet users’ evolving travel needs.
As a technology-driven company, the Group prioritizes the development of
our information technology, including research and development in big data

and Al capabilities.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal
activities during the year ended December 31, 2024. Please refer to note 40
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for details of the principal activities

of the principal subsidiaries of the Group.

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in

the Consolidated Income Statement of this annual report.

The Board resolved to propose to the Shareholders at the AGM to be held
on June 26, 2025 for the distribution of a final dividend of HKDO.18 per Share
for the year ended December 31, 2024. The final dividend is expected to be
paid on or about July 15, 2025 to the Shareholders whose names are listed
on the register of members of the Company on July 7, 2025. On the basis
of the total number of the issued Shares of 2,328,763,467 as of March 20,
2025, it is estimated that the aggregate amount of final dividend would be
approximately HKD419,177,424.06. The actual total amount of final dividend
to be paid will be subject to the total number of issued Shares as at the
record date for determining the entitlement of Shareholders to the final
dividend. The proposal for the distribution of the final dividend above is
subject to the consideration and approval of the Shareholders at the AGM.
There is no arrangement that a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive

any dividend.

Details of the issued Shares during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set

out in note 29 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DEBENTURES ISSUED

During the year ended December 31, 2024, no debentures were issued by

the Company.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2024 are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in

Equity of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2024, the Company has distributable reserves of
RMB21,132 million in total available for distribution.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The Group's financial summary for the last five financial years is set out in the

section headed “Five-Year Performance Review” of this annual report.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and the Group
as of December 31, 2024 are set out in note 25 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note 14 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the amount
of public float as required under the Listing Rules as at the Latest Practicable

Date.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
of the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands and there is no restriction
against such rights which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on

a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEEWE

RITERERE

HE_Z-_NE+-_A=+T—HLEE - A2
RN A B TR o

G4
EMASEBE-F-MF+-A=T—B1
FERBEONEERREFREA MRS
EO

AR IR R

RZZE-_MF+—_A=+—H ' XARKAH
DIRFEHEEEBARE211328&T -

BMBHME

AR ERB = AN B 0 S E RN A
FRIBFLACDRE] -
RITERREMER

ARBRAKRERE_T_NF+_A=1+—
BRRITERREMERNFBERARGSMB
RRMRES

% - BERRE

ERAERHE T _WNFE+_A=+—
FENWE  BERE ﬁk@ﬁlﬁ%ﬁéﬁ
EIRERMFT14 ©

DABRERENT M
BBARAMEZ ARNERARBESHD
ARARBAE R TT AP —ERH LRI
REMDRFHRE -

BrEER

AAREHERMANN S BB EELHER
B E A (3 - A St E b R R H)
B AR A AR IR EMRERE R E R

{/'\ °

ZEMEEERSE | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

47



The Directors are not aware of any tax relief available to the Shareholders by
reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

As of December 31, 2024, there was no significant investment in any investee
company with a value of 5% or more of the Company’s total assets as at
December 31, 2024.

For more information on the categorization of the principal investments held
by the Company as of December 31, 2024, please refer to note 18 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company had not provided
any advance to an entity which is subject to disclosure requirement under
Rule 13.20 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company had not provided
any financial assistance and guarantees to affiliated companies of the
Company which is subject to disclosure requirements under Rule 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group made charitable
donations of RMB10,578,440.

Business review and financial review are provided in the section headed

“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

It is our corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable
and environmental-friendly environment, the Group strives to minimize
our environmental impact by saving electricity, reducing water
consumption, going paperless office and other measures to build our

corporation in a sustainable way.
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The Group has complied with the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance, the Listing Rules (including the Corporate Governance Code),
and SFO for, among other things, the disclosure of information and
corporate governance. The Group has also complied with other relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations of
the Group, such as the Telecommunications Regulations of the People’s
Republic of China, E-=Commerce Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Pricing Law of the People’s Republic of China, Qualification Accreditation
Measures of Air Transportation Sales Agent, Cybersecurity Law of the
People’s Republic of China and Personal Information Protection Law
of the People’s Republic of China. Please refer to the section headed

“Regulatory Overview"in the Prospectus for details.

Relationship with Our Customers

Our primary customers consist of a large and diverse base of travel
services providers covering a wide range of travel segments. Our
TSP customers include airlines and other air ticket suppliers, train
ticket suppliers, bus operators, ferry carriers, hotels and alternative
accommodation providers, other online travel agencies from whom
the Group sources travel products and services, as well as suppliers
of various ancillary value-added travel products and services, such as
insurance companies and car rental companies. Trip.com Group and its
affiliates represented one of our Group's largest customers. Our Group
and Trip.com Group share hotel and accommodation, transportation
ticketing, attraction ticketing and other travel-related resources for
sale on each other's online platforms in order to provide a more
comprehensive selection of travel services to our respective users. The
Group develops and maintains long-term strategic relationships with our
TSP.

TSP selection. The Group carries out a rigorous TSP selection
process. When determining whether to introduce a prospective
TSP to our platforms, the Group takes into account various factors,
including reputation, industry expertise and know-how, price
competitiveness, and a history of delivering high-quality products

and services.
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Travel product procurement. Our product procurement team
works closely with our TSP to ensure that our users are provided
with high-quality travel products. The Group also frequently
conducts price comparisons for TSP’s travel products to assess
the competitiveness of our pricing. Additionally, the Group hosts
periodic large procurement events and presents our major TSP with

our estimated product demand.

Travel product development. The Group strives to provide our
TSP with industry and user insight. As part of the ancillary value-
added services the Group provides to our TSP, the Group uses our
data analytic capabilities to help them develop innovative services
to meet travelers’ evolving needs and to optimize the pricing of
such products. The Group believes this helps us build stronger ties

with existing TSP and attract potential TSP.

Relationship maintenance. The Group interacts with our TSP
mainly through our dedicated customer service teams, which
actively communicate with our TSP by various means. The Group
encourages our accounting and technical staff to communicate
directly with their counterparts at the TSP to ensure the issues

arising in these areas can be resolved in a timely manner.

Additionally, the Group has developed proprietary technologies
and systems to interact with our TSP and assist them in managing,

pricing and marketing their supply. These systems primarily include:

- a customer management system, which enables us to gather
and analyze numerous types of behavior and transaction data
of TSP, including sales volume, user satisfaction, conversion
rates, and user acquisition costs. The Group uses data gathered
through this customer management system in budgeting and
procurement planning, as well as designing our marketing and

promotional campaigns; and
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- an e-booking system, a platform accessible via web and
mobile, that offers TSP the ability to manage inventory, pricing
and other product information, on a real-time basis without

our direct involvement.

Quality control. To ensure that the Group delivers high-quality
products, the Group has in place service protocols and guidelines
for TSP to follow, and maintain dedicated teams to monitor the TSP
and engage with TSP in responding to queries and user feedback
and reviews. The Group offers TSP, who maintain positive user
feedback, an optimized listing in the search results on our platforms,
and impose sanctions on TSP who violate the service protocols or

constantly receive user complaints.

Our other groups of customers are (i) users who purchase from us travel
products (primarily including accommodation and transportation) that
the Group pre-purchased from travel services providers; (ii) users who
purchase ancillary value-added travel products and services, such as
airport VIP lounge and priority boarding services, and pay us service
fees; and (iii) advertisers who post advertisement of their products and

services on our online platforms.

Relationship with Our Suppliers

Our suppliers primarily consist of (i) user acquisition channels; (ii) online
and mobile payment services; (iii) advertising and marketing service
providers; (iv) data storage, server hosting and bandwidth providers;
(v) suppliers of room nights that the Group pre-purchased for resale to
users; and (vi) third-party sales channels, including the online platforms
of Trip.com Group and its affiliates, through which the Group makes

available travel products and services that the Group sources from TSP.

The Group usually enters into annual non-exclusive supply contracts
with our suppliers based on our estimated demand for products and/or
services for the year. Tencent, one of our largest Shareholders, together
with its affiliates, represents one of our largest suppliers. The Group
operates our Tencent-based platforms and procure mobile payment
services for purchases made by our users through these Tencent-based
platforms, in particular, the mobile payment interfaces of Weixin and
Mobile QQ.
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Relationship with Our Employees

The Group embraces our employees as the most valuable assets of the
Group. The objective of the Group's human resources management is to
reward and recognize outstanding employees by providing competitive
remuneration packages and implementing a sound performance
appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression within the Group by providing robust
internal training and opportunities. In particular, to strengthen and
sustain our technology innovation, the Group will continue to attract,
train and retain more talent in technology, research and development.
New talent will continue to support our technology and will be offered
advancement through performance-based compensation packages, on

the job training programs and promotion opportunities.

Relationship with Our Shareholders

The Group recognizes the importance of protecting the interests
of the Shareholders and of having effective communication with
them. The Group believes communication with the Shareholders
is a two-way process and have thrived to ensure the quality and
effectiveness of information disclosure, maintain regular dialogue
with the Shareholders and listen carefully to the views and feedback
from the Shareholders. This has been done through general meetings,
corporate communications, interim and annual reports and results

announcements.

Risk of Major Customers

Since a limited number of customers, including Trip.com Group and its
affiliates, take up a substantial portion of the Company's revenue, there
will be an adverse impact on the sales and profit of the Group if these
major customers reduce the volume of, or no longer sell, their travel

products and services sold through us.
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Response measures: The Group will increase market sales of our products
through a diversified source of TSP, including (i) contracting directly
with TSP including airlines, hotel operators and railway companies; (ii)
contracting with regional travel agents; (iii) directly linking our platforms
to booking systems operated by TSP; and (iv) sharing of travel resources
with other third party online travel agencies. At the same time, the
Group will actively looks for mergers and acquisition opportunities to

expand the market size.

Risk of Maintaining Business Partnerships

The Group depends on our ability to maintain our existing partnerships,
including TSP and our extensive collaboration with Tencent Group.
Adverse changes in existing relationships, or our inability to enter into
new arrangements on commercially favorable terms, could adversely

affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Response measures: The Group will (i) deepen cooperation with business
partners and to strengthen our value propositions to them, for example,
by leveraging our technology to help our TSP offer more innovative and
customized products and services; (ii) diversify our service providers, in
relation to the provision of payment and settlement, and other technical
services; and (iii) expand user base through a diverse range of traffic

acquisition channels.

Risk of Competition within the Industry

Competition in the online travel industry is highly competitive. The
Group competes primarily with other online travel agencies, as well
as traditional travel agencies and travel service suppliers. As China’s
online travel market continues to evolve, the Group may be faced
with increased competition from new domestic travel agencies or
international players that seek to expand into China. The Group may also
face increasing competition from hotels and airlines as they increase
their direct selling efforts or engage in alliances with other online travel
service providers. Increased competition could reduce our operating

margins and profitability and result in our loss of market share.
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Response measures: The Group will continue to make, substantial
investments in our sales and marketing efforts, including broadening
our user acquisition channels. At the same time, the Group will further
improve its market competition analysis mechanism, focus on market
dynamics and collect market information. In addition, the Group will
continue to increase our competitiveness through expanding the range
of our product and service offerings, growing our user base, enhancing
our user engagement, and pursuing strategic alliances, acquisitions and

investments.

Risk of Retaining and Growing Our User Base

The size of the Group's user base and the level of user engagement are
critical to our success. Our business will continue to significantly depend
on our users and their level of engagement with our products and
services. If users no longer view our products and services as useful and
attractive, the Group may not be able to increase or maintain our user
base and the level of user engagement. Thus, our operating results and

long-term monetization potential could be adversely impacted.

Response measures: The Group will continue to seek the most effective
and cost-efficient ways to expand our user base through a diverse
range of traffic acquisition channels. The Group's major strategies are
(i) increasing user awareness of Tencent-based platforms; (i) enhancing
our brand value through marketing and promotional activities; (iii)
acquiring traffic efficiently for our proprietary mobile APPs; (iv) creating
a travel-focused social community, driving user loyalty and stickiness;
and (v) providing a more personalized user experience with smart travel

solutions to meet our users’ evolving needs.

Risk of Operational Insufficiency

The results of the Group's operations will continue to be affected by our
ability to improve our operational efficiency. The main operational risks
faced by the Group include but not limited to the risks of breaching
our users’ privacy, risks associated with payment fraud, and risks of

operational fluctuations due to seasonality.
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Response measures: As our business grows, the Group will continue
to further improve our operational efficiency through developing
technologies and infrastructure across different business functions.
The Group will also continue to focus on automation by, for example,
improving direct connect with accommodation suppliers to allow more
of them to manage inventories and rates and process bookings directly

from their own systems.

A description of the future development in the Company's business is
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” and the “Management Discussion

and Analysis” section of this annual report.

On April 17, 2025 (after trading hours), eLong (a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) entered into an equity transfer agreement with
Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited, pursuant to which, among
others, eLong agreed to acquire, and Wanda Hotel Development Company
Limited agreed to sell 100% equity interest in Wanda Hotel Management
(Hong Kong) Co. Limited held by Wanda Hotel Development Company
Limited for an initial consideration of approximately RMB2,497.3 million
(subject to adjustments). The equity transfer is subject to the fulfilment (or
waiver, if applicable) of the conditions precedent under the equity transfer
agreement. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated April 17, 2025.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other significant
event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to December 31,
2024 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.

The Directors during the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date

of this annual report are:

Mr. Wu Zhixiang (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Ma Heping (Chief Executive Officer)
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Mr. Liang Jianzhang (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Jiang Hao

Mr. Xie Qing Hua

Mr. Brent Richard Irvin

Mr. Yang Chia Hung
Mr. Dai Xiaojing
Ms. Han Yuling

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors will retire from office by rotation at every annual general meeting
(provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years) and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election. Mr. Liang Jianzhang, Mr. Xie Qing Hua and Mr. Yang Chia Hung
will retire from the Board by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out in the section headed "Profiles of Directors and Senior

Management” of this annual report.
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The executive Directors have each entered into a service contract with the
Company pursuant to which they agree to act as an executive Director for an
initial term of three years until terminated in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the service contract or by either party giving to the other not

less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

The non-executive Directors have each entered into a service contract
with the Company pursuant to which they agree to act as a non-executive
Director for a term of one year until terminated in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the service contract or by either party giving to the other

not less than one month's prior notice in writing.

The independent non-executive Directors have each signed a letter of
appointment with the Company and have been appointed for a term of one
year. The appointment may be terminated by either party giving to the other

not less than one month's prior notice in writing.

None of the Directors have an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yang Chia Hung, Mr. Dai Xiaojing and Ms. Han Yuling,
the confirmation of their respective independence, and has confirmed
in the announcement on the appointment of such independent non-
executive director. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not
receive any notification from any of the independent non-executive Directors
about any subsequent change of circumstances which may affect his/her
independence. The Group considers that the independent non-executive
Directors have been independent from the date of their appointments to

December 31, 2024 and remain so as of the date of this annual report.
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As at December 31, 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of our associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
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Code, were as follows:

Name of Director

EEns

Mr. Wu Zhixiang™
REFFED
Mr. Ma Heping?
B LD
Mr. Jiang Hao®

LSS E®
Mr. Liang Jianzhang®
RREEREY

(L) denotes a long position

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

MR PR R FOR R ESIAT

Capacity/Nature of Interest

g REUE

Founder of a discretionary trust, Beneficial interest

PREFANEZA  BEnkn

Founder of a discretionary trust, Beneficial interest

REAMEIA - BniER

Interest of controlled corporation, Beneficial interest,
Grantee of restricted shares units

REGEEER  BREER  XRHROEBLARA

Beneficial interest, Interest of spouse

EniEsm - BAER

L

BRERITERBRAF

KRR

Approximate
percentage of

shareholding in

Number of the total issued
Shares held share capital®
REBITRAE

BEERRBEA

RGO EE BERBE DS
17,774,600 (L) 0.76 %
59,438,810 (L) 2.55%
9,462,950 (L) 0.41%
6,351,200 (L) 0.27%



Notes:

@)

Travel Maps Limited directly holds 8,575,400 Shares. As Travel Maps Limited is
wholly-owned by The Travel Maps Trust, of which Mr. Wu Zhixiang is the founder,
Mr. Wu is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Travel Maps Limited is
interested.

3,500,000, 3,500,000, 500,000, 700,000, 500,000 and 500,000 options were granted
to Mr. Wu pursuant to the 2018 Share Incentive Plan, 2019 Share Option Plan
and 2022 Share Option Plan on March 9, 2018, May 18, 2018, October 23, 2020,
October 21, 2021, June 29, 2022, and October 20, 2023, respectively. As at
December 31, 2024, Mr. Wu beneficially owns 9,199,200 options granted pursuant
to the 2018 Share Incentive Plan, 2019 Share Option Plan and 2022 Share Option
Plan.

Adventure Together Limited directly holds 9,499,140 Shares. As Adventure
Together Limited is wholly-owned by The Hope Family Trust, of which Mr. Ma
Heping is the founder, Mr. Ma is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which
Adventure Together Limited is interested.

6,914,155, 6,914,155, 6,914,160, 1,600,000, 1,600,000, 1,600,000, 1,700,000,
1,700,000 and 21,000,000 options were granted to Mr. Ma pursuant to the 2018
Share Incentive Plan, 2019 Share Option Plan, 2022 Share Option Plan and 2024
Share Scheme on March 9, 2018, May 18, 2018, September 1, 2018, December 20,
2019, October 23, 2020, October 21, 2021, June 29, 2022, October 20, 2023, and
June 27, 2024, respectively. As at December 31, 2024, Mr. Ma beneficially owns
49,939,670 options granted pursuant to the 2018 Share Incentive Plan, 2019 Share
Option Plan, 2022 Share Option Plan and 2024 Share Scheme.

Oasis Limited directly holds 5,555,560 Shares. As Oasis Limited is indirectly wholly-
owned and controlled by Mr. Jiang Hao, Mr. Jiang is deemed to be interested in
the Shares in which Oasis Limited is interested.

1,803,695, 1,803,695 and 1,500,000 options were granted to Mr. Jiang pursuant to
the 2018 Share Incentive Plan on March 9, 2018, May 18, 2018 and September 1,
2018, respectively. Mr. Jiang was also granted restricted share units in respect of
8,300,000 Shares pursuant to the 2016 Share Incentive Plan on August 26, 2016.
As at December 31, 2024, Mr. Jiang beneficially owns 3,907,390 options granted
pursuant to the 2016 Share Incentive Plan and 2018 Share Incentive Plan.
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(4)  Mr. Liang Jianzhang was deemed to be interested in (i) 3,252,000 Shares held by
him as a beneficial owner; and (ii) 3,099,200 Shares held through his spouse. Smart
Charm Limited directly holds 3,099,200 Shares in the Company. As Smart Charm
Limited is wholly-owned and controlled by the spouse of Mr. Liang, Mr. Liang is
therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Smart Charm Limited is
interested.

(5) The above calculation is based on the total number of Shares as of December 31,
2024, being 2,327,417,967 Shares.

Name of associated corporation

BB 7

Name of Director

BEAT

Mr. Wu Zhixiang
REFLE

Tongcheng Network
[EEL RS
Suzhou Chengyi
BRJNIZE
Mr. Ma Heping Tongcheng Network
BRFEE SEEERES
Suzhou Chengyi
BRI
Beijing E-dragon

b REEE

Note:

(1) As Suzhou Chengyi and Beijing E-dragon are limited liability companies
established in the PRC, the percentage of shareholding is determined with
reference to the percentage of subscribed registered capital of each shareholder.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, none of the Directors or
chief executives of the Company and their respective associates has or is
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which will be required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the
SFO); or which will be required to be recorded in the register to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which will be required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange.
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As at December 31, 2024, the followings are the persons, other than the
Directors or chief executives of the Company, who had interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares which would be required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of Part

XV of the SFO:

Name of Substantial Shareholder

TERREB

TCH Sapphire Limited (“TCH Sapphire”)"
TCH Sapphire Limited ([ TCH Sapphire|) ®

Image Frame Investment (HK) Limited

("lmage Frame")"

BEAERE (FE) BRAR([BEERED

Tencent Holdings Limited (“Tencent”)"

MR E R AT (TR DO

C-Travel International Limited ("C-Travel”)?
C-Travel International Limited ([ C-Travel |) @

Ctrip.com (Hong Kong) Limited (“Ctrip Hong Kong")?
BRRTHE(ER) ARAR ([ER(F8) )

Trip.com Group Limited (“Trip.com Group”)?

BR (TR

Capacity/Nature of Interest

g EmEtE

Beneficial owner
ExnfEAA

Beneficial owner

EmEA A

Interest in controlled corporations
Sy AR E R

Beneficial owner
EmEEA

Interest in controlled corporations®
REEEERY

Beneficial owner

EmEA A

Interest in controlled corporations
PR E R

Total Number of
Ordinary Shares

RZZTZWF+=—A=+—8 ' THALGEE
EXARRFNEESITHRAE) RIRD KA 7D
FHEEREREBES RBAEERMEXVEFE2RIS
BIEBENE AR A KRB RTOESESAR
HBERR AR RIREESRRAEKROEXVIE
3BIEATFE B MRS AR

Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in
the total issued
share capital®

REBITRE

BEERHBLA

ZBERAE ERBE D
310,899,020 (L) 13.36%
158,365,730 (L) 6.80%
476,215,740 (L) 20.46%
288,273,190 (L) 12.39%
122,995,180 (L) 5.28%
411,268,370 (L) 17.67%
148,966,590 (L) 6.40%
560,234,960 (L) 24.07%
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L

denotes a long position

Notes:

m

Under the SFO, Tencent is deemed to be interested in (i) the 310,899,020 Shares
held by TCH Sapphire, (ii) the 158,365,730 Shares held by Image Frame, and (iii)
the 6,950,990 Shares held by Elite Strength Limited, each of which is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Tencent.

Under the SFO, Trip.com Group is deemed to be interested in (i) the 288,273,190
Shares held by C-Travel, (i) the 148,966,590 Shares held by Ctrip Hong Kong, and
(iii) the 27,332,270 Shares held by Luxuriant Holdings Limited, each of which is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Trip.com Group. Under the SFO, Trip.com Group
is also deemed to be interested in 95,662,910 Shares held by EP Il Investment
Fund L.P., an exempted limited partnership established in the Cayman lIslands
because Ctrip Investment Holding Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Trip.com
Group, contributed more than one-third of the capital to EP Il Investment Fund L.P.
However, EP Il Investment Fund L.P. does not constitute an associate of Trip.com
Group under the Listing Rules as Trip.com Group does not control 30% or more of
the voting power in EP Il Investment Fund L.P..

Under the SFO, C-Travel is deemed to be interested in (i) the 27,332,270 Shares
held by Luxuriant Holdings Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
C-Travel, and (i) the 95,662,910 Shares held by EP Il Investment Fund L.P., given
Ctrip Investment Holding Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of C-Travel, contributed
more than one-third of the capital to EP Il Investment Fund L.P..

The above calculation is based on the total number of Shares as of December 31,
2024, being 2,327,417,967 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, the Company is not aware

of any other person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the

Company) who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying

Shares which would be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or

as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”
above, at no time during the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the
date of this annual report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of the shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or had

exercised any such right.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with Our Largest
Shareholders” in the Prospectus, and save for their respective interests in the
Group, and stated in their respective confirmations, none of the Directors was
interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete with the
businesses of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not issued any
convertible bonds.

Among the related party transactions disclosed in note 37 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, the following transactions constituted
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Rule 14A31 of
the Listing Rules and were required to be disclosed in this annual report in
accordance with Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed
that such related party transactions identified below fall under the definition
of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as the case
may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and it had complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Please see below the information required to be disclosed in compliance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, no related party transactions disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements constitutes a connected transaction or
a continuing connected transaction as defined under Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules for which disclosure is required.
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The reasons for using the Contractual Arrangements

The Group provides online information services, online data and transaction
services, air ticketing services, insurance agency services and/or call center
services (the "Relevant Businesses”), which are classified as foreign
investment restricted under the current PRC laws and regulations. As foreign—
invested enterprises, the Group through E-dragon Beijing WFOE and Longyue
Tiancheng WFOE (collectively, the “WFOEs") could not have obtained

licences and permits required for the operation of the Relevant Businesses.

In order to comply with PRC laws and regulations and the Listing Rules, the
Relevant Businesses of the Group have been conducted through Contractual
Arrangement Entities by itself or through their subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”) under the Contractual Arrangements.
As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group is able to recognize
and receive the economic benefit of the business and operations of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The Contractual Arrangements are also
designed to provide the Company with effective control over and (to the
extent permitted by PRC law) the right to acquire the equity interests in and/

or assets of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

Summary of the major terms of the Contractual Arrangements

The Contractual Arrangements which were in place during the year ended
December 31, 2024 and a brief description of the major terms of the

Contractual Arrangements is set out below.

(a) Exclusive Technology Consulting and Services Agreements

Each of the Contractual Arrangement Entities agreed to engage Longyue
Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever applicable) as
its exclusive provider of technical support, consulting services and other

services in exchange for a fee. The services to be provided include:

(i) development, maintenance and updating of server application

software for the Contractual Arrangement Entities;

(i) development, maintenance and updating of Internet application

software for the Contractual Arrangement Entities;
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(b)

(iii) provision of e-commerce technology services;

(iv) provision of staff training services; and

(v) other services requested by the Contractual Arrangement Entities.

Under the Exclusive Technology Consulting and Services Agreements,
the service fee shall be an amount equivalent to 100% of the
consolidated net profit of the respective Contractual Arrangement
Entity in the financial year, less (i) net loss incurred by the respective
Contractual Arrangement Entity in the immediately preceding financial
year (if applicable); (ii) operational capital, expenses, taxes and other
payments required under the PRC law in the same financial year;
and (iii) any net profit distributed to Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or
E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever applicable) in the form of dividends.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Longyue Tiancheng WFOE and E-dragon
Beijing WFOE are entitled to adjust the scope and amount of the service
fees payable with reference to the tax obligations and operating capital

needs of the Contractual Arrangement Entities.

Exclusive Share Purchase Right Agreements

The registered shareholders of (i) Tongcheng Network other than
Longyue Tiancheng WFOE, (ii) Beijing E-dragon, and (iii) Suzhou
Chengyi (collectively, the “Registered Shareholders”) granted Longyue
Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever applicable) an
irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase, or designate one or more
persons (each, a “designee”) to purchase, the equity interests then held
by the relevant Registered Shareholders in, and/or the assets of the
Contractual Arrangement Entities (the “Optioned Interest’) once or at
multiple times at any time in part or in whole at the sole and absolute
discretion of Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE
(whichever applicable) to the extent permitted under the applicable
laws of China. Where Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing
WFOE (whichever applicable) chooses to purchase the Optioned
Interest, the relevant Registered Shareholders shall cause the Contractual
Arrangement Entities to promptly convene a shareholders’ meeting, at
which a resolution shall be adopted approving the relevant Registered
Shareholders’ transfer of the Optioned Interest to Longyue Tiancheng

WEFOE, E-dragon Beijing WFOE and/or their respective designees.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

")

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

Share Pledge Agreements

The Registered Shareholders agreed to pledge all their respective
equity interests in the Contractual Arrangement Entities that they own,
including any interest or dividend paid for the shares, to Longyue
Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever applicable) as a
security interest to guarantee the performance of contractual obligations
and the payment of outstanding debts of the Contractual Arrangement
Entities and the Registered Shareholders under the Exclusive Technology
Consulting and Services Agreements, the Exclusive Share Purchase Right

Agreements, the Powers of Attorney and the Loan Agreement.

Powers of Attorney

Each Registered Shareholder irrevocably appointed Longyue Tiancheng
WEFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever applicable) respectively (as
well as the successors, including a liquidator, if any, replacing Longyue
Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE) or their designee(s)
(including their directors) as its/his/her sole exclusive agent to exercise
on its/his/her behalf, certain powers concerning the Contractual
Arrangement Entities and to exercise its rights as the registered

shareholder of Contractual Arrangement Entities.

Loan Agreement

E-dragon Beijing WFOE agreed to lend Mr. Ma Heping RMB8,000,000 for

purposes of the capital contribution to Beijing E-dragon.

Irrevocable Undertakings of the spouse of each of the Registered
Shareholders

The spouse of each of the Registered Shareholders has expressly and
irrevocable acknowledged and undertaken that (i) any equity interests
held by such Registered Shareholders in the Contractual Arrangement
Entities do not fall within the scope of their communal properties; (ii)
each of them will not have any claim on the interests of Contractual
Arrangement Entities obtained through the Contractual Arrangements;
(iii) each of them never participated and will not participate in the

operation or management of the Contractual Arrangement Entities.
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(9) Suzhou Chengyi Loan Agreement and Supplemental Loan
Agreement

Longyue Tiancheng WFOE agreed to provide loans of RMB459,000,000
in aggregate to Mr. Wu Zhixiang and loans of RMB441,000,000 in
aggregate to Mr. Ma Heping (Mr. Wu and Mr. Ma are collectively referred
as "Suzhou Chengyi Registered Holders"), respectively, which shall
be used solely to make the necessary capital contribution to Suzhou

Chengyi.

Upon Longyue Tiancheng WFOE exercising its exclusive call option, it
will require the Suzhou Chengyi Registered Holders to repay the loans by
transferring all or part of their equity interest in Suzhou Chengyi to the
Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or any of their designated person and use the
proceeds of such transfer as repayment of the loans. If the proceeds of
such transfer is equal to or less than the principal of the loans under the
Suzhou Chengyi Loan Agreement, the loans are considered interest-free.
If the proceeds of such transfer is higher than the principal of the loans
under the Suzhou Chengyi Loan Agreement, any surplus is considered

interest for the loans under the Suzhou Chengyi Loan Agreement.

For details of the major terms of the Contractual Arrangements, please
refer to (i) the sub-section headed “Contractual Arrangements — Summary
of material terms of the Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus; (ii)
the announcement of the Company dated March 20, 2019 in relation to
the continuing connected transactions constituted by the Suzhou Chengyi
Supplemental Arrangements; and (i) the announcement of the Company
dated July 13, 2023 in relation to the continuing connected transactions
constituted by the Suzhou Chengyi Second Supplemental Arrangements and

the New Variable Interest Entity (“"VIE") Agreements of Beijing E-Dragon.

Changes in the Contractual Arrangements

In order to increase the registered capital of Suzhou Chengyi in response to
the request of the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission to
have a registered capital of RMB40 million, on March 19, 2019, the relevant
parties entered into the Suzhou Chengyi Loan Agreement, and consequential
administrative changes were made to the Exclusive Share Purchase Right
Agreement, the Share Pledge Agreement, the Powers of Attorney and the
Irrevocable Undertakings to reflect the increased registered capital of Suzhou
Chengyi and the entering into of the Suzhou Chengyi Loan Agreement.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated March 20, 2019 for

details.
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In order to increase the registered capital of Suzhou Chengyi so as to provide
flexibility for investments opportunities of the Group, on July 13, 2023,
the relevant parties entered into the Suzhou Chengyi Supplemental Loan
Agreement (see paragraph (g) above), and consequential administrative
changes were made to the Suzhou Chengyi Second Amended and Restated
Exclusive Share Purchase Right Agreement, Suzhou Chengyi Second
Amended and Restated Share Pledge Agreement, Suzhou Chengyi Second
Amended and Restated Powers of Attorney and Suzhou Chengyi Second
Amended and Restated Irrevocable Undertakings to reflect the increased
registered capital of Suzhou Chengyi and the entering into of the Suzhou
Chengyi Supplemental Loan Agreement. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated July 13, 2023 for details.

In order to enhance the internal control and management system of the
Group and for administration efficiency purpose, on July 13, 2023, the
relevant parties entered into a series of agreement to change one of the
registered shareholders of Beijing E-dragon from Mr. Jiang Hao to Mr. Ma
Heping (our executive Director and chief executive officer); and such series
of agreements included (i) a termination agreement to terminate the then
existing VIE structure of Beijing E-dragon; (ii) an equity transfer agreement of
Beijing E-dragon to transfer 50% of the equity interests in Beijing E-dragon
from Mr. Jiang Hao to Mr. Ma; and (iii) a set of new VIE agreement to establish
the new VIE structure of Beijing E-dragon. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated July 13, 2023 for details.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, there was no material change
in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which
they were adopted, and none of the Contractual Arrangements has been
unwound as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of Contractual

Arrangements has been removed.
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Requirements related to Contractual Arrangements (other than
relevant foreign ownership restrictions) as at the date of this Annual
Report

In addition to the restrictions on foreign ownership, there were regulatory
requirements on the operational experience and proven track record of a
foreign investor who intends to operate a value-added telecommunications
business in the PRC (the “Qualification Requirements”’) under Provisions
on Administration of Foreign Invested Telecommunications Enterprises
KN EBEEEIRRTE) (the "FITE Regulation”)) which was firstly
promulgated in December 2001. The Qualification Requirements were
applicable to our operation of the value-added telecommunications business,
including the Information Services Business, the Third Party Transaction
Platform Business and the Call Center Service Business. However, such
Qualification Requirements have been removed from the latest amended FITE
Regulation which took effect on May 1, 2022. In the view of the Company'’s
PRC Legal Advisor, there is no requirement on the operational experience
and proven track record specifically related to a foreign investor who intends
to operate the air ticketing agency business, the online air ticketing trading
business or the insurance agency business under applicable PRC laws and

regulations.

PRC law currently limits foreign ownership of companies that provide value-
added telecommunications services (other than operating E-commerce,
domestic multi-party communication, e-storage and forwarding and call
center businesses) in the PRC up to 50%. Moreover, for a foreign investor to
hold any equity interest in a value-added telecommunications services in
China must obtain approval from the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology (the "MIIT"), which retain considerable discretion in granting

approvals.
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As both Tongcheng Network and Beijing E-dragon have foreign investor
holding equity interest on a see through basis, such foreign investors must
fulfill the aforementioned requirements. Thus, Tongcheng Network and
Beijing E-dragon shall each apply for and hold an ICP License from the MIIT
to reflect their respective foreign shareholding. The MIIT has discretion as
to whether to grant the license. Beijing E-dragon and Tongcheng Network
have obtained a new ICP License on August 16, 2023 and June 13, 2023,

respectively.

On April 7, 2022, the State Council of the PRC issued the Decision to Amend
and Abolish Certain Administrative Regulations, which made amendments
to the FITE Regulation and took effect on May 1, 2022. The amendments
include, among others, removing the Qualification Requirements for foreign
investors that hold equity interest in PRC companies conducting value-added
telecommunication business as set out in the FITE Regulation. However,
there are still substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation and
implementation of the amended FITE Regulation. More generally, the PRC
government authorities have broad discretion in the determination and
interpretation of the rules and regulations, and it also remains uncertain
whether the PRC government authorities will impose additional requirements
for foreign investors that invest in a company providing value-added

telecommunication services in the PRC in practice.

Development in the PRC legislation on foreign investment

On March 15, 2019, the National People’s Congress promulgated the Foreign
Investment Law (JMNEIEEE) (the “FIL"), which took effect on January 1,
2020. The FIL replaces the laws regulating foreign investment in PRC, namely,
the Sino-foreign Equity Joint Venture Enterprise Law, the Sino-foreign
Cooperative Joint Venture Enterprise Law and the Wholly Foreign-invested
Enterprise Law. The FIL embodies an expected regulatory trend in PRC to
rationalize its foreign investment regulatory regime in line with prevailing
international practice and the legislative efforts to unify the corporate legal

requirements for both foreign and domestic investments.
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The FIL does not explicitly stipulate the contractual arrangements as a form
of foreign investment. The FIL does not mention concepts including “de
facto control” and “controlling through contractual arrangements” nor does
it specify the regulation on controlling through contractual arrangements.
Furthermore, the FIL does not specifically stipulate rules on the Relevant
Businesses. Instead, the FIL stipulates that “foreign investors invest in PRC
through any other methods under laws, administrative regulations, or
provisions prescribed by the State Council”. Therefore, as advised by the PRC
legal Advisor, the Contractual Arrangements will not be affected under the
FIL.

Nevertheless, there are possibilities that future laws, administrative
regulations or provisions of the State Council may stipulate contractual
arrangements as a way of foreign investment, and then whether the
Contractual Arrangements will be recognized as foreign investment,
whether the Contractual Arrangements will be deemed to be in violation
of the foreign investment access requirements and how the Contractual

Arrangements will be handled are uncertain.

In addition, the FIL does not specify what actions shall be taken with
respect to the existing companies with a VIE structure, whether or not these

companies are controlled by PRC entities and/or citizens.
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Particulars of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities

Set out below are the registered owners and business activities of the

Consolidated Affiliated Entities which had entered into transactions with the

Group during the year ended December 31, 2024:

Name of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities

HREEER AR

Beijing E-dragon
bR

Tongcheng Network

EEEFEEA

Suzhou Chengyi

Registered owners as at
December 31, 2024
R-—B-—mE+=A=+-8
HEZEAA

50% by Mr. Ma Heping

1 5 AN SE AR 50%

50% by E-dragon Beijing WFOE
I E#EIL R WFOEHE B 50%

50% by Tongcheng Network Registered
Shareholders together®

i A2 ERRR AR ER50%"

50% by Longyue Tiancheng WFOE

R RIZWFOEHE A 50%

51% by Mr. Wu Zhixiang

BN R HREFEEEF%
49% by Mr. Ma Heping
B 5 AN S HEH 49%
Note:

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

The Registered Shareholders of Tongcheng Network include the registered
shareholders of Tongcheng Network other than Longyue Tiancheng WFOE, which
comprise Mr. Wu Zhixiang, Mr. Wang Zhuan, Ms. Wu Jian, Mr. Zhang Hai long, Mr.
Ma Heping, Cowin Venture Capital Co., Ltd. (JL/EBIZ & E B R A 7)), Khorgos Le
Cheng Tian Xia Equity Investment Management Partnership (LP) (% F RHET£4R2 X
TREEEEEABPEERET)), Suzhou Industrial Park Te Cheng Enterprise
Management Co., Ltd. (BN CEERFELEEE AR AR, Khorgos Qing
Cheng Equity Investment Management Partnership (LP) (EF R ERBRER
BEERABLEEMRAR)), Khorgos Ye Cheng Equity Investment Management
Partnership (LP) (ER R EEREREEREBLEBEMRER)), Shenzhen
Tencent Industrial Investment Fund Co., Ltd. (RIITTEAEEREZ S AR A
), Shenzhen Century Huixiang Technology Co., Ltd. CRINT A ERERIE AR
A 7)), Shenzhen Li Tong Industrial Investment Fund Co., Ltd. (R TH FIimE # &%
BEHSHBR AT, and Shenzhen Century Kai Hua Investment Fund Co,, Ltd. (3|
ML EREEEBRAR).

BRERITERBRAF

HrREEERFE
TXHIBE_T-_NEF+_A=T—BIF
EEARBEETIINHREBERNSLHE
BANER RS

Business activities

KIS

Provision of online accommodation reservation
services

REEREEEIRE

Provision of online accommodation,
transportation ticketing and ancillary
value-added travel-related products and
services

REERER  BRBREEEERE
72 mn KR PR 75

Provision of insurance agency services
through online platforms operated under
Beijing E-dragon and Tongcheng Network,
the intended call center business, and other
Relevant Businesses

BRI REERAEERELHRLTE
RUEFRBARIERS - HERTUHLE
B R E MR ER

RERAKRNELRRIEREZBEEZRE (T
BEEHRRIZEWFOE) - IREHELE £5%
£ RRlkt - RigEELE  BNTELE  HRA
BIXEKRERRAR  EMRILRERTERERE
EEABCE(ARER)  #HMIXEEBRFRER
XEEARNA  ERRNSEREREEES
BOLE(ERAYR) ERRMEERBREEHE
AREE(BRER)  RITRAEXREES
BRAF  RINTHLEFRARAF - R
MABEEREEZSAERAR RYIT LS E
REESHBRAT -



Revenue and Assets subject to the Contractual Arrangements BHRBEETHRAREE

The revenues for the year and total assets subject to the Contractual ERLZHETHEERAREELEHRS| BT
Arrangements are set out as follows:

Name of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities HREEEREE

Beijing E-dragon b ERE

Tongcheng Network [EREX SRS

Suzhou Chengyi ERINTEE

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the revenues of Beijing E-dragon, HE_Z-_NE+-_A=+—HLEE IR
Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi accounted for 1.5%, 32.4% and i EAREKRFEMNEZHBAD FIEARE
3.6% of the total revenues of the Group, respectively. EBULABI1.5% ~ 32.4% f23.6% °

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the total assets of Beijing E-dragon, HE-T-_NEF+-_A=+—HILFE &K
Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi accounted for 1.1%, 30.3% and HiE  AEASEHFNEENEELBES G
4.9% of the total assets of the Group, respectively. REBEEAERNI% » 30.3%54.9% o
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Review of the Transactions carried out under the Contractual
Arrangements during the Reporting Period

1. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirm that the transactions carried out during such
year have been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions

of the Contractual Arrangements;

2. No dividends or other distributions have been made by Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity interests which are not

otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; and

3. Any new contracts entered into, renewed or reproduced between
our Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities during the relevant
financial period above are fair and reasonable, or advantageous to our
Shareholders, so far as our Group is concerned and in the interests of the

Shareholders as a whole.

The Board had reviewed the overall performance of and compliance with the

Contractual Arrangements for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The auditor of the Group has carried out review procedures in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants on

the transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements.

The auditor has confirmed in a letter to our Board with respect to Contractual

Arrangements:

(1) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe
that the disclosed transactions under the Contractual Arrangements

have not been approved by the Board;

(2) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements under the Contractual

Arrangements governing such transactions; and
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(3) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe
that there were dividends or other distributions have been made by our
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of their equity interests
which were not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the

Group.

The risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and actions
taken by the Company to mitigate the risks

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual Arrangements,

including:

If the PRC government found that these Contractual Arrangements
did not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, the Group
could be subject to penalties or be forced to relinquish our interests in

those operations.

The Group might be unable to enforce the Contractual Arrangements
because of uncertainties in the PRC legal system. Since the Group
might suffer significant time delays or other obstacles in the process of
enforcing the Contractual Arrangements, it would be very difficult to

exert effective control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

The interpretation and implementation of the FIL and how it might
impact the viability of our current corporate structure, corporate

governance and business operations remain uncertain.

The Contractual Arrangements might not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership, and thus, the Contractual
Arrangement Entities or their respective shareholders might fail to

perform their obligations under our Contractual Arrangements.

If any of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities declared bankruptcy
or became subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding, the
Group might lose the ability to use and enjoy the assets held by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

Under PRC laws and regulations, the Contractual Arrangements might
be subject to audit or challenged by the PRC tax authorities. As a result
of the audit, the PRC tax authorities might adjust our Contractual
Arrangement Entities’ income in the form of a transfer pricing

adjustment.
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Further details of the risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements
please refer to the section headed “Risk factors — Risks relating to our

Contractual Arrangements”in the Prospectus.

Our Group has adopted measures to ensure the effective operation of
our Group'’s businesses with the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual Arrangements,

including:

1. major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from government
authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review and

discussion on an occurrence basis;

2. the Board will review the overall performance with the Contractual

Arrangements at least once a year;

3. our Directors undertake to provide periodic updates in our annual

reports regarding the latest development of the FIL; and

4. the Company will engage external legal advisors or other professional
advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to review the implementation
of the Contractual Arrangements, review the legal compliance of WFOEs
and our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to deal with specific issues or

matters arising from the Contractual Arrangements.
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Online Booking Services Framework Agreements

On August 22, 2023, the Company entered into the Online Booking
Services Framework Agreements with each of Shanghai Mehood
and Hunan Bolin (together with their respective subsidiaries and/
or consolidated affiliated entities, the "Hotel Partner Entities”) (the
“Online Booking Services Framework Agreements”), pursuant to
which the Company has agreed to provide (or procure its subsidiaries
and/or consolidated affiliated entities to provide) access to the online
platforms of the Group, which comprise (i) Tencent-based platforms,
(i) mobile apps, and (i) websites through which the Group delivers its
travel product offerings (the “Online Platforms”) for the Hotel Partner
Entities (and/or their respective member hotels) to offer accommodation
services as accommodation suppliers (the “Online Booking Services”).
Each of Shanghai Mehood and Hunan Bolin is a connected subsidiary
of the Company, and the transactions between the Group and each of
Shanghai Mehood and Hunan Bolin constitute continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Online Booking
Services Framework Agreements has an initial term of three years from
August 22, 2023 to July 31, 2026 and shall be automatically renewed
or extended for another three years upon mutual agreement, provided
that such renewal or extension of term complies with the Listing Rules,
applicable laws and regulations. Through establishing long-term and
sustainable business relationships with these selected ecosystem
partners, the Group can (i) offer competitive pricing structure to the
users across its Online Platforms which are open metasearch platforms;
(i) continue to enrich, supplement and diversify its existing product
offering; (iii) increase hotel selection coverage for its large scale of
users; (iv) establish meaningful and value-adding linkage between
the upstream and downstream businesses of the supply chain for
the hotel and alternative accommodation related products of the
Group, and lastly; and (v) empower the tourism supply chain through
its own platforms and technological advantages. Please refer to the

announcement of the Company dated August 22, 2023 for details.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps of the commission fees
receivable by the Group in respect of its provision of the Online Booking
Services to the Hotel Partner Entities (and/or their respective member
hotels) for the years ending July 31, 2026 respectively, and the actual

amount incurred for the year ended December 31, 2024 under the

Online Booking Services Framework Agreements:

Commission fees receivable by the Group

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

the 4 months and
11 days from
August 22, 2023 to
December 31,2023

“ECoCE

NAZTZHE

St 3

t-A=t-H

IERESIPN

REBRUNRLER 6,000

BRERITERBRAF

TREINEFEBIIRBERBHET - &%
B8z F+tA=-+—HLFE
DRIBEERHER (R RESSEEHK
8)FE) IRHERET RS mEKRAES
BRFELRUERBEE T _MF+=A

=t RALFEEENERIZEHE

Proposed annual caps for

BEFELR

the year ending
December 31, 2025

HECZ-RF
+-B=t+-R
I5E
fin AMB000)
(ARETT)

30,600

Actual amount incurred for

ERRALE

the 7 months from

January 1,2026 to

July 31,2026

k- Ja 3

-A-R%
o

+tA=T-H
f71EA

25500



2023 Tencent Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement

On October 27, 2023, the Company entered into the 2023 Tencent
Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement (the “2023 Tencent
Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement”) with Shenzhen
Tencent Computer Systems Company Limited (RIITHEETE

ZEAMRAF) (‘“Tencent Computer’), pursuant to which Tencent
Computer agreed to grant the Group access to the Tencent-based
platforms to sell the travelling resources, including but not limited
to, transportation ticketing services, vacation products and attraction
ticketing services and accommodation booking (the “Travelling
Resources’). Tencent Computer is a subsidiary of Tencent, a substantial
shareholder of the Company, and therefore is a connected person
of the Company. Therefore, the transactions under the 2023 Tencent
Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
2023 Tencent Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement has an
initial term of three years from October 27, 2023 to October 26, 2026
and is renewable for a further term of three years upon the mutual
consent of both parties, unless the parties agree in writing to terminate,
subject to compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable laws and
regulations. The 2023 Tencent Travelling Resources Sales Framework
Agreement could continue to benefit the Company by ensuring a long-
term collaboration with the Tencent-based Platforms, which enables us
to continue to grow in the travel products and services market. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated October 27, 2023 for

details.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps of the transaction amount TREY - =FEAIREZLRHEEIE

for the three years ending October 26, 2026, respectively, and the actual ERpE TEE_S - AAF+AZ+ AL

amount incurred for the year ended December 31, 2024 under the 2023 SEEESNNRSSBER LRARE

Tencent Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement: BT NME+A=FT—HIEFENE
R HEH

Actual amount

Proposed annual caps for incurred for
BEEELR BRRA%R
2 months and 5 days 9 months and 26 days
from October 27, 2023 theyearending  from January 1, 2026
to December 31,2023 December 31,2025 to October 26, 2026
e Sl ZEIR
tAZ+tAZ -A-B%
it 3 (E_TCRE 2R
t-A=t-8 +ZA=1-H +A-tAA
IMERESN i34 H9fEA LR
(in RMB'000)
(AR%TTT)
Commission paid by the Group to Tencent A& B EIRRMET T4
Computer for utiizing the NHERMMIEER
Tencent-based platforms for the ERERHEROAS
sales of our Travelling Resources 15,000 49000 68,000
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Tencent Technical Support Framework Agreement

On December 8, 2020, the Company entered into the 2020 Tencent
Technical Support Framework Agreement with Tencent Cloud
HOERBERE
£/ 7)) (‘Tencent Cloud’) (the “2020 Tencent Technical Support

Computing (Beijing) Company Limited (EslEs

Framework Agreement’), pursuant to which Tencent Group will
provide us with technical support and other related products and
services, including but not limited to, cloud services and intelligent DNS
domain name resolution and digital map services. Tencent Cloud is our
connected person because it is a subsidiary of Tencent, which is one of
our substantial shareholders. Therefore, the transactions under the 2020
Tencent Technical Support Framework Agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The 2020
Tencent Technical Support Framework Agreement has an initial term of
three years from January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2023 and is renewable
upon the mutual consent of both parties, subject to compliance with
the Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations. The 2020 Tencent
Technical Support Framework Agreement is fundamental to the Group's
business development and marketing and advertising needs, given the
importance of stable cloud services required for our operations. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated December 8, 2020 for

details.

On December 5, 2023, the Company entered into the 2023 Tencent
Technical Support Framework Agreement with Tencent Cloud (the
‘2023 Tencent Technical Support Framework Agreement’), the
nature of which is substantially similar to the 2020 Tencent Technical
Support Framework Agreement. The 2023 Tencent Technical Support
Framework Agreement has an initial term of three years from January 1,
2024 to December 31, 2026 and is renewable upon the mutual consent
of both parties, unless the parties agree in writing to terminate the
2023 Tencent Technical Support Framework Agreement during its term,
subject to compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable laws and
regulations. The 2020 Tencent Technical Support Framework Agreement
ceased to be in effect from December 31, 2023. The 2023 Tencent
Technical Support Framework Agreement is fundamental to the Group's
business development and marketing and advertising needs, given the
importance of stable cloud services required for our operations. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated December 5, 2023 for

details.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps of the transaction amount TREY - =FEARMZIRIEED

to be payable by us for the technical support and related services to be EN B EAEESEE T =

provided by Tencent Group for the years ended/ending December 31, F ZERFRZIEZARETZA=T

2024, 2025 and 2026, respectively, and the actual transaction amount — B IEFER AN R R A8 RS AT

incurred for the year ended December 31, 2024 under the 2023 Tencent TNMRZGEEFELRURBEE -5

Technical Support Framework Agreement: NE+ZA=+—HLFENERR I
8

Actual amount

incurred for

Proposed annual caps for the year ended
the years ended/ending December 31, December 31,
'8z
t=ZA=t+—8H
LEEER
BE+t-A=+-HLEFENERFELR ERRZEE
2025 2026
—ZT-RHF T oRF
(in RMB'000)
(ARETFT)
Transaction amounts payable REEZ R
by the Group o5& 100,000 130,000
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Tencent Payment Services Framework Agreement

On December 8, 2020, the Company entered into the 2020 Tencent
Payment Services Framework Agreement (the “2020 Tencent Payment
Services Framework Agreement’) with Tencent Computer, pursuant
to which Tencent Group will provide payment and settlement services
through its payment channels to us in return for certain fees. Tencent
Computer is our connected person because it is a subsidiary of Tencent,
which is one of our substantial shareholders. Therefore, the transactions
under the 2020 Tencent Payment Services Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The 2020 Tencent Payment Services Framework Agreement
has an initial term of three years from January 1, 2021 to December
31, 2023 and is renewable upon the mutual consent of both parties,
subject to compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable laws and
regulations. The 2020 Tencent Payment Services Framework Agreement
would enable the Group to provide our users with a convenient
payment method, therefore enhancing the overall user experience of
our services. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
December 8, 2020 and the circular of the Company dated December 11,
2020 for details.

On December 5, 2023, the Company entered into the 2023 Tencent
Payment Services Framework Agreement with Tencent Computer (the
2023 Tencent Payment Services Framework Agreement”), the nature
of which is substantially similar to the 2020 Tencent Payment Services
Framework Agreement. The 2023 Tencent Payment Services Framework
Agreement has an initial term of three years from January 1, 2024 to
December 31, 2026 and is renewable upon the mutual consent of both
parties, unless the parties agree in writing to terminate the 2023 Tencent
Payment Services Framework Agreement during its term, subject to
compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations.
The 2020 Tencent Payment Services Framework Agreement ceased to be
in effect from December 31, 2023. The 2023 Tencent Payment Services
Framework Agreement would enable the Group to provide our users
with a convenient payment method, therefore enhancing the overall
user experience of our services. Please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated December 5, 2023 and the circular of the Company
dated December 11, 2023 for details.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps of the transaction amount TREINEKMBE S _=FEAZNFR

for the years ended/ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and 2026, BIERGZ  2HNBZE_T_MF - =%
respectively, and the actual transaction amount incurred for the year THRERZEZRETZA=T—HBLF
ended December 31, 2024 under the 2023 Tencent Payment Services EHNRFEBEFEELRUREZE=-Z -
Framework Agreement: FHZA=Z+—BLEFENEBRRZ SR

Actual amount

incurred for

Proposed annual caps for the year ended
the years ended/ending December 31, December 31,
BE
+=A=+—H
LEEER
BE+t-A=+-HLFENERFELR BERXSEHE
2025 2026
—“ZT-RF —ECREF
(in RMB'000)
(ARETT)
Transaction amounts payable REBE LR
by the Group RHEE 2,800,000 3,600,000
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Trip.com Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement

On December 8, 2020, the Company entered into the 2020 Trip.com
Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement (the “2020 Trip.com
Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement”) with C-Travel,
pursuant to which the Group will provide transportation services
(including transportation ticketing and car rental), attraction ticketing
services and accommodation booking services to Trip.com Group
and/or its associates. C-Travel is our connected person because it is
one of our substantial shareholders. Therefore, the transactions under
the 2020 Trip.com Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The 2020 Trip.com Travelling Resources Sales Framework
Agreement has an initial term of three years from January 1, 2021 to
December 31, 2023 and is renewable upon the mutual consent of both
parties, subject to compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable
laws and regulations. The 2020 Trip.com Travelling Resources Sales
Framework Agreement could help our products and services reach a
larger sales market via Trip.com Group's online and mobile platforms,
further enlarge our user base, and increase our market share. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated December 8, 2020 for

details.

On December 5, 2023, the Company entered into the 2023 Trip.com
Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement with C-Travel (the
“2023 Trip.com Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement’),
pursuant to which the Group will provide transportation services,
attraction services, vacation products and accommodation booking
services to Trip.com Group and/or its associates, the nature of which
is substantially similar to the 2020 Trip.com Travelling Resources Sales
Framework Agreement. The 2023 Trip.com Travelling Resources Sales
Framework Agreement has an initial term of three years from January
1, 2024 to December 31, 2026 and is automatically renewable upon
the mutual consent of both parties, unless the parties agree in writing
to terminate the 2023 Trip.com Travelling Resources Sales Framework
Agreement during its term, subject to compliance with the Listing
Rules and applicable laws and regulations. The 2020 Trip.com Travelling
Resources Sales Framework Agreement ceased to be in effect from
December 31, 2023. The 2023 Trip.com Travelling Resources Sales
Framework Agreement could help our products and services reach a
larger sales market via Trip.com Group's online and mobile platforms,
further enlarge our user base, and increase our market share. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated December 5, 2023 for

details.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps of the transaction amount TREVNEPBIE T =_=FTrip.com K

for the years ended/ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and 2026, BEREEERDE  DHIBE_TZ

respectively, and the actual transaction amount incurred for the year F ZERFRZIEZARETZA=T

ended December 31, 2024 pursuant to the 2023 Trip.com Travelling —BEFEANRGeRFELRARERE

Resources Sales Framework Agreement: ZEINFF A= —ALEFEEER
P&

Service fee and system maintenance
fee payable by the Group to Trip.
com Group and/or its associates
for the provision of access to
their platforms for the offering
of the Group's transportation
services, attraction services,
vacation products and

accommodation booking services

Actual amount

incurred for

Proposed annual caps for the year ended
the years ended/ending December 31, December 31,
8=
+=B=+—8H
LEFER
BE+t-A=+—-HLEENERFELR BRXBEHE
2025 2026
—ZZhF  ZBCDRHF
(in RMB'000)
(AR®ETFT)
A BB R T
R/ SHBEA
FABARR
DA AR S B 69
RS =B
PR - EREMR
(ETEIEA] RIS
BRRHH
B2 A AT 6 AR TS
ERAGHES 37,000 50,000
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Trip.com Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement

On December 8, 2020, the Company entered into the 2020 Trip.com
Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement with C-Travel
(the “2020 Trip.com Travelling Resources Provision Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which Trip.com Group and/or its associates
will provide transportation services (including transportation ticketing
and car rental), attraction ticketing services and accommodation booking
services to the Group. C-Travel is our connected person because it is
one of our substantial shareholders. Therefore, the transactions under
the 2020 Trip.com Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The 2020 Trip.com Travelling Resources Provision
Framework Agreement has an initial term of three years from January 1,
2021 to December 31, 2023 and is renewable upon the mutual consent
of both parties, subject to compliance with the Listing Rules and
applicable laws and regulations. The 2020 Trip.com Travelling Resources
Provision Framework Agreement would enable the Group to expand the
variety of travel products and services offered on our online and mobile
platforms, enhance the user experience on our platforms, increase our
market shares by integration of our and Trip.com Group's respective
resources. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
December 8, 2020 and the circular of the Company dated December 11,
2020 for details.
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On December 5, 2023, the Company entered into the 2023 Trip.com
Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement with C-Travel
(the “2023 Trip.com Travelling Resources Provision Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which Trip.com Group and/or its associates
will provide accommodation booking services, transportation ticketing
services, vacation products and attraction ticketing services to the
Group, the nature of which is substantially similar to the 2020 Trip.
com Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement. The 2023
Trip.com Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement has
an initial term of three years from January 1, 2024 to December 31,
2026 and is automatically renewable upon the mutual consent of both
parties, unless the parties agree in writing to terminate the 2023 Trip.
com Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement during its
term, subject to compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable laws
and regulations. The 2020 Trip.com Travelling Resources Provision
Framework Agreement ceased to be in effect from December 31, 2023.
The 2023 Trip.com Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement
is fundamental to the Group's business development, given integrating
Trip Group's resources would expand the variety of our travel products
and services offered on the Group's online and mobile platforms,
provide a more comprehensive portfolio of product and service offerings
to the Group's users covering nearly all of their travel needs. Please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated December 5, 2023 and the

circular of the Company dated December 11, 2023 for details.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps for the transaction amount
payable for the years ended/ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and 2026,
respectively, and the actual transaction amount incurred for the year
ended December 31, 2024 pursuant to the 2023 Trip.com Travelling

Resources Provision Framework Agreement:

TREIBEMBE_Z=_=FTrip.com Ik
HEREEERGE  DREE-ZT=
F ZFERERIZIRFETZA=T
—ALEFERNORSESBFELRUK
BE-_Z-_ME+-_A=+—RHIFEHD
ERRSEHE

Actual amount

incurred for

Proposed annual caps for the year ended
the years ended/ending December 31, December 31,
BE
+=B=+-H
LHFEER
BZEt-A=t-ALEENEEEELR ERRSEHE
2025 2026
—T-AF —EoRF
(in RMB'000)
(ARETT)
Commission to be received by us from  BFBIREAEEF &
Trip.com Group and/or its associates £ AMEMR AEIETZIR
and third-party TSPs for providing HEBBITRE - X
access to the Group's platforms BEBRYE  ERE
for the offering of Trip.com m & R EFIRRB M
Group's accommodation booking BRER/SEBEA
services, transportation ticketing KB =R RR S
services, vacation products and s etollika
attraction ticketing services 5,770,000 7,300,000
System maintenance fee payable to MEREET A LRE
Trip.com Group and/or its associates  E k¥ & JRIE[R]
for offering its travelling resources BRR/%E
on the Group's platforms HEAN R4
B 627,000 795,000
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Tencent Strategic Cooperation and Marketing Promotion

Framework Agreement

On July 30, 2021, the Company entered into the 2021 Tencent Strategic
Cooperation and Marketing Promotion Framework Agreement (the
‘2021 Tencent Strategic Cooperation and Marketing Promotion
Framework Agreement’) with Tencent Computer, pursuant to which,
(i) Tencent Computer (and/or any of its subsidiaries or associates) has
agreed to provide traffic support to the Company (and/or any of its
subsidiaries or Contractual Affiliated Entities), and (ii) Tencent Computer
and the Company have agreed to engage in various advertising and
marketing promotion services with each other for a term of three years
from August 1, 2021 to July 31, 2024. In addition, the parties agreed
that after the expiry of the initial term of the 2021 Tencent Strategic
Cooperation and Marketing Promotion Framework Agreement, the
parties will consider cooperating with each other for a term of three
years in priority to other providers if the terms and quality of products
offered by the Company are comparable to those offered by such other
providers. Pursuant to the 2021 Tencent Strategic Cooperation and
Marketing Promotion Framework Agreement, Tencent Computer and
the Company have also agreed to terminate the Marketing Services
Framework Agreement and the Supplemental Marketing Services
Framework Agreement with effect from the effective date of the 2021
Tencent Strategic Cooperation and Marketing Promotion Framework
Agreement, which expanded the scope of services to be provided under
the Marketing Services Framework Agreement and the Supplemental
Marketing Services Framework Agreement. The 2021 Tencent Strategic
Cooperation and Marketing Promotion Framework Agreement would
enable the Group to increase the users and potential new users’
awareness of and familiarity with the Group's platform, mobile APPs and
services which will be crucial to the success of the Group's business.
Further, the provision of advertising and marketing promotion services
by the Group to the Tencent Group will bring synergies to both the
Group and the Tencent Group, thereby providing the Group with a
steady revenue stream and broadening return to the Shareholders as
a whole. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated July
30, 2021 and the circular of the Company dated September 10, 2021 for

details.
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On July 30, 2024, the Company renewed the 2021 Tencent Strategic
Cooperation and Marketing Promotion Framework Agreement by
entering into the 2024 Tencent Strategic Cooperation and Marketing
Promotion Framework Agreement (the “2024 Tencent Strategic
Cooperation and Marketing Promotion Framework Agreement”)
with Tencent Computer, pursuant to which (i) Tencent Computer (and/
or any of its subsidiaries or associates) has agreed to provide traffic
support and related services to the Company (and/or its subsidiaries or
Contractual Arrangement Entities); and (i) Tencent Computer and the
Company have agreed to engage in various advertising and marketing
promotion and related services with each other. The 2024 Tencent
Strategic Cooperation and Marketing Promotion Framework Agreement
has an initial term of three years commencing from August 1, 2024
to July 31, 2027, and the parties agreed that after the expiry of such
initial term, the parties have the intention to continue to maintain a
good cooperative relationship under a similar model. The 2021 Tencent
Strategic Cooperation and Marketing Promotion Framework Agreement
ceased to be in effect from July 31, 2024. The traffic support and
advertising and marketing promotion and related services provided
by the Tencent Group will enable the Group to increase its users and
potential new users’ awareness of and familiarity with its platform,
mobile APPs and services which will be crucial to the success of the
Group's business. Further, the provision of advertising and marketing
promotion and related services by the Group to the Tencent Group
will bring synergies to both the Group and the Tencent Group, thereby
providing the Group with a steady revenue stream and broadening
return to the Shareholders as a whole. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated July 30, 2024 and the circular of the Company
dated September 10, 2024 for details.

Tencent Computer is our connected person because it is a subsidiary
of Tencent, which is one of our substantial shareholders. Therefore,
the transactions under the 2021 Tencent Strategic Cooperation and
Marketing Promotion Framework Agreement and the 2024 Tencent
Strategic Cooperation and Marketing Promotion Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules.

R-ZB-WNFELA=1+H ARREREA
AHBAI Y T _NFRARBSERE
HEEERDE (TR EOFRABKSE
EREEERERBR ) EE_T——F
AR & 1F B B T AR 2R 158 - UL ()
Bt EM (/SR EAE A B A SR
AN RBRAARE (R ZEMBLRRRE
HWZEER) REREERRBBRY - &
(iBAFEREARARRAEERREHRER
EEREHERARBERSE - —F =M
FRABRBAIEREHERERBAS
RH=F BA-T-_NFNA-BEE=
T_tLtFELA=+—8 BRINFSRAE "
RzNTHREREL EHEEREER
UEXTEFREFEERE  —T-—F
BAREESIEREHERERBEZE =
BEONFLA=FT—HREY - BAEH
REHRESIRMES ML IR RA
ARG EARE R RAERP LBEEHB
FHETE  BHEMBERFRREHZH
MABRE  BAEENEBRDEFE
2o ARBRABASREREHRES R
LIHERERARAARBERYE - BEAEERE
A R R R - (e A AR ER
AR T U HOIR I 455 5 AR SRR B A [ 3R o
BERE #F2HARRBEHA TN
FLA=ZTHNRAERARFABHRLE-F
“HOFEAATHEEK

HREATERARANKBRR - MK
AABRMOEERE 2 — B E®
BEMABEEALT - Bt - BIEFE ETHRL
EAPIAE  — T —EREI B A E R
HHEEERBAEN T - NFEABKS
EREHEERERBRE TR SEAE
BRAERS) °

—E_UEFERE | ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Note:

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

The table below sets forth the annual caps of the transaction amount for
the year ended/ending December 31, 2024, 2025, 2026 and the seven
months ending July 31, 2027 respectively and the actual transaction
amount incurred for the year ended December 31, 2024 under the 2021
Tencent Strategic Cooperation and Marketing Promotion Framework
Agreement (as applicable) and the 2024 Tencent Strategic Cooperation

and Marketing Promotion Framework Agreement:

Proposed annual caps for

BEFELR

the year ending
December 31, 2025

BE-T-RF
tZA=t-A
%35
Service fees payable by the Group i~~~ REBFRETEER
relation to traffic support HRBEREERE
and related services 706,000
Service fees payable by the Tencent B EHESRER
Group inrelation to advertisingand ~~ FEEMRBEFNREE
marketing promotion services RIAERH
and related services 80,000
Senvice fees payable by the Groupin -~ AEBFREEREEHE
relation to advertising and marketing  FREEFBIRKEE
promotion services and related services  RABERA 1,130,000

The proposed annual cap for the year ending December 31, 2024 represents
the aggregate caps of (i) the seven months ended July 31, 2024 pursuant to
the 2021 Tencent Strategic Cooperation and Marketing Promotion Framework
Agreement and (ii) the five months ended December 31, 2024 pursuant to
the 2024 Tencent Strategic Cooperation and Marketing Promotion Framework
Agreement.

BRERITERBRAF

TRIFHEBE-_Z - —FEAEBESIERL
S EIER W E (mm%>&_z_@¢

BABRAE RS ERIERGE - 25
BE_T_HF - 777£¢&777,\
Ft_A=1T - RALFEURBE_FT—
TtFLtA=ZT—RIEtEANRHEREF
EERUEBE_Z_WF+-_A=+—
ALEFEENERISER

Actual amount incurred

ERR54E
the seven
the year ending months ending
December 31, 2026 July 31,2027
BE-T-RE BECTCAE
+ZA=1+-R +A=+-A
353 AR
(in RMB'000)
(ARETT)
738,000 442,000
81,000 50,000
1,190,000 717,000
g BEZ-_WNF+_A=T-HIEFENE

FEELRBUATEERNEMN  VRE-F=
*i%ﬂﬁ%é%&%%ﬁ?ﬁ R mEE
TECWEEA=+—HIEEBEAMLER

R (iDiRiE — T — ME BB A (EREHE
FE B E—_F_NE+_A=1+—~H
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2023 Tencent Business Travel Related Services Framework

Agreement

On December 5, 2023, the Company entered into the 2023 Tencent
Business Travel Related Services Framework Agreement with Tencent
Computer (the “2023 Tencent Business Travel Related Services
Framework Agreement’), pursuant to which the Company agrees
to provide business services including but not limited to, business or
corporate travel related services, meetings, conferences and exhibitions
services and add-on vacation ancillary products (the “2023 Business
Travel Related Services”) to Tencent Group. Tencent Computer is
a subsidiary of Tencent, a substantial shareholder of the Company,
and therefore is a connected person of the Company. Therefore, the
transactions under the 2023 Tencent Business Travel Related Services
Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The 2023 Tencent Business Travel
Related Services Framework Agreement has an initial term of three years
from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2026 and is renewable upon the
mutual consent of both parties, unless the parties agree in writing to
terminate the 2023 Tencent Business Travel Related Services Framework
Agreement, subject to compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable
laws and regulations. The 2023 Tencent Business Travel Related Services
Framework Agreement would enable us to leverage Tencent's large
user base and attract more consumers and merchants to our platform in
order to enlarge our user base and enhance our business growth, and
thereby is expected to provide the Group with a steady revenue stream
and broadening return to the Shareholders as a whole. Please refer to

the announcement of the Company dated December 5, 2023 for details.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps for the transaction amount
payable for the years ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and 2026,
respectively and the actual transaction amount incurred for the year
ended December 31, 2024 pursuant to the 2023 Tencent Business Travel

Related Services Framework Agreement:

the years ended/ending December 31,

BEt-A=t-HLFENRBFELR

?JHREV;?; Eﬁ?ﬁﬁ&
TR RIS B R 5
B RS &

Service fees receivable from Tencent
Group for offering 2023 Business

Travel Related Services

The above continuing connected transactions have followed the
policies and guidelines when determining the price and terms of the

transactions conducted for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The auditor of the Group has reviewed the continuing connected
transactions referred to in the paragraph “Other Non-exempt Connected
Transactions” above in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued an unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the
Group in this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing

Rules.
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Actual amount
incurred For
the year ended

December 31,

BE
+=A=+-AH
LEEFEH
ERRSEHE
2025 2026
—T-RF TTECNRF
(in RMB'000)
(ARETT)
25,000 30,000
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The auditor has confirmed in a letter to our Board with respect to the

aforesaid continuing connected transactions

(@) nothing has come to the their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have
not been approved by the Board

ZBED B =& P AR
V=]

Bt Lt
BRABERSME :
() ZEAMTETIEINFTRNEESERS
ERBENRERER S REESFSH
i
(b) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the (b) E‘fﬁ%@ﬁf EmERBALE RN
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor MY EFEINEMNBEESH
to believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in uﬂﬁuxﬁx%ﬁxiﬁﬁﬁfﬁk FRZR
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group; SENEEBRRE
(c) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to (O ZEMTEFIEINEIMNEESERE
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all material ZERHGESERAFERBEREZ
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing EXHNEAMHRET S K&
such transactions; and
(d) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to d) ZEETEFEINTANEESERE
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have ZECDRERERERINGEER
exceeded the annual caps as set by the Company AARGIMFE LR
The independent non-executive Directors have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions above were entered into by the
Group: (i) in the ordinary and usual course of its business; (ii) on normal

commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant

ﬁi?ﬁﬂﬁé%aﬁ@wiiﬁﬁ*FaLX%
THAEE : )©RE-—REABEBBE
[ B (i) ?Rﬁ%ﬁ%fb%?ﬂjéﬁfif Ko Kediin
[ BEREZERHNE@IHE (BEEFHR
agreement (including the pricing principle and guidelines set out BHEEBRAKRES) MBATEEATA
therein) governing them and on terms that were fair and reasonable and RNARIERR 2 BB F 2k 2 AERET L o
in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole
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The Company has designated a team of senior management from
business operation, legal, risk control and finance departments and
Board office to monitor the continuing connected transactions
and ensure that the continuing connected transactions with the
abovementioned connected persons are on arm’s length basis and that
the annual caps are not exceeded. Such team of senior management
continuously traces and regularly monitors the progress of the
continuing connected transactions and reports to management of the
Company. They review the continuing connected transactions with the
finance department to ensure that annual caps are not exceeded. They
will also communicate with the Audit Committee, management and the
Board, regularly or as needed, to report the progress of the continuing
connected transactions, and request for approval of new changes of
existing transaction terms. The heads of different departments of the
Company will be informed on a periodic basis in relation to the terms
and pricing policies of the continuing connected transactions as well.
With these measures, the independent non-executive Directors could

therefore assess and give the confirmations in the preceding paragraph.

Save for disclosed above, during the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Group had not entered into any connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to the Rules
14A.49 and 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.
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Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected and Continuing
Connected Transactions” above, there were no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director or its connected entity (within the meaning
of Section 486 of the Companies Ordinance) had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, and subsisting during the year ended December 31,
2024 or as of December 31, 2024.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected and Continuing
Connected Transactions” above, no contract of significance was entered into
between the Company, or one of its subsidiaries, and any of its substantial
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended December 31,
2024.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this

annual report.

Pursuant to Article 164 of the Articles of Association and subject to Cayman
Islands Companies Act, each Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless, out of the assets and profits of the Company, from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any
of them, their or any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in

or about the execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ liability insurance coverage

for the Directors of the Company during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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As at December 31, 2024, the Group had 10,141 employees. The
remuneration of our employees includes salaries, defined contribution plans,
bonus plans and share incentive plans. The Group provides on-the-job
training programs to our staff to enhance technical and product knowledge.
The Group's remuneration policies are formulated based on the performance
of individual employees and are reviewed regularly.

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages to the Directors. Other
emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to the Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group. Details
of the Directors’ remuneration during the year ended December 31, 2024 are

set out in note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In accordance with the laws and regulations in the PRC, the Group has
arranged for its PRC employees to join defined contribution plans, including
pension, medical, housing and other welfare benefits, organized by the PRC
government. No forfeited contribution under this scheme is available to
reduce the contribution payable in future years.

The Group also provides social insurance, including pension insurance,
unemployment insurance, work-related injury insurance and medical

insurance for the employees of the Group.

The Company has adopted a total of six share schemes, namely, the 2018
Share Incentive Plan, the 2019 Share Option Plan, the 2019 RSU Plan, the
2022 Share Option Plan, the 2022 RSU Plan (collectively, the “Existing Share
Incentive Plans’) and the 2024 Share Scheme.

Upon the approval by the Shareholders for the 2024 Share Scheme at the
annual general meeting held on June 26, 2024, the Existing Share Incentive
Plans have been terminated and no further grants will be made thereunder,
while the outstanding share options and share awards granted under the
Existing Share Incentive Plans shall continue to vest, be valid and exercisable
in accordance with the terms of the Existing Share Incentive Plans. For details,

please refer to the circular of the Company dated June 3, 2024.

Further details regarding the terms of each scheme, together with the

respective movements table, are set out below.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F

RZBEZME+=ZA=+—8 A5£E%HE
10,141 %EE - BENFHEETE  ATHK
ETE - A EIRROBEEE c AEBAE
TIREEBEI - DURFERM RERMH
AEEBNFHHRDIEREEBANRER
E o WETEHTAESE o

AEBRESFRHARFINEHEHGTE - Bt
M§E§$EJ%%§$%ﬁ BB MRIEIA
RASENEEMETE RBE_FT_OF+
:H:+*E¢¢E§$M$mﬁhﬁﬁﬁé
BTSRRI EE T ©

RBHBEZRRESR ARECRFETBEE
SN B BB A Y UE KT B B
BEENKRE  BF  EFMEMEN - K5+E
I 458 AT HOR WA TR AP BIR R SR R A 13K o

AEENAAEERBRHELR -
KRR

EHEEE
CRERE - TERREBRRR -

ARREHRMA K RNERNDEE - BIZF—N
FROBEEFE - —F-NFRREFE - =
ZE-NFEXRERMHECHE — - _F8
Mgt — - —FXRAIRM ELE S (5

WIRAERDHBE ) X -F —OFRO

I

BRERZZEZMFANAZ T SBRITHRER
FREIHE_ZT_MFERHTEEZ - BRE
RO BB E R R - BT SREZT A
—FRE - MBRERE RO BE 8K &R
P10 s A M T AR 1 B2 o A B AR PR IR B IR 10
Bhat B IR E S - BARLA TITE - BEA
B B2HARAABEHR-_ZE-_MFA=H
H)EEK ©

BRASEIGRE—FTHB
REFIWAT -

EREANED



The number of options and awards available for grant under the scheme
mandate limit of the Company as at January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024
were 0 and 2,249,990, respectively. As at December 31, 2024, the Company
has not yet adopted any service provider sublimit in respect of its share
schemes, and no options and/or awards were granted to service providers
under Rule 17.03(3) of the Listing Rules.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options and awards
granted under all share schemes of the Company during the Reporting
Period, divided by the weighted average number of Shares (excluding

treasury shares, if any) for the Reporting Period was approximately 0.9%.

The Company has approved and adopted the 2018 Share Incentive Plan by
the Board's resolution on March 9, 2018. No additional options have been or

will be granted under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan after the Listing.

The purpose of the 2018 Share Incentive Plan is to promote the success
and enhance the value of our Company, by linking the personal interests of
the directors, officers and employees of our Company and any present or
future subsidiaries or VIEs (each term as defined below) of our Company by
providing such individuals with an incentive for outstanding performance,
to generate superior returns to the Shareholders. The 2018 Share Incentive
Plan is further intended to provide flexibility to our Company in its ability to
motivate, attract, and retain the services of recipients upon whose judgment,
interest, and special effort the successful conduct of our Company's

operation is largely dependent.

Those eligible to participate in the 2018 Share Incentive Plan include: (1) the
Directors of our Company; and (2) any person employed by (i) our Company,
or (i) any entity that is directly or indirectly controlled by our Company or (iii)
any entity that is considered to be a variable interest entity consolidated with
our Company for purpose of U.S. GAAP (the “VIE") ((i), (i) and (iii) collectively,
the "“Employee” or the “Participant”). A person will not cease to be an

Employee solely by virtue of also being a Director.
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The overall limit on the number of underlying Shares that may be subject to
any option, RSU, any Shares issued subject to forfeiture or repurchase by our
Company until vested (the “Restricted Share”) or other share-based award or
right granted or sold pursuant to the 2018 Share Incentive Plan is 163,240,270
Shares, which represents approximately 7.0% of the issued Shares as at
December 31, 2024.

There is no limit for the maximum entitlement of each participant under the
2018 Share Incentive Plan.

The 2018 Share Incentive Plan is administered by the Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Technology Officer, Chief
Strategy Officer and Chief Marketing Officer of our Company appointed in
accordance with the Shareholders Agreement and the Articles of Association
(collectively, the “Management”). The Management will have the authority
in its discretion to determine the number of Shares or RSUs to be covered by
each award granted under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan (the “Award”).

The Management is authorized to grant options, RSUs or other Awards to
purchase a specified number of Shares at a specified price during specified
time periods. Awards granted will be evidenced by an agreement (the
“Award Agreement’). The Award Agreement includes additional provisions

specified by the Management.

As at December 31, 2024, (i) 34,908,559 Shares underlying 34,908,559
unexercised options were available for issue under the 2018 Share Incentive
Plan, representing approximately 1.5% of the issued Shares (excluding
treasury shares, if any) as at the Latest Practicable Date; (ii) 34,908,559
unexercised options had been vested as at the Latest Practicable Date; and
(i) there are no remaining Shares available for grant in the form of Awards

under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan.

The consideration to be paid for Shares to be issued upon exercise of
an Option, the granting of an RSU, or the purchase of Restricted Shares,
including the method of payment, will be determined by the Management.
Such consideration may consist of (i) cash, (ii) cheque, (iii) such other method
of payment as is approved by the Management, or (iv) any combination of
the foregoing that is approved by the Management.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F

REMBERE  ZRERNDEL - EEHBA
ANA B AR U Sk BE B A 2 3 1T AR 1 ([ 2R
FIRAD ) SRR =T — )\ FE RS B st B
B ) L A DA AR 1 A L R A2 [ ok i AR PR A
MR, E B8 LR %163,240,270 1A% -
ERZE-_MNFE+_A=+—ABEHTRHOH
7.0% °

RIE-—T-N\FROABE  SL2EEH
o AL RE I PR A o

—E-N\FROBBFTIARERRBERLD
AASERARNZTENARBITHRAE « B
HBE - HERE  MREE  RBAEREH
BE(RBEEERE])) AREE - BEEERE
RENSEERE _T— N\FRMBFEIER
5 TR SR D 2 Y A0 SR R B AR () B BB
(Tg€m)) -

EREERRNBERE SRHIBRMDEMRE
2R UHREEERMANEEERERR
FEBE R o 3 H A BB A 1558 ([ R B its
BDIEREH BRHERREEERENE
SMERSZ

R-ZE-MFE+-A=+—HB " () =TT N\FER
1B EhET BB T 0] T 31734,908,55917 M R 1T
BE AR AE REAY 34,008,559 % I 1 - 1E & 18 BRI
TRHEBBBETRM (TREEFRG - 1184
1.5%: (VB ZE&EEBRAI{THE » 34,908,55917
EMARITEMBREDSE 0 RONVBREZZ—N
FREAD ERED R B TE T I £ TSR AR (7 AT 1 DA 52
FREL -

HBREEITERE TRTNRGD  BEZR
FIRMOBMXEEZRBIRG K FZIHAHR
B BEXMAAE SHEEEBRATE - AHEN
REFEEORE  (WXE  (HWEEEEE
BZEHAM A E - sivEEEERENT
AR ARz 486 -



There is no additional amount payable on application or acceptance of the
share option.

The Management shall determine the time or times at which an option may
be exercised in whole or in part, including exercise price prior to vesting.
The Management shall also determine any conditions, if any, that must be

satisfied before all or part of an Award may be exercised.

There is no specified period for which an offer for an option must be
accepted by the relevant eligible participant from the date on which it is
made, provided that no options shall be exercised after ten years from the

date of grant of the relevant share options.

Any options granted under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan will become vested
and exercisable at such times and under such conditions as determined by
the Management and set forth in an Award Agreement. As at December 37,
2024, all options granted under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan have been
vested, which ranged from 12 to 48 months from the relevant grant date. For
further details of the vesting period attached to outstanding options granted
under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan, please refer to the table set forth in

pages 102 to 106 of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the movement table below, no right to subscribe for
equity or debt securities of the Company has been granted by the Company
to, nor have any such rights been exercised and/or vested by, any other

person under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan during the Reporting Period.

The 2018 Share Incentive Plan commenced on March 9, 2018 and was
terminated on June 26, 2024. The termination of the 2018 Share Incentive
Plan shall not affect the validity of the outstanding Awards under 2018
Share Incentive Plan, which shall continue to vest, be valid and exercisable
according to the terms of the 2018 Share Incentive Plan and the applicable

Award Agreement.

For further details, please refer to the sub-section headed “Appendix V -
Statutory and General Information — Share Incentive Plans — 2018 Share
Incentive Plan” of the Prospectus and the circular of the Company dated June
3,2024.
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Notes:
(1) The share options shall vest in the grantees in the following manner:

25% of the total number of share options shall vest on the first anniversary of
the date of grant

25% of the total number of share options shall vest on the second
anniversary of the date of grant

25% of the total number of share options shall vest on the third anniversary
of the date of grant

25% of the total number of share options shall vest on the fourth anniversary
of the date of grant

(2)  The Company reached the market value of RMB30 billion on March 13, 2019.

(3) None of the grantees under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan was (i) a substantial
shareholder of the Company or its associate; (i) a participant with options and
awards granted and to be granted in excess of the 1% individual limit (as defined
in the Listing Rules); (iii) a related entity participant or a service provider with
options and awards granted and to be granted in any 12-month period exceeding
0.1% of the Shares in issue; or (iv) a related entity participant or service provider of
the Group.

(4)  As disclosed under the sub-sections headed “Maximum number of Shares to be
awarded” and “Grant of Awards” in this annual report, no additional options have
been or will be granted under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan after the Listing; and
during the Reporting Period, no RSU or other Award has been granted under the
2018 Share Incentive Plan.

The Company has adopted the 2019 Share Option Plan by an ordinary
resolution duly passed by the Shareholders on August 2, 2019 (the “Effective
Date of the 2019 Share Option Plan”). During the Reporting Period, no
option has been granted under the 2019 Share Option Plan.

The purpose of the 2019 Share Option Plan is to provide better rewards to
the talents who have contributed to the development and success of the
Group, and for the future development of the Group, to motivate such talents
to continue to make their best efforts and to attract new talents through

providing them with the opportunities to acquire interests in Shares.
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The persons eligible to participate in the 2019 Share Option Plan include (i)
any Director, (i) any other employee of the Group and (i) any consultant,
adviser, agent, customer, supplier, service provider, business partner or
joint venture partner of the Group whom the committee as appointed
by the Board from time to time (the “Committee”) or the management,
which comprises of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer,
Chief Operating Officer and Chief Technology Officer of the Company (the
“Management’), considers in its sole discretion (as the case may be), has

contributed or will contribute to the Group.

The maximum number of the underlying Shares in respect of which share
options may be granted under the 2019 Share Option Plan shall not exceed
3.5% of the outstanding Shares in issue on the Effective Date of the 2019
Share Option Plan, and, when aggregated with the maximum number of
Shares in respect of any share options to be granted under the 2019 Share
Option Plan and any other share options to be granted under the 2016 Share
Incentive Plan, the 2018 Share Incentive Plan and any other share incentive
plans to be established by the Company (the “Other Plans”) shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the outstanding Shares in issue on the Effective
Date of the 2019 Share Option Plan (or of the refreshment of the 10% limit).

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which share options may be
granted under the 2019 Share Option Plan was 73,871,298, representing 3.5%

of the number of Shares in issue as at August 2, 2019.

The above maximum number is subject to the condition that the total
maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2019 Share
Option Plan and any other options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Other Plans shall not exceed 30% of the outstanding Shares in issue from
time to time. No options may be granted under the 2019 Share Option Plan
and no options may be granted under the Other Plans if it will result in such

limit being exceeded.
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As at December 31, 2024, the aforesaid scheme limit under the 2019 Share
Option Plan had been fully utilized. No option has been granted under the
2019 Share Option Plan during the Reporting Period and accordingly the
total number of Shares available for issue and/or transfer upon exercise of all
options granted under the 2019 Share Option Plan was 37,747,608 Shares,
representing approximately 1.6% of the total number of all Shares (excluding
treasury shares, if any) in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date. Among the
37,747,608 options, all the options had been vested as at the date of the

Latest Practicable Date.

Unless separately approved by the Shareholders in general meeting (with the
relevant eligible participant and such eligible participant's close associates
(with the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules) (or such eligible
participants’ associates if the eligible participant is a connected person
of the Company) abstaining from voting), no eligible participant shall be
granted a share option if the total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the share options (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding share options but excluding lapsed share options) granted and
to be granted to such eligible participant in any 12-month period up to and
including such further grant would exceed 1% of the outstanding Shares
in issue from time to time. A circular with the requisite information must
be sent to the Shareholders prior to general meeting, disclosing, amongst
others, the identity of such eligible participant and the number and terms
of the share options granted and proposed to be granted. The number and
terms (including the exercise price) of the share options to be granted to
such eligible participant must be fixed before the approvals are sought and
the date of the Board meeting of Company for proposing such further grant
should be taken as the date of the grant for the purpose of calculating the

exercise price.
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The 2019 Share Option Plan is administered by the Board. The Board or
any other authorized agent, which would administer in whole or partly the
2019 Share Option Plan on the Board's behalf. The Board shall have the
authority to determine which eligible participants of the 2019 Share Option
Plan will receive share options, to grant share options and to set all terms
and conditions of share options (including but not limited to, vesting and

forfeiture provisions).

Each share option shall be exercisable at such times and subject to such
terms and conditions as the Board determines, provided that the term of
any share option shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant of the
share option. The Board or the Committee has the power to specify the
requirement as to the minimum period for which a share option must be

held before the share option can be exercised.

There is no specified period for which an offer for an option must be
accepted by the relevant eligible participant from the date on which it is
made, provided that no options shall be exercised after ten years from the
date of grant of the relevant share options. During the Reporting Period,
the options granted under the 2019 Share Option Plan had vesting periods
which ranged from 0 to 23 months from the grant date. For further details
of the vesting period attached to outstanding options granted to (a) each
relevant Director; and (b) other grantees in aggregate, in each case during
the Reporting Period, please refer to the table set forth in pages 111 to 115

of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the movement table below, no right to subscribe for
equity or debt securities of the Company has been granted by the Company
to, nor have any such rights been exercised by, any other person under the

2019 Share Option Plan during the Reporting Period.

CE-NFBREFSRESSHETEE - &
FERTAEMEEREA  KREFSEE
2RERBY T -NFERETE  -EEEF
RETHKBEREL - FBRETE
BERSEE  REBRERTBREZM
BIEHR R G (RIS E TR BB K2 UIRK)

BOBREANESTSREZABKRRIZR
BB AR I T AT - MR B 2 5
RASEERHBREANESTF -EFS
HEZ BRI PARENERER TITEAL
BRARREZZEHE -

HEAER2EEYEARDE REFBAK
MERERONEESR - ETSRERBEKR
R AR T FRITEBAE - RREH
N RE-F-NEFEREFEROOBRE
VEBHIREREBHEIEMEA - RREH
AN RBTF@QFHEBES RO EMARAST
B AR TTE BB IR 0 B B B R E — P 5
& B2EAFREINEEENSEHATHEES -

BRTXEBHRMBEEEN  RBEHR - AR
A ERE T - NFREEREFT SR T EMNE
MALTRBARBBRAREBESWERN - I5
BEFRALITEZSER -

—E_UEFERE | ANNUAL REPORT 2024



The Board or the Committee shall establish the exercise price of each share
option at the time of grant and specify the exercise price in the applicable
agreement evidencing the grant of option(s) (the “Award Agreement’), in
compliance with the applicable laws from time to time. The exercise price
of each share option shall be at least the higher of: (i) the nominal value of
a Share; (ii) the closing price of a Share as stated on the Stock Exchange'’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of such share option; and (iii)
the average closing price of a Share as stated on the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheets for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date

of grant of such share option.

There is no additional amount payable on application or acceptance of the

share option.

The 2019 Share Option Plan commenced on the Effective Date of the
2019 Share Option Plan and has terminated on June 26, 2024. However,
unless otherwise expressly provided in the 2019 Share Option Plan or in an
applicable Award Agreement, any share options theretofore granted may
extend beyond such date, and the authority of the Board or the Committee
to amend, alter, adjust, suspend, discontinue or terminate any such grant
of share options, to waive any conditions or rights under any such grant of
share options, or to amend the 2019 Share Option Plan, shall extend beyond

such date.
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Notes:

(M

50% of the share options granted vested immediately upon the grant and the
remaining 50% vested in the third quarter of 2021.

50% of the share options granted vested immediately upon the grant and the
remaining 50% vested in the third quarter of 2020.

The share options shall vest in the grantees in the following manner:
25% of the share options granted shall vest immediately upon the grant,

25% of the share options granted shall vest in the third quarter of 2022,

25% of the share options granted shall vest in the fourth quarter of 2022,

25% of the share options granted shall vest in the third quarter of 2023.

None of the grantees under the 2019 Share Option Plan was (i) a substantial
shareholder of the Company or its associate(s); (i) a participant with options and
awards granted and to be granted in excess of the 1% individual limit (as defined
in the Listing Rules); (i) a related entity participant or a service provider with
options and awards granted and to be granted in any 12-month period exceeding
0.1% of the Shares in issue; or (iv) a service provider of the Group.

As disclosed under the sub-sections headed “Maximum number of Shares to
be awarded” and “Grant of Awards” in this annual report, no options have been
granted under the 2019 Share Option Plan during the Reporting Period.

Those employee participants of the Group's associates are basically sales and
marketing and technical staff. The success and growth of the Group requires
cooperation and contribution from the employees of the Group's associates
who play a role and make actual or potential contribution to the business,
development and growth of the Group. Sales and marketing staff could help
expand the Group's sales network by exploring and referring new customers to
the Group which is a very important offline user acquisition channel for the Group
to accelerate the online penetration in lower-tier cities, as such, the Group can
have closer relationship with the supply end, and better utilize our membership
program for a high stickiness and retention. Meanwhile, the Group could offer
superior services for our users. In relation to the technical staff, since the relevant
Group's associate is at its initial stage of business development which would
highly depend on its capability in research and development, it is important for
the Group's associate to retain a strong core technical team. It will be beneficial
to the Group in the long run in terms of return from the minority investment if
the Group's associate grows its business. In selecting the eligible participants, the
Board assessed the eligibility based on various factors including but not limited to
(i) job responsibility and seniority of the employees, (i) the performance standard
and/or sales targets attained by the relevant employees, and contribution made
by the participants to the Group/the Group's associates and (iii) the length of
employment and dedication to the Group/the Group's associates.
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The Company has approved and adopted the 2019 RSU Plan by the Board’s
resolution on July 2, 2019 (the “Effective Date of the 2019 RSU Plan’).

As at the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period, no RSUs were
granted but yet to be vested under the 2019 RSU Plan. During the Reporting
Period, no RSUs were granted, vested, cancelled or lapsed under the 2019
RSU Plan.

The purpose of the 2019 RSU Plan is to provide better rewards to the talents
who have contributed to the development and success of the Group, and for
the future development of the Group, to motivate such talents to continue
to make their best efforts and to attract new talents through providing them

with the opportunities to acquire interests in Shares.

The eligible participants of the 2019 RSU Plan include (i) any Director, (ii)
any other employee of the Group and (iii) any consultant, adviser, agent,
customer, supplier, service provider, business partner or joint venture partner
of the Group whom the Committee or the management (as the case may
be) considers, in its sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute to
the Group. The Committee (in respect of Directors and senior management
of the Company) or the management (in respect of persons who are not
Directors or senior management of the Company) shall have the authority to
determine which eligible participant will receive RSUs, to grant RSUs and to
set all terms and conditions of RSUs (including but not limited to vesting and

forfeiture provisions).

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which RSUs may be granted
under the 2019 RSU Plan was 31,659,128, representing 1.5% of the total
issued share capital of the Company as at August 2, 2019, and, when
aggregated with the maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
or awards may be granted under any other share-based incentive plan of the
Company (including the 2019 Share Option Plan and the Other Plans), shall
not exceed 10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at the
Effective Date of the 2019 RSU Plan (or of the refreshment of the 10% limit)
(the "RSU Mandate Limit").

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F
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The RSU Mandate Limit may be refreshed from time to time subject to the
prior approval of the Shareholders, but in any event, the total number of
Shares in respect of which RSUs may be granted under the 2019 RSU Plan
following the date of approval of the refreshed limit, when aggregated with
the maximum number of Shares in respect of which options or awards may
be granted under any other share-based incentive plan of the Company
(including the 2019 Share Option Plan and the Other Plans), must not exceed
10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at the date when

such refreshed limit is approved.

As at December 31, 2024, all RSUs granted under the 2019 RSU Plan were
fully vested, accordingly no Shares are available for issue and/or transfer
under the 2019 RSU Plan. There were no Shares underlying unvested RSUs
under the 2019 RSU Plan as at January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024.

As at December 31, 2024, the aforesaid RSU Mandate Limit under the 2019
RSU Plan had been fully utilized.

There is no limit for the maximum entitlement of each participant under the
2019 RSU Plan.

The 2019 RSU Plan shall be subject to the administration of the Board who
may delegate all or part of such administration to a committee or any other
authorized agent. The decision of the Board or persons to whom the Board
has delegated relevant powers shall be final and binding on all parties for any

matters concerning the interpretation or application of the 2019 RSU Plan.

The Board (or any committee or other authorized agent delegated by
the Board) may, from time to time, at their absolute discretion select the
grantee(s), determine the number of RSUs to be awarded and specify such
event, time limit or conditions (if any) as it thinks fit when making such offer
to the grantee(s), including, without limitation, conditions as to performance
criteria to be satisfied by the grantee(s) and/or the Company and/or the

Group which must be satisfied before a RSU can be vested.
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The consideration to be paid for the granting of a RSU, including the method
and period of payment, will be determined by the Board. Such consideration
may consist of (i) cash, (ii) cheque, (iii) such other method of payment as
is approved by the Board, or (iv) any combination of the foregoing that is

approved by the Board.

Save for the consideration to be paid for the granting of a RSU, there is
no additional amount payable on purchase of share(s) underlying the RSU

granted.

Unless otherwise determined by the Board (or any committee or other
authorized agent delegated by the Board) at its discretion, the RSUs held
by the trustee appointed by the Company in respect of the 2019 RSU Plan
and which are referable to a relevant grantee shall not vest in the relevant
grantee in the event that the relevant grantee fails to satisfy the specific
terms and conditions applicable to each RSU which may be determined at
the sole and absolute discretion of the Board (or any committee or other
authorized agent delegated by the Board) or breaches any terms of the 2019
RSU Plan.

The vesting periods under the 2019 RSU Plan ranged from 0 to 23 months

from the grant date.

The 2019 RSU Plan was terminated on June 26, 2024. The early termination
of the 2019 RSU Plan shall not affect any subsisting rights of any grantee

hereunder.
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The Company has adopted the 2022 Share Option Plan by an ordinary
resolution duly passed by the Shareholders on May 31, 2022 (the “Effective
Date of the 2022 Share Option Plan”). During the Reporting Period, no
options were granted under the 2022 Share Option Plan.

The purpose of the 2022 Share Option Plan is to provide better rewards to
the Eligible Participants (as defined below) who have contributed to the
development and success of the Group and for the future development of
the Group, to motivate such Eligible Participants to continue to make their
best efforts, and to attract new Eligible Participants through providing them

with the opportunities to acquire Shares.

The eligible participants of the 2022 Share Option Plan (the “Eligible
Participants”) include (i) any Director and (ii) any other employee of
the Group and its associates. The committee as authorized by the Board
from time to time (the "Committee”) (in respect of Directors and senior
management of the Company) or the management comprising the Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operation Officer and Chief
Technical Officer of the Company (in respect of persons who are not
Directors or senior management of the Company) shall have the authority
to determine which Eligible Participants will receive awards, to grant awards
and to set all terms and conditions of awards (including, but not limited to,

vesting and forfeiture provisions).
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The maximum number of the underlying Shares in respect of which share
options may be granted under the 2022 Share Option Plan shall not exceed
2.5% of the outstanding Shares in issue on the Effective Date of the 2022
Share Option Plan, and, when aggregated with the maximum number of
Shares in respect of any share options to be granted under the 2022 Share
Option Plan and any other share options to be granted under the 2016
Share Incentive Plan, the 2018 Share Incentive Plan, 2019 Share Option Plan
and the Other Plans shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the outstanding
Shares in issue on the Effective Date of the 2022 Share Option Plan (or of the

refreshment of the 10% limit).

The total maximum number of Shares in respect of which share options
may be granted under the 2022 Share Option Plan would be 55,459,938,
representing 2.5% of the number of Shares in issue as at May 31, 2022.

The above maximum number is subject to the condition that the total
maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2022 Share
Option Plan and any other options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Other Plans shall not exceed 30% of the outstanding Shares in issue from
time to time. No options may be granted under the 2022 Share Option Plan
and no options may be granted under the Other Plans if it will result in such

limit being exceeded.

As at December 31, 2024, the total number of Shares available for issue and/
or transfer upon exercise of all options that may be granted under the 2022
Share Option Plan was 49,989,838, representing approximately 2.1% of the

total number of all Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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There were no Shares underlying the options available for grant under the
2022 Share Option Plan as at January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024.

The number of outstanding Shares available for issue upon exercise of the
options granted under the 2022 Share Option Plan is 49,989,838 Shares,
which represents approximately 2.1% of the issued Shares (excluding treasury
shares, if any) as at the Latest Practicable Date. Among the 49,989,838
options, 17,498,534 had been vested and 32,491,304 remained unvested as at
the date of the Latest Practicable Date.

Unless separately approved by the Shareholders in general meeting (with the
relevant Eligible Participant and such Eligible Participant’s close associates
(with the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules) (or such Eligible
Participant’ Associates if the Eligible Participant is a connected person (with
the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules) of the Company
abstaining from voting), no Eligible Participant shall be granted a share
option if the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the share options (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share
options but excluding lapsed share options) granted and to be granted to
such Eligible Participant in any twelve (12)-month period up to and including
such further grant would exceed 1% of the outstanding Shares in issue
from time to time. A circular with the requisite information must be sent
to the Shareholders prior to general meeting, disclosing, amongst others,
the identity of such Eligible Participant and the number and terms of the
share options granted and proposed to be granted. The number and terms
(including the exercise price) of the share options to be granted to such
Eligible Participant must be fixed before the approvals are sought and the
date of the Board meeting of Company for proposing such further grant
should be taken as the date of the grant for the purpose of calculating the

exercise price.
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The 2022 Share Option Plan is administered by the Board. The Board may
appoint the Committee or any other authorized agent, which would
administer in whole or partly the 2022 Share Option Plan on the Board’s
behalf. The Board shall have the authority to determine which Eligible
Participant will receive Share Options, to grant Share Options and to set all
terms and conditions of Share Options (including, but not limited to, vesting

and forfeiture provisions).

There is no specified period for which an offer for an option must be
accepted by the relevant Eligible Participant from the date on which it is
made, provided that no options shall be exercised after ten years from the

date of grant of the relevant share options.

Each share option shall be exercisable at such times and subject to such
terms and conditions as the Board determines, provided that the term of
any share option shall not exceed ten (10) years from the date of grant of
the share option. The Board or the Committee has the power to specify the
requirement as to the minimum period for which a share option must be

held before the share option can be exercised.

The options granted under the 2022 Share Option Plan had vesting periods
ranged from 12 to 48 months from the grant date. For further details of the
vesting period attached to outstanding options granted under the 2022
Share Option Plan during the Reporting Period, please refer to the table set
forth in pages 124 to 127 of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the movement table below, no right to subscribe for
equity or debt securities of the Company has been granted by the Company
to, nor have any such rights been exercised and/or vested by, any other

person under the 2022 Share Option Plan during the Reporting Period.
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The Board or the Committee shall establish the exercise price of each Share
Option at the time of grant and specify the exercise price in the applicable
document or agreement setting forth the terms and conditions of a specific
award under the 2022 Share Option Plan (the “Award Agreement’), in
compliance with the applicable law from time to time. The exercise price
of each share option shall be at least the higher of: (i) the nominal value of
a Share; (ii) the closing price of a Share as stated on the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of such share option; and (iii)
the average closing price of a Share as stated on the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheets for the five (5) Business Days immediately preceding the

date of grant of such share option.

There is no additional amount payable on application or acceptance of the

share option.

The 2022 Share Option Plan commenced on the Effective Date of the
2022 Share Option Plan and was terminated on June 26, 2024. However,
unless otherwise expressly provided in the 2022 Share Option Plan or in an
applicable Award Agreement, any award theretofore granted may extend
beyond such date, and the authority of the Board or the Committee to
amend, alter, adjust, suspend, discontinue or terminate any such award, to
waive any conditions or rights under any such award, or to amend the 2022

Share Option Plan, shall extend beyond such date.
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Notes:

Q)

The share options granted will vest in four years and every 25% of granted share
options are vested on the first, second, third and fourth anniversary of the grant
date.

None of the grantees under the 2022 Share Option Plan was (i) a substantial
Shareholder of the Company or its associate; (i) a participant with options and
awards granted and to be granted in excess of the 1% individual limit (as defined
in the Listing Rules); (i) a related entity participant or a service provider with
options and awards granted and to be granted in any 12-month period exceeding
0.1% of the Shares in issue; or (iv) a service provider of the Group.

Those employee participants of the Group's associates are constituted by the
Group's sales and marketing and technical staff. The success and growth of
the Group requires cooperation and contribution from the employees of the
Group's associates who play a role and make actual or potential contribution to
the business, development and growth of the Group. Sales and marketing staff
could help expand the Group's sales network by exploring and referring new
customers to the Group which is a very important offline user acquisition channel
for the Group to accelerate the online penetration in lower-tier cities, as such,
the Group can have closer relationship with the supply end, and better utilize
our membership program for a high stickiness and retention. Meanwhile, the
Group could offer superior services for our users. In relation to the technical staff,
since the relevant Group's associate is at its initial stage of business development
which would highly depend on its capability in research and development, it is
important for the Group's associate to retain a strong core technical team. It will
be beneficial to the Group in the long run in terms of return from the minority
investment if the Group's associate grows its business. In selecting the eligible
participants, the Board assessed the eligibility based on various factors including
but not limited to (i) job responsibility and seniority of the employees, (i) the
performance standard and/or sales targets attained by the relevant employees,
and contribution made by the participants to the Group/the Group's associates
and (i) the length of employment and dedication to the Group/the Group's
associates.

The Company has approved and adopted the 2022 RSU Plan by the Board’s

resolution taking effective from March 22, 2022 (the “Effective Date of the
2022 RSU Plan”). During the Reporting Period, no RSU has been granted by

the Company pursuant to the 2022 RSU Plan.

The purpose of the 2022 RSU Plan is to provide better rewards to the talents

who have contributed to the development and success of the Group, and for

the future development of the Group, to motivate such talents to continue

to make their best efforts and to attract new talents through providing them

with the opportunities to acquire interests in Shares.

() BERESNOEREE  mME25%0 R HERE
RELBHNE— 2= B=RENBEEH
B

Q BE_S-_FEREFEBETHEARARNAE
NAMEZRFREBEA () BDEERBER
RRERRIE RSB RIB 1% EARE (EER LR
Al B2 B8 (i) 3 T R AR A R S A R
fa] 1218 A BRI R BB B 21 TRR 19 0.19% 80 B
BRLHEENRBHEER (v AEENRBH
R o

Q) FEEBEQAFNESSEERLAEENOHEER
EHARBMABEK - AEENRNRIERS
EREAKEBREZARNRENAERER  BE
RAKEEY BRMERBEEALELER
HEEER - HEREHEABBBREREN
MEFTASE  UHBMRASENHEESR
W WA KEBINE TSR E2BENIER
EEGTERERE Bt - AEEJRHEEREZ
URETNAER  UEMEMNS SR AL
SHUEREEER o BILRAK - AKER SR
MAPRHEENRE - AR ARME - @R
AEEBABEARENEEBERINY - ME
BRARIEE LKBERER D - HRE XA
AOZORMBEBHAEERELFMEZHE
BoREME  MAREBEARNEBLR -
ELHBRRADR T EEENRAEE - 8
BRERZEER EEIRBESBARTEE
% BEETRROESNTERERERE - (i)
HEREEETNR[EER AHERRULS
HMEYWAREEAEEHERANEENERR
(RAER KEEBERATNZRFARE
& o

ARFENESERBRMERKER T ——
FERHVBOEMTE B F__F=A=
ToRRAER(ZB=FZREIRDEMT
BIAERAM]) - RBEHMA - ARAHERE
TR FERRGIR ELA B R R B

N

REAL -

TR CFRREBROEMFEEERNAEE
BERKKEREKNELEBOAAZHE
R WRBRHBEROESNOKS
BERZEANA BB BRI BT AT -

—E_UEFERE | ANNUAL REPORT 2024



The eligible participants of the 2022 RSU Plan (the “Eligible Participants”)
include (i) any Director and (i) any other employee of the Group and its
associates. The committee as appointed by the Board from time to time
(the "Committee”) (in respect of Directors and senior management of
the Company) or the management (in respect of persons who are not
Directors or senior management of the Company) shall have the authority to
determine which Eligible Participant will receive RSUs, to grant RSUs and to
set all terms and conditions of RSUs (including but not limited to vesting and

forfeiture provisions).

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which RSUs may be granted
under the 2022 RSU Plan shall not exceed 2.5% of the total issued share
capital of the Company as at May 31, 2022, and, when aggregated with the
maximum number of Shares in respect of which options or awards may
be granted under any other share-based incentive plan of the Company
(including the 2022 Share Option Plan and the Other Plans), shall not exceed
10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at the Effective
Date of the 2022 RSU Plan (or of the refreshment of the 10% limit) (the “RSU
Mandate Limit").

The total maximum number of Shares in respect of which RSUs may be
granted under the 2022 RSU Plan would be 55,459,938, representing 2.5% of
the number of Shares in issue as at May 31, 2022.

The RSU Mandate Limit may be refreshed from time to time subject to the
prior approval of the Shareholders, but in any event, the total number of
Shares in respect of which RSUs may be granted under the 2022 RSU Plan
following the date of approval of the refreshed limit, when aggregated with
the maximum number of Shares in respect of which options or awards may
be granted under any other share-based incentive plan of the Company
(including the 2022 Share Option Plan and the Other Plans), must not exceed
10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at the date when

such refreshed limit is approved.

As at December 31, 2024, a total number of 34,662,453 Shares are available
for issue upon vesting of all RSUs granted under the 2022 RSU Plan,
representing approximately 1.5% of the total number of all Shares in issue

(excluding treasury shares, if any) as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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As at January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024, there were 48,527,438 and
34,662,453 Shares underlying all unvested awards under the 2022 RSU Plan
respectively. The number of Shares subject to the RSUs granted but unvested
under the 2022 RSU Plan was 34,662,453 Shares, representing approximately
1.5% of the issued Shares (excluding treasury shares, if any) as at the Latest

Practicable Date.

There is no limit for the maximum entitlement of each participant under the
2022 RSU Plan.

The 2022 RSU Plan shall be subject to the administration of the Board who
may delegate all or part of such administration to a committee or any other
authorized agent. The decision of the Board or persons to whom the Board
has delegated relevant powers shall be final and binding on all parties for any

matters concerning the interpretation or application of the 2022 RSU Plan.

The Board (or any committee or other authorized agent delegated by
the Board) may, from time to time, at their absolute discretion select the
grantee(s), determine the number of RSUs to be awarded and specify such
event, time limit or conditions (if any) as it thinks fit when making such offer
to the grantee(s), including, without limitation, conditions as to performance
criteria to be satisfied by the grantee(s) and/or the Company and/or the

Group which must be satisfied before a RSU can be vested.

The consideration to be paid for the granting of a RSU, including the method
and period of payment, will be determined by the Board. Such consideration
may consist of (i) cash; (ii) cheque; (iii) such other method of payment as
is approved by the Board; or (iv) any combination of the foregoing that is

approved by the Board.

Save for the consideration to be paid for the granting of a RSU, there is
no additional amount payable on purchase of share(s) underlying the RSU

granted.
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Unless otherwise determined by the Board (or any committee or other
authorized agent delegated by the Board) at its discretion, the RSUs held by
the trustee appointed by the Company in respect of the 2022 RSU Plan which
are referable to a relevant grantee shall not vest in the relevant grantee in
the event that the relevant grantee fails to satisfy the specific terms and
conditions applicable to each RSU which may be determined at the sole and
absolute discretion of the Board (or any committee or other authorized agent
delegated by the Board) or breaches any terms of the 2022 RSU Plan.

The RSUs granted under the 2022 RSU Plan has vesting conditions that
ranged from 12 to 48 months from the grant date. For further details of the
vesting period attached to the unvested RSUs granted to (a) each relevant
Director; (b) other grantees in aggregate, in each case during the Reporting
Period, please refer to the table set forth in pages 131 to 133 of this annual

report.

Save as disclosed in the movement table below, no right to subscribe for
equity or debt securities of the Company has been granted by the Company
to, nor have any such rights been vested by, any other person under the
2022 RSU Plan during the Reporting Period.

The 2022 RSU Plan was terminated on June 26, 2024 and no further grants
will be made under the 2022 RSU Plan. The early termination of the 2022 RSU

Plan shall not affect any subsisting rights of any grantee hereunder.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F

HMEEERR AR ENHESS (HBESEZ
EREEMZ B G A IRERIEAN) BHED R
) 175 R T 3 A A & 32 PR 5 AR 1) B8 7 O 45 E R 3K
RAEH - SEEABRAER-ZZE-_FZRH
A1 B8 L st BRI ETIER - BRIFEEE (SkBE
ELZRMNAMNZESNEMBRREAN) BE
EHEMRE GRIEAARR T Z_FF
BRHIBR D BT BER S AR A B EH
HEERRADZBRSIRDECTEESE THA
S5 YN

BESZ_FXRHIBRMBMFTEELNZ
BHlkHEMES AR T BB 12248(@A
VEBIEE c BN BREHAANE T SHERE
(b)) HMFER AR AR B HIR G B
Fifi 5@ e S EERNE—PFIE - F2H
AERFI1ZINEEFI3BAEHFE ©

BRATEBRMREEIN  ARRHBERE
E_FXREIR M ELAERNBSHAMME
MEMALTREBEARRBRARBERESFH
R TMEEREMATEEBZSETN -

T CEXREROEMHEER TN
FRAZ+HRBRILE - BT ERE-_Z==
FEZRFBROBELFTEELE—SHEL - 28
WRIE—TE - —FXBHRMDEMT L THE
HIFTER ARG #ET -



YeRIgE  LIYE

QYS9 LIOMH 1Ry 130 (L9 OYH

largs  LRwCHE

RS RAPSSIOH U RITSIOM

koEgns
S

iafef B

SN15Y J0 1ep ajep Busan

Bunsan Jy ENEE

freIpawu)

FEN ke 1
SaleyS 3y Jo
aoud Buisop abesane payydia

LRV
EEETHEDE
LRSS

SNSY Jo3rep
Jueib 3y ai0jq
A pyeipauy
SaleyS

Ao

aopd Buisop)

poisad
Bunsap

LRL
L=t
ke

55440
UoleIapIsu0)

HUHE+

\\wl
--
ZZE-

2E4TH4

£607 51 2000
0LE707 07 3qon0

V42K
4740
EHYCHY

TEQ ‘g7 3unf
0170 ' 3uny

AT
PELE

55440
poyiad aspiaxg

A=
42730
(0T 07 RAoD0 572190 - - - B89 -
B HY
Tz sz 000wl - - - 0000289 -
EoREl  UsOWey EEE0Ds BEHGDE MEUy  HEM:  HEMY
TEQHMEE  FEEYR  ONRME  QMsus
B-4zHo4 #UERE  0E /¥R
sh-etd WEEYE  RRAMY
Va1t
SNSHH0 HT0T Snsy Sy JLEYE leakay leafauy
Jeibjosleq  'lgRqUERQ PP paRpo) Buynp Buyinp Buynp
Jesesnsy ynsjodyud  Jpasde padue)  paap pajueIn
pajsanuf aseyound yns jo dud
ayypueseak  aseynind
aybupmp  auy pue seaf
paidxg 3y} Bupnp
paliapo
[pasde
HERNY
Spiene aJeys Jo laquiny

BOER6IESY
ajebaibbe i dnoin
8668710 3} Jo safojdus 67
EOEgZSIERY
ajebaibbe i dnoiy
00001907 3 Jo saakojdua 5|
UELS BEHEYHE
it i
fE-H-
{1t
b700 a8)uelh o
'| frenuer faoBayen jo awy
Jesessy
paIsanuf

A EEEREEYPEEDEYNGHEST - T HE - MBS

ISMOJ|0J SB 91aM UB|d NSY ZZ0TZ 24} Jopun spieme paisaAaun ayil Ul SJUSWSAOW a3 ‘pollad Buiioday ayy buung

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

R

HH




k8

£57799% - - - Gl - 8E7 1058y [eloL
HUHE+
A T T G
YIgE  LRUgE 0 el T SERBOLEREYY
(¢ 310y 3jebaubbe
£507 61 J3q0ng ursapeosse s dnoio
URYSROGLIQH  RUS A 0LOLOH - Loy 0 OLEZOT07RQ000 €707 07 R00D0 000081 - - - 00009 - 0000+ 3y josaafojdua §
B4y
E
THATHY  HYTHY (e
Lgssigs  LRWCIES 0 - - CEEELERE
(¢ 310y 3jebaubbe
760 57 3uny ur sajeposse s dnoiy
URYSROPSSIQH UG RAZESLOM - Loy 0 01707 ‘g auny qz sz 00zl - - - 00579 - 005281 3y josaafojdua §
KHESmE  EEOEERE  BUBEOW kES EyE A BEmEG DEOMed BEabme EEE0DE MBWE  EdW:  PEYy TEd EEEAE
bR HERRHDE UL UEOWREE  TelHRME  REEYR  OWREE  GURHR (1 E EE
U R s B-4ZH=4 ¥UREE  RE/K¥R f-H-
SWTETY MEEYs  SRURK i
Vet
$(154 Jo 3jep ajep bupsan S5y Jo 21ep porad sy jo S5y 40 T4 SNy SNy leaf 3 JEETEN JEETE B0 aRjuei jo
Burysan 1y ENEYEN Juelf ay) alojaq Bupsap  uoiesapisuo) pouad aspiaxg Jeibjodleq ‘g qUadIQ  PasDIRKD payiaylo} Buyinp Buynp Bunp '} Kienuey faoBaje jo auey
Apyerpau fpyepauwy Jesesnsy ynsjodyud  /pasde| padue)  paap pajuely Jesessy
SaleyS palsanuf) aseyind yans o dyd palsanuf
Y ayypueseak  aseyund
axud buisop aybuinp  auy pue Jeak
paidxg 3y} Bupnp
paliajio
Ipasder
R A HERRY
SaMeYS 3 Jo SpIeE 3Jeys Jo JaquIny

aaud bursop abesane payyBiap

RERDT

oo
£

B HRITE

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited



Notes:

(1) The RSUs granted will vest in four years and every 25% of granted RSUs are vested
on the first, second, third and fourth anniversary of the grant date.

(2)  None of the grantees under the 2022 RSU Plan was (i) a Director, a chief executive
or a substantial shareholder of the Company or their respective associate; (ii) a
participant with options and awards granted and to be granted in excess of the
1% individual limit (as defined in the Listing Rules); (iii) a related entity participant
or a service provider with options and awards granted and to be granted in any
12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the Shares in issue; or (iv) a service provider
of the Group.

(3) Those employee participants of the Group's associates are basically sales and
marketing and technical staff. The success and growth of the Group requires
cooperation and contribution from the employees of the Group's associates
who play a role and make actual or potential contribution to the business,
development and growth of the Group. Sales and marketing staff could help
expand the Group's sales network by exploring and referring new customers to
the Group which is a very important offline user acquisition channel for the Group
to accelerate the online penetration in lower-tier cities, as such, the Group can
have closer relationship with the supply end, and better utilize our membership
program for a high stickiness and retention. Meanwhile, the Group could offer
superior services for our users. In relation to the technical staff, since the relevant
Group's associate is at its initial stage of business development which would
highly depend on its capability in research and development, it is important for
the Group's associate to retain a strong core technical team. It will be beneficial
to the Group in the long run in terms of return from the minority investment if
the Group's associate grows its business. In selecting the eligible participants, the
Board assessed the eligibility based on various factors including but not limited to
(i) job responsibility and seniority of the employees, (i) the performance standard
and/or sales targets attained by the relevant employees, and contribution made
by the participants to the Group/the Group's associates and (iii) the length of
employment and dedication to the Group/the Group's associates.

The Company has adopted the 2024 Share Scheme by an ordinary resolution
duly passed by the Shareholders on June 26, 2024. As at the Latest Practicable
Date, save for the grant made on June 27, 2024 to Mr. Ma Heping, no share
options or awards were granted, vested, exercised, lapsed or cancelled under
the 2024 Share Scheme.
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The purpose of the 2024 Share Scheme is (a) to provide the Company
with flexible means of remunerating, incentivizing, retaining, rewarding,
compensating and/or providing benefits to Eligible Participants (as defined
below); (b) to align the interests of Eligible Participants with those of the
Company and Shareholders by providing such Eligible Participants with the
opportunity to acquire shareholding interests in the Company; and (c) to
encourage Eligible Participants to contribute to the long-term growth and
profitability of the Company and to enhance the value of the Company and

its Shares for the benefit of the Company and Shareholders as a whole.

The eligible participants of the 2024 Share Scheme (the “Eligible
Participants”) include (i) employee participants, being any person who is an
employee (whether full-time or part-time), director or officer of any member
of the Group; and (ii) related entity participants, being any person who is an
employee (whether full-time or part-time), director or officer of an associated

company of the Company.

The total number of award Shares which may be issued under the 2024 Share
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue (excluding any treasury
Shares) on the date of approval of the 2024 Share Scheme, being 23,249,990
Shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit"). The Company may seek approval
from its Shareholders in a general meeting for “refreshing” the Scheme
Mandate Limit after three years from the date of the Shareholders” approval

for the last refreshment.

As the 2024 Share Scheme was adopted by the Company on June 26, 2024,
the number of options available for grant under the 2024 Share Scheme as at
January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024 were 0 and 2,249,990, respectively.
As at December 31, 2024, the Company has not adopted any service provider
sublimit under the 2024 Share Scheme.
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The total number of Share available for issue under the 2024 Share Scheme
was 23,249,990, approximately 1.0% of the total number of all Shares in issue

(excluding treasury shares, if any) as at the Latest Practicable Date.

As at December 31, 2024, the number of outstanding Shares available for
issue upon exercise of the options granted under the 2024 Share Scheme is
21,000,000 Shares, which represents approximately 0.9% of the issued Shares
(excluding treasury shares, if any) as at the Latest Practicable Date. All of the
21,000,000 options remained unvested as at the date of the Latest Practicable
Date.

There is no specific maximum entitlement for each Eligible Participant under
the 2024 Share Scheme. Grants to individuals that exceed the thresholds set
out in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules will be subject to additional approval

requirements as required under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules

The 2024 Share Scheme shall be administered by the Board, any committee
of the Board (the "Committee’), the Management or other person to
whom the Board has delegated its authority to administer this scheme, i.e.
the Scheme Administrator. The Committee (for the directors and senior
management of the Company) or the Management (for persons other than
the directors and senior management of the Company) shall have the right
to determine the Eligible Participants who may receive the Awards, grant the
Awards and formulate all terms and conditions of the awards (including but

not limited to the vesting and forfeiture terms).

The administrator of the 2024 Share Scheme may determine in their absolute
discretion the amount (if any) payable on application or acceptance of an
award or option, and the period within which any such payments must be
made, and such amounts (if any) and periods shall be set out in the award
letter. Such amount will either be RMB1.0 or nil. Unless otherwise specified in
the award letter, the grantee shall have 20 Business Days from the grant date
to accept the award or option, following which, the portion not accepted by
the grantee shall automatically lapse, unless the administrator of the 2024
Share Scheme determines otherwise at their absolute discretion.
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The administrator of the 2024 Share Scheme may determine the vesting
period and specify such period in the award letter. The vesting period may
not be for a period less than 12 months from the grant date, except in limited
circumstances set out in the terms of the 2024 Share Scheme. For further
details of the vesting period attached to outstanding options granted under
the 2024 Share Scheme during the Reporting Period, please refer to the table
set forth in pages 137 to 138 of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the movement table below, no right to subscribe for
equity or debt securities of the Company has been granted by the Company
to, nor have any such rights been exercised and/or vested by, any other

person under the 2024 Share Option Plan during the Reporting Period.

The administrator of the 2024 Share Scheme may determine in its absolute
discretion the exercise period for any option or award and such period shall
be set out in the award letter. However, the exercise period for any options

shall not be longer than 10 years from the grant date.

The administrator of the 2024 Share Scheme may determine in their absolute
discretion the purchase price for share awards and/or the exercise price for
share options (as the case may be) and such prices shall be set out in the
award letter. However, the exercise price for share options shall be no less
than the higher of: (a) the closing price of the shares on the grant date;
and (b) the average closing price of the shares for the five Business Days
immediately preceding the grant date. The purchase price for share awards
shall be determined on an individual basis for each of the grantee by the
administrator of the 2024 Share Scheme, taking into account the purpose of
the scheme, the interests of the company and the individual circumstances

of each grantee.

The 2024 Share Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of: (a) the 10th
anniversary of the adoption date; and (b) such date of early termination as
determined by the Board, provided that such termination shall not affect
any subsisting rights in respect of the awards or options already granted to
Eligible Participants. The 2024 Share Scheme has a remaining term of 9 years

and two months as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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Notes:

Q)

The share options granted will vest in equal installments on the anniversary of the
date of grant over six years.

None of the grantees under the 2024 Share Scheme was (i) a substantial
Shareholder or its associate; (i) a participant with options and awards granted
and to be granted in excess of the 1% individual limit (as defined in the Listing
Rules); (iii) a related entity participant or service provider with options and awards
granted and to be granted in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the Shares
in issue; or (iv) a service provider of the Group.

The fair value of share options granted under the 2024 Share Scheme on June
27, 2024 are determined based on the binomial option-pricing model. For the
description of the option pricing model and details of the significant assumptions
and inputs used in that pricing model such as the expected volatility, expected
dividends and the risk-free interest rate, please refer to note 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

All of the share options mentioned above which are during the year ended
December 31, 2024 were made without any performance targets. Considering
that (i) Mr. Ma is the chief executive officer and an executive Director who has
contributed and will continue to contribute directly to the overall business
performance and sustainable development of the Group, (ii) the grant is a
recognition for Mr. Ma's past contributions to the Group as well as an incentive
to retain and encourage continued excellent performance on the part of Mr. Ma,
and (iii) the Share Options are subject to certain vesting conditions and terms of
the 2024 Share Scheme, which include a relatively extended vesting period of six
years, and cover situations where the Share Options will lapse in the event that
Mr. Ma ceases to be an employee of the Group, the remuneration committee
of the Board is of the view that the grant of Share Options to Mr. Ma without
performance target is market competitive and aligns with the purpose of the
2024 Share Scheme. For more details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated June 27, 2024.

Save as disclosed in the movement tables as set forth in this section above,

no right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company has been

granted by the Company to, nor have any such rights been exercised and/or

vested by, any other person during the Reporting Period.
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NO MATERIAL CHANGES

Save as disclosed in the annual report, from January 1, 2024 to December 31,
2024, there are no material changes affecting the Company's performance
that needs to be disclosed under paragraphs 32 and 40(2) of Appendix D2 to
the Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no equity-linked agreement

entered into by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the percentage of total purchases
attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers in aggregate was less than
30%; and the percentage of the total sales attributable to the Group's five

largest customers in aggregate was less than 30%.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale of treasury shares (as

defined under the Listing Rules)) during the year ended December 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2024, there were no treasury shares (as defined under the

Listing Rules) held by the Company.
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The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code for
the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Company's employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company, have also been subject to the Model Code for
securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by
the Company’s employees was noted by the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

The Company had applied the principles and code provisions as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code and has complied with the code provisions
in the Corporate Governance Code for the year ended December 31, 2024.
Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report for

details.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, certified
public accountants. There has been no change in Auditor in preceding three

years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the

Company will be proposed at the AGM.
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The register of members of the Company will be closed from June 23,
2025 (Monday) to June 26, 2025 (Thursday), both days inclusive, in order to
determine the eligibility of the Shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM.
The Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company at the close of business on June 20, 2025 (Friday) will be eligible to
attend and vote at the AGM. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the
AGM, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer
forms must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong before 4:30 p.m. on June 20, 2025 (Friday).

The record date for qualifying to receive the proposed final dividend is July 7,
2025 (Monday). In order to determine the right of the Shareholders entitled
to receive the proposed final dividend, which is subject to the approval by
the Shareholders in the forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the
Company will also be closed from July 3, 2025 (Thursday) to July 7, 2025
(Monday), both days inclusive. All transfer accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on July 2, 2025 (Wednesday).

By order of the Board
Ma Heping

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, March 20, 2025
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The Board presents this corporate governance report in the Group's annual
report for the year ended December 31, 2024. For information relating to
the Company’s environmental and social performance for the year ended
December 31, 2024, please refer to the Company's 2024 Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the "ESG Report”) separately posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on the date of this annual

report.

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders, enhance
corporate value and accountability and support the creation of a positive

corporate governance culture.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has applied the
principles as set out in the Corporate Governance Code effective on or before
December 31, 2024, and also the corporate governance report as contained

in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Corporate Governance Code sets out (a) the mandatory requirements for
disclosure in an issuer’s Corporate Governance Report; and (b) the principles
of good corporate governance, the code provisions on a “‘comply or explain”
basis and certain recommended best practices. Issuers are encouraged to

adopt the recommended best practices on a voluntary basis.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the principles

and code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code.

The Company regularly reviews its compliance with Corporate Governance
Code and save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company was in
compliance with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code

effective during the year ended December 31, 2024.

1. Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs and for determining the mission and
value of the Company, promoting the corporate culture among its

operations and all the staff and incorporating them into business
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decisions and operations to ensure that the value and business
strategies of the Company are in line with the corporate culture. The
Board also reviews the policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements. The Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees’ various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference
which are published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The Board also serves to upholding the corporate value
of the Company, such that the Company shall continue to strive
to fully implement the corporate development strategies under a
professional and rational operational model in pursuit of continual

and efficient return on values.

a. Corporate Governance

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be
the collective responsibility of Directors and their corporate
governance duties, which include, inter alia: (i) to develop and
review the Company's policies and practices on corporate
governance and ensuring that the purpose, values and strategy
of the Group are aligned with the overall culture of the
Group; (ii) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management
of the Company; (i) to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iv) to develop, review and monitor the code
of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and (v) to review the Company's
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate

Governance Report.

b. Corporate Culture

As a one-stop platform catering to users’ travel needs,
Tongcheng Travel continues to provide users with high -
quality and diversified travel experiences by bearing in mind
the mission of “Making Travel Easier and More Joyful” and the
vision of “Becoming the Most Trustworthy Travel Platform”.
With the cultural values of “Customer First, Innovation and
Enterprise, Integrity and Honesty, and Win-Win Cooperation”,
the Company strives to promote the sustainable development
of the travel industry by being profoundly involved in the
upstream and downstream industry chains with an open and

win-win mindset.
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The Board has established the Company’s purpose, values
and strategy, and ensures that these and the Company's
corporate culture are aligned. All Directors act with integrity,
lead by example, and promote the desired corporate
culture. Upholding the concept of sustainable development,
the Company has, under the leadership of the Board, (i)
constructed an extensive, profound, and multi-dimensional
cultural system in four ways, namely “behavioural guidance”,
"behavioural influence”, “behavioural permeation” and
“mechanism guarantee’, to motivate staff to keep innovating,
thus delivering better services to users and leading the industry
to grow together, and (ii) actively implemented corporate
culture through daily operation, workplace policies and close
communication with business stakeholders based on a sound
governance structure, stringent risk management and effective
internal control. For details of our corporate culture and path
to build such corporate culture, please refer to the ESG Report

published by the Company.

All of the Directors have carried out their duties in good faith
and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws
and regulations, and have acted in the best interests of the

Company and its Shareholders at all times.

2. Delegation of Management Function

The Board is responsible for making all major decisions of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all major
policies and overall strategies of the Group and internal control and
risk management systems, notifiable transactions and connected
transactions, nomination of the Directors and company secretary,

and other significant financial and operational matters.
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All of the Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of the company
secretary, with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations are followed. Each Director is

entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances at the Company’s expense.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior management. The delegated
functions are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained

from the Board before any significant transaction is entered into.

Board Composition

The Board comprised the following Directors for the year ended

December 31, 2024 and as at the date of this annual report:

Name

#H

Mr. Wu Zhixiang
REREE

Mr. Ma Heping
BMFEE

Mr. Liang Jianzhang
RRELE

Mr. Jiang Hao
LERE

Mr. Xie Qing Hua
HEEELAE

Mr. Brent Richard Irvin
Brent Richard Irvin 54
Mr. Yang Chia Hung
SRALE

Mr. Dai Xiaojing
qREE

Ms. Han Yuling
BEERL

Position

B

Executive Director, Co-Chairman

HITEE BREFK

Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer

WITES  BRATE
Non-executive Director, Co-Chairman
FNTEE BMEEER
Non-executive Director

FRTESE

Non-executive Director

FHITES

Non-executive Director

FRTES

Independent Non-executive Director
BUFRTES

Independent Non-executive Director
BUFNTES

Independent Non-executive Director

BIUFRTES
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Length of tenure

as of December 31,

2024 Date of re-election
BE-E-QmF

+=-HA=+—H

K BEAH

6 years May 29, 2023

N “E_=FfRA-+AA
6 years June 26, 2024

NE —ECWERAZTRA
6 years May 31, 2022

NEF ZEZ-FRA=+—H
6 years May 29, 2023

NEF “E-=FfRA-+AA
1 year May 29, 2023

—4 —E-=FRAZTAAH
6 years June 26, 2024

NE ZZMERARZTRA
2 years September 8, 2022

GES B _FAANR

6 years June 26, 2024

NE —ECWERAZTRA
6 years May 29, 2023

INEE ZEZ=FRAZTNA
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The list of the Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company from time to
time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications

pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, to the best knowledge of the
Company, there are no financial, business, family, or other material/

relevant relationships among members of the Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board and at least one
independent non-executive Director with appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management

expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his or her independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with the independence requirements

set out in the Listing Rules.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of the Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association.
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, but are
not limited to, reviewing the structure, size and composition of
the Board, assessing the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and making recommendations to the Board on

matters relating to the appointment of the Directors.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company pursuant to which each of them has agreed
to act as an executive Director for an initial term of three years
(subject to re-election as and when required under the Articles of
Association) until terminated in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the service contract or by either party giving to the

other not less than three months' prior notice in writing. Each of
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the non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company pursuant to which each of them has agreed to
act as a non-executive Director for a term of one year (subject to
reelection as and when required under the Articles of Association)
until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the service contract or by either party giving to the other not less
than one month's prior notice in writing. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company and has been appointed for a term of one year (subject to
re-election as and when required under the Articles of Association).
The appointment may be terminated by either party giving to the

other not less than one month'’s prior notice in writing.

In accordance with the Articles of Association and code provision
B.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code, all of the Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. In
accordance with the Articles of Association, the Board has power
from time to time and at any time to appoint any new Director to
fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so
appointed shall hold office until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and shall then

be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

Induction and Continuing Development for Directors

The Directors are continually provided with information relating
to the developments in the legal and regulatory regime and the
business and market environments to facilitate the execution
of their responsibilities. Continuing briefings and professional
development for the Directors were arranged by the Company and

its professional advisers.
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According to records provided by the Directors, a summary of RIBFEFRHNTE  ESHE_ZT

training received by the Directors for the year ended December 31, THFET+Z A=+ —HIEFEEXD
2024 is as follows: HIWEAT
Training
&3
Mr. Wu Zhixiang REFLE v
Mr. Ma Heping BAE LA v
Mr. Liang Jianzhang REBRE v
Mr. Jiang Hao LS E v
Mr. Xie Qing Hua HREESL v
Mr. Brent Richard Irvin Brent Richard Irvin %t 4 v
Mr. Yang Chia Hung BRRTE v
Mr. Dai Xiaojing BREE v
Ms. Han Yuling BEEZL+ v
Notes: MHET
1. Each Director has read and learnt relevant information regarding 1. BREFCABEE_TS_NELEE
Corporate Governance Code in 2024. On top of the above-mentioned JASFRINMBRBEE R o B Lt IIon -
trainings, each of the Directors has also read materials prepared by BEZNEHEAREEBRRRES
legal advisers of the Company as to Hong Kong laws, in relation to, EEMREEH (KT eRE) EFRG
among others, mechanism of treasury shares, and review of Corporate HH R EMEEERTANER -

Governance Code.
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6. Attendance Record of Board Meetings, Board Committee 6. EEERHZEERRRAEERL

Meetings and General Meetings fE R 8%
a.  Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance a BEREAXEREBHEEL
Code provision C.5.1 of the Corporate Governance Code EERTRIFAEXECSE
prescribes that at least four regular Board meetings should BE  ARTFFRLERITAR
be held in each year at approximately quarterly intervals with THEZSEH  AOEBFEET
active participation of majority of directors, either in person or —R REZHEEELHLBAE
through electronic means of communication. TR EHRBE o
The attendance record of each Director at the Board, Board TRINKEEZNREE-_Z_MF
Committees and general meetings of the Company held TZ A=+ —BUEFERITZAR
during the year ended December 31, 2024 is set out in the REFEeR EFELEEeR
table below: ERERE 2 ik
Independent Annual  Extraordinary
Nomination - Remuneration Audit £SG Board General General
Board  Committee  Committee  Committee Committee ~ Committee Meeting Meeting
RE HER BugEs e B&
Name of Director 2 Bz RezEE  HMZEE  BNZEE ghzEe 288  BEEXE  HAKE
Mr. Wu Zhixiang REBEE 6/6 11 - e - - i 1l
Mr. Ma Heping SRTEE 6/6 = = = = = i 11
Mrling fanzhang  REERE 6/6 - - - - - n 1
Mr. Jiang Hao TE%E 6/6 - - - - - 1 /1
M. Xie Qing Hua HEELE /6 = = 5/5 = = " 11
Mr. Brent Richard Ivin -~ Brent Richard Ivin 5.4 5/6 = n = = = 11 1
MrYangChiaHing  BEELE 6/6 - - 5/5 n 11 " 11
Mr. Dai Xiaojing #IREE /6 11 " = 0N 11 " 11
Ms. Han Yuling BIERT 6/6 11 n 55 n 1 n 11
Apart from the above meetings, the Co-Chairmen of the Board M rhiieziN EEeMEEER
held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors BBV IERITEENEHEZE-_ZE N
during the year ended December 31, 2024 without other F+_A=+—BILFE217T®
Directors’ presence. o AMEEWELE o
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Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting will

be made available to the Directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings will be served to all of the
Directors at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and

committee meetings, reasonable notices were generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information will be sent to all of the Directors at least three days
before regular Board meetings or committee meetings to keep the
Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position

of the Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.

Each Director also has separate and independent access to the

senior management of the Company whenever necessary.

The senior management of the Company attend regular Board
meetings and where necessary, other Board and committee
meetings, to advise on business developments, financial and
accounting matters, statutory and regulatory compliance, corporate

governance and other major aspects of the Company.

The company secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to the Directors for comment
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is

open for the Directors’ inspection.

The Articles of Association contains provisions requiring the
Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the
quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such

Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.
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Code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates that
the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should

not be performed by the same individual.

The chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company are
currently two separate positions held by Mr. Wu Zhixiang and Mr. Liang
Jianzhang as the Co-Chairmen of the Board and Mr. Ma Heping as CEO,
with clear distinction in responsibilities. The chairman is responsible for
providing overall strategic planning and business development of the
Group, while the CEO is responsible for general business operation and

the implementation of overall business strategy.

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the ESG Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company's affairs, respectively. All of these four committees are
established with defined written terms of reference which are available

at the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The majority of the members of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and ESG Committee are

independent non-executive Directors.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

Company'’s expense.
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Audit Committee

We have established the Audit Committee with terms of reference
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules as well as
paragraphs D.3 and A.2 of Part 2 of the Corporate Governance
Code. The Audit Committee consists of three Directors, namely, the
independent non-executive Directors Mr. Yang Chia Hung, Ms. Han
Yuling, and the non-executive Director Mr. Xie Qing Hua whose
biographies are set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report. The chairman of the
Audit Committee is Mr. Yang Chia Hung, who holds the appropriate
professional qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21

of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee include, but are not limited to, assisting
the Board by (i) reviewing and monitoring the relationship of the
external auditor and the Group, particularly the independence,
objectivity and effectiveness of the external auditor; (i) providing
an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control, compliance and risk management systems
of the Group; (iii) overseeing the audit process and performing
other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board; (iv)
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and requirements under the Listing Rules; (v)
reviewing the financial information of the Company and ensuring
compliance with accounting standards and reviewing significant
adjustments resulting from audit; (vi) developing, reviewing and
monitoring the code of conduct applicable to the Company’s
employees and Directors; and (vii) overseeing the Company's

financial reporting system and internal control procedures.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Audit Committee
held five meetings to review the quarterly, half-year and annual
results of the Company; review continuing connected transactions
of the Group; review financial reporting system and risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and make
relevant recommendation to the Board; review the effectiveness
of the Group's internal audit function; and review the Company’s

corporate governance policies, practices and related matters.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F

BEREEE

BMERBEMBAEI N REREEE
JASTRIE —EH D D3I RAEMRE R
BREEE  UHlTHREE - Fix
ZEGR-RERHEK BB
NMEEBRRELE BIBXITRIE
WMITESHEELE  BENREESH
RAERIEERSRERERE] —
B - BEZEGEEAGRALE
HAHEEMRREI 0 RI2VERE
MEENBEER -

EREZEEEFELBRMAGHE -
ERZEENIEREREETERRA
FBRNTEERYERS  (\FERE
BEINEREMEREENEER - LH
RINEZEBM BN  BEERE
W () AEEMBHRERSF - RS
B ARKRABREERSFNHE RN
RUBYER  (INEBETARIE
TEFSRETNEBMBEREML  (iv)
SIERBERNRABATCEERNEK
ERIER BT EEREERTEUAR
EWRAETORE  EESXRARN
MHER  BRETSTENLES
BEEENIARAE (VIHIE - BE
REBEANARAEEREEHIT
RER RVIDEBEARARNPBRE
RERNIPEEIEIE T o

HE-_Z-_NM&+_A=+—HLLF
B BHRZESARANGH  UFE
BARARARNEE ¥FFERFEEE
BAAKRENFERERS  BEEX
EENMBEREEZGEARRBERE &
NEEE RS - WHEESIRERER
EiE o R ASEEAIBE R BRI
W RBEHARAMBEERBER -
BHELEAEE -



The Company’s annual results for the year ended December 31,
2024 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee on March 20,
2025. The Audit Committee considers that the annual financial
results for the year ended December 31, 2024 are in compliance
with the relevant accounting standards, rules and regulations and

appropriate disclosures have been duly made.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph E.1 of Part 2 of the
Corporate Governance Code. The Remuneration Committee consists
of three Directors, namely, the independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Dai Xiaojing and Ms. Han Yuling, and the non-executive Director
Mr. Brent Richard Irvin, whose biographies are set out in the section
headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report. Ms. Han Yuling serves as the chairman of the Remuneration

Committee.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but are
not limited to, the following: (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of
all the Directors and senior management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy; (ii) reviewing and approving senior management's
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board corporate
goals and objectives; (iii) making recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management; (iv) determining the policy for the remuneration of
executive Directors, assessing performance of executive Directors
and approving the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts;
and (v) reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share

schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to assess performance of executive
Directors and approve the terms of executive Directors’ service
contracts; review the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Company and the Company's remuneration
policies, practices and related matters; and review and/or approve
the material matters relating to share schemes of the Company
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. In proposing the adoption
of the 2024 Share Scheme, the Remuneration Committee has
considered and provided its views as to the appropriateness and
reasonableness of particular terms of the 2024 Share Scheme.
Further, based on the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee, the Board has approved the conditional grants of share
options to certain Director under the 2024 Share Scheme with
reference to the role undertaken by the grantee and his respective
expertise and field experience, as well as the past contribution
to the Group by the grantee, and to allow the grants of options
to serve as incentives to the grantee to attract and retain such
personnel. Details of the Directors' remuneration are set out in note

7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In addition, the remuneration payable to the senior management
of the Company (who are not the Directors) by band for the
year ended December 31, 2024 is set out in the section headed
“Corporate Governance Report — D. Remuneration of Senior

Management” of this annual report.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.3 of Part 2
of the Corporate Governance Code. The Nomination Committee
consists of three Directors, namely, the independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. Dai Xiaojing and Ms. Han Yuling, and the executive
Director and the Co-Chairman of the Board, Mr. Wu Zhixiang. Mr.
Wu Zhixiang serves as the chairman of the Nomination Committee
whose biographies are set out in the section headed “Profiles of

Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee include, but are not limited
to, (i) reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board,
(i) assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; (iii) making recommendations to the Board on matters
relating to the appointment of Directors; and (iv) reviewing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional development

of Directors and senior management.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to consider, review and if thought fit,
approve, the nomination procedures, the composition and diversity
of the Board, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee, the ESG Committee; consider
and recommend to the Board on the re-election of Directors at the
Company’s annual general meeting; and assess the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors. The Nomination
Committee was satisfied with the current procedures and

composition.

Where vacancies on the Board arise, the Nomination Committee
will carry out the selection process by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and length
of service of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and

other relevant statutory requirements and regulations.
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On November 25, 2019, the Nomination Policy of Directors was RZE—-NFE+—A=Z+HA AR

adopted to enable the Nomination Committee to nominate suitable ARMEZIRBEBR WFIREEE
candidates to the Board for its consideration and recommendation FRANEESRASBEREARE
to Shareholders for election as Directors of the Company at the EEREBTRRE  UWERERE L
general meeting or to fill casual vacancies of the Directors for the BRAKRNAEE  LEMEFNH
appointment by the Board. A summary of the Nomination Policy of RERUNHESGEG - EFREBH

Directors is set out below:

Purpose:

EEE

Selection Criteria:

Nomination Procedures:

B -

RMEHIOT

The Nomination Policy of Directors aims to set out the approach to enable the

Nomination Committee to nominate suitable candidates to the Board.

EERABREEARREZESRAAEZTSRAAEREANIDE

Evaluation of candidates will be based on a range of factors, including but not limited
to their skills, knowledge and experience, character and integrity, time commitments
and board diversity, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, nationality, sexual orientation, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

HREANFEBERZTEEER - BRESRNERKEE - MBANLR - EBH
mig  RERARESFEXNEZ Tl - BEETRMNER - F& L RHEEE
= MR BIFE - EERA - BELR - et - MBARREER -

The Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to the Board in relation to
the selection criteria and due diligence procedures to identify suitable candidates.
REZEGEMDESTERRABASEFrMNESTSREER  UWIEAENERE
Ao

The Board can only recommend the candidates nominated by the Nomination
Committee to be elected at the general meeting. For candidates nominated by the
Shareholders, information of the candidates shall be provided to the Company or the
share registrar in accordance with the Articles of Association. Details of the director
candidates shall be dispatched to all Shareholders by way of a circular.

MEFRERRAEG FEREREA  IEESENTHEBHIERZESRANERE
Ao FIRIERRANREA - EERREBERARNRT - MWARAKKRN B
FERERMHEREANER - EFREANFBERABRNOTEZATETHERR -

The Directors shall comply with the Articles of Association, the terms of reference of

the Nomination Committee and other applicable requirements.

EFRETASERRAN  REZEENBESEREMERRE
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The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy of

Directors, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out
the criteria for the composition and diversity of the Board including
(a) the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the business development of the Company
and for effective leadership and (b) the necessary independent
views and input which shall be made available to the Board. All
the executive and non-executive Directors possess extensive
and diversified experience in management and broad industrial
experience. The three independent non-executive Directors possess
professional knowledge in management, finance, accountancy and
legal, respectively with broad and extensive experience in business
advisory and management, respectively. A summary of the Board

Diversity Policy is set out below:

RAZECGEGEHEERRIEFRS
BOR - AHERE AL -

ARRERMEFEREZ TR
R -FATAEESEXNS TLEE
BR@QARAEHERERRARE
EERREREROVETE - &
bMEFSRHEVENBUBHMK
BER -FMAHTRIFATESHES
LERZTIHNERLRAREZN
TERLR - —RBIYFATEED 5
LBERE  MH S RARERA
W DR EXBRARERTEES
BEZMEENER EEEKEZTT
LR ZBERIIAT -

\

v

Purpose: The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity of the

Board and enable the Board to comply with the Corporate Governance Code.

EEE EEeRBENtBRREAEFNERETERESTINTE  MEEESET

EERTH -

Statement: The Company considers increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential

element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable

development. In designing the Board’'s composition, the Board diversity has been

considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,

cultural and educational background, race, nationality, sexual orientation, professional

experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be

based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,

having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
2 RAAREESFEEAN AR Z A FHENRBERRIHEEROVET
R RBFEFFGHEKE ARARIEREZFTHEREEFEKESZ UL - BIFE

PRER - e - B R

CRERR - BISE - MEERE - BELR - B

HMBALRBEY - MBEFEREB ZEGHIZAAMETME - MIKEAGRR
FEEY WEHEBRMNEFEXEZ T ENEETAER -
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Measurable objectives:

AEERE:

Mechanism to achieving said

Measurable objectives:

ER LR EE RIS

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, race, nationality,
sexual orientation, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board. The Company is satisfied that the Board Diversity Policy is
successfully implemented with reference to the measurable objectives and will strive
to gradually increase the proportion of female Directors and to have at least 20%
female Directors to sit on the Board by December 31, 2027, subject to the Directors:
REANBEKENZERE  BFEETERAER - Fi - XMERHESR &
T~ BIEE - MEERM C BELR - AL MRARRBER REORTEHENEE
WIEREAFIREFTSHERNEELERME - AAREMNEFTEMEZ TLBE
RAEEAERNATERRNEFIRSKESENLD YR T _tF+=
R=+—RAIEEEEHRELF0%NLMESE  HEEE

1. complying with the criteria for, and possessing the competence and experience
for, appointment as a Director; and

1. MAEZRERARFAEENGRN  EREZETARAREZEFNEIMER
K

2. fulfilling their fiduciary duties to act in the best interests of the Company and its

Shareholders as a whole when considering such appointments.

2. EEZERHEZEERBETEXFET UWARRREBRRMERSKENSTE -

The Company will establish and develop a channel to promote gender diversity of the
Board by:
RRABEBUATAABYIREREESEFSMURZTERRE -

1. encouraging the recommendations by current Directors and liaising with
independent human resources agencies to actively identify candidates for female
directors with a wide range of skills, experience and knowledge in various fields
for consideration by the Nomination Committee of the Company to be nominated
as director candidates;

1. EBREFFRDESR  THEBZANEREBES BRYEESRTA
HWEZEE  KBREABOAMERREA HEAAAREEEGERRES
REEREAN
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Mechanism for ensuring
independent views and

input are available to the Board:

EREFSNESE LB
KB RHHH -

2. ensuring gender diversity in recruiting employees in senior positions, so that
the Company can reserve and develop female senior management and female
director candidates to join the Company; and

2. HESHBULEINERUMNZTIL  UWEARRRBEBEMERLESRER
EMZEBBEREAMARAT &

3. identifying female employees with the experience, skills and knowledge required
for the Company’s operations and business from middle and senior staff, and
offering them with all-rounded trainings, including but not limited to business
operation, management, accounting and finance, legal and compliance, etc,,
for consideration by the Nomination Committee to be nominated as director
candidates.

3. WAPSEEINYEABARRLEREBMEER ReERAHENLIES
I UTAEREH#H2FUNEI  BEEINRREBLE 18  gtEY
B EERARE  HIEREZESZBIREAREEFREA -

When selecting candidates to be independent non-executive Directors, the
Nomination Committee and the Board will consider whether the relevant candidates
have sufficient time to perform their duties as independent non-executive Directors, as
well as the background and qualifications of the candidates, so as to evaluate whether
the candidates can give independent opinions to the Board.
EBEBUFATEFREAN  REZEeNEFTSHERERREARTA
RANKEBITEERBUIFNTEENEE - URIKEANERTER - AE
HEIREARTNEESRHBECER -

Separately, when considering whether the independent non-executive Directors
are eligible for re-election, the Nomination Committee and the Board will evaluate
the contribution of the independent non-executive Directors to the Board during
their tenure, especially whether the independent non-executive Directors can give
independent opinions to the Board.

FH - EERBUFPTEETEERERIERN  REZESREFSHITELE
MATEFEREEHAYETSNER  LEARBYINTEZSEREAES

SRHEBLER -

The Company will ensure that there are other channels other than the independent
non-executive Directors to obtain independent opinions, including but not limited
to the fact that the Directors are able to obtain external independent professional
opinions to assist them in performing their duties.
RARHARBBELIFJTETUINIEHEMRERIBELER - BHRETRNE
FEREMERIMNIBYEXE R UM REBITRE
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In reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board, the Nomination Committee has taken into account
the measurable objectives as set out in the Nomination Policy
of Directors and Board Diversity Policy. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Board has reviewed and considered the
implementation of the Nomination Policy of Directors and Board
Diversity Policy, and is satisfied that the Directors have a balanced
mix of skills and are characterized by significant diversity in terms
of gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience. The Nomination Committee is of the
view that the diversity level of the Board is appropriate in terms of
knowledge, experience and skills of the Directors with reference
to the measurable objectives. The Nomination Committee will
continue to adhere to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Policy of Directors and consider potential candidates against
the objective criteria set out in the Board Diversity Policy, the
Nomination Policy of Directors in order to improve diversity at the

Board level.
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As of December 31, 2024, the number of the members of the
Board amounted to nine, one of whom is female; whereas, as of
Latest Practicable Date, the number of senior management of
the Company amounted to seven, one of whom is female. The
Company will continue to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity and seek opportunities to increase the proportion of
female members of the Board over time as and when suitable
candidates are identified. The Company is also committed to
implementing the appropriate measures to gradually achieve
gender diversity in the workforce of the Group (including senior
management), including without limitation, selecting mid-level
managers from within the Company, engaging with independent
professional recruitment agencies to identify female candidates
with suitable capabilities and experience, and providing the
necessary training, such that the Company may encourage internal
promotion for female candidates. The Company has appointed one
female senior executive in 2025, and will continue to use its best
efforts to maintain at least one female senior executive in the senior

management team of the Company.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has a total of 10,141
employees (including members of the senior management),
including 4,903 male employees and 5,238 female employees, with
a male-to-female ratio of approximately 1:1.07. As far as the Group
is concerned, the Company has achieved fundamental equality in
the proportion of gender proportion. In order to achieve a more
balanced gender ratio between male and female employees, the
Company will prioritize hiring female employees in its employee
recruitment process if the candidates have equal or similar
qualifications; in addition, the Company is gradually exploring and
committed to creating a female-friendly workplace environment to

attract more women join the Company.
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ESG Committee

The Company has established the ESG Committee on November 22,
2021 with terms of reference. The ESG Committee consists of three
Directors, namely, the independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
Yang Chia Hung, Mr. Dai Xiaojing and Ms. Han Yuling. Mr. Yang Chia

Hung serves as the chairman of the ESG Committee.

The ESG Committee meets at least once a year. The primary
duties of the ESG Committee include, but are not limited to, (i)
reviewing the performance of the Group with respect to ESG
matters and reporting and making recommendations to the
Board; (i) formulating the Group's vision, objective, management
direction and strategies for ESG issues, reviewing the status of
achieving targets on regular basis and reporting and making
recommendations to the Board; (iii) identifying and managing
important ESG matters that have material impact on the Group's
operation and/or the interest of other important stakeholders,
and reporting and making recommendations to the Board; (iv)
reviewing, evaluating and, if necessary, adopting and updating
the relevant ESG policies of the Group to ensure compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements; and (v) reviewing the Group's
ESG Report disclosed externally, and terms of reference the ESG
Committee and reporting and making recommendations to the
Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the ESG Committee
held two meetings to review the status of achieving targets on
regular basis and the performance of the Group with respect to
environmental, social and governance matters; evaluate internal
and external opinions on the Group's performance in respect of
environmental, social and governance tasks; review and evaluate
the Group’s environmental, social and governance results; and

review of the ESG report of the Company.
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The remuneration payable to the senior management of the Company
(who are not the Directors) is shown in the following table by band:

Remuneration bank (HKD)
FHER(Br)

HKD3,500,000 to HKD4,000,000
HKD5,500,000 to HKD6,000,000
HKD6,000,001 to HKD6,500,000
HKD6,500,001 to HKD7,000,000

3,500,000 7T £ 4,000,0007% 7T
5,500,000 7T £ 6,000,000 7T
6,000,001 % 7T £ 6,500,000/8 7T
6,500,001 7T £ 7,000,000 7T

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Specific enquiries have been made to all the
Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code during the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Company's employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company, have also been subject to the Model Code
for securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance of the Model
Code by the Company's employees was noted by the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures required by
the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The senior management of the Company has provided such explanation
and information to the Board as necessary to enable the Board to carry
out an informed assessment of the financial information and position of
the Company in order to put forward such information to the Board for

approval.
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The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out under the

section headed “Independent Auditor’'s Report”in this annual report.

The external auditor of the Company will be invited to attend the annual
general meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the audit,
the preparation and content of the auditor’s report and the auditor’s

independence.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the remuneration paid/
payable to the external auditor of the Company for the provision of
audit services for the year ended December 31, 2024 amounted to
RMB6.79 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the remuneration paid/
payable to the external auditor of the Company in respect of non-audit
services for the year ended December 31, 2024 amounted to RMB3.35
million. The nature of such non-audit services is to provide advisory

services.

Since the Listing of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers has been
considered and approved as the external auditor of the Company in the

annual general meetings for six consecutive years.

The Board is responsible for the establishment and maintenance of
sound and effective risk management and internal control systems
that are in line with the strategic objective of the Group. The Group
established risk management and internal control systems to protect
the interests of the Group and the Shareholders ensure the Group is in
compliance with relevant laws and regulations, effectively identify and
manage significant risks in achieving its strategic objectives, protect the
safety of the Group's assets, prevent and detect fraud, misconduct and
loss, and ensure the maintenance of proper compliance accounting

records and financial reports.
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The Board is responsible for evaluating the nature and extent of the
risks the Group is willing to take in achieving strategic objectives and
ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems as well as
overseeing management of the Group in the design, implementation

and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Board is also responsible for ensuring that the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group is reviewed
at least annually. The Board periodically receives (at least once a year)
reports from the Group's management regarding financial, operational
and compliance controls, as well as the establishment, review and
assessment of the internal control and risk management functions of
the Group. All significant risks are reported to the Board. The Board
will also evaluate the corresponding risks and the response plan. The
Group would review, among other things, adequacy of resources, staff's
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of our

accounting, internal control and financial reporting functions.

The Group's senior management and the Audit Committee is authorized
by the Board to be in charge with the organization and implementation
of the risk management and internal control of the Group and
be responsible for establishing the risk management and internal
control systems and standardizing the organization, authorization,
responsibilities, procedures and methods of the risk management and
internal control systems, and also be responsible for ongoing monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group, and
reporting to the Board regarding the status of the risk management and

internal control systems of the Group on a regular basis.

The internal audit department of the Group assists the Board and
the Audit Committee in their analysis and independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems. The annual work plan of the internal audit
department covers the major activities and processes of the Group's
operations, businesses and service units. Special reviews are also
performed at the management’s request. The internal audit department
members hold regular meetings to discuss any internal control issues
the Company is facing and the corresponding measures to resolve
such issues. The results of these audit activities are communicated to
the Audit Committee on a timely basis. The internal audit department
provides independent assurance to the Board, the Audit Committee and
the management of the Company as to whether the Group's internal

controls are adequate and effective.
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With respect to risk management, the Group has chosen and adopted
the risk management framework issued by COSO in the United States of
America ("COSO"), and established a risk management system covering
design, implementation, monitoring, assessment and continuous
improvement based on the 1SO31000: 2009 “Risk Management -
Principles and Guidelines”. The Group's management established the
overall targets and policies of the risk management system which are in
line with the strategic objectives, and identified, analyzed and assessed
the overall risk of the Company, especially the risks in making major
decisions, important events and key business processes. The Group's
management is also responsible for reviewing and approving the
response plans to major risks, as well as following up and periodically
reviewing the implementation of such response plans of risks identified,
in order to make sure that sufficient attention, monitoring and responses
will be paid to all key risks of the Company. The risk management
reports are submitted to the Board periodically. The main features of the

risk management system are as follows:

Financial Reporting Risk Management. The Company has in place a
set of accounting policies in connection with our financial reporting
risk management, such as financial report management policies,
budget management policies, financial statement preparation
policies and financial department and staff management policies.
The Company has various procedures in place to implement
such policies. Our Finance Department reviews our management

accounts based on such procedures.

Information System Risk Management. The Company implemented
various internal procedures and control measures to ensure that
user data is protected and that leakage and loss of such data is
avoided. Such procedures include (i) our user data protection
procedures, based on which we implement and review our data
center and backup systems; (ii) internal control procedures which
aim to mitigate the risks involved in the management of our
day-to-day operation data and information; and (iii) our system
development and change management policy in order to mitigate

the risks of unauthorized system changes.
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Human Resources Risk Management. The Company provides
regular and specialized training tailored to the needs of our
employees in different departments, and explains our internal rules
and guidelines regarding best commercial practices, work ethics,
antifraud mechanisms, negligence and corruption. The Company
has in place an anti-corruption policy to safeguard against any
corruption within our Group. Also, the Company makes our internal
channel available to all our staff and stakeholders who have
contacts with the Company such as customers and suppliers to
report any corruption, and they can also make anonymous reports
to our discipline inspection and supervision committee and/or ESG
Committee which mainly comprises independent non-executive
Directors. The discipline inspection and supervision committee
is responsible for investigating the reported incidents and taking
appropriate measures, and our internal audit department will assist
if necessary. In addition, the Company formulates the measures
for protecting and rewarding whistleblowers and witnesses which
sets out the reporting channels for whistleblowers (including all
employees of the Company and others who have dealings with
the Company such as customers and suppliers) to report to our
discipline inspection and supervision committee and/or ESG
Committee which mainly comprises independent non-executive
Directors with respect to any possible improprieties in any matter

concerning the Company.

Investment Risk Management. The Company formulates an annual
investment plan according to our business strategies and input
from various business departments. Our strategic investment
department is responsible for investment project sourcing,

screening, execution and post-investment risk management.

Information Risk Management. The Company has established robust
internal information control measures so as to mitigate the risk
of false, inaccurate and incomplete information provided by the
TSP to us. At the same time, our internal team targets to ensure
that our users benefit from authentic and meaningful information,
including (i) screening accommodation related information from
accommodation suppliers; (ii) following user feedback closely and
removing false or misleading reviews; and (iii) removing misleading

and overly exaggerated descriptions of accommodation.
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Inventory Risk Management. There is a comprehensive set of
inventory risk management rules and policies so as to mitigate the
inventory risk arising from non-refundable pre-purchased room
nights to the accommodation suppliers. The Company regularly
runs tests and analyses on whether specific sales targets of various
sales agreements have been fulfilled, and the underlying causes
of unfulfilled sales targets. Corresponding tailored solutions are
implemented, such as adjusting the sales price and increasing our
sales and marketing efforts, and we closely assess the effectiveness

of such measures.

With respect to internal control, the Group has chosen and adopted
the internal control framework issued by COSO, established an
internal control system and mechanism over financial, operational and
compliance controls and conducted continuing review and evaluation
of the internal control system of the Group to ensure the timeliness,
accuracy and completeness of all information reported. Our internal
audit team works closely with our business units to (i) perform risk
assessments and advise on risk management strategies; and (ii) improve
business efficiency and monitor internal control effectiveness. The main

features of the internal control systems are as follows:

The Group has established a mechanism for remediating internal
control deficiency under which the person in charge of each unit
is assigned clear responsibilities relating to remediating internal

control deficiency of the unit.

The Group has placed strong emphasis on handling inside
information with the information disclosure management
mechanism in place regulating both the management and

disclosure of the Company'’s inside information.

The Group established an open channel to handle and discuss
internal and external whistle-blowing regarding financial, internal
control and fraud, to ensure that every accusation receives sufficient
attention. Significant internal control deficiencies or accusations will

be reported directly to the Audit Committee.
Our in-house legal department implements various internal

procedures so as to ensure that our business operations comply

with relevant laws and regulations.
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The management has evaluated the design and operating effectiveness
of its internal control regarding the financial report as of December 31,
2024, did not identify any material weakness as a result of the evaluation,
was not aware of any areas of concern that would have a material
impact on the Company'’s financial position or results of operations, and
considered the risk management and internal control systems to be
generally adequate and effective, including the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions. On the basis
of such evaluation, the Board considers that as of December 31, 2024,
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group were

effective and adequate.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group are
designed to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not absolute,

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

For details of the nature and extent of the principal risks faced by
the Group, please refer to the section headed ‘e. Principal Risk and

Uncertainties” in the Directors’ Report of this annual report.

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group's business performance and strategies. The
Company also recognizes the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which will enable the Shareholders

and investors to make the best investment decisions.
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The Company adopts the Shareholders’ communication policy
which sets out the principles of the Company in relation to the
Shareholders’” communication with the objective of ensuring equal,
timely, effective, transparent, accurate and open communication
between the Company and its Shareholders. The Shareholders can
make queries and communication with the Company based on the
contact details of the Company set out in the website, and direct their
enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company’'s Hong Kong
share registrar in accordance with the policy. As such, the Company
can solicit and understand the views of the Shareholders via the
aforementioned communication channels. In the meantime, pursuant
to the Shareholders’ communication policy, the Company makes the
corporate communication available on its website in a timely manner
either in printed form or electronic means in the language selected, and
provides the Shareholders with the corporation information, information
on corporate governance, composition and functions of the Board and

information published on the website of the Stock Exchange.

After review of the Shareholders’ communication policy which sets out
the various communication channels available to the Shareholders to
communicate their views on the matters affecting the Company and
direct their views to the Company, and the corporate communication
made available by the Company to the Shareholders by different
means, the Board believes that the policy facilitates timely and effective
communication of the Company with its Shareholders during the year
ended December 31, 2024.
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The general meetings of the Company are expected to provide a forum
for communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The
chairmen of the Board as well as chairman of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, and the Nomination Committee and
the ESG Committee, in their absence, other members of the respective
committees or their duly appointed delegate will be available to answer
questions at the general meetings. The chairman of a meeting will
provide the detailed procedures for conducting a poll and answer any
questions from the Shareholders on voting by poll. During the year
ended December 31, 2024, the Company has held (i) an annual general
meeting on June 26, 2024 for approving the 2023 annual report, re-
election of Directors, re-appointment of auditor, declaration of final
dividend, general mandates to issue and repurchase shares, 2024
Share Scheme and amendments to Articles of Associations and (ii) an
extraordinary general meeting on September 30, 2024 for approving the
renewal of continuing connected transactions with Tencent Group. The
Directors attended the general meetings and were available to answer
any questions raised by the Shareholders. A representative of the auditor
also attended the annual general meeting to answer any questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the

auditors’ report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends
and aims to maintain a balance between reasonable returns to the
Shareholders and sustainable capital management of the Group. The
Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the conditions
and factors as set out in the Dividend Policy (including but not limited
to the Group's financial results, cash flow situation, business conditions
and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital requirements and
expenditure plans), dividends may be proposed and/or declared at the
discretion of the Board subject to compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, including but not limited to Shareholder’s approval. The
Board has confirmed that all decisions in relation to the declaration of

dividend were made in accordance with the Dividend Policy.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.tongchengir.com, where information and updates on the
Company's business developments and operations, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for

public access.
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On June 26, 2024, the Shareholders approved to (i) make certain
amendments (the “Proposed Amendments”) to the fourth amended
and restated articles of association of the Company currently in force
and (ii) adopt the fifth amended and restated articles of association
of the Company incorporating and consolidating all the Proposed
Amendments in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the fourth
amended and restated articles of association of the Company, for the
purpose of, inter alia, (a) bringing the articles of association of the
Company in line with the Listing Rules which mandate the electronic
dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers to their
securities holders from December 31, 2023 onwards; and (b) make other
house-keeping amendments to clarify, update and/or modify certain
provisions of the fourth amended and restated articles of association of
the Company in accordance with, or to better align with the applicable
laws. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated March 19, 2024 and the circular of the Company dated June 3,
2024.

The Company has adopted the fifth amended and restated articles of

association of the Company effective since June 26, 2024.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no change has been made to the

Articles of Association for the year ended December 31, 2024.

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at general meetings on each substantial issue, including
the re-election of individual Directors. Meanwhile, the procedures for the
Shareholders to (i) convene an extraordinary general meeting; (ii) direct
their enquiries to the Board; and (iii) put forward proposals at general

meetings are available.

In accordance with Article 66(1) of the Articles of Association, all
resolutions put forward at a general meeting will be taken by poll save
that the chairman may, in good faith, allow a resolution which relates
purely to a procedural or administrative matter as prescribed under the

Listing Rules to be voted on by a show of hands.

In addition, the poll results will be posted on the websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange after the relevant general meeting.
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Convening an extraordinary general meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company, on a one vote per
share basis, shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such a meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the

Company.

According to Article 59 of the Articles of Association, unless otherwise
permitted by the Listing Rules and the applicable laws, any extraordinary
general meeting shall be called by not less than 14 clear days’ notice
in writing. Subject to the requirement under the Listing Rules, the
notice shall specify (a) the time and date of the meeting, (b) save for
an electronic meeting, the place of the meeting and if there is more
than one meeting location as determined by the Board pursuant to
the Articles of Association, the principal place of the meeting, (c) if the
general meeting is to be a hybrid meeting or an electronic meeting,
the notice of such general meeting shall include a statement to that
effect and with details of the electronic facilities for attendance and
participation by electronic means at the meeting or where such details
will be made available by the Company prior to the meeting, and (d)
particulars of resolutions to be considered at the meeting. Notice of
every general meeting shall be given to all Shareholders other than to
such Shareholders as, under the provisions of these Articles or the terms
of issue of the shares they hold, are not entitled to receive such notices
from the Company, to all persons entitled to a share in consequence of
the death or bankruptcy or winding-up of a Shareholder and to each of

the Directors and the Auditors.
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Putting forward Proposals at general meetings

There is no single provision in the Articles of Association or the Cayman
Islands Companies Law for the Shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meetings. The Shareholders who wish to propose a resolution
may request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance

with the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting forward enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, the
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company

will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries, concerns or requests to the
Company at 31/F., Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. The

information of the Shareholders may be disclosed as required by law.
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Ms. Ma Li has been serving as the sole company secretary and the
authorised representative in accordance with the requirements in Rule
3.05 of the Listing Rules of the Company since July 30, 2021. Ms. Yu
Wing Sze has been engaged as the agent for the acceptance of service
of process and notices on behalf of the Company in Hong Kong under

Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance since July 30, 2021.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, Ms. Ma has undertaken over 15

hours of professional training to update her skills and knowledge.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximizing the return
to the Shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity

balance.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
cast significant doubt upon the Company'’s liability to continue as a

going concern.
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To the Shareholders of Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

The consolidated financial statements of Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on

pages 184 to 348, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31,
2024;

the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material

accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
(the "IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue recognition.
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Key Audit Matter
HEBFAER

Revenue recognition

WA TR

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
H2 RS VR RRMI S

The Group's revenue is primarily derived from the provision of
accommodation reservation services and transportation ticketing
services, which amounted to approximately RMB4,668 million
and RMB7,229 million, respectively, for the year ended December
31, 2024. Revenue from accommodation reservation services are
recognized at a point in time when the reservations placed by
users through the Group become non-cancellable. Revenue from
transportation ticketing services are recognized at a point in time
upon the issuance of tickets or travel insurance, net of estimated
cancellations.

EEREHE T _MNF+ A=+ BLEFENRATERE
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The huge volume of transactions and operational data involved in
the Group's provision of accommodation reservation services and
transportation ticketing services are processed by the Group's
self-developed complex information technology (“IT") systems
which interfaced with the Group's accounting system in certain
extent and they are used to generate information or reports for
the purpose of revenue recognition.
ERERMEBRERBINGEZEBREMS RN AKERZXHM
BEEE 9l BEEEATIMBNERESEM(IT]) &5
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BAE BRI E AR -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RO BT NAREEERBTEE

We performed the following procedures to address the key audit

matter:

Y REFR - RAOMTTATER

Understood and evaluated management’s key judgement
and estimates in determining the method and timing of
revenue recognition of major revenue streams;
TEREHEERBERT T ERABRNBAERS T
VA N PRy 3 7 T P A 3 22 U R AT

Understood, evaluated and tested key management’s

controls over revenue recognition of major revenue

streams;
TR SHERARETERE Y EZERAEL AR ATERE
RAsER Gl

Understood, evaluated and tested the key IT general and
automated controls of the relevant in-scope IT systems
related to major revenue streams;

TE - AHERARE T ZERAERFENAFHSEE R
TREAZH AT AR MR a8

Tested on sampling basis the sales transactions by
examining relevant supporting documents, including
service contracts, sales orders, commission statements
from customers and bank-in slips for cash settlement.
BARESHBAFEXT (BERBEL - HETE -
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Key Audit Matter
HEBFAER

We focused on this area because we spent significant audit
efforts in this area due to the huge volume of transactions and
operational data involved in the Group’s daily operations, the
complexity of the Group's self-developed systems for processing
these transactions and operational data which have interfaced
with the Group's accounting system and the use of system
generated reports for the purpose of revenue recognition.
HMEREIE—EE  EAR BESEATEZPIIKRE
REMELEE X BEEEREELEIFINELHEENEEH
BRGHEME - BHE SEENSTRRNEEARER
REERHMEREREA - BMELEIRTREERTT
1 °

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RO BT NAREEERBTEE

Based on the above, we found that the Group's revenue
recognition was supportable by the evidence obtained and the
procedures performed.
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but

to do so.

The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for overseeing the

Group's financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee of the Company regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee of the Company with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee of the Company,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Wong Cheuk Kay.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, March 20, 2025
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZEZZEZMF+=ZA=+—HIEFE

Year ended December 31,

BEt-AZ=+—-HLEE

2024 2023
e 11 S ZT=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
P RE AR¥T T AR®ETT
Revenue WA 5 17,340,686 11,896,244
Cost of revenue SHERA 6 (6,227,199) (3,158,033)
Gross profit EF 11,113,487 8,738,211
Service development expenses AR7G R 6 (2,000,894) (1,820,569)
Selling and marketing expenses THE M2 iR 6 (5,620,710) (4,472,815)
Administrative expenses 1T X 6 (1,206,179) (711,194)
Net reversal of/(provision for) SREERERERE (BE)
impairment loss on financial assets FEE 17,791 (17,482)
Fair value changes on investments BARBEFEAHEZHTA
measured at fair value through BamREAAEEE
profit or loss 18(9) 27,001 (32,493)
Other income HAb YA 9 104,257 122,783
Other (losses)/gains — net Hib (B18), Wk — 558 10 (11,255) 62,924
Operating profit R T 2,423,498 1,869,365
Finance income BUA 11 194,624 174,776
Finance costs HMsER 11 (230,895) (157,050)
Share of results of associates i) NI E S 16 10,599 (33,402)
Profit before income tax MRAT BB AR R 2,397,826 1,853,689
Income tax expense FriS i > 12 (409,560) (288,126)
Profit for the year FREA 1,988,266 1,565,563
Profit attributable to: T & EEERT
- Equity holders of the Company — ARNFERFEA 1,974,356 1,554,131
- Non-controlling interests — JEIER R 13,910 11,432
1,988,266 1,565,563
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Earnings per share
(expressed in RMB per share):

- Basic

- Diluted

For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

BREF
(ERARBIIR)
— &R

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction

with the accompanying notes.

Note

F =

Year ended December 31,

BEt-AZ=+—-HLEE

2024 2023

—EolEF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AR®ETT

0.87 0.69

0.86 0.68

70 7% FE R R A0 B s — 01 BOAE o
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZEZZEZMF+=ZA=+—HIEFE

Year ended December 31,

BEt-AZ=+—-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-IEF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBTT
Profit for the year FREF 1,988,266 1,565,563
Other comprehensive income Hib 2 H W&
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: BT EEF S EZEmHIER
— Currency translation differences - EnE s 13,698 18,658
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to HEAJ X B S By
profit or loss: EH
— Currency translation differences —BE¥nEER 3,061 =
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax FREMEEWES » HRHE 16,759 18,658
Total comprehensive income for the year FAZEKREERE 2,005,025 1,584,221
Total comprehensive income attributable to: DT EEELZENEAEE :
— Equity holders of the Company — RARE=FEA 1,991,115 1,572,789
- Non-controlling interests — FEERR R 13,910 11,432
2,005,025 1,584,221
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read bitsr A2 mk T E RN A — R E -

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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As at December 31,2024 R—E-ME+=-HA=+—8

As at December 31,

R+=BA=+-—H
2024 2023
—EIEF —E-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BaE AR¥T ARBTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BB REE 14 3,146,926 2,495,259
Right-of-use assets REEE 15 909,400 589,251
Investments accounted for using HAEREARS
the equity method ®E 16 1,682,145 1,429,800
Investments measured at fair value BAREETERHEES
through profit or loss FFABEMIEE 18 957,238 1,039,294
Investments measured at amortized cost  IZEESHAK AT E AR E 18 1,329,289 683,879
Intangible assets mEEAE 20 10,814,078 9,580,301
Deferred income tax assets EESHERE 21 213,444 206,209
Prepayment and other receivables TE AT FRIE K H A FE UL FRIR 22 475,761 792,970
Other non-current assets EMIERBEE 8,354 -
19,536,635 16,816,963
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables 2 5 IR 23 1,727,587 1,218,288
Prepayment and other receivables TE AT FRIE K H A FE YRR 22 5,450,137 4,369,903
Inventories F& 6,647 997
Derivative financial instruments PTEemITAE 19 6,194 24,699
Short-term investments measured at BB EKARTERN
amortized cost REERRE 18 160,639 2,316,753
Short-term investments measured at fair ~ E AR EBETEBHEH)
value through profit or loss FABRMEARE 18 2,733,033 1,631,715
Restricted cash 2R HIR e 24 136,361 144,893
Cash and cash equivalents B MREEED 24 8,019,963 5,192,398
18,240,561 14,899,646
Total assets EEH#E 37,777,196 31,716,609
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves attributable to AATEERTEAEMN
equity holders of the Company BEXRREE
Share capital A& 29 8,022 7,765
Share premium BADm (& 29 20,761,663 20,115,692
Treasury shares EFRG 29 (123) =
Other reserves HAib 30 (2,519,667) (2,507,888)
Retained earnings REBEF 1,751,576 87,142
20,001,471 17,702,711
Non-controlling interests FEERER 960,836 843,578
Total equity A 20,962,307 18,546,289
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As at December 31,2024 R—ZE-—FE+_-_A=+—8H

As at December 31,

R+=BA=+-—H
2024 2023
—E-E —T-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BaE ARET T ARBFT
LIABILITIES =P
Non-current liabilities FkREBEE
Borrowings &k 25 2,794,457 10,942
Other payables H b e 3R E 27 948,433 74,636
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 680,485 420,464
Contract liabilities aHAaE 28 27,766 32,324
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTERHAG 21 766,613 744,860
5,217,754 1,283,226
Current liabilities REBEE
Borrowings EEN 25 1,359,289 2,540,095
Trade payables & S ENRIE 26 4,467,130 4,130,982
Other payables and accruals Hib I FIEREER 27 5,154,002 4,939,325
Lease liabilities HEEE 15 174,191 40,736
Contract liabilities aHAaE 28 274,307 111,184
Current income tax liabilities BNERFTE T B E 168,216 124,772
11,597,135 11,887,094
Total liabilities EEAE 16,814,889 13,170,320
Total equity and liabilities EERBEAE 37,777,196 31,716,609
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in iR & B A A A 3% FE ER B BT A0 BT 5 — B GE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FI84 R348 EMNGEVMBEHRREN T _AF
ZAZTHBEARBEESHETHATAL

The consolidated financial statements on pages 184 to 348 were approved by

the Board of Directors of the Company on March 20, 2025 and were signed

on its behalf by: RR%EE -
Wu Zhixiang Ma Heping
Director Director
EE -
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For the year ended December 31,2024 B Z =T ZMF+ - A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KARRERE AL
Non-
Share Share  Treasury Other  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium shares  reserves  earnings  Sub-total interests equity
Ba  RGEE EERG EtRHE  REEA Mt FERER REAE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETTE ARBTRT ARMTR ARBTRT ARETR AR¥TR ARBTRT ARETR
As at January 1, 2024 R-Z-m%-A-A 7,765 20,115,692 - (2,507,888) 87,142 17,702,711 843,578 18,546,289
Comprehensive income 2EKE
Profit for the year ERET - - - - 197435 1,974,356 13910 1,988,266
Other comprehensive income b2 EHE
Currency translation differences EBREES - - = 16,759 = 16,759 - 16,759
Total comprehensive income 2ENGEE - - - 16759 1,974,356 1,991,115 13,910 2,005,025
Transactions with owners BERANRS
Share-based compensations MR G AERNHS = - - 408,552 - 408552 101 408,653
Exercise of share options TibR R 84 450,405 - (165432) - 285,057 - 285057
Restricted shares units vested and BEBROAEN
settled RBRARADEL 25 195566 25 (195,566) - 50 - 50
Issuance of shares RiA &7 148 - - - - 148 - 148
Recognition of treasury shares BREERH - - (148) - - (148) - (148)
Transaction with non-controlling EEARERNRS
interests - - - (84,186) - (84,186) 59,838 (24,348)
Contributions from minority SRR TE
shareholders - - - - - - 8,916 8,916
Non-controlling interests on WEEMB AR MR ER
acquisitions of subsidiaries - - - - - - 40,249 40,249
Tax benefit from share-based RAZANHBES
payments - - - 12,092 - 12,092 - 12,092
Dividends provided for or paid BRABEIZ A BRE - - - - (309922)  (309,922) (4,856)  (314,778)
Others Eft = = = (3.998) - (3.998) (900)  (4,898)
Total transactions with owners EERERBIN
recognized directly in equity BREARTHRZAH 257 645,971 (123)  (28,538)  (309,922) 307,645 103,348 410,993
As at December 31, 2024 R-B-mE+-A=+-H 8,022 20,761,663 (123) (2,519,667) 1,751,576 20,001,471 960,836 20,962,307
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARRERREAEE

(Accumulated
losses)/ Non-
Share Share Other retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserves eamnings  Sub-total interests equity
(2&tER)/

Bx BRiEE  EtREE REEN et OERES  ERAR
RMBOOO  RMBO0O  RMB0OO  RMBOOO  RMBO0OO  AMBOOO  RMB000

ARETL ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARRTT ARMTT ARETR

o

As at January 1, 2023 R-E-=f(-8-H 7710 19877004  (2,685813)  (1,466,989) 15731912 258,344 15,990,256
Comprehensive income 2ENE
Profit for the year FRaF - - - 1554131 1554131 11432 1565563
Other comprehensive income Hiv2 AR
Currency translation differences EHpEER - - 18,658 - 18,658 - 18,658
Total comprehensive income PENEEER - - 18658 1554131 1572789 11432 1584221
Transactions with owners BRBANR S
Share-based compensations i BERNEE - - 355508 - 355508 BT 355745
Exercise of share options b RERE 21 92,173 (40930) = 51,64 = 51,264
Restricted shares units vested and settled BERBRELER
RB IR Ef M 46515 (146515) - 34 - 34

Transaction with non-controlling interests BIARERNR - - (44,230) = (44,230) 44,230 5
Contributions from minority shareholders DERRTE = = = = = 22476 22476
Non-controlling interests on acquisitions of W B D AlmF R ER

subsidiaries - - - - - 508,898 508,898
Tax benefit from share-based payments of MBLARD I AMHHES

subsidiaries - - (3854) - (3854) - (3854)
Others £t - - 39,288 - 39,288 (2,039) 37,49
Total transactions with owners recognized HERERRER

directly in equity HRBANRSAE 55 238,688 159,267 - 398010 573802 971812
As at December 31, 2023 R-ZE-=%+-A=1-H 7765 20115692 (2,507,888) 87,142 17,702,711 843578 18,546,289

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in iR A RS EN K FE BRRE M B BT — R EE o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZZZTZMF+=A=+—HIEFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=t—-HLEE

2024 2023
—BomE  —T-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

iz AR®TRT AR®TR

Cash flows from operating activities RETHFERESRE
Cash generated from operations KEABIRE 33 3,224,165 4,022,873
Interest received BIHE 180,758 173,038
Income tax paid EATFTSHE (435,048) (192,469)
Net cash inflow from operating activities KETHRESRNFE 2,969,875 4,003,442
Cash flows from investing activities RETHABRERE
Payments for investments accounted for using the RAEDZEARNRENNTR

equity method (176,482) (49,013)
Proceeds from disposal of investments accounted for HERAEREARNRER

using the equity method FR1S 3R 2,985 1,930
Prepayment for equity investment =R ETENRIA (971) (40,000)
Payments for purchases of short-term investments BERAABENEEEZHFIA

measured at fair value through profit or loss BEAEBRRENNR (6,504,505) (1,461,247)
Payments for purchase of long-term investments BERANBETELSHEZHHA

measured at fair value through profit or loss BN RBARENNZR (253,972) (536,794)
Payments for purchases of short-term investments BEREHEK A EW

measured at amortized cost REIR B AR (170,376) (946,249)
Payments for purchases of long-term investments BEREHEN A ER

measured at amortized cost REREORR (615,094) (670,000)
Proceeds from redemption of investments HBE1% & RS EUE 7,929,270 4,216,781
Purchases and prepayment of property, plant and BERENYE  BEREFETE

equipment (403,157) (771,682)
Prepayment for right-of-use assets T e R E E IR - (180,440)
Purchases of intangible assets BEEVEE (12,174) (22,050)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE - BE R RERNFIERIEA 18,469 3,840
Dividend received EUERRLE, 53,807 15,672
Net cash settlement for derivative financial instruments  $T4 &R T AHIR & &8 FHE 30,920 2,168
Advance of loans to related parties ) A B 7 B E R 37(e) (89,458) (15,000)
Repayments of loans from related parties Bl EEER 37(e) 35,408 6,737
Interest received from related parties B Uk BRI B 37(e) = 1,000
Advance of loan to a third party ME=ZHFERER (20,450) (72,000)
Repayments of loans from a third party EZHEBER 914 =
Payments for business combinations, net of cash acquired ¥EM5& R R - B EKERS (647,198) (1,245,870)
Disposal of a subsidiary, net of cash received HEWBRAR - kKRS (12,192) =
Net cash outflow from investing activities RETHRESRLFE (834,256) (1,762,217)
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+t—-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BiEE ARBTF T ARETT

Cash flows from financing activities MEIBAEEERE
Proceeds received from exercise of share options TR IS Wkl 285,233 56,719
Proceeds from borrowings ERFTE A 33(a) 2,500,171 720,000
Repayments of bank borrowings and interests BEBITERRFE 33(a) (1,084,916) (772,215)
Payment on lease liabilities HEABNR 33(a) (120,995) (62,349)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash ZREFERAD (8 ) 3,322 (5462)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company MARRHEE A NOHRE (311,660) =
Dividends paid to minority shareholders EEE G E SN e (4,856) (2,039)
Capital contribution from minority shareholders LEHRETE 11,716 22,476
Acquisition from minority shareholders Ut B D BIRR R R 2 (20,312) =
Repayment of loans to related parties EEBENHER = (20,436)
Partial settlement of long-term payables REENRIBOBSEE 33(a) (578,908) (528,921)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities BEFBHREFA,ORL) FE 678,795 (592,227)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ReRBSEEYEMTE 2,814,414 1,648,998
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FURERBEEEY 24 5,192,398 3,546,988
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash ExgEEHEe R

equivalents ReZEBYNTE 13,151 (3,588)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRESRESEEY 24 8,019,963 5,192,398
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in BERE R ERBEN AN T —H6IE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 B Z =T ZMF+ - A=+—HIEFE

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited (the “Company’) is an exempted
company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of the
Cayman Islands on January 14, 2016. The registered office of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company'’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since November 26, 2018 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
provision of travel related services, including accommodation reservation
services, transportation ticketing services, online advertising services,
hotel management services (collectively the “core online travel agency
and related businesses”), and tourism related services, mainly comprising
offline travel agency related services and the operations of tourist and
scenic spot areas (collectively the “offline travel agency and tourism
related businesses”) in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap. 622.

IFRS Accounting Standards comprise the following authoritative
literature:

IFRS Accounting Standards (“IFRS")

IAS Standards (“IAS")

Interpretations developed by the IFRS Interpretations
Committee (“IFRIC Interpretations”) or its predecessor body, the
Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC Interpretations”).

RRKITIERER AR (AT ) &M
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments)

which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed

in Note 4 below.

(@) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments to
accounting standards for the first time for the Group's financial

year beginning on January 1, 2024:

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
Non-current liabilities with Covenants — Amendments to
IAS 1;

Lease Liability in Sale and Leaseback — Amendments to
IFRS 16; and

Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7.

The amendments listed above did not have any material
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not

expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(b) New and amended standards not yet early adopted

Certain new accounting standards and amendments to
accounting standards have been published that are not
mandatory for December 31, 2024 reporting periods and have
not been early adopted by the Group. The Group's assessment

of the key impact of these new standards and amendments is

set out below.

(i)

(i)

Lack of Exchangeability — Amendments to IAS 21
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025)

The IASB amended IAS 21 to help entities to determine
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency,
and which spot exchange rate to use when it is not. The
Group does not expect these amendments to have a
material impact on its operations or financial statements.

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement
of Financial Instruments — Amendments to IFRS 9 and
IFRS 7 (effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2026)

The IASB issued targeted amendments to IFRS 9 and
IFRS 7 to respond to recent questions arising in practice,
and to include new requirements not only for financial
institutions but also for corporate entities. These
amendments:

clarify the date of recognition and derecognition
of some financial assets and liabilities, with a new
exception for some financial liabilities settled through
an electronic cash transfer system;

clarify and add further guidance for assessing
whether a financial asset meets the solely payments
of principal and interest (SPPI) criterion;
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

(b) New and amended standards not yet early adopted
(Continued)

(i)

(iif)

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement
of Financial Instruments — Amendments to IFRS 9 and
IFRS 7 (effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2026) (Continued)

add new disclosures for certain instruments with
contractual terms that can change cash flows (such as
some financial instruments with features linked to the
achievement of environment, social and governance

targets); and

update the disclosures for equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI).

The Group does not expect these amendments to have a

material impact on its operations or financial statements.

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements —
IFRS 18 (effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2027)

IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements, introducing new requirements that will help
to achieve comparability of the financial performance of
similar entities and provide more relevant information and
transparency to users. Even though IFRS 18 will not impact
the recognition or measurement of items in the financial
statements, its impacts on presentation and disclosure
are expected to be pervasive, in particular those related
to the statement of financial performance and providing
management-defined performance measures within the

financial statements.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(b) New and amended standards not yet early adopted
(Continued)

(iii) Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements —
IFRS 18 (effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2027) (Continued)

Management is currently assessing the detailed
implications of applying the new standard on the Group's
consolidated financial statements. From the high-level
preliminary assessment performed, the following potential
impacts have been identified:

Although the adoption of IFRS 18 will have no
impact on the Group's net profit, the Group expects
that grouping items of income and expenses in the
income statement into the new categories will impact
how operating profit is calculated and reported. From
the high-level impact assessment that the Group has
performed, the following items might potentially
impact operating profit: Foreign exchange differences
currently aggregated in the line item “other gains/
(losses) — net” in operating profit might need to be
disaggregated, with some foreign exchange gains or
losses presented below operating profit. The gain or
loss of investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss is presented below operating profit.

The line items presented on the primary financial
statements might change as a result of the
application of the concept of ‘useful structured
summary’ and the enhanced principles on
aggregation and disaggregation. In addition, since
goodwill will be required to be separately presented
in the statement of financial position, the Group will
disaggregate goodwill and other intangible assets
and present them separately in the statement of
financial position.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

(b) New and amended standards not yet early adopted (b) WHREBPIRMOEFTREEETE

(Continued) Al (&)

(iii) Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements — (i) B IRFZ R EI 22 e o E —
IFRS 18 (effective for annual periods beginning on or B BX B 75 37 4= RI| 818 5
after 1 January 2027) (Continued) (R—ZFE-—+F—H—H5

2 1& [ 1 19 F 2 B R A L)
(%)

The Group does not expect there to be a significant
change in the information that is currently disclosed
in the notes because the requirement to disclose
material information remains unchanged; however,
the way in which the information is grouped might
change as a result of the aggregation/disaggregation
principles. In addition, there will be significant new
disclosures required for:

- management-defined performance measures;

- a break-down of the nature of expenses for line
items presented by function in the operating
category of the income statement - this

7S BT B A
HEMANETELRE
AEH  RASHBEA
BHNBERETE A
- BABEHN TN
I 48 52 4 FE 42 R B
A FE® - 1o - T
EEREEFILEATH

= -

- EEERENEME

=

- WERARERR
BEeBIn 2512 R
WX MERA -

break-down is only required for certain nature ULRRAER E TIHE
expenses; and HYAHE

- for the first annual period of application of
IFRS 18, a reconciliation for each line item in
the income statement between the restated
amounts presented by applying IFRS 18 and the
amounts previously presented applying IAS 1.

From a cash flow statement perspective, there will
be changes to how interest received and interest
paid are presented. Interest paid will be presented
as financing cash flows and interest received as
investing cash flows, and hence there may be certain
change from the current presentation as part of
operating cash flows.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(b) New and amended standards not yet early adopted
(Continued)

(i) Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements —
IFRS 18 (effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2027) (Continued)

The Group will apply the new standard from its mandatory
effective date of 1 January 2027. Retrospective application
is required, and so the comparative information for the
financial year ending 31 December 2026 will be restated

in accordance with IFRS 18.

As a result of the adoption of the amendments to IAS 1, the Group

changed its accounting policy for the classification of borrowings:

“Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the end of
the reporting period, the Group has a right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on or before
the end of the reporting period, are considered in classifying loan
arrangements with covenants as current or non-current. Covenants
that the Group is required to comply with after the reporting period

do not affect the classification.”

This new policy did not result in a change in the classification of
the Group's borrowings. The Group did not make retrospective

adjustments as a result of adopting the amendments to IAS 1.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on
the Group's financial performance. Risk management is carried out

by the senior management of the Group.

(a) Marketrisk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognized assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the group entities’
functional currency. The Group manages its foreign
exchange risk by performing regular reviews of the
Group’s net foreign exchange exposures. The Group
is exposed to foreign exchange risk, primarily arose
from its USD denominated investments, cash and bank
balances, bank borrowings and payable balances. The risk
is measured through a forecast of highly probable USD
expenditures or payments. The risk is hedged with the
objective of minimising the volatility of the returns from
its investments and also the RMB cost of highly probable
forecast repayment/settlement of bank borrowings and
other payables. The Group has used foreign currency
forwards to hedge part of its exposure to foreign currency
risk. The Group does not meet the conditions of hedge
accounting and does not perform accounting treatment
according to hedge accounting. For details, please refer to
Note 19.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(1)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk at the end

of the reporting period, expressed in RMB, was as follows:

N
T

i

Monetary assets

!

® R
T

5
A

Monetary liabilities

\
L
\
A

The aggregate net foreign exchange losses recognized in

profit or loss have been disclosed in Note 10.

With net monetary liabilities denominated in USD of
approximately RMB2,617 million as at December 31, 2024
(2023: RMB1,802 million), if the USD/RMB exchange rate
had been 5 percent higher/lower, the profit before income
tax for the year ended December 31, 2024 would have
been approximately RMB130,862,000 lower/higher (2023:
profit before income tax would have been approximately
RMB92,439,000 lower/higher).

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk primarily arose from time
deposits, cash and cash equivalents and borrowings.
Those carried at floating rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk whereas those carried at fixed rates

expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

(a) WiHEKE(H)

(i)

(i)
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R+=—A=+—8
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) THHE (&)
(i) Interest rate risk (Continued) (i) FIEEE (&)

If the interest rate of time deposits had been 10
percent higher/lower, the profit before income tax for
the year ended December 31, 2024 would have been
approximately RMB5,516,000 higher/lower (2023: profit
before income tax would have been approximately
RMB10,152,000 higher/lower).

If the interest rate of cash and cash equivalents had been
10 percent higher/lower, the profit before income tax
the year ended December 31, 2024 would have been
approximately RMB18,705,000 higher/lower (2023: profit
before income tax would have been approximately
RMB17,259,000 higher/lower).

If the interest rate of borrowings with floating rates had
been 10 percent higher/lower, the profit before income
tax for the year ended December 31, 2024 would have
been approximately RMB13,309,000 lower/higher (2023:
profit before income tax would have been approximately
RMB12,742,000 lower/higher).
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(b) Credit risk (b) EERK
(i) Risk management () EEREE

Credit risk is managed on a group basis

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade receivables,
other receivables, investments measured at amortized cost
and investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss. The carrying amount of each class of the aforesaid
financial assets represents the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to the corresponding class of

financial assets.

To manage credit risk, cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, investments measured at amortized cost
are mainly placed with or transacted with state-owned
or reputable banks or financial institutions in the PRC
or reputable international banks or financial institutions
outside the PRC. There has been no recent history of
default in relation to these banks or financial institutions.

To manage the risk arising from trade receivables, the
Group has policies in place to ensure that credit terms are
made to counterparties with an appropriate credit history
and management performs ongoing credit evaluations of

these counterparties.

Trade receivables are mainly due from the third-party
customers including hotels, insurance companies, tour
group customers or related agents, etc. in cooperation
with the Group and also related party customers which
are mainly online or offline travel agency companies.
The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer. The
Group performed credit evaluation which focus on the
customer’s history of making payments and current ability
to pay. The Group does not obtain collateral from its
customers.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) FERMK (&)
(i) Impairment of financial asset (i) EHEERE

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the aging of receivables. The expected
loss rates are based on the payment profiles and the
corresponding historical credit losses. The historical loss
rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the

ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

The recognition and measurement method of loss
allowance for each category is measured separately as
described below:

- For trade receivables due from customers grouped
based on the industries which the customers
engaged in and with similar credit risk characteristics,
the Group calculates the expected credit loss by
referring to the historical credit loss experience,
combining with the current situation and the forecast
of future economic conditions, certain industry data
and considering the trade receivables aging and

expected credit loss rate during the lifetime.

- For trade receivables due from customers with
different credit risks, such as those customers
with external credit ratings available and the
customers that the Group has identified with
financial difficulties, the Group applies the individual
identification method based on the characteristics of
credit risk of each individual balance.
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(b) Credit risk (Continued)

For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(b) FERKE (&)

(i) Impairment of financial asset (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The balance of each category of trade receivables as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

(i) EMEEHE (&)

B SN R (&)

KRB -_NER-_F-_=F+
—AZ+—B8ENESHEK

HIEHBHIT ¢
Trade Loss  Net carrying
receivables allowance amount
B 2 ERIE EERE BREFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T T ARBT
December 31, 2024 —E-NFE+=ZA=+—H
Customers grouped based RELUEERBRS D B8
on similar credit risk ®pE
characteristics 1,092,848 (51,878) 1,040,970
Customers with specific BEERNTEERRK
credit risks or credit ratings EEIRMER 727,322 (40,705) 686,617
1,820,170 (92,583) 1,727,587
Trade Loss Net carrying
receivables allowance amount
2 ZEWRIE EEEE FREDFE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBET T AREET T AREET T
December 31, 2023 —E-_=%+=H=+—8
Customers grouped based RELUEERRS D B8
on similar credit risk ®FE
characteristics 875,994 (57,873) 818,121
Customers with specific BEREFEERB
credit risks or credit ratings EEHMER 465,725 (65,558) 400,167
1,341,719 (123,431) 1,218,288
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREK (&)
(i) Impairment of financial asset (Continued) (i) 2REERE ()
Trade receivables (Continued) B ZEWNE (E)
The loss allowance as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 KRB NER T =&+
was determined as follows for trade receivables from —A=+—H8 p¥EzFEHE
customers which have been grouped based on similar S REWEIEE TR EBBEIR
credit risk characteristics: BUEERBFEDENT
Upto3 3to6 Over 6
months months months
Current past due past due past due Total
ol aME  AmEBR
Ik 3f8A 6187 687 st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARET:R

December 31,2024 “E-ME+=A=t-H
Trade receivables gross carrying B SEKFIRRABE
amount 843,030 132,768 58,867 58,183 1,092,848
Less: loss allowance c BEERE (12,491) (2,017) (8,601) (28,769) (51,878)
830,539 130,751 50,266 29,414 1,040,970
Expected loss rate (%) EHEEFE %) 1.48% 1.52% 14.61% 49.45% 4.75%
Upto3 3106 Over 6
months months months
Current past due past due past due Total
jaliles aEzE alEA
Ik 3fEA 618 A 618 A st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
December 31, 2023 —E-=f+=-A=+-H
Trade receivables gross carrying B SEKFBRAEE
amount 636,686 120,999 40,671 77,638 875,994
Less: loss allowance B EERE (9,633) (1,861) (6,578) (39,801) (57,873)
627,053 119,138 34,093 37,837 818,121
Expected loss rate (%) EHERE%) 151% 1.54% 16.17% 51.26% 6.61%
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEEK (&)
(i) Impairment of financial asset (Continued) (i) L ERE ()
Trade receivables (Continued) B2 Y 2B (4E)

Receivables past due for over 6 months mainly fall in
period of 6 months to 1 year. Throughout the years
presented, management kept monitoring closely the

recoverability of trade receivables.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment

plan with the Group and the bankruptcy of a debtor.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented
as net impairment losses within operating profit/loss.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off

are credited against the same line item.

Other receivables

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit loss, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has
occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is

measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

FEM IR B B Bo B A T &
NFREHBEAZIF - 1
2IMBEFE  BEEFE
BB E 5 RUGRIEN AT
Bl -

B 5 RUCRIARN I S T2 T
Yo Bl S o 3P A T2 IR R
BMPREeE (EhefE) &
BARGERAREB AT ERA
B REBABE ©

B 5 RN IE 2 B E BRI
BaA S BEAERRIE
E1RFRE o IR UL D SR R 8H
Z LR AR—ER -

B AR IE

HAtb U IR R B R 1218 A
BHEEEER A BHEY
EEBIETE - HEUARGEE
Rk B VT HRRBIAREEBE
BN o MR E B R R
B HERIA R E G N - A
REFEREHARRRERS

1BETE -

—E_UEFERE | ANNUAL REPORT 2024



For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEEK (&)
(i) Impairment of financial asset (Continued) (i) ZFEERE (E)
Other receivables (Continued) B ENIE (&)

The monies collected from platform users for certain
businesses were deposited in a designated deposit
account (with restrictive use) (the “designated deposit
account with restrictive use” in Note 22 refers), which
is maintained and operated independently by a bank.
The substantial part of the balance will only be utilized
for the non-cash offset of the Group's trade payable
balances upon the completion of settlement process with
respective travel service providers. The bank is reputable
and sizable in the PRC and there has been no recent
history of liquidity difficulties. Therefore, the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”) are of the view that the
Group's credit risk in connection with the designated

deposit account with restrictive use is minimal.

For the rest of other receivables (not including the
designated deposit account with restrictive use as
mentioned in the preceding paragraph) which are subject
to credit risk are mainly comprised of deposits, receivables
from related parties and finance lease receivables from an
associate. The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of these other receivables and
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group compares the risk of a default on other
receivables as at the reporting date with the risk of default
as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.

Especially the following indicators are incorporated:
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEEK (&)
(i) EHEEHRE (&)

(i) Impairment of financial asset (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the

debtors’ ability to meet its obligations;

actual or expected significant changes in the

operating results of the debtors;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial

instruments of the same debtors; or

significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the debtors, including changes in the

payment status of debtors, etc.

For other receivables, management applies 3-stages
model to assess the expected credit loss. Based on the
assessment and analysis conducted by the Directors, other
receivables with carrying amount of RMB85,211,000 (2023:
RMB83,170,000) as at December 31, 2024 are classified in
Stage 3 (i.e. have been identified as balances with credit-
impaired since initial recognition). The impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit loss and the Group
has recognized provision for impairment of RMB85,091,000
(2023: RMB79,428,000) against these other receivables as
at December 31, 2024.

Except for other receivables as mentioned above, the
remaining other receivables are classified in Stage 1 (i.e.
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition) and the impairment is measured

as 12-month expected credit losses.
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R¥79,428,0007T) °
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEEM (&)
(i) Impairment of financial asset (Continued) (i) LREERE ()
Other receivables (Continued) H N 2IE (4E)
The loss allowance for other receivables as at the RIBE&ER - HinElEoE
respective balance sheet dates, reconciles to the opening JIEEREREEYEERREDN
loss allowance as follows: HWEEWT -
Stage 1 Stage 3 Total
FE—KER E=HR Ly
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFRT AR®TR AR¥T:R

Opening loss allowance as at R-ZBE-=F—-HF—HW
January 1, 2023 FHEBBRRE (33,258) (69,066) (102,324)

Decrease/(increase) in allowance ~ FERRIBIFERRN

recognized in profit or loss BER L /(35 0)

during the year 4,727 (17,836) (13,109)
Receivables written off during the ~ ENa] Y@l i A FE A

year as uncollectible il S ) FE W Rk B 5,883 7474 13,357
Closing loss allowance as at R=ZBZ=F+=H8

December 31, 2023 =t -HNERBERE (22,648) (79,428) (102,076)

Increase in allowance recognized — FRRIBZFER A

in profit or loss during the year BRI N (1,888) (7,520) (9,408)
Receivables written off during the ~ ENa] Yz @l i A FE A

year as uncollectible il S 1 PE W RR B 2,225 1,857 4,082
Closing loss allowance as at R-EB-ME+=A

December 31, 2024 =t+t—HNERBERE (22,311) (85,091) (107,402)
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Impairment of financial asset (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group is also exposed to credit risk in relation to
investments that are measured at fair value through profit
or loss. The maximum exposure throughout the years
presented is the carrying amount of these investments as

set out in Note 18.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of the long-
term investments and short-term investments measured at
fair value through profit or loss held by the Group. The Group
is not exposed to commodity price risk. To manage its price
risk arising from the investments, the Group diversifies its
portfolio. Each investment is managed by senior management
on a case by case basis. The sensitivity analysis is performed by

management, see Note 3.3 for details.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents and liquid investments. Due to the dynamic nature
of the underlying businesses, the Group maintains flexibility in

funding by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents.

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into
relevant maturity grouping based on the remaining period at
the end of each reporting period to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual

undiscounted cash flows.

(b)

(c)

(d)

EERR (4)
(i) TEEERE (&)
BARIE B EAREZETIA

B2 B EE

AEBNAZBBRAAEE
FSFEREEHF AEaniRE
BE SRR o EWHEE18AT

o REREERIINEMEF
EssRBRAEERRE -

ERER

REBAZERNEERENEAR
BEAEAEZIHAAEBRORY
REREHRERRNERRR -
AEBEVWEAZEMERER - &
EEREELNERERR - AEE
FEREEE ST - KIERER
BAREREREREEETER - B
EOMBEEERNT  FEF2H
Bt3E3.3

RBESER

AEBEEERFRARREIAEE
EYRRBIERE - ANERER
RURRRIEE - AKBRBETEN
ReMREFEYMREAHESE)
M o

TEREREBREPRE=AHINHAA
FIGHREAEE SR B BT
REEEIHAER - RAFENER
REHRERRERE o
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) HZBESEK (&)
Less than Between Between
1year 1and2years 2and5years Over5 years Total
—FR —EZmE MZERE AFHE Bzt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR AR¥TR AR®TR AR®T=R

At December 31, 2024 —ZE-|NE
t+=A=+-H
Borrowings LA 1,517,945 482,171 2,574,838 418 4,575,372
Trade payables B P ERIE 4,467,130 - - - 4,467,130
Other payables and accruals*  EfbfEMFIER
et &R 4,179,726 624,630 376,605 4,657 5,185,618
Lease liabilities MERE 206,726 195,952 241,857 329,774 974,309
10,371,527 1,302,753 3,193,300 334,849 15,202,429
At December 31, 2023 it 3
+=R=t-H
Borrowings & 2,564,077 3,799 9,801 48 2,577,725
Trade payables 2S5 ENTIE 4,130,982 = = = 4,130,982
Other payables and accruals*  EABEMFIBER
st &R 3,924,380 50,849 23,787 = 3,999,016
Lease liabilities BEEE 42,671 79,305 192,312 221468 535,756
10,662,110 133,953 225,900 221516 11,243,479
*  Other payables and accruals disclosed in the table above comprise *  FAMEE27FTE  EREEME
of the undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities as set out MWENZERETERHRSRE
in Note 27. BRI ARBIRIR M EMARK ©
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for the Group and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance equity value in the

long-term.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group is in a net cash position (i.e.
cash and cash equivalents plus liquid investments less liabilities
from financing activities as set out in Note 33(a)). The Directors are

of the view that the Group's existing capital risk is minimal.

Under the terms of the major bank borrowing, which has a carrying
amount of USD300,000,000 (2023: USD255,000,000), the Group is
required to comply with certain financial covenants at the end of

each annual and interim reporting period.

The Group has complied with these covenants throughout the
reporting period, and there are no indications that the Group would
have difficulties complying with the covenants when they will be

next tested as at the 30 June 2025 interim reporting date.

E¥E£$ﬁ'$ilﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BREn e AREERED
ﬁ&%ﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁ%%k@ﬂﬁ'ﬂ
REGEAREBAZERESD K
BfE -

RZZ_NE+_R=+—8 X%
EENFESKR (MR RREEEE
0 D0 B 1 5B R B R 33 (a) AT EL A R
BEBAE)  cEFRA AEBEHE
BEARRBMT H M -

BEFERTEFIOGER(EEE
f874300,000,000F T (ZFE =4 :
255,000,000%7T)) * AEBALGESF
EMPEARE BRETE TV EREH -

AEBRBERERESHEBEETZEH
% BV EDRBRIASEER_-_Z=
AFERNAZTHPHREEBRENTT
—RARRREFRFE A EEHRRE
o
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

The table below analyses the Group's financial instruments carried
at fair value as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, by level of the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such
inputs are categorized into three levels within a fair value hierarchy

as follows:
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities (level 1);
inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that

are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,

as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2);

inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable

market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F

TRIEZEBUFEANEENBERIN
WBABEBER DM AEEemIA
R-ZEZNER-_ZT_=F+H=
T—BRAABEIENEHIA -
FHBAERTXASEEARR
BEDMEBRN =ERZER

HREEXRBBEERRERTIHH
WE CRERE) (F1E)

BE I ERRNMREN  ZEENL
BEMNATEESREHAE(WNE
) XA REBREE AR (DT
BERE) (F2[8) -

YERABERMEREBENEE
HAENBAE (B TATEREA
8) (F3E) °



For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

The following table presents the Group's assets/liabilities that are TERIBAEBNR " -NER =
measured at fair value as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. —=FE+-_A=+—B%RANEE:
ENEEBE-
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E1E #2[E E3E st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT
As at December 31,2024 RZE-MF+-A=1+-H
Assets BE
- Long-term investments measured at fair - BOABEGEEEZHHA
value through profit or loss (Note 18) BEORBRE (WHs) 171,881 - 785,357 957,238
- Short-term investments measured at fair - BRABEMEBEZIHA
value through profit or loss (Note 18) BafEERE (i) = 1,741,409 991,624 2,733,033
171,881 1,741,409 1,776,981 3,690,271
As at December 31,2024 R-BE-NE+=-A=1-H
Assets BE
- Derivative financial instruments (Note 19) -SRI A (fH19) - - 6,194 6,194
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E FIE £3E st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTL AREFT ARETT ARETTL
As at December 31, 2023 RZBZ=F+-A=1-H
Assets BE
- Long-term investments measured at fair - RAABEGBAEZHIHA
value through profit or loss (Note 18) Bl RERE (i) 169,824 = 869470 1,039,294
- Short-term investments measured at fair - BAREEFFEAEEHHA
value through profit or loss (Note 18) BREOEHRE (Ms) 381,306 = 1,250,409 1631,715
551,130 - 2,119,879 2,671,009
As at December 31, 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=1-H
Assets BE
- Derivative financial instruments (Note 19) —fTESBI A (3k9) - - 24,699 24,699
ZEFEFERE | ANNUAL REPORT 2024



For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

(a)

(b)

(c)

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions

on an arm’s length basis.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market is determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximize the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on
entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included

inlevel 2.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on

observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial

instruments include:

Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar

instruments.
Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow or

excepted recoverable cash flows analysis are used to

determine fair value for financial instruments.

BRERITERBRAF

(a)

(b)

(c)

F1ESMIA
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

Level 3 instruments of the Group's assets include long-term or

short-term investment measured at fair value through profit or

loss and certain derivative financial instruments. The Group did

not change any valuation techniques in determining the level

3 fair values, during the year ended December 31, 2024.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments

of long-term investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

() F3IEBELWMITE(HF)

AEBEENEIBETAMKERELD
REEEREEH ABRNK
%ﬁﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬂ&éu&%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬂl
A-BE-F-MFET-A=1—
BLLFE - LK%IR%%E%SEA
A EER I B A I E R -

TRIBHE-Z

=%+=-A —Jr*EIJtEF‘?ﬁ’Aﬁ

EEFTEEEE

FPABEM R

WEEIETEMNES -

Year ended December 31,

E+=A=t+-ALEE

2024 2023

—E-mE —E=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBTT

At beginning of the year F9) 869,470 700,943

Addition INE 161,119 511,792

Business combination ¥BA0 - 4,800
Decrease in investments (Note i) TE R (3D (131,764) (395,237)

Changes in fair value NREBEED (2,431) 48171

Transfer to investments accounted for using B EIRAEZE AR

the equity method (Notes ii and 16) ®E& (MisEi&i6) (108,448) =
Currency translation differences B E = (2,589) (999)

At end of the year FR 785,357 869,470

Net unrealized (losses)/gains for the year FARER (B18) W358 (10,480) 39,325
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

The decrease in investments represents the redemption of wealth
management products or distribution from the invested funds
during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The net
realized gain on the aforesaid redemption has been included as
part of the changes in fair value for the period in the movement
table above.

Two investments have been transferred as the Group's
investments accounted for using the equity method as the
Group has acquired additional equity interests in these investee
companies and becomes capable to exercise significant influence
over these investee companies through the appointment of
its representatives in the board of directors of these investee
companies during the current year.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments

of short-term investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

() F3IEBELWMITE(HF)

BYsE

() BERIVEHEZE-_T-_NFER=
E=FF+ A=+ —HLEE
NEREVERIKIEERSS
HEITHER - LMERMN S #IH K
HFHEEERANAAEEES
H—EBRETALXEEERSF o

(il HRAEEEAFECKEZS
WIRE QBRI - BARE
NBBEEERZERBEARE
EFRENRERMUZERRER
ATEERFEN - Bt - WA
RECELAAREBRBEREA
BREVIZE -

TRIBBZ-ZT_NFR=_ZT=
=+ A=+ —HLFEERAR
BEGEAEZEH T A BEmEH
REFIBITANES -

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2024 2023

—E-mE —E=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBETT

At beginning of the year F9) 1,250,409 2,669,201
Addition NE 2,990,132 1,116,407
Business combination ¥Ba0 - 297,169
Disposal & (3,255,290) (2,724,473)
Changes in fair value N EEE 3,610 (107,895)
Currency translation differences BmE xR 2,763 =
At end of the year FR 991,624 1,250,409
Net unrealized losses for the year FARERERFRE (26,414) (111,323)
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

Notes:

The disposal of short-term investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss represents the redemption of wealth management
products during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The net
realised gain on the aforesaid redemption has been included as part of
the changes in fair value for the period in the movement table above.

The valuation of the level 3 instruments mainly included long-term
investments in unlisted companies, funds and wealth management
products measured at fair value through profit or loss (Note 18) and
short-term investments in wealth management products measured at
fair value through profit or loss (Note 18). As these instruments are not
traded in an active market, their fair values have been determined by
using various applicable valuation techniques, including discounted
cash flows, expected recoverable cash flows and market approach etc.

The following table summarizes the quantitative information
about the significant unobservable inputs used in recurring
level 3 fair value measurements of the short-term and long-

term investments as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

(c)

$F3ELRMIE (&)
B EE :

HERAREENEBEEB AR
MEHREANREE S -_NFER=_F
=+ A=t+—BHIEEEBEN
Efm e FMERME SRR FIECIE
BHAAREBEEZHN —HIFTALX
BEERP -

HEIBTANGEIZERERAAE
BEfEEEEHFARR E’]#Lm’z}
A EZsRBMEREBKRE (M
18) REAREEFTEBRESHFAR
= EVIR B AR IR A (MiaE18) o
ZETRAFRZBERTHEPZS -
HEARBECSBERAZERERMAR
g%  EHAMEREREERT
BEEANERGBERMEE -

TRBAR-T-MER-—F-=
F+-A=+—BBERHENEE
H30 R EEH I 3 B AR BIE
SRR EATABER A
ERER -

Relationship of
Fair values Valuation Significant Range of inputs unobservable inputs to
Description As at December 31, techniques  unobservable inputs As at December 31, fair values
MEE EXFT HAEEE TUBRREAES
i RtZA=t-H fhERH BRBLAE Rt=A=t-8 MEENER
2024 2023 2024 2023
“EomE -3 “EoNE “%-=F
RMB'000 RMB000
AR®TR  ARETR
Long-term investments measured at fair 685,357 713710 Market Expected volatility/  34.58%~52.92%/  33.50%~61.70%  The higher the expected
value through profit or loss - equity approach Discount for Lack O 11.70%-26.00% 22%~28% volatility and DLOM, the
interests in private entities o funds Marketability ('DLOM') lower the fair value
BAABEHEEERSHABED st BERE/BZTARE RERBRBZTERE
RERE - LAERIECHE R (Rzmmnat ftges - ABE
iEd) i

T NFFERE
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

Description

i

Long-term investments measured at fair
value through profit or loss - wealth
management products

BAABEHEEERST BN
RARE - BHER

Short-term investments measured at fair
value through profit or loss - wealth

management pdeUCtS

BAABEHEEERSHABED
RHRE-BYER

Note:

Fair values Valuation
As at December 31, techniques
MfER

Rt-A=t-H HERT
2024 03
ZEIME CEC=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR  ARETR

100,000 155,700 Discounted

cash flows

ERRENEA

991,624 1,250,409 Discounted

cash flows

ERRETER

Significant
unobservable inputs
EXRT
BEEAE

Expected rate of retumn

RHmRE

Expected rate of return/
expected recoverable

cash flows

BHERE/
RHYE
AthE

If the fair values of the abovementioned level 3 long-term investments
and short-term investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss held by the Group had been 10% higher/lower, the profit before
income tax for the year ended December 31, 2024 would have been
approximately RMB177.7 million higher/lower (2023: profit before
income tax for the year would have been approximately RMB212.0

million higher/lower).

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 of fair value hierarchy

classifications during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited
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BABEE FUREE\EHR
R+=B=t+-8 MREENER
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BERSRER DB
Gy
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0% 25%
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Management of the Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, likely differ from related actual results. The estimates,
assumptions and judgement that have significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are addressed below.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortization and are tested annually for impairment
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that they might be impaired. Assets that are subject to amortization
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs of disposal and value-in-use (“VIU"). For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels of
cash generating units (“CGUs"). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible

reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

ar KA SR ERT G o ZF AT KA
TIREBEEREEMER (BRENAHIE
ATHEHERBUEBKMBEZE ZRE
EHREZTRAD °

AEBERBHEHBRARNMGE KR
R GHMOEAEER - BEEN
ERERITEFTEER - SRR T — @
BEEAHEERABNREEFLER
HENERAROMG RREHAEHRT
XETE e

BERARAERACAFHNETLE
ERAETHE - BEFETHER
A AR BEHRBRAEER R
HIR R E R & TSRS RER
Ao MBELEEHHIBERE B TRIEE
BEARGAHE - Ble S AETHEN
BEETRERS - REBBIHRE
EREEBLETKESE 250
ReABRSRREEZAREER
HEKRAREREER(TERAEE] (A
BeERE)  RiTHHE EEER
ReELSBU(REELEM]) WK
EEAETHE - BEBEZFSR
BE (BERIN) gREHRE BB
BERE AR EEITRG
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

Judgment is required to determine key assumptions adopted in
the valuation models for impairment review purpose. Changing
the assumptions selected by management in assessing impairment
could materially affect the result of the impairment test and
as a result affect the Group's financial condition and results of
operations. If there is a significant adverse change in the key
assumptions applied, it may be necessary to recognize additional

impairment charge in profit or loss.

Business combinations under non-common control are accounted
for under acquisition method. The determination of fair values
to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by the
business combinations is based on various assumptions and
valuation methodologies requiring considerable management
judgment. The most significant variables in these valuations are
customer turnover rate, revenue growth rate, gross margin rate,
discount rates, terminal values, the number of years on which to
base the cash flow projections, as well as the assumptions and
estimates used based on the risk inherent in the related activity's
current business model and industry comparisons. Terminal
values are based on the expected life of assets and forecasted life
cycle and forecasted cash flows over that period. Although the
Group believes that the assumptions applied in the determination
are reasonable based on information available at the date of
acquisition, actual results may differ from the forecasted amounts

and the difference could be material.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives
and related amortization charges for the Group’s intangible assets
with reference to the estimated periods that the Group intends
to derive future economic benefits from the use of these assets
and also other factors or considerations as set out in Note 20(a).
Management will revise the amortization charges where useful
lives are different to that of previously estimated, or it will write-
off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change
in useful lives and therefore the amortization expense in future

periods.

The Group is subject to income taxes in the PRC and other
jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining the provision for
income taxes in each of these jurisdictions. There are transactions
and calculations during the ordinary course of business for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such

determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognized when management considers it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilized. When the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such differences
will impact the recognition of deferred income tax assets and

taxation charges in the period in which such estimate is changed.
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Fair value of financial instruments, in the absence of an active
market, is estimated by using appropriate valuation techniques.
Such valuation were based on certain assumptions about credit risk,
volatility and liquidity risks associated with the instruments, which
are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the

actual results. Further details are included in Note 3.3.

The provision for impairment of trade and other receivables are
made based on assumptions about the risk or probability of
default and expected credit loss rates. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the historical settlement profiles,
historical default history, credit ratings or financial conditions of the
counterparties, as well as forward looking estimates, at the end of
each reporting period. Details of impairment of the trade and other

receivables used are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

As disclosed in Note 41.1(a), the Group exercises control over
certain structured entities and has the right to recognise and
receive substantially all the economic benefits from them through
the Contractual Arrangements. The Directors consider that the
Group controls these structured entities notwithstanding that it
does not have direct or indirect legal ownership in equity of these
entities as the Group has power over the financial and operating
policies of these entities and receives substantially all the economic
interest returns generated from the business activities of these
entities through these Contractual Arrangements. Accordingly, all
these structured entities are accounted for as controlled structured
entities and their financial statements have also been consolidated

by the Group throughout the year.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control
over the structured entities. Uncertainties presented by the PRC
legal system could impede the Group's beneficiary rights of the
results, assets and liabilities of the structured entities. Significant
judgment is involved in determining whether the Group is able to
control these entities through these Contractual Arrangements.
The Directors of the Company, after taking into account of the
advice from its external legal advisors, consider that the Contractual
Arrangements entered into by the Group are in compliance with
the relevant PRC laws and regulations and are therefore legally

binding and enforceable.

The Group offers a variety of travel related services, including
accommodation reservation service, transportation ticketing service,
offline travel agency services (including sales of travel tour package
products), the operation of a tourist and scenic spot area in the
tourist area and to a much lesser extent, online advertising services
and hotel management services. The offline travel agency services
and the operation of a tourist and scenic spot area in the Hainan
province are operated by subsidiaries as acquired by the Group on
November 30, 2023.

Revenues are recognized when the control of the goods or services
is transferred to the customer. Depending the terms of the contract
and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods and

services may be transferred over time or at a point in time.
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If contracts involve the sale of multiple services, the transaction
price will be allocated to each performance obligation based on
their relative stand-alone selling prices. If the stand-alone selling
prices are not directly observable, they are estimated based on
expected cost plus a margin or adjusted market assessment

approach, depending on the availability of observable information.

(@) Principal vs agent consideration

The Group determines the presentation of its revenue by
assessing whether it acts as the principal of the services that
are rendered. The Group presents its revenues on a net basis
(that is, the amount billed to the users less the amount paid to
the travel service suppliers) when the Group acts as an agent
with no control over the underlying travel related products or
services. The Group presents its revenue on a gross basis (that
is, the amount billed to the users or user group) when the
Group acts as a principal, having control over the travel-related

products or services before they are transferred to the users.

The Group presents majority of its revenue on net basis as the
supplier is primarily responsible for providing the underlying
travel related products or services and the Group does not
control the product or service provided by the supplier prior to

its transfer to the user.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F

HWEHNPRZBERBOHEE  X5E
BREEAYBUNEEIEEE]R
BHEME - WBINESEELZEER
£ AEERNBHRANFBEERHL
HEOT S A ERETHE BT E
RO BRENTE

(a) TEBEAEREZE

AEBBEFEEETEIMEHR
RN EREEANREWRANZT
AR o MAREEEAE - 186
TR 32 AR B S O S AR 7S N SR I
AIAREEZFEEE (ARAP I
BB SR TR 1) B 22 AR 765 14 B PR S A
HFRIR) 2 EWA - HAEEE
EXEEEAN  EREHBERSN
REEETREAT S EEE T
1% AIAEEREEEE (BIAA
P AP RARERRIE) 25 H
YA o

A ER T2 BRHABIKR
BAEREEMNIRY - BEHERR
HHERIRBEBERP 281
AREB Y E I BTG - WAKE
BFREEZIERBOWA -



For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(b) Timing of revenue recognition

Accommodation reservation services

The Group generates revenue as a result of the booking of
travel products and services on its websites and mobile apps
and derives its revenue mainly from the commissions earned
from intermediating services for facilitating reservations
of hotel accommodations. Revenue from accommodation
reservation services are recognized at a point in time when
the accommodation reservations placed by users through the

Group become non-cancellable.

Transportation ticketing services

Transportation ticketing services primarily consist of the
reservation of air tickets and train tickets, sale of travel
insurance and other transportation-related services. The
revenue from such services are recognized at a point in time
upon the issuance of the tickets or the travel insurance, net of

estimated cancellations.

Other services

Other revenues are primarily consisted of commission income
from sales of tourist attraction tickets, advertising income,
hotel management service income, offline travel agency
service income, ticketing revenue from the operating of a
tourist and scenic spot area and revenue generated from other
ancillary value-added user services. The advertising income
which is charged based on the time advertised under the
cost-per-time model. The hotel management service income
and offline travel agency service income and income from
the operations of tourist and scenic spot areas are recognized
when the respective services are rendered. Other revenues
are recognized at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the related products or services.
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(c)

(d)

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

Contract asset and contract liability

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the statement of financial position
as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the
relationship between the Group's performance and the
customer’s payment. A contract asset is the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for products or services that the
Group has transferred to its customer. A contract liability is
the Group's obligation to transfer products or services to its
customer for which the Group has received consideration from

the customer.

Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract, if recoverable,
are capitalized and subsequently amortized when the related
revenue is recognized. The Group applies the practical
expedient and does not disclose information about remaining
performance obligations that have original expected durations

of one year or less.

Users incentive programs

The Group provides various users incentive programs,
where participating users are awarded incentives on current
transactions or for free that can be redeemed for future
reservations through the Group's platforms. Discretionary
incentives awarded for free to participating users are not
considered as payment to customer and recorded as selling
and marketing expenses. The incentives agreed with customers
and awarded on current transactions to participating users
after their consumption are considered as payment on behalf
of customers and recognized as a reduction of revenues at the

time the incentives are granted.
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The Group's business activities, for which discrete financial
information is available, are regularly reviewed and evaluated by the
chief operating decision-makers (the “CODMs"). In prior years, the
CODMs reviewed the core operating results when making decisions
about allocating resources and assessing performance of the Group

as a whole (i.e. one reportable segment).

Starting from January 1, 2024, the Group has set up a new internal
reporting structure separating (i) the reporting for the core online
travel agency and related businesses; and (ii) the reporting for the
offline travel agency and tourism related businesses. Accordingly,
the CODMs start to review and evaluate the business performance
of these two businesses separately for allocating resources and
making strategic decisions. Resulting from this change, the Group
has identified two reportable segments, namely (i) Core OTA
segment, which comprising the core online travel agency and
related businesses; and (ii) Tourism segment, which comprising the
offline travel agency and tourism related businesses. The segment
information, including the comparatives, has been presented as

below in response to this change.
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The CODMs assess the performance of the operating segments
mainly based on revenues and operating profit/loss of each
operating segment. Thus, segment results would present revenue,
cost of revenue and operating expenses, and operating profit/
loss for each segment, which is in line with CODMs' performance
review. There were no material inter-segment sales during the year
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. Certain unallocated items
(primarily with respect to the share-based compensation expenses,
amortisation of those intangible assets as identified from business
combinations, certain corporate administrative expenses and
other miscellaneous items) are not allocated to each segment as
they are not directly relevant to the operating results used in the

performance measurement and resources allocation by the CODM:s.

Both the Core OTA and Tourism segments operate businesses
in the PRC and substantially all of their revenue are generated
from customers in the PRC. As at December 31, 2024 and 2023,
substantially all of the non-current assets of the Group were located

in the PRC. Therefore, no geographical segments are presented.

No analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities is presented
as they are not used by the CODMs when making decisions about

allocating resources and assessing performance of the Group.
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The segment information of the reportable segments for the

BERFENR 28D Mo FE N

relevant yeas are as follows: T
Year ended December 31, 2024 Year ended December 31,2023
HE-S-ME+-A=1-BLEE HECB-ETZACT-ALEE
Unallocated Unallocated
Core OTA Tourism items Total  Core OTA Tourism items Total
BOER BOES
iitiae] ER A2EER g ETA ER #nEEH &
RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
AR%Tn AR%TR AR%Tn ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
Revenue BA
- Accommodation reservation - RERTRE
services 4,668,179 - - 4,668,179 3899514 - - 3899514
- Transportation ticketing services - RERBRE 7,229,031 = - 729031 6030047 = - 6030047
- Others services (Note ) - ik () 2302235 3,141,241 - SM3476 1699365 267318 - 1966683
14199445 3141241 - 17340686 11628920 267318 - 11,8944
Cost of revenue, operating HERA  LERIR
expenses and unallocated items AAEER
- Cost of revenue (Note b) — HERA (o) (3359531) (2767336)  (100332) (6227,199)  (2833946) (47843 (6244 (3158033
- Operating expenses and - HERLRANEAR
unallocated items (7,025241)  (287,256) (1,377,492) (8,689,989) (5,843,039 (27,176) (998631)  (6,868,846)
(10,384,772)  (3,054,592) (1,477,824) (14,917,188) (8676985 (275019) (1074875 (10,026,879)
Operating profit EERA 3814673 86649 (1477824 2423498 1951941 (7701)  (1074875) 1869365
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(a)

The revenue from the other services of the Core OTA segment
primarily comprise of advertising income, online tourism
income, membership income, hotel management services
income and revenue generated from ancillary value-added user
services. The revenue from the other services of the Tourism
segment represents revenue from the provision of offline travel
agency services and the ticketing revenue and other income

from the operations of tourist and scenic spot areas.

Cost of revenue represents the costs of providing services
in the respective segments and primarily comprise cost of
travel related products, order payment and settlement costs,

employee benefit expenses and procurement costs.

The major customer which contributed more than 10% of the
total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

are listed as below:

EERHEA

Customer group A

Customer group A is a group of entities comprising a
shareholder of the Company and its affiliated companies (Note
37(b)) and the revenue is mainly derived from the Group's
provision of accommodation reservation services to Customer

group A during the respective years.
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Year ended December 31,

BE+-—A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARETT
Employee benefit expense (Note 7) EERAMFEZ (ME7) 4,117,614 3,144,799
Advertising and promotion expenses BEMHEERY 3,524,351 2,894,590
Cost of travel products (Note a) PR % EE SR AR N (Pt 3Ea) 3,013,492 462,434
Order payment and settlement costs RIES N REERA 1,399,631 1,332,083
Depreciation and amortization expense EREHER
(Notes 14, 15 and 20) (Bf5E14 ~ 15%20) 1,082,606 910,757
Procurement costs FREERCAR 544,902 431,293
Commission expenses HE&AX 524,595 505,540
Professional service fees and subcontractor charges ~ BERFER LS BE 197,311 148,415
Bandwidth and servers custody fee HREMRERER 164,229 142,586
Travelling and entertainment expenses ZIREAREFRY 139,523 112,732
Short-term rental and utility fees HHEeRAAREEA 121,461 74,885
Tax and surcharges RPN DIlIE=+ 84,973 53,562
Telephone and communication B LA 15,777 13,492
Auditor fees HiTER 6,792 7,736
Others (Note b) HAth (B o) 117,725 (72,293)
Total* FCET 15,054,982 10,162,611

*

This represent the total of cost of revenue, service development expenses,

selling and marketing expenses and administrative expenses.

Notes:

(@)  The cost of travel products for the year ended December 31, 2024 is primarily
attributable to the Group's provision of offline travel agency services which
are operated by the subsidiary group as acquired by the Group on November

30, 2023.

(b) For the year ended December 31, 2023, included in “Others” was a reversal
of provision for reorganisation costs as credited against the Group's
administrative expenses of approximately RMB157.5 million.

* BURARKRBEERA - RBAEFAX - HE
R RITH X 45 -

BT
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Year ended December 31,

BE+=-A=t—HLFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T AR®TT

Wages, salaries and bonuses IE& - #Hahita 3,064,364 2,307,738
Pension costs — defined contribution plans (Note a)  BIREKA — REHFKE
(HMizta) 256,280 190,964
Other social security costs, housing benefits and HHRER EEEMR
other employee benefits (Note b) HibEB@F (MizEb) 388,641 297,961
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 8) PARR 19 A ERE BN 5 2
(M43E8) 408,329 348,136
4,117,614 3,144,799
Notes: MiaE -
(@) Pension costs — defined contribution plans (@) BEHREKA - REHREE
Employees of the Group in the PRC are required to participate in a defined AEBETENEEELME D TRTEIE
contribution retirement scheme administered and operated by the local RBIENARAEHIERE - REBEEH
municipal governments. The Group contributes funds which are calculated A& EBMER (S BIRE B RTH
on a fixed percentage of the employees’ salary (subject to a floor and cap) HEEHFS (RETELLR) BFE DL
as set by local municipal governments to each scheme locally to fund the ) UAREBRRKENEMNES -

retirement benefits of the employees.

Other than the Group's monthly contributions to these defined contribution AEBKREAMZSEREHEFTBRTEIHR
retirement schemes, the Group has no further obligation for the payment of N o I ERE B S SHE (] BB 8 R KR T
any post-employment retirement benefits of its employees. As the assets of HEE—FEHT c ARZZRAREBHETRINE
these retirement benefit plans are held separately from those of the Group in EREAEENEEDHER B HBEP
independently administrated funds managed by the PRC government, there BNEEMNBYEEES B TFEEM
will be no situation for the existence of any forfeited contributions which BRI H AT AR AEEHZERE
could be utilized to offset the Group's contributions under these defined HIETEIEREIER

contribution schemes.
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(b)  Other social security costs include the costs of medical insurance, maternity ) EmtREASEEERK £5RK T
insurance, employment injury insurance and unemployment insurance. The BRIEMEERBNER - AEBMRZER
Group's monthly contribution for these costs are charged to profit or loss as AT ARZIRELEREEXNG  mAE
incurred and the Group's liability in respect of these costs is limited to the B 5 B R AN B E IR & B RS ) e~
contribution payable in each period. o
Training expenses related to the Group's employees in 2024 amounted to R-ZT—pE . EAEEESEBENEE
approximately RMB5.8 million (2023: RMB5.9 million) and were recorded as YU EBARBSSEBIT(ZE-_=F: AR
other employee benefit WSOFEIT) « 3 ARALEBIEF o

(c) Directors emoluments () EBHH
The remuneration of each director of the Company paid/payable by the AEBEE_T-_MER=-ZT-_=F+=A8
Group for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are set out as =+—HIFEEEYN S EANAARSE
follows: EHBEOT

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking
R-EATBEES (FREALAIANRAAMER) FRARKCHRRNEH
Other emoluments
paid or payable in
respect of
director's other
services in
connection with
the management
Employer's of the affairs of
contribution ofa ~ Share-based  the Company or
Discretionary Housing retirement  compensation its subsidiaries
Name of Director Fees Salary  bonuses ()  allowance benefit scheme expenses undertaking Total
REEREE
LN ]
WEHE  AREHmREM
BB BN AMEEEAT

£33 g F&  BERAG GERE L E3E MeMx  EOEMEH it
RMBO00  RMB0OO  RMB0OO  RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

ARETL  ARETR  ARETR ARETT ARETRL  ARETR ARETRL ARETT

Yearended December31,  BZ-E-MFT=H

2024 St-BLEE
Executive Directors #iEz
Ma Heping (CEQ) ST (ERHTE) - 4710 1350 3 4 467 16 48422
Wu Zhixiang RiH - 3746 90 32 4 2444 16 7,045
Non-executive Directors HTEE
Jiang Hao (i) LA - - - - - - - -
Liang Jianzhang (i) 2RE(i) - - - - - - - -
ie Qing Hua (i) HEZ(i) = = = = = = = =
Brent Richard Irvin (ii Brent Richard Irvin(i) - - - - - - - -
Independent BUFAfES

non-executive Directors
Yang Chia Hung BRE 353 - - - - - - 353
Dai Xiaojing R 301 - - - - - - 301
Han Yuling B1E 301 - - - - - - 301
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR ERRME
For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 7. EERABEX (BEESHMN)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED) (&
(c) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (0 EBHH(E)

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking

BB ALEEEE(RRRALTAENELRMER) MRABEC HRAEH

Other emoluments
paid or payable in
respect of
director's other
services in
connection with
the management
Employer's of the affairs of
contribution of a Share-based  the Company or
Discretionary Housing fetirement  compensation its subsidiaries
Name of Director Fees Salary  bonuses()  allowance  benefit scheme expenses undertaking Total
HESRER
ARAFENE
WRpE  RASHHEE
RivEH:E A EERBEAS
32 ik e BERL)  EREM ETER HeRx  ERAMEHH 3t
RIMB1000 RMB000 RMB1000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB1000
ARBTT  ARETT ARETR AR¥TI ARBTR  ARETR ARBTR ARETR
Yearended December31,  HZE-F-=£+=f

2023 ST-BLEE
Executive Directors gz
Ma Heping (CEO) ENT(BRHAT) = 475 1,565 31 46 m 13 13433
Wu Zhixiang REHE = 3007 800 3 46 2158 13 6,255
Non-executive Directors ~ FH{TES
Jiang Hao (i LA = = = = = = = =
Liang Jianzhang (i) PEE(i) S = S S = = = S
Cheng Yun Ming B (i)

Matthew (i and ii) - - - - - - - -
Xie Qing Hua (i) BEE() = = = = = = = =
Brent Richard Irvin (i Brent Richard Irvinii) - - - - - - - -
Independent BUHUTES

non-executive Directors
Yang Chia Hung BEE 174 = = = = = = 174
Dai Xiaojing IR 199 = = = = = = 299
Hen Yuling B1E 1% - - - - - = 299
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BE T ZNF+_A=+—HIFE

Directors” emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i)  Discretionary bonuses are determined based on the Group's operating
performance.

(i) Mr. Jiang Hao, Mr. Liang Jianzhang, Mr. Xie Qing Hua, Mr. Brent Richard
Irvin and Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew (resigned on April 18, 2023)
are representatives of the Company's shareholders as appointed in the
Board of Directors of the Company. They have received emoluments
from the respective shareholders, a substantial part of which are
in respect of their services rendered to the shareholders and its
subsidiaries. No apportionment has been made as the qualifying
services provided by these directors to the Company and its subsidiaries
are incidental to their responsibilities to the respective shareholders.

(i) Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew resigned from his position as the
Company’s non-executive director on April 18, 2023.

No directors waived any emolument during the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023.

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No emolument was paid by the Company or the companies comprising the
Group as an inducement to join the Company or the companies comprising
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023.

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, there is no (i) loans,
quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors of the Company and of
a holding company of the Company, bodies corporate controlled by such
directors and any entities connected with such directors; or (ii) consideration
provided to or received by third parties for making available the services of a
person as director or in any other capacity as director.

ERHH ()
GEX

VBTEAL I RIB A R BM G B R B ME

o

(i)

mg

(i) IDERE REERE  WBELE -
Brent R\chard Irvin 50 A4 R BB RR SE 4
(RZEBEZ=FMA+NBET) AR
AAREETEEZANARARER
* - BECDESEREWEES - A
R EP > B 55 e ARCOR R EL BT /B A B4R A
RSB - ARZEFEZRAARAIRE
MEBARRHEMNEEBRBEABRSHE
BRROETAMS - S EEL S
% °

(i FHEAEENR_T-_=FNOA+/\HE
EERARFIFITESRLAL -

BE_Z_NFR-_ZF_=F+_A=1+—
AL HEESERE A -

WERKFRERFRE - ANDARER L E
AEBXEKEBAARRAESESNERER
SEEBEEENERNEAR S - THEE
# e

HE_Z-_NWER_ZT-_=F+"A=+—
BIEFE  ANARSKAEEBETRRMESL
EREB - (EBIMAARRRSKALERT
AR HEE - SKIEAKEBAAME -

REE-_Z_NER-_ZT_=F+-A=+
—Eiiﬁ BEONEFREADFESE LA
ARERAT  ZEESIEFAEAER
BZEEEEHENTNEENER R
REEMRZ S KR BREALTES -
FREREAEHTESHEAEM S BIRE

BRAS M58 = 7 iR sk R ER D (R (B -
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

(d) Five highest paid individuals d) AESSHFMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
for the years ended December 31, 2024 include two (2023: two) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 7(c) above.
The emoluments payable to the remaining three (2023: three) highest paid
individuals are as follows:

AEEBEE_T_NF+-_A=+—HL
EEREZRETFHNALTEERE (=T =_=
F:MB)EE  BEEFMRER XM
N - BB T =R (ZT=_=F: =
B) &R MATHERMNT

Year ended December 31,

BET-RA=t+-HLEE

2024 2023
—EomE TE-CE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%TR ARETT
Wages and salaries T&RkE® 9,841 8,940
Discretionary bonuses BETEAL 2,444 2502
Other social security costs, housing benefits HihHRBA - AEEHR
and other employee benefits HiEBRF 253 270
Pension costs - defined contribution plans RIKSKA — REHTEE 193 192
Share-based compensation expenses DA BEREMB SR 4,892 4816
17,623 16,720
The emoluments fell within the following band: BEEAGFHMNT R T EEE :
Number of individuals
Year ended December 31,
AE
HZ+t-A=1-ALEFE
2024 2023
“BoRE —Z-=
HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000 4,500,001 7T % 5,000,000/ 7T - 1

HKD5,500,001 to HKD6,000,000
HKD6,000,001 to HKD6,500,000
HKD6,500,001 to HKD7,000,000
HKD7,500,001 to HKD8,000,000

5,500,001 3 L. 26,000,000/ 7T
6,000,001 7 7T 6,500,000/ 7T
6,500,001 7 7L 27,000,000/ 7T
7,500,001 L. 28,000,000/ 7T

No emolument was paid by the Company or the companies comprising
the Group to the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join the
Company or the companies comprising the Group, or as compensation for
loss of office during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

BE-Z-_MFER-_Z=-_=F+=-A=+—
BIEFE  ANARSAEEBETRRMEL
NERFHEAERRHMAL - (EEINA
RARKAEBBE T ARNEER - SEAK
EBATEHE -
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

In March 2022, the Company adopted a 2022 RSU plan (the “2022 RSU
Plan”), which allows officers, employees, non-employees and directors
of the Company to receive RSU awards under the 2022 RSU Plan. The
maximum number of ordinary shares that may be subject to the awards
granted under the 2022 RSU Plan is 55,459,938 shares.

In May 2022, the Company adopted a 2022 share option plan (the “2022
Option Plan”), which allows officers, employees, non-employees and
directors of the Company to acquire ordinary shares of the Company
pursuant to options granted under the 2022 Option Plan. The maximum
number of ordinary shares that may be subject to the awards granted
under the 2022 Option Plan is 55,459,938 shares.

On June 29, 2022, the Group granted 27,730,000 share options and
27,730,000 RSUs under the 2022 Option Plan and the 2022 RSU Plan
respectively to senior management, other employees and directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries. The exercise price of all options
granted is HKD17.12. The share options and RSUs granted will vest in
four years and every 25% of granted share options and RSUs are vested

on the first, second, third and fourth anniversary of the grant date.

On October 20, 2023, the Group granted 27,729,938 share options and
27,729,938 RSUs under the 2022 Option Plan and the 2022 RSU Plan
respectively to senior management, other employees and directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries. The exercise price of all options
granted is HKD15.516 (equivalent to approximately RMB14.24). The
share options and RSUs granted will vest in four years and every 25% of
granted share options and RSUs are vested on the first, second, third and

fourth anniversary of the grant date.

RZZBZZF= ARAERH=-ZT ==
FXRBEBRMDEMFTE ([ ZEZZFXR
ARG ECETE]) - ZEEAFARAS
FBE - EE  FEEREZRE_ZZ
ZEXBRBIRMDEMEEESZRBIRG
BAREE BB __FXREIRMNE
USR] FREZBNEBREEEE R
55,459,938 % °

RZEZZFRA AREIEH=_T=
“FEREAE (S _FHERE
%Dv@ﬂ%ﬁﬁ$“ﬂ%@%a~ﬁ

CHEEREEVE_T__FERRE
:Jrz\ﬁitljmﬁ%ﬁx%klﬁzﬁ%ZK AEBR - 1R
BT - FEREETTREREBN
LB = E B A55459,9380% °

RZBEZZFXAZ+NAA  REERE
R CEEREFEAR-Z__FXR
IR ERFEMADTREWNEBRAR
WEREEE HMEEREZHRIET
277300001‘E%Hxﬁ¥5é277300001I;<H1%UHX
MEf - FTEREERENITEER 7
BT o wmmﬁh%&x@m%w“u%
#m¢W~EvE§E%%E&ﬁ%k%
MEZRHBOBEMARE ABHHE— -
ZFZRFEFNEBFTES -

RZBEZ=F+A=+H A%£ERE=

T _FERBAEL T _FZRH
BRHDEBMAFERARARAREMBLRAN
ARERE EMEEBREFSFIRT
27,729,938 17 BB A% 4 2. 27,729,938 1 52 BR I A%
MEALL - FITARLBIRENTTEER15516

BT (FHEROARE142470) - BB
%1 R 2R HI AR BRI AS R U F N EFE -

B & 250%H) 2 5 H B AR i 2 PR AR 17 B8 L
REXASPNE— - F=  F=RFOHE
BEFERE -
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

On June 26, 2024, the Company has approved and adopted the 2024
Share Scheme (the “2024 Share Scheme”). The total number of award
shares which may be issued to the eligible participants under the 2024
Share Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue (excluding any
treasury shares) on the date of approval of the scheme, being 23,249,990
shares of the Company. The term of the 2024 Share Scheme is 10 years
commencing on the adoption date of the 2024 Share Scheme unless

terminated earlier.

On June 27, 2024, the Company granted 21,000,000 share options under
the 2024 Share Scheme to Mr. Ma Heping, an executive Director and
the chief executive officer of the Group. The exercise price of all options
granted is HKD15.92 (equivalent to approximately RMB14.53). The share
options granted will vest in six years and every 16.67% of granted share
options are vested on the first, second, third, fourth, fifth and sixth
anniversary of the grant date. The exercise period for the share options

granted shall not be longer than ten years from the date of grant.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F

R-ZZE-_MEA=-+/8  AQARE#H
HERFEW T NFERDTE (==
FRipETE]) - RE-_F-_WFRGEE
MEERSREFITHRBRNBHETE

B EEI AR AR BHITRD (TeEF
A ETERAD ) 891% » BN 7123,249,990 A%
B o BRIFIRBELLE - TRIZFTZMNFR
METEIMRRAB —T ZWFRMDEHEIEHF
B EARET 4 o

RZE-_WFEASNAZ++tH  ARERE
TR FERDFTEAASBERITESER
BENITE BT 4K 21,000,000 B
fR#E - FTE R ERENITEER15.928
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

The share-based compensation expense recognized for employee MEBE—_E-_NNER-—_E-_=F+_-_F=
services received during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 is +—HILEEEENES RGN AR

shown in the following table:

DRERNMERAIN TRIPR :

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HBLEE

2024 2023
—EoE —TEC-=HF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETT

Expense arising from equity-settled share-based R EE ARG, AEER
payment transactions RNRRHEEHRE 408,329 348,136
The following table summarizes information with respect to share TEBRAER -—E-—_NER-—T—
options outstanding as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and the =FE+ - A=+ — Bk TEERRE

weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP").

AR pnig 517 & ([ g FHiTeE
Bl WER -

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1t-HLEE

2024 2023

—ECME —E-CHE
Number of options WAEP  Number of options WAEP
BREHE METSTEE BREZE  METHIEE
RMB RMB
ARH AR
Outstanding at beginning of the year ~ INEF M ATTE 148,200,441 11.47 127,479,650 1073
Granted [REsG 21,000,000 14.53 27,729,938 14.24
Exercised 2178 (23,698,636) 11.11 (5,963,497) 813
Forfeited and expired during the year & RZ IR 2k 3k (1,855,800) 14.38 (1,045,650) 14.65
Outstanding at end of the year RERBARITE 143,646,005 11.94 148,200,441 1147
Exercisable at end of the year RERATE 90,154,702 10.45 100,679,503 1008
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

Based on fair value of the underlying ordinary shares, the Company
has used binomial option-pricing model to determine the fair value
of the share options granted during the years ended December
31, 2024 and 2023. The fair value of options granted during the
year ended December 31, 2024 was HKD8.54 per share (equivalent
to approximately RMB7.79 per share) (2023: HKD7.81 per share
(equivalent to approximately RMB7.71 per share)). Key assumptions

are summarized in the following table:

Exercise price (HKD) 1TfEE (BT)
Risk free interest rate A [ B ) 2
Dividend yield A B E
Expected volatility TE AR B

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share
options outstanding as at December 31, 2024 was 6.70 years (2023:
7.12 years).

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F

RARERNBRAETBROAABEE -

FRAZEXERETEEXNUETH
ECENER-_T-_=ZF+-A=
T-BLEFEEENBEREAAE
B -BE-Z-_NF+=-A=+—H
FFEETFHHENAAEBEASR
8.54%8 T (BERBRHARE7.797T)
ZEZ=F  3R78IET(RERE
BRAARE77170)) » EEBBIRER
TE

Year ended December 31,
2024 and 2023
BE-Z_MER-ZT-=
TZA=t+—HLFE

Granted on Granted on
June 27,2024 October 20, 2023
b 23 —T-=F
ARA=++tH +A=+H
g B

15.92 15516

3.6% 4.3%

0.9% 0.0%

48.1% 49.2 %

R-ZE-_WE+-_A=+—BHE kKT
FROBERENINETFORGRENTER
B6TOE(ZE==4F : 7.124F) o



For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Share options outstanding at the end of 2024 have the following RoE - UERERITENEIRESD
expiry date and exercise prices: A RTEENT -
Number of

share options

outstanding as at

Expiry date Exercise price per share option December 31, 2024
R-s-mE
+=B=+—~H
e AR AT BEHY
A BHBRENTHEE BREHS
March 9, 2028 RMB2.6 14,541,796
—ZTZN\FE=ANR AR#267T
May 18, 2028 RMB5.5 15,717,803
—ZE-N\FERA+NB ARMB557T
September 1, 2028 HKD9.8 4,648,960
“T-N\FNA—H 9.8 7T
December 19, 2029 HKD12.428 5,342,760
—EAF+ZHATAE 1242877
October 22, 2030 HKD14.436 10,360,200
—E=TF+A-+=H 1443675 7T
October 20, 2031 HKD18.56 22,044,648
—E=—%+A=+H 18.568 7T
June 28, 2032 HKD17.12 23,598,400
—E="FXAZ+N\H 17124 7T
October 19, 2033 HKD15.516 26,391,438
—Z==F+A+NIA 15.51677T
June 26, 2034 HKD15.92 21,000,000
—E=ERAZTRHE 15.927% 7T

143,646,005
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

The following table summarizes information with respect to RSUs

outstanding as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and the weighted

average fair value ("WAFV").

TEREAEAR - -_NFR=_T=
=F+ A=t HHBERTEXR
HERDEMLARMETFERAAEBE
(ThnEFHRAABE] WEHR -

Year ended December 31,

BE+-RA=1t-HLEE

2024 2023
—Zo|mE ZEZ=F
Number of RSUs WAFV Number of RSUs WAFV
SR EES IR T
RAELHA AEE RO EREE AREE
RMB RMB
AR¥ AR¥%
Outstanding at beginning of the year — REHiH K171 48,527,438 14.03 30,369,282 14,68
Granted during the year FARS - - 27,729,938 1358
Vested and settled during the year RERNGEBREE (13,864,985) 14.11 (9,571,782) 14.80
Outstanding at end of the year RERMATE 34,662,453 14,00 48,527,438 14.03

The Company used closing market price of its ordinary shares as at

the date of grant to determine the fair value of RSUs granted during
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-—A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—EF =4
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARBTT

Government subsidies BT 47 B 96,992 57,240
Dividends income % B U A 7,113 7,357
Value-added tax additional deduction AN 152 58,186

104,257 122,783

Grants or subsidies from government are recognized at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grants or subsidies will

be received, and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants or subsidies relating to costs are deferred and
recognized in profit or loss over the period necessary to match them

with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to purchases of property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred income and
are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected

useful lives of the related assets.

i fr £ & B REAS & WER By S B AR
KEKTEPTAMIEME - RE BT
B R IRE R BERER

B2 P 7 A8 B Y KU 6 B a4 BE T DU REIE
FE 75 22 5 E 4 (8 0 B AN AR T AC 9 BRFR R

1B AR

HBEEYE - BERREB BT
FAAFRRBARIESETRA - XHEEH
BEMNBA I ERFHRAUERET AR

o

Bl
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-—A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARETT
Investment income from investments measured REH AT B IRE
at amortized cost FTi5RE R A 55,155 101,520
Net gain on derivative financial PTHESR T AN T
instruments (Note 19(b)) (BaE19(b)) 12,260 37,638
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BFERREUR
equipment and termination of leases LIEFE RS/ (FE) T8 139 (2,592)
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of investments FREREARHLERE
accounted for using the equity method Wz (E518) 7F58 111 (14,037)
Foreign exchange losses, net b+ B1BF 8 (96,128) (66,767)
Donation B (10,798) 279)
Others Hit 28,006 7,441
(11,255) 62,924
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-—A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—EF =4
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARBTT

Finance income 3N
Interest income on bank deposits RITFEHRFIBUA 187,051 172,587
Others Efh 7,573 2,189
194,624 174,776

Finance costs B EH
Interest expenses for borrowings ERFMERX (161,282) (133,380)
Amortized amount of long-term other payables REFEthFE (S RIB RS £ 58 (43,702) (13,630)
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 15(a)) HEBERE (MEE15) (25,911) (10,040)
(230,895) (157,050)
Net finance (costs)/income M (BA) WATFE (36,271) 17,726
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

The income tax expense of the Group for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023 is analysed as follows:

AEEHE T -_NMER T -_=F+=
A=+—BHLFEMNASHAISTET :

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=t—HLFE

2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTT

Current income tax expense BVERFTIS TR 2 456,301 277,445
Deferred income tax (credit)/expense (Note 21) FEMBEH (KR),/ Ax

(BH3E21) (46,741) 10,681

409,560 288,126

Under the current laws of the Cayman lIslands, the Company is
not subject to tax on the Company's income or capital gains. In
addition, no Cayman Islands withholding tax is imposed upon any

payments of dividends.

Entities incorporated in Hong Kong are subject to Hong Kong
profits tax at a rate of 8.25% on assessable profits up to HKD2
million and 16.5% on any part of assessable profits over HKD2
million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

CIT provision was made on the estimated assessable profits of
entities within the Group incorporated in the PRC for the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, calculated in accordance with
the relevant regulations of the PRC after considering the available
tax benefits from refunds and allowances. The general PRC CIT rate
is 25% during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Four of the Company'’s directly held subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC are qualified as High and New Technology Enterprises ("HNTE"),
and accordingly, they are subject to a reduced preferential CIT rate
of 15% for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 according
to the applicable CIT law. The HNTE's qualification of these four

companies will be subject to renewal during 2025 to 2026.

Certain of the subsidiaries enjoy the preferential CIT tax rate of 20%

as small and low-profit enterprises.

Other subsidiaries of the Company incorporated in the PRC are
subject to the general PRC CIT rate of 25% during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023.

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations, dividends
distributed by a company established in the PRC to a foreign
investor with respect to profits derived after January 1, 2008 are
generally subject to a 10% WHT. If a foreign investor incorporated
in Hong Kong meets the conditions and requirements under the
double taxation treaty arrangement entered into between the PRC
and Hong Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate will be reduced
from 10% to 5%.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group does not have any
plan to require its PRC subsidiaries to distribute their retained
earnings and intends to retain them to operate and expand its
business in the PRC. Accordingly, no deferred income tax liability on
WHT was provided as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

REBEEZT_MEFR-_FT_=F+=
A=+—BLtFE  RPEFMAL
B 7R 5 [ 0 F 88 A 1 5T E AR R T 4E
HEEMSHEE  CEMESHEE
TS ERRERB RN ARG
EEEBREPBEMBBEERIE - 85
ZE_NFERZTFZ=F+=ZA=+
—BLEFENFRCEMSHNES
BE525% °

$®ﬁ%¢l%ﬁﬁjm@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
EMBAREREAS ML E
(ImFmezEl)  AEREEAD
¥MBRE  ZEMNBRAREE=F
—NER=ZFT==F+=A=+—H
IFFEEREHBNCEMBSRESR
RIS - ZUK 2 B8 & ¥kl
PEEEBER _Z_RAFE_T X
FEE-

BAOWBRREANIMAEEZS
20%HMEEDEFABHME -

AR E) A B R A AR AL A9 E A B A
ARBE_T_MER_FT_=F+
“A=t-HLEFERTERE-REE
FS TR R 25% 80

RBERTBERBESR  EPEKT
MARRNBEREENEEAEN_-F
TENF-A-BREEMEMNHRER
—RIABAN10% N TEFNTR N E BT
M INRIREENEPREEEE
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the PRC statutory CIT tax rate,

being the applicable tax rate of the major subsidiaries of the Group, is

analysed as follows:

SR ERSWWOT

BRAANKERABHRANENNHEE R
RAPBREECLEMERBE (AIAREET
EMBARMERRE) BR EEEELD

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTT
Profit before income tax KR A8 B AR R 2,397,826 1,853,689
Tax calculated at PRC statutory CIT rate of 25% RHRBEEREMESRREER
25%=T H IR 599,457 463,422
Tax effects of: T BIEBHNMBEE
Preferential income tax rates and tax difference BRESHHE L EPRETE
from the PRC statutory CIT rate EMEHEERENERE (153,450) (140,127)
Super deduction for research and development 5 AN IER (5D
expenses (note) (57,070) (47,808)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes BANRRAY 38,214 84,426
Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses B A LRI ARBERNIBEER
and temporary differences R E A (48,461) (90,460)
Tax losses and temporary differences for which WRERIELEMEHEER
no deferred income tax asset was recognized FIEEE NS ERE 10,012 17,451
Others Hth 20,858 1222
Income tax expense 8B 409,560 288,126

Note:

fia -

According to the relevant tax laws and regulations in the PRC, enterprises
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim 200% of the
research and development expenses as incurred during the year ended December
31, 2024 and 2023 as tax deductible expenses when determining their assessable

profits for the year.
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For the year ended December 31,

Basic earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023 are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares (excluding the treasury shares (Note 29)) in issue

during the respective years.

2024 E—E-_NF+_A=+—HILFE

BE_ T NER-_Z_=F+_A
=t—RLEE SREABNIIR
RARIESF A ARMERFBRASF
NEBETERER (TEFEERFRN (K
i£29)) MO BETE

Year ended December 31,

BE+=-A=t—HLFE

2024 2023
—EomE —EC=F
Profit attributable to equity holders of PAYNSIL- s SN X )
the Company (RMB'000) = (ARBTFIT) 1,974,356 1,554,131
Weighted average numbers of ordinary shares B BT T AR N T8
in issue (thousand shares) (FR%) 2,269,241 2,245,843
Basic earnings per share FRERZRN
(expressed in RMB) (AAREDIR) 0.87 0.69

The movement in the Company’s ordinary shares has been set out
in Note 29.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding (excluding the
treasury shares) to assume conversion of all dilutive potential

ordinary shares.

As at December 31, 2024, 143,646,005 share options and 34,662,453
RSUs were outstanding in total (Note 8). For the year ended
December 31, 2024, the share options and RSUs granted by the
Company have potential dilutive effect on the earnings per share.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding (excluding the
treasury shares) by the assumption of the conversion of all potential
dilutive ordinary shares arising from share options and RSUs
granted by the Company (collectively forming the denominator for
computing the diluted earnings per share). No adjustment is made

to earnings (numerator).

RRRE B E S BAAIE29

BREFRNTREHEDRITER

B (N BIEEF ) B I0HE 19 BiaT
B UBRKRAEBEHSEBERCE
it o

RZTZWFE+=—A=+—RH  &#
143,646,005 17 B8 Ax 4 £ 34,662,453 & 5
PR I A& A BE AL AT AR ATHE (P 7E8) - B E
ZENFEF+ZA=FT—HLEFE -
RAREHOERERZREIRNE
UHERBNEEECHETE -8
REERFTDBEBABRBEITLAR
(T FEEFRD) &0 FHEE

L DR ER AR QR T R B AR
&xﬁﬂkﬁ“uﬁﬁim%ﬁﬁﬁ
HELTEREER (AREKTES
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-—A=+—BHLEE

2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
Profit attributable to equity holders of the AR EREERNE
Company for calculation of diluted earnings RAEIEZ=EB AEN
per share (RMB'000) wA (ARBFIT) 1,974,356 1,554,131
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B BT I mAR N T 15 8
in issue (thousand shares) (F1&) 2,269,241 2,245,843
Adjustments for share options granted to BT REMNBEREREE
employees (thousand shares) (F%) - 34,820
Adjustments for RSUs granted to employees BT EENZBHIRG
(thousand shares) B AR (F1E) 21,782 16,174
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ATEHSREERN W
for calculation of diluted earnings per share L3 R INFE S 5 21
(thousand shares) (TR 2,291,023 2,296,837
Diluted earnings per share FRREE R
(expressed in RMB) (AARESIT) 0.86 0.68
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Furniture,
IT fixtures and Leasehold Construction
Buildings  equipment  motor vehicles Software improvement in progress Total
e
EEEER
BT EERE L] g HERE ERIRE @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR®TR ARBTR AR®TR ARMTR AREBTR ARETR

At January 1, 2024 R-E-mE-A-A
Cost KA 1,804,050 1,044,367 89530 248,153 242,761 238,400 3,667,261
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (146,197)  (715,301) (34,051)  (214,646) (61,807) - (1,172,002)
Net book amount REFE 1,657,853 329,066 55,479 33,507 180,954 238,400 2,495,259
Year ended BZE-Z-omE

December 31, 2024 TZAZt-HLEE
Opening net book amount ENRRTE 1,657,853 329,066 55,479 33,507 180,954 238400 2,495,259
Addition through business BREBEHRE

combination 75,937 1,795 453 297 281 66,872 145,635
Other additions ERE 382,396 134,473 17,646 1,428 60,385 209,312 805,640
Transfer E3 272,130 - - - 73,751 (345,881) -
Depreciation charge WEER (79,447) (115,024) (13,630) (7,277) (50,258) - (265,636)
Disposal HE (1,898) (12,265) (9,830) (3,177) (6,802) - (33,972)
Closing net book amount EXREFE 2306971 338,045 50,118 24778 258311 168703 3,146,926
At December 31, 2024 R-E-MF+-A=1+-AH
Cost AR 2,532,470 930,252 85,669 246,534 368,952 168,703 4,332,580
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (225,499)  (592,207) (35,551)  (221,756)  (110,641) - (1,185,654)
Net book amount REFE 2,306,971 338,045 50,118 24,778 258,311 168,703 3,146,926
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

Furniture,
T fixtures and Leasehold  Construction
Buildings ~ equipment  motor vehicles Software improvement in progress Total
RE-
EERER
BF SRR B o HERE  RRIR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTL ARMTR AT ARETR ARMTT ARETRT ARETR

At January 1, 2023 R-Z-=#-8-A
Cost KA 1,259,286 884,793 58415 241,105 148856 18962 2611417
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (104853)  (637,680) (23331)  (208359) (38807) - (1013,036)
Net book amount REFE 1154433 247,07 35,084 32,746 110049 18962 1598381
Year ended Hz-Z-=F

December 31,2023 +ZB=1+-HILEE
Opening net book amount EYRRTE 1,154,433 247107 35,084 32,746 110,049 18,962 1,598,381
Addition through business BREBANRE

combination 479891 32356 24,550 3,886 7829 105310 653,822
Other additions EAE 7454 152,130 8133 3162 30,295 254193 455,367
Transfer g2 57,419 - = = 82,646 (140,065) =
Depreciation charge HEER (41,344) (98,094) (10944) (6,287) (29032) = (185,701)
Disposal HE - (4433) (1,344) = (20833) = (26610)
Closing net book amount EXBEFE 1,657,853 329,066 55479 33507 180954 238400 2495259
At December 31, 2023 R-B-=&£4+-f=1-H
Cost KA 1804050 1044367 89,530 248,153 242,761 28400 3667261
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (146,197)  (715,301) (34051)  (214,646) (61,807) - (1172002
Net book amount REFE 1,657,853 329,066 55,479 33,507 180954 238400 2495259
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to allocate the
costs of property, plant and equipment to their residual values over their

estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 20 to 50 years
IT equipment 2 to 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and motor vehicles 410 5 years

Software 3to 10 years

Leasehold improvement Estimated useful lives
or remaining lease
terms, whichever is

shorter

Depreciation expenses have been charged to the consolidated income

statement as follows:

FEDAESREZE G AIEAFHAN
RMHBEBEESLEYE  BE RREOKA -

B 20E508F
BIERE 2E5F
FRE - BERBERER 4E5F
B 3E106F
HEEE CERCIRES:E
FHSHT

THEHARR

(&S H

")

KRR RERENBHNEERNT

Year ended December 31,

BE+-RA=1+—HLEE

2024 2023

—E_mE —ECo=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBTT

Cost of revenue SHER A 164,325 111,763
Service development expenses BR %% E R 32,854 37,848
Administrative expenses TR 51,405 26,804
Selling and marketing expenses HE R &MY 17,052 9,286
265,636 185,701

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, no interest on

borrowings were capitalized in construction in progress.

HE-_Z-_NFER-_ZE-_=F+=-A=+—H
WFE - WEERNFEEMERERZIREA °
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the following

amounts relating to leases where the Group is a lessee:

REMBRARZIIAT A EBER/EME
ARFEE BRI :

As at December 31,

Rt+=—A=+-—-8
2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTT

Right-of-use assets EAEEE

Leased buildings HEEF 501,173 427,018

Land-use-rights TR 407,759 161,451

Leased vehicles HEHHR 452 539

Leased equipment &R 16 243
909,400 589,251

Lease liabilities HEAE

Current ik 174,191 40,736

Non-current JERED 680,485 420,464
854,676 461,200

In April, 2024, the Group leases a pool of vehicles from third-party
vehicle lessors which were all subsequently subleased to an associate of
the Group under a finance lease arrangement. As of December 31, 2024,
the lease liabilities as arisen from aforesaid leases of vehicles amounted
to approximately RMB302.0 million and the related right-of-use assets

were derecognised upon the sublease of these vehicles to the associate.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(@) The consolidated income statement shows the following amounts (@) HAWEXREVATEBREZRE

relating to leases:

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=t—HLFE

2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ERAESEREER

Leased buildings HEEF 80,073 44,548

Land-use-rights T Hb (P R 9,367 724

Leased vehicles THEE 599 1,012

Leased equipment HERE 145 156
90,184 46,440

Interest expense (included in finance costs) MERZ (GtAMBER)

(Note 11) (FMFEE11) 25,911 10,040
Short-term and low-value lease rentals EAREKEEHEERS 36,992 18,454
The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was approximately —ENFNHEERSRLATEOR
RMB167,951,000 (2023: RMB80,803,000), including RMB46,956,000 AR¥167,951,000c (ZE =4 :
(2023: RMB18,454,000) for short-term and low-value leases. AR#¥80,803,0007T) ' BEARE

46,956,000 (ZEZ=F : AR¥
18,454,0007T) RE BEARIK(EEEE -
No variable lease payments were contained in lease contracts HE-_Z-_MER-_ZT-_=F+=A8
during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. =t+t—HBIEFE BEAHNTERS

AIEEERNR
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

(b) The Group's leasing activities and how leases are accounted for

As a lessee, the Group's leases are mainly in connection with land-
use-rights with lease term of 50 years and leases of buildings or
vehicles typically for lease terms from over 1 years to 20 years. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease arrangements do
not impose any covenants, but leased assets (other than land-use-

rights) may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Contracts might contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and

non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic

environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(b) The Group's leasing activities and how these are accounted for

(Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing was

received;

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which

does not have recent third party financing; and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, for example, term,

country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortizing loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data) which
has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the group entities
use that rate as a starting point to determine the incremental

borrowing rate.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-

of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset's useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognized on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less without a purchase
option. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and small items of

office furniture.

AEBNHEEETYREEWRAAR
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+t—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-OE =%
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTT
At beginning of the year F9) 1,429,800 1,379,267
Additions (Note a) WNE (Mista) 176,482 178,809
Transfer from investments measured at fair value HIERARBEAEAHE
through profit or loss (Note 3.3(c)(ii)) FABEMEEEA
(B&E3.3(0)) 108,448 -
Shares of profit/(losses) G mF, (FR) 10,599 (33,402)
Transfer to investments measured at fair HERARBEFEEESE
value through profit or loss (Note b) FFABEMIEE (MFEb) - (125,738)
Dividend PE (46,168) (12,071)
Currency translation differences and others ERBmEEEREM 2,984 42,935
At end of the year FR 1,682,145 1,429,800

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BE T ZNF+_A=+—HIFE

Notes:

(€)

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group obtained
equity interests in certain unlisted companies/investment funds through
either direct investments or business combination. The aggregate amount
was approximately RMB176.5 million and RMB178.8 million, respectively.
These companies/investment funds are principally engaged in travel industry
investments, hotel management, software development, other travel-related
business. The Group does not have control over these companies/investment
funds and only has significant influence on them through its representative
in the board of directors of these companies/investment funds.

The Group had disposed of part of its interest in the associate and Group's
representative had exited from the board of directors of the associate in June
2023 and thereafter the Group can no longer exercise significant influence.
Therefore, the investment had been transferred as an investment measured
at fair value through profit or loss during the year ended December 31,2023.

The Group's investments in associates accounted for using the equity
method are not considered as material on individual basis as none of them
individually exceeds 5% of the Group's total assets as at December 31, 2024
and 2023. The aggregate carrying amounts of these individually immaterial
associates and the Group's share of net profits/losses of these associates
have been reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated income statement, respectively.
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BIEFE ANEEBRBHEERENEBEH
EERETILETARIREESHHE -

ZERERBINNBARE 1765858 T
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

As at December 31,

R+=A=+-8H
2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARETTT
Assets as per consolidated statement of GBEMBRAERNEE
financial position
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: BARBEFER
HEH ABRNSREE
- Derivative financial instruments (Note 19) —$TEEBIT A (K:E19) 6,194 24,699
- Investments measured at fair value through —RANBENELRE
profit or loss (Note 18) FTABRMIRE (K3E18) 3,690,271 2,671,009
Financial assets at amortized costs: RBHENATENSREAE
~ Trade receivables (Note 23) — B 5 BUGIA (H723) 1,727,587 1,218,288
- Other receivables (Note 22) — H JRUCGHRIA (FiFE22) 3,943,890 3,020,094
- Investments measured at amortized costs — BN ERNRE
(Note 18) (FftzE18) 1,489,928 3,000,632
~ Restricted cash (Note 24) - XBRHR (fE24) 136,361 144,893
- Cash and cash equivalents (Note 24) - ReE KBS EBY (K5E24) 8,019,963 5,192,398
19,014,194 15,272,013
Liabilities as per consolidated statement of GEMBRAERNEE
financial position
Financial liabilities at amortized cost: REHENATENSRAE
~ Trade payables (Note 26) — B RENRE (MiE26) 4,467,130 4,130,982
- Other payables (Note 27) — B R RIE (HsE27) 5,025,351 3,995,912
— Borrowings (Note 25) — &R (FIEE25) 4,153,746 2,551,037
- Lease liabilities (Note 15) —HEaE(E5) 854,676 461,200
14,500,903 11,139,131

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F



For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

As at December 31,

R+t=HA=t-8H
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBF T
Current assets REBEE
Short-term investments measured at R E
- Amortized cost (Notes a and f(i)) — RN 2 (FifaEa Rf()) 160,639 2,316,753
— Fair value through profit or loss - BARBENELHEEY
(Notes b and f(i)) st A B (BI5Eb R A(i)) 2,733,033 1,631,715
2,893,672 3,948,468
Non-current assets FRBEE
Long-term investments measured at RERE
- Amortized cost (Notes ¢ and f(iii)) — RS A = (M5 Rfin) 1,329,289 683,879
— Fair value through profit or loss —RANBESNEEEZH
(Notes d and f(iv)) FTAER (FiTaEd R fiv) 957,238 1,039,294
2,286,527 1,723,173
Short-term investments measured at amortized cost are time B ER A ENRBERES—FMN
deposits within one year with fixed interest rates, denominated in NREEMESENERAER - AA
RMB or USD. The investments are held for collection of contractual R EILFE - HEHRE AR UE
cash flows and the contractual cash flows of these investments ABHRENE  MERIFERENEGLHR
qualify for solely payments of principal and interest, hence they are EREGEBERARINAE KA
measured at amortized costs. None of these investments are past B AMIRBEKAGE - ZERE
due. i Ey o
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

The short-term investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss include wealth management products, denominated in
RMB or USD, with expected rates of return ranging from 1.59% to
3.84% (2023: 1.30% to 5.20%) per annum or expected recoverable
cash flows of 0% (2023: 25%) for the year ended December 37,
2024. The returns on all these wealth management products are
not guaranteed, hence their contractual cash flows do not qualify
for solely payments of principal and interest. Therefore, they
are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Except for the
investment as mentioned in Note 18(g), none of these investments

are past due.

Long-term investments measured at amortized cost are time
deposits with terms from 2 years to 3 years which bear interests
at fixed interest rates at 2.70% to 3.55% (2023: 3.10% to 3.55%) per
annum and are all denominated in RMB. The investments are held
for collection of contractual cash flow and the contractual cash
flows of these investments qualify for solely payments of principal
and interest, hence they are measured at amortized costs. None of

these investments are past due.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, long-term investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss are equity interests
held by the Group in several private and listed companies as well as
investments in wealth management products with terms of more

than one year.

The equity interests held by the Group in the private and listed
companies are (i) less than 20% of each entity and the Group does
not have control, joint control or significant influence over each of
these entities, or (i) not considered to be substantively the same
as ordinary share due to the investment having a substantive
liquidation preference or redemption rights. Therefore, these
investments are classified as long-term investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss. The fair values of the long-
term investments are measured using valuation techniques with
unobservable inputs and hence classified as level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy for equity interests in private companies. For equity
interests in listed companies, they are measured based on the
quoted market prices in active markets and hence classified as level

1 of the fair value hierarchy.

The wealth management products held by the Group are
denominated in RMB, with expected rates of return at 8.00%
(2023: 2.97% to 8.00%) per annum for the year ended December
31, 2024. The returns on all these wealth management products
are not guaranteed, hence their contractual cash flows do not
qualify for solely payments of principal and interest. Therefore, they
are measured at fair value through profit or loss. None of these
investments are past due. The fair values are based on quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets (level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy) or the cash flow discounted using the expected return or
expected recoverable cash flows based on management judgment

(level 3 of the fair value hierarchy).
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

The Group's investments as mentioned above are not considered AR AR T ERBR - E—NER —
as material on individual basis as none of them individually exceeds T —F4+ - A=+—BAEEEEE
5% of the Group's total assets as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. BERI5% @« FIIR(EREER » AEER

EREBEETREEEAE

As at December 31, 2024, details of top 5 principal investments in each RZZE-_MFE+-_A=+—8  FEH
category are set out as below: RIS AEZRERNFIEHIIWOT -
(i) Short-term investments measured at amortized cost: (i) BREBERATENEHRE :
Percentage
Carrying of size as
amount at compared
Principal amortized to the total
amount costs assets

BR@BEME (HEEMAE

FEEH sHAREE MBI
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AR®TR

Investments in time deposits EHERRE
Bank A ERITA 100,000 100,137 0.27%
Bank B $R178 58,226 60,502 0.16%

158,226 160,639 0.43%
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

As at December 31, 2024, details of top 5 principal investments in each R-E-—mE+—B=+—§8  ZEH
category are set out as below: (Continued) BISKEEZEFHBHSWOT - (&)

(ii) Short-term investments measured at fair value through

(i) BRAABEAEEHAZBHFAR

profit or loss: HHNEHRKRE
Percentage
of size as
Carrying compared
Principal amount at to the total
amount fair value assets

BHHER A HEERE

rEEH FHARE A HWED L
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT AR¥TR

Investments in wealth B EREE
management products

Bank C #RITC 798,000 803,061 2.13%

Financial institution A BRI A 350,000 360,117 0.95%

Financial institution B S RIMETER 279,218 280,993 0.74%

Financial institution C B RIS C 180,000 183,148 0.48%

Bank D #RITD 152,489 153,565 0.41%
1,759,707 1,780,884 4.71%
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

As at December 31, 2024, details of top 5 principal investments in each R-E-—mE+—B=+—§8  ZEH

category are set out as below: (Continued) IS KEBIERSEEHMMT « (&)
(iii) Long-term investments measured at amortized cost: (iii) RBYERAHENERRE

Percentage
Carrying of size as
amount at compared
Principal amortized to the total
amount costs assets

B#ERA  (HEEAE

i sHAREE MEZ
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR

Investments in time deposits EEFHIEE

Bank E ER1TE 510,000 522,095 1.38%
Bank F ER1TF 370,000 387,147 1.02%
Bank A HRITA 150,000 157,009 0.42%
Bank G R17G 100,000 105,515 0.28%
Bank H ER1TH 100,000 104,674 0.28%

1,230,000 1,276,440 3.38%
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

As at December 31, 2024, details of top 5 principal investments in each R-E-—mE+—B=+—§8  ZEH
category are set out as below: (Continued) IS KEBIERSEEHMMT « (&)
(iv) Long-term investments measured at fair value through (iv) BAAEBESEEESEHT AR
profit or loss: EWEHIKRE :
Percentage
of size as
Carrying compared
Equity amount at to the total
interest held fair value assets

BOAREE HEERE
BFHERE FHARE A WE D

RMB’000
ARBTT
Investments in equity interests g% &
Company A ~AEIA 0.93% 222,044 0.59%
Limited liability partnership A BEREBILEA 5.88% 172,670 0.46%
Company B NG 2.93% 107,003 0.28%
Company C ~EIC 0.87% 59,135 0.16%
560,852 1.49%
Percentage
of size as
Carrying compared
Principal amount at to the total
amount fair value assets
RAREE HEEAE
rEEHE FTEREE WEDL
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TT
Investments in wealth management B EREE
products
Financial institution D TRIEED 100,000 100,000 0.26%

—Z_UEEFEEIRE | ANNUAL REPORT 2024



For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+t-A=+-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-OMF —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBETFTT
Fair value changes in long-term investments Hz’&ﬁihfﬁﬁgﬂ
measured at fair value through profit or loss EJFJ\T?E\J%T/E \
NAEEE (7,509) 46,530
Fair value changes in short-term investments &Qﬁ1,\fgu+iﬂ
measured at fair value through profit or loss EJFJ\TEJ%:%
(note) ~AEEE 34,510 (79,023)
27,001 (32,493)
Investment income from investments measured R HER AT EM
at amortized costs REMRERA 55,155 101,520
82,156 69,027

Note:

The net fair value gain/(loss) in short-term investments measured at fair
value through profit or loss for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
is after the net-off of the fair value loss of approximately RMB50.7 million
and RMB150.2 million, respectively, as recognised based on the estimated
cash flows to be recovered from an investment product as managed by a
licenced fund manager. The Group had initiated litigations against the fund
manager to recover the related investment and a final judgement in favour
of the Group was adjudged by the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “High Court") on January 22, 2024 which ordered
the fund manager to repay the investment amount to the Group. However,
the final judgement was subsequently set aside by the High Court on
September 3, 2024 and the High Court returned back the case to be resolved
through the arbitration process. As of the date of these consolidated
financial statements, the fund manager has not yet repaid any amount to the
Group and the Group will continue to dedicate resources in collecting back
any recoverable investment amount in the best interest of the Group.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

During the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group has
entered into certain derivative contracts with financial institutions which
are used for economic hedging purposes (instead of being speculative
investments) to manage the Group's foreign exchange risk. However,
these derivative contracts do not meet the hedge accounting criteria
and hence they are classified as “held for trading” for accounting
purposes and are accounted for as financial assets/(liabilities) at fair

value through profit or loss.

The full fair value of hedging derivatives is classified as a non-current
asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is
more than 12 months. It is classified as a current asset or liability when
the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.

Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.

The current assets of derivative financial instruments still outstanding as
of December 31, 2024 is RMB6,194,000 (2023: RMB24,699,000).

HE-_Z-_NEFR-_ZF-_=F+-A=+
—BLEFE FAEEESHBBIIVET
R ES T A (MIEREERE) 8977
FTASHNERAREENIMNERR - A
M ZENETEEOTRFEEREHE
Al At et EMsS BEWS BRI
EEE |WARIIERAABENELEE
i ABE=MNEREE (AF) -

EYRIEE TR A EE 2 AR
HHTETAN 2 BAREBERD ERIE
mBEESEE - BEMPIEANTRIH
BORNREAR  EROBRRBEEN
BE -RHTETARIERRDEEL
BE-

HEe-_Z-_mF+=-_A=+—RH1NHKE
HNTESBRTANRBEERARK
6,194,000 (ZZE==F : AR¥ 24,699,000
JC) °
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

For information about the methods and assumptions used in

determining the fair value of derivatives, please refer to Note 3.3.

The following amounts were recognized in profit or loss as other

(losses)/gains — net in relation to derivative financial instruments:

BREBEIMETARRBEEMERD
TERBRREOER - F2HME33 -

ATSEERITER BT AN AN
R AR (ER),/ Yk — F5

Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=+-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTT

Net realized gains on derivative TEEMIAR
financial instruments IR A F R 30,920 2,167
Unrealized (losses)/gains on derivative PTESRI ARSI
financial instruments (E518),/ Wz (18,660) 35,471
12,260 37,638
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Business  Tourist and

cooperation  scenic spot

arrangement area

Business and andinternet  operation

Goodwill ~ customer Tradenames  Technology  domain names rights
(Noted) relationships (Note a) platform (Note b) (Note¢) Others Total

HeE  HERE

ik RHR ki RERERE HEL

(WiEd)  EFBE (M) KBTS  HAMED) (KR Aft it
RMB000  RMB0OO  RMB000  RMB000 RMB000  RMB0OO  AMB000  RMB'000
ARRTT ARMTR ARMTn ARMTR  ARRTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR

At January 1, 2024 R=F-MmE-5-R
Cost A 5039,034 2105808 2,451,133 304,812 1,256,520 738,200 70974 11,966,481
Accumulated amortization Zithe - (960,79) (97.049) (47033 (1,012720) (3076)  (18827) (2339,699)
Impairment W (5,524) - (40,402) - (555) - - (46481)
Net book amount FAFE 5033510  1,145014 2313482 57,719 243,245 735124 52147 9,580,301
Year ended December 31,2024 BEZE-mE

t-B=t+-ALEE
Opening net book amount ENERFE 5033510 1,145014 2313482 57,779 243,245 735,124 52,147 9,580,301
Addition thiough business combination  BBEBAHFE 199,640 - 152,931 - - 62,800 5 45376
Other additions AMFE - 576 731 - 1,527,252 - 12430 1,547,569
Amortization charge HHEH - (180,876) (37,141) (14,690) (456,129) (36,910 (1,040)  (726,786)
Disposal HE - - - - - - (2,382) (2,382)
(Closing net book amount FRREFE 5,233,150 964,714 2,436,583 43,089 1,314,368 761,014 61,160 10,814,078
At December 31,2024 RZB-RE+ZA=1-H
Cost A 5238674 2106384 2,611,375 304,812 1,547,012 801,000 80997 12,690,254
Accumulated amortization ESpiE - (1041670 (134390)  (261,723) (232,089)  (39986)  (19,837) (1,829,695)
Impairment HE (5524) - (40,402) - (555) - - (46,481)
Net book amount FEFE 5,233,150 964714 2,436,583 43,089 1,314,368 761014 61,160 10,814,078
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

20 BREEE (&

Business
cooperation  Tourist and
arangement  scenic spot
Business and and internet area
Goodwill customer ~ Trade names  Technology  domain names operation
(Note d)  relationships (Note a) platform (Note b)  right (Note c) Others Total
fheff RERE
BE £BR i R RERS fmafE
(fstd)  ZPEE (k) HKOEFE  HAWHED) (Hi3ko) Eh Bt
RMBI000 RMB000 RMBI000 RMB000 RMBI000 RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
ARETT  ARETT ARETn ARETT  ARETR  ARETR ARETT ARETR
At January 1, 2023 RZFZ=£-5-8
Cost A 4235 1995008 2450332 265412 156,520 = 49045 10288552
Accumulated amortization ESEi - (780868) (65487)  (200868) (596.473) = (17637)  (1,661333)
Impairment e (5524) - (40402) - (555) s = (46481)
Net book amount BEFE 4266711 1214140 2344443 64,544 659492 = 31408 8580738
Year ended December 31,2023 BEZB-=E
TZAZT-ALEE
Opening net hook amount ENSAFE 4266711 124040 2344443 64,544 659492 s 3408 8580738
Addition through business combination ~ EREBAHRE 766,799 110800 = 39400 = 738200 125 1656455
Other additions HthAE = = 801 = = = 20923 21724
Amartization charge b - (17992) 31,762 (46,165) (416.247) (3076) (1440)  (678616)
Closing net book amount ERBEFE 5033510 1145014 2313482 57,779 1345 735,124 5147 9580301
At December 31,2023 RZBZZHtZA=+-H
Cost A 503903 2005808 2451133 304812 1,256,520 738200 70974 11966481
Accumulated amortization ESpi - (960,794) (07009 (470%) (1012,720) (3076)  (18827)  (2339699)
Impairment W (5524) = (40402) = (555) = = (46.481)
Net book amount HEEE 5033510 1145014 2313482 57,779 1345 735,124 SL047 9580301
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BE T ZNF+_A=+—HIFE

Notes:

€)

Trade names

The trade names balance as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 primarily
comprised of the trade name acquired by the Group before the years
presented which is with finite useful life of 5 years and the trade names
acquired by the Group in 2024 which is with finite useful life of 20 years
(collectively “trade name with finite useful life"), and the trade name of
Tongcheng brand arising from the acquisition of Tongcheng Network's
Online Travel Agency Business (“Tongcheng Online Business”) (the
“Acquisition”) on March 9, 2018 which is with indefinite useful life.

The trade name attributable to the brand of Tongcheng Online Business is
considered with indefinite useful life based on the considerations that: i) it is
a well recognized brand in the market; ii) the Group have demonstrated its
ability to efficiently manage similar brand and will continue to put significant
resource to maintain and promote the brand; iii) there is no technical
obsolescence nor legal limits on the use of the assets; and iv) stability of the
online travel service industry without any persistent downturn in foreseeable
future.

The Company has a contractual business cooperation arrangement with a
shareholder (the “Shareholder”) under which the Shareholder will deploy
certain agreed-upon software and business resources to the Group for a
contractual period of three years. The arrangement is renewable upon the
expiry of each contractual period, subject to the mutual agreement on
the renewal terms. On July 30, 2024, the Group has renewed the business
cooperation arrangement with the Shareholder for another term of three
years and the consideration is payable in four installments over three years
(with the last installments payable on or before July 2027). The management
of the Company has assessed and concluded that the business cooperation
arrangement was qualified for capitalization as an intangible asset which will
be amortized on a straight-line basis over the contractual beneficial period
of three years.

The tourist and scenic spot area operation rights are arisen from the
acquisition of Shaoxing Lujian Lanting Cultural Tourism Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Lanting”) (Note 32) in 2024 and the acquisition of Hainan Yanoda
Yuanrong Tourism Co., Ltd. (“Yanuoda”) in 2023. These rights represent the
Lanting’s exclusive right to operate a tourist and scenic spot area in the
Zhejiang Province, the PRC for a remaining contractual period of 40 years
and the Yanuoda'’s exclusive right to operate a tourist and scenic spot area in
the Hainan Province, the PRC for a remaining contractual period of 23 years.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

Notes: (Continued)

(d

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

Impairment tests for goodwill

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group's goodwill is summarized as
follows:

iz : (&)

(d)

EERE R

RZEZMFERZF_=F+=ZA=+—
B AEEHNEERENT :

As at December 31,

R+=A=+—-H
2024 2023
—EomE —T-=F
Goodwill recognized from: RMB’000 RMB'000
RUTSERINEE ARBTT ARETT
The group of Tongcheng OTA CGUs ARERRETAREEEEMMAR 4,546,371 4,509,387
Other CGUs HihREEEBN 686,779 524,123
5,233,150 5,033,510

The Company performed impairment reviews for the goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful life annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. For impairment
assessment purpose, the carrying value of the group of CGUs or CGUs
containing goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life (if any),
is compared to the recoverable amount of the respective group of CGUs or
CGUs which is determined based on the higher amount from the fair value
less cost of disposal (“FVLCD") and value-in-use (“VIU") calculations. The
Group is principally engaged in the provision of online travel related services
and different online business lines are highly integrated, management
reviews the online business performance of the Group and operates
the trade name of Tongcheng brand at group level as a single segment
(except that for Beijing Tongcheng Tourism Investment Group Co., Ltd.
("Tongcheng Tourism Investment”), Yanuoda, Karasuyamajo Country Club
Co., Ltd. ("Karasuyamajo”) and Lanting have been identified as separate CGUs
which are more related to “offline” travel related operations) (“the group of
Tongcheng OTA CGUs"). Therefore, the abovementioned goodwill has been
allocated to (i) the group of Tongcheng OTA CGUs; (i) other CGUs.

The group of Tongcheng OTA CGUs

The goodwill of the group of Tongcheng OTA CGUs is mainly generated
from the acquisition on March 9, 2018 amounting to RMB3,608,555,000.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the recoverable amount of the group
of Tongcheng OTA CGUs was determined based on FVLCD, which was
estimated by management with reference to the transaction price of the
Company’s listed shares in the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and excluded the estimated recoverable amounts of the CGUs
of Tongcheng Tourism Investment, Yanuoda, Karasuyamajo and Lanting.
The result of the impairment testing reveals that the estimated recoverable
amount of the group of Tongcheng OTA CGUs well exceeded its carrying
amount. Hence, the directors of the Company concluded that no provision
for impairment is required to be recognized as at December 31, 2024 and
2023.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

Impairment tests for goodwill (Continued)
(i) The CGUs of others

For the CGUs of others, management forecasted the average annual
growth rate ranging from 3% to 33%, budgeted gross margin ranging
from 11% to 91%, and the cash flows beyond the five-year period
were extrapolated using the estimated terminal growth rate of
generally 2%. Pre-tax discount rates ranging from 12% to 16% were
applied, which reflected assessment of time value and specific risks
relating to the industries that the Group operates in. The result of the
impairment testing reveals that the estimated recoverable amount of
other CGUs exceeded its carrying amount. Hence, the directors of the
Company concluded that no provision for impairment is required to be
recognized as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the
costs of the intangible assets over the following estimated useful lives:

MEE: (&)
d) PEERERRE)
(i) HMREELBLN

REMRESELENTmS  EEREEA
FHFREENT3%E33% ' BEEF
ENF11%ZEN% - MAFHUENES
HEDNER B B2%MHTRRIERER
HE BEEAMBATBRBEENTI2%9E
16%  HRBEFEEEREAEELE
FIEfT A RS BB T o RER
AERBER  HthIRSEEBMNGETT
WElSEBAEREE - At - ARFE
ERAE RITEZNFRZZTZ=F+=
A=+ BEFHERRERE -

(@ HHEDNERBEMRANE - UWETIIEFAIE
REHRAD BT EENKA :

Business and customer relationships 5-12 years XBHEPBIER 5-124F
Trade names 5-20 years [k 5-204F
Technology platform 6-10 years KT E & 6-10%F
Business cooperation arrangements 3-5 years XBEELHE 3-54F
Tourist and scenic spot area operation rights 23-40 years IR R R AL 23-40%
Internet domain names 5 years GBI E [¥:3

Amortization charges were expensed in the following categories in the
consolidated income statement:

BHEARGESWARAEA TR

Year ended December 31,

BEt+t-A=+—-HLEE

2024 2023
—B-WEF —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
Cost of revenue SHEM A 62,231 28,019
Service development expenses RIS 198,930 229,547
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHEALZ 453,129 413,397
Administrative expenses THRAX 12,496 7,653
726,786 678,616
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax R EREERELEFERBENDNT
liabilities is as follows: m

As at December 31,

R+=—RA=+—8H
2024 2023
—E O —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTT

Deferred income tax assets: REFTSIREE
— To be realized after more than 12 months — @12 A& 3R 226,430 230,282
- To be realized within 12 months — 12 A REIR 110,237 58,137
336,667 288,419
Offsetting with deferred income tax liabilities HURIEFTIS T B BRI (123,223) (82,210)
213,444 206,209

Deferred income tax liabilities: FEEFTEHAE
- To be settled after more than 12 months —B@IERRER (825,269) (817,560)
- To be settled within 12 months - REARNEE (64,567) (9,510)
(889,836) (827,070)
Offsetting with deferred income tax assets BURIE PTG E E AR 123,223 82,210
(766,613) (744,860)
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

The gross movements in deferred income tax assets are as follows: EEFEREERESFHMT
Future tax
deductible
Impairment  expenses and Lease Tax losses
of assets others (Note a) liabilities (Note b) Total
ARTH
RERXR HEER
BERE  H(Ka) HEAE (tstb) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT  AR¥TRT  ARETR  AR%TR  ARETR

At January 1, 2024 R-B-MmE-F-H 46,747 80,736 82,210 78,726 288,419
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss REE (R),/3A (1,838) 13,062 41,013 (15,255) 36,982
Charged to other reserve REtEENR - 11,266 - - 11,266
At December 31, 2024 R-B-MmE+-A=1-H 44,909 105,064 123,223 63,471 336,667
At January 1, 2023 R-E-=%-8-H 50,159 89,169 14852 70,158 224338
Addition through business combination BREBEHRE - - 8422 61,816 70,238
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss PMEH (H1%) /3 A 3412) (3,655) 58936 (53,248) (1,379)
Charged to other reserve REMEENR = (4778) = = (4778)
At December 31, 2023 RZBZ=%+-A=1-H 46,747 80,736 82210 78726 288419
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

The gross movements in deferred income tax liabilities are as follows:

EEFTSHA AR

BRI

Fair value

Intangible changes in

assets acquired investments

orassets  measured at

appreciation fair value

inbusiness  through profit  Right-of-use

combination or loss assets Others Total

BRONEE

REBAHH FRER

ESNEY 285 AREN
EELE BESE  ERAREE At @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR  AR%TR  AR%TR  AR¥Tr  ARETR
At January 1, 2024 RZZE-ME-F-H (744,709) - (82,210) (151) (827,070)
Addition through business combination BREBEHRE (72,525) - - - (72,525)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss REFFA/(HK) 50,218 = (41,013) 554 9,759
At December 31, 2024 R=B-ME+-A=1-A (767,016) - (123,223) 403 (889,836)
At January 1, 2023 R-2-=%-A-H (598,747) (3:425) (14852) (2839) (619,863)
Addition through business combination BREBAHIE (189,483) = (8422) = (197,905)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss RS/ () 43521 3425 (58936) 2,688 (9,302)
At December 31,2023 R-Z-=f+-A=t-H (744,709) = (82,210) (151) (827,070)
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Notes:

(@)

Future tax deductible expenses and others mainly include share-based
compensations, advertising and promotion expenses and accelerated
accounting depreciation on property, plant and equipment, etc. The Group
expects that sufficient taxable income will be generated in the future to
realize these temporary differences.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary
differences and tax losses carry-forwards to the extent that the realization
of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The
Group did not recognize deferred income tax assets of approximately
RMB174,398,000 (2023: RMB213,458,000) as at December 31, 2024, in respect
of tax losses that can be carried forward against future taxable income
amounting to approximately RMB609,378,000 (2023: RMB755,852,000)
and other temporary differences of approximately RMB350,337,000 (2023:
RMB383,919,000). The unrecognized tax losses will expire between 2025 and
2029 under the PRC tax regulations.

R AT R B TR B s B Bt T BB AE AR
RERNHES  BSRERFAXRME B
ERRERIEHTES - RAEEEH - A
BEELRARRBRANERZEERH =
LAl

BELEMBHREEDRAINRERZER
RMEBEBAE®R WU REBBRRE
ERB AN SEMAEHRBEERAR - K=
T_ME+-A=+—8  AEBELER
A AAE AR RERTW AN IEEE
HANRM609,378,0007L (ZE =4 : A
R#755,852,00070) REMEREELOA
R¥350,337,000L (ZE=Z=F : AR¥
383,919,0007T) FER LI AR ¥ 174,398,000 7T
(ZZE==%F: AR¥213,458,0007T) HiE
EFRHEE - 25 RAERBIEEBERE
FREMBERR-_E_AFE_ZT-_NF5H
/Hﬂ o
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

As at December 31,

R+=—A=+—8H
2024 2023
—E-IE —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBET T

Non-current JEBP AR
Prepayment for property, plant and TERME - BEMEERIER

equipment (Note d) (PfF3Ed) 68,444 424,734
Prepayment to suppliers TR R RE 69,844 52,992
Prepayment for equity investment AR M & TR SR IE 1,619 40,000
Prepayment to related parties (Note 37(c)) TE < BAES 7 A (F1Tu$37(c)) 1,128 1,300
Prepayment for right-of-use assets (Note e) FBAHE A A E A (Mizte) - 180,440
Total non-financial assets FEemEELT 141,035 699,466
Finance lease receivables from an FEUE S AR E SRR

associate (Note g and 37(c)) (B5Eg X 37(c)) 222,294 =
Deposits Ze 7,532 7,281
Others A 104,900 86,223
Total financial assets TRIEERRE 334,726 93,504
Non-current, total JERNER - 48%E 475,761 792,970
Current BIHA
Prepayment to tickets suppliers A R HER R 976,484 779,802
Prepayment to accommodation suppliers TR EEHR rﬁm 262,841 229,516
Prepaid taxation AR IR 191,618 111,309
Prepayment to related parties (Note 37(c)) TEAT B 5 3B (MP3E37(0)) 81,661 63,606
Prepayment for advertising BNEEE 81,945 50,627
Prepayment for office rental FERHAHES 2,115 2,589
Others A 244,309 205,864
Total non-financial assets FEmEELT 1,840,973 1,443,313
Designated deposit account with restrictive use PR 1 FR i A 5 ET_ 3=

(Note 3.1(b)(ii)) (PRFEE3.1(b) (i) 2,453,229 2,007,597
Receivable from related parties (Notes f and 37(c)) JE UK A ?5’\15\ (P zEf R 37(0) 497,339 428,738
Deposits e 397,495 324,851
Finance lease receivables from an associate FEU & N A A ERIR

(Note g and 37(c)) (FFEg & 37(c)) 107,150 =
Others EAith 261,353 267,480

3,716,566 3,028,666

Less: provision for impairment B BB RS (107,402) (102,076)
Total financial assets CREEMLTE 3,609,164 2,926,590
Current, total BNHR - 4% 5,450,137 4,369,903
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(a)

(b)

For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

The carrying amounts of prepayment and other receivables
approximate their fair values as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Movement in impairment of other receivables are as follows:

@ RIE-_NEFR-_T-_=%+"H=
T—H BANREREMGEKKIED
FHEREQAREERESE -

(o) EAbREUSIERBEZBIMT

Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETE

At beginning of the year F4) (102,076) (102,324)
Provision for impairment RERHE (10,297) (15,480)
Written-off i gH 4,082 13,357
Reversal of impairment losses BEBEED 889 2,371

At end of the year FR (107,402) (102,076)

Note 3.1(b) sets out information about the impairment of other

receivables and the Group's exposure to credit risk.

As at December 31, 2023, the Group had prepaid part of the
consideration of RMB400 million for the purchase of certain
buildings for its future office operations. The purchase of these

buildings was subsequently completed in March 2024.

(©) PHFE3.1(b) & A AR At FE WK IRR (B
RAEEAREERBIER -

d RZE—=F+=-A=+—H  X&
BEEMNBIREAREI0BET -
ARBEERETEFUEAERLNA

EEE REEFHNBEHREERZ
TPOF = AKX ©
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

(e)

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

As at December 31, 2023, the Group has prepaid the entire
consideration of approximately RMB180 million for the purchase of
a land located in Suzhou from the local government. The Group has
subsequently acquired the land with the land-use-right ownership

certificate obtained on January 9, 2024.

Receivables from related parties mainly represent payment platform

deposit of RMB300 million paid to a subsidiary of a shareholder.

Finance lease receivables from an associate represent the
receivables in connection with the sublease of vehicles to the
associate as mentioned in Note 15, with lease terms ranging from
24 to 36 months. These lease receivables are unsecured and earn
interests at an weighted average interest rate of 3.42% during the
year ended December 31, 2024.

BRERITERBRAF

(e)

R-ZB-_=%+-_A=+—H &%
B 2 & U TR A B B AL AR EY
THHEHRREOARKIBOBET -
REBERESZLIHMAR TN
F-ANBBIS L EREE -

FEWEHM A RBEERIN T —RR
RE—ZXMBRAARKI0EETHX
NFEEEZRE -

JEUEE & N PRt & T E RIEE M
15 Fat > MH B8 8 T Bk 2 A | A B R
H > BN F24Z36@ATE - BHE
—E_EFEt+-_A=t—HLFE"
ZERWEERAESEIKT - RN
S FI R 3,420 BRELUF &, o



For the year ended December 31,2024 BiEZE = ZEZWF+=A=+—HILFE

As at December 31,

R+=A=+—H
2024 2023
—ElmEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARBT T
Trade receivables B 5 EWFIE
~ Third parties —%=H 1,721,411 1,275,099
— Related parties (Note 37(c)) — B 7 (FF5E37(0)) 98,759 66,620
1,820,170 1,341,719
Less: provision for impairment B RERE (92,583) (123,431)
Total et 1,727,587 1,218,288
Notes: BiEE

(a)

Classification as trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for products sold or
services performed in the ordinary course of business.

Trade receivables are classified as current assets if settlement is due within
one year. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognized initially at the amount of consideration
that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing components,
in which case they are recognized at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows
and therefore it measures them subsequently at amortized cost using the
effective interest method.

Details about the Group's impairment policies and the calculation of the loss
allowance are provided in Note 3.1(b).

DIRRE 5 RWGRIA

BHRKWFBRRBAEEHBRTELNE
an 2 B R O AR 7% 1 e MR 2 P KR o

BHRWFBEE—FRIBMEE - JIHSA
BREEE  BRIZIWEFERBEE -

ﬁ%ﬂguﬂz EDIREIRGORESBYTE
CHRIFEBFEERMEMAKED - EURIE

/RTE}R/A REBEER AEEREEFE

WHIEMBEHRKBMENRERE - .lﬂ:ﬁ

BRETRERNZEIZBERANAEES

W FRIE

BRAEBBERRLEBERETENFS
BRI 3 (b)
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

Notes: Mz -
(b) Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of trade receivables are b) A& ESRBFEREREZLBNAT -
as follows:
Year ended December 31,
BE+=-A=+-HLEE
2024 2023
—E-mEF T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBFT
At beginning of the year F9) (123,431) (182,562)
Provision for impairment TRE R (2,156) (5,956)
Receivables written off as uncollectible 8 2 7 AT U [ R Wk IR 9,873 48,097
Reversal of impairment losses B LR EEE 21,920 1,583
Others Hith 1,211 15,407
At end of the year FR (92,583) (123,431)
(c)  The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values as at (c) 73'/:‘_ T _NFER_FE_=F+ZRA=+—
December 31, 2024 and 2023. B RS FENRREREE QR EEE
g °
(d) The Group normally allows a credit period of 30 days to its customers. An (d AEBBELTRER 303{9’9%%‘3&@ Jick
aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows: HEQHYE S ERGIAETHERR DTN
-
As at December 31,
R+=A=+-—8
2024 2023
—E-mE T-=F
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR®T T ARBFT
Up to 6 months &=Z6(HA 1,702,620 1,209,113
Over 6 months 618 A A L 117,550 132,606
1,820,170 1,341,719
(e) The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit (e) AKHEEARBRIMBEHREEREOFBETM
losses as prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected S5 H = TE A E B R E - ZER
loss provision for all trade receivables. Note 3.1(b) sets out information about R REE S EWIEFERAEEFESRN
the impairment of trade receivables and the Group's exposure to credit risk. FEHEEEE - Wi 1 0B EMRESE

WRIERER A S I%KyJﬁEJ—L REVE R -
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

As at December 31,

Rt+=—A=+-—-8
2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTT

Cash at hand FHERE 2,938 2,698
Cash at bank RITIRS 7,100,079 4,309,964
Cash held in other financial institutions REMSREERENIRS 916,946 879,736

8,019,963 5,192,398

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The conversion of the RMB denominated balances
maintained in the PRC into foreign currencies is subject to the rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the

PRC government.
Cash held in other financial institutions represent cash balances

in payment platforms which can be withdrawn at any time at the

Group's discretion.

[+ £ =z

RITRSBREARTERNEINZH
FEREBFIE - RPBEFERHARE
RN BINE BB TP BT EM
F SN B B AR R B 1

REMEREBFSAENRSEEFR
I 3CF & R i A £ DR E B B R ER Y
B MR

As at December 31,

R+=—HA=+—8”
2024 2023
—EoE —TE-=HF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETT

Deposits restricted for a borrowing PERZBRE TR 32,460 35,782
Deposits to business partners (note ii) BT EBEHNZS (D 103,901 109,111
136,361 144,893
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

Notes:

(i)  Restricted cash represents cash that cannot be withdrawn without the
permission of third parties.

(i) In connection with the Group’s air ticket business and the
accommodation reservation services, the Group was required by its
business partners to place deposits in the Group's bank accounts as
guarantee for the issuance of air tickets and reservation of room nights.

Wi

() REBIRSIEALS = T7H/ETT AR
MWIRE -

(i) BAKEKEER REBR RS M
F XBBHBERAEEEARERR
TP OFAZSERR - AHEIRESE
HHR R R IRAT -

As at December 31,

Rt=RA=+—8”
2024 2023
—E-mF T
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARETE

RMB AR #E 5,982,635 4,607,344
usD E 1,760,430 557,498
HKD BT 281,351 110,672
Others Hit 131,908 61,777
Total Bt 8,156,324 5,337,291
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

As at December 31,

R+=—H=+—8H
2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETE

Included in non-current liabilities: FARBEE
Long-term unsecured bank borrowings (note i) IR R ARER I T A AR (M EED 2,429,577 1,442
Long-term secured bank borrowings (note i) BEBRAPRITER (M) 364,880 9,500
2,794,457 10,942
Included in current liabilities: FARBEE
Current portion of long-term unsecured bank IR EIRITIE KA
borrowing (note i) BNERER - (BI5ED) 147,120 1,814,969
Current portion of long-term secured bank BEMRRERITERD
borrowings (note i) BUERFL 5 (PHFED) 43,028 =
Short-term secured bank borrowings BEIPEAARITERK 59,237 90,990
Short-term unsecured bank borrowings (note ii) A IR S BRI T A AR (MR 1,109,904 634,136
1,359,289 2,540,095
4,153,746 2,551,037
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

Notes: MiaE -

(i) As at December 31, 2024, the Group's long-term bank borrowings was () RZTEZWF+-—A=+—8B  FAEEHE
approximately RMB2,984.6 million in aggregate. These long-term bank borrowings BIRITERAEHARNARK 2984688 -
are unsecured, except for a borrowing under the loan agreement entered into by ZERMBBITERAEER  HAKERZ
the Group with the lending bank on January 9, 2024 which is secured by pledging ToMF—-ANBRERERRITITLHERD
100% equity interests of a subsidiary of the Group acquired in 2023. BB THERRIN  ZEBRALEERZ

T =F I — BB 2 B1691000% XK
(i
As at December 31, 2024, the effective interest rates of long-term bank borrowings RZZE-_MF+=-A=+—H  EHRTE
were 2.46% to 5.69% (2023: 3.38% to 5.98%) per annum. HHERFFEE246%E569% (ZFE =

F 1 3.38%%5.98%) °

(i) The Group has drawn down certain short-term bank borrowings totalling iy AEEBR-_ZTE-_NFRIEHARK,
RMB1,110 million in 2024. The short-term borrowings are unsecured and BETHE TRERITENR Sii?ﬁ,ﬁﬂf b
denominated in RMB. As at December 31, 2024, these borrowings bear interests AEEBVUAREE RZTZWF
at fixed interest rates ranging from 2.00% to 5.50% (2023: 2.55% to 2.90%) per +=ZA=+—8" Eﬁ%%?ﬁﬁ)\ F2.00%E
annum. 5.50% (ZFZ=4F : 2.55% % 2.90%) & EE

FRIEER -

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group's borrowings are repayable as follows: RIBE_NFR-ZF_=F+-A=+—HB" K
SEERNEZBROT

As at December 31,

R+=A=+—8H

2024 2023
—TomEF —Fo=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®ETT
Within 1 year TR 1,359,289 2,540,095
1to 2 years 1226 344,312 3,586
2 to 5 years 2ES5F 2,449,727 7,308
Over 5 years SEE 418 48
4,153,746 2,551,037

The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its bank borrowings BE-—S-—mNER-—E-—=F+—-_A=+—H1

during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. FE ANEEDETHBITEROERE -
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

As at December 31,

Rt+t=RA=+—~H
2024 2023
—E-MEF —TZ=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBETT
Payables to third parties B E =58 2,113,161 2,055,660
Payables to related parties (Note 37(c)) JE 1~ BB 77 7RI (B RE37(0)) 2,353,969 2,075,322
4,467,130 4,130,982

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Where trade payables are settled via electronic cash transfer, they are
derecognized when the Group has no ability to withdraw, stop or cancel
the payment, has lost the practical ability to access the cash as a result
of the electronic payment instruction, and the risk of a settlement not
occurring is insignificant.

Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.
Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair values as
at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

An aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:

BHRNFARMERATEBHBEPRHER
ﬁéﬂim%‘ﬁﬁkﬂﬁi‘kﬂﬁﬁméﬂi o fii & 5 FE 5K
ﬂ%%IE$L$£i** CRAIEAEBEERR
CELESHBUENR  BEFXMERMAE
E\ﬁ%‘\ﬁ%ﬁié’] ﬂﬁ—iri“iﬁ&?%;xiiklﬁ i
FETHEENRRIT TEK o

HWESRERNFBER - FRELKREANDNL
- 'J"*EF%ML@JE{E CBARINABERBE

& o

B RNFIBONTRALEBERR
FAE B A A LA SR AT 8 o

HIZAIE

R-ZB-_MER-ZFT-_=Ft+"H=+—H"

B2 RNTORNEREEREAEERS

REBEZEZAHNE ZRNKBNRERONAT

As at December 31,

R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-E —EZ=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBT T
Up to 6 months =%6ME A 4,228,780 3,916,065
Over 6 months 68 A A E 238,350 214,917
4,467,130 4,130,982
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

As at December 31,

R+=-—A=+—~H
2024 2023
—EomE —E=%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARETT

Non-current FEENER
Payables to related parties (Notes a and 37(c)) FE 1< AR 5 3B (FF5Ea f37(c) 920,171 =
Consideration payable for equity investment and IR & I U B FE A (B

acquisition 2,000 47,864
Others Hh 26,262 26,772
Total financial liabilities EaA=-REEELE 948,433 74,636
Non-current, total JEENHER > #H%E 948,433 74,636
Current BN HA
Advances from users RAP®% 2,128,525 2,073,826
Payables to related parties (Notes a and 37(c)) FE 1< AR H/T/\IE (FF5Eal37(c) 593,700 461,564
Deposits from sales channel KREHERENZE 296,996 255,958
Payable to insurance companies FEATRBR A RIFIA 257,108 160,843
Payable to travel service suppliers r1¢5&&&ﬂ&%1 tFE R FRIR 160,219 129,500
Payable for purchases of property, plant and Y BB RS EENRIR

equipment 145,054 112,495
Consideration payable for equity investment and ARG & R R R (E

acquisition 113,657 305,455
Accrual for users incentive program P a8 EEtE A 90,614 69,632
Others Hth 291,045 352,003
Total financial liabilities THEEANE 4,076,918 3,921,276
Accrued payroll and welfare JEET T & kA2 H) 570,106 538,873
Accrued advertisement expenses ERtEERX 212,762 214,427
Business and other taxes payable PEAT 2R R E BRI 95,915 74419
Accrued professional fees JEETEEEHR 129,066 85,281
Accrued commissions Estie 60,559 71,606
Others Hh 8,676 33,443
Total non-financial liabilities FERMBERAE 1,077,084 1,018,049
Current, total BNH - 485 5,154,002 4,939,325
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(@) As at December 31, 2024, payables to related parties primarily comprise of
the consideration payable to a shareholder of approximately RMB1,431.7
million as arose from the business cooperation arrangement as mentioned
in Note 20(b). The portion of the payable balance which are not required
to be settled within the next twelve months from December 31, 2024
of approximately RMB920.2 million have been presented as non-current
liabilities.

(b) The carrying amounts of other payables and accruals approximate their fair
values as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The Group has recognized the following revenue-related contract

@ RZEBE-WE+-—A=+—8  EM@EE
FIBE B EEME200) Tl EB A ELHE
ERREM—EBRREREBEOARE 1431788
TC o BAEMEHOARER02EETE
AR-ZZE-_MF+-_A=+—HE+=@R
NEE  BE2IAERBDAE -

b) RZFE-_MER=ZT==F+=ZA=+—
B EtEARERESEANRAESERL
ARBERBS -

REEDHABATRARBENAOAE :

liabilities:
As at December 31,
R+=—HA=+-—H
2024 2023
—E-MmE —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFT
Non-current IEFE
Contract liabilities arising from the provision RUBEEERISIELD
of hotel management services AHaE 27,766 32,324
Current wE
Contract liabilities arising from the provision of: REATRBAEENAHEE
- offline travel agency services — BT IRERIERE 167,798 =
- hotel management services — BB IE RS 100,053 68,407
- online reservation services — TEAFTEET R 75 6,456 42,777
274,307 111,184
Total #mat 302,073 143,508

Contract liabilities primarily consists of the Group's obligations as arose
from the provision of hotel management services, the provision of offline
travel agency services and the sales of various eCoupon programs, for

which implied obligations are to be provided by the Group over time.

The Group's contract liabilities as at January 1, 2023 amounted to
approximately RMB89,324,000.

EHRABTIEERASRERRHAEER
MR~ RERTRERERSE REE SR
EFEEAFFEMEENEML  AKES
E-BERAHLETRSEE -

R-ZE-=ZF—A—H AEENEHE
BRI ARES9,324,0007T °
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Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

The following table shows the amount of revenue recognized in
consolidated income statement for the years ended December 31, 2024

and 2023 relating to contract liabilities brought forward:

TREJEBE_F_WNFR_F_=F+
“RA=T-BLFEHFANRERERNE
RELSNEBEERNRASHE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-—A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—EopmEF —T=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®ETT
Revenue recognized that was included in the FUET AN B REHRD
contract liability balance at the beginning BERERIA
of the year 111,184 51,420
Number of Share Share Treasury
ordinary shares capital premium shares Total
EERYE B R EE ERR G @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARMTR ARETR
At January 1, 2024 R=g-mE-A-A 225,191,893 7765 20,115,692 - 20123457
Exercise of share options TP RRE 23,698,636 84 450,405 = 450,489
Restricted shares units vested and settled EEBREENZRFIRNEN 13,864,985 25 195,566 25 195,616
Issuance of ordinary shares (note i) ?é‘ﬁ LAk (M) 41,594,938 148 = = 148
Recognition of treasury shares (note i) BRERFR (i) - - - (148) (148)
At December 31, 2024 R-B-mE+=A=t-A 2334,350,452 8022 20761663 (123) 20,769,562
At January 1, 2023 BR-B-=%-F-H 2,239656,614 7710 19877004 - 19884714
Exercise of share options ity 5,963,497 21 9,173 5 92,194
Restricted shares units vested and settled ERBREERNTBHRHEN 9,571,782 34 146,515 = 146,549
At December 31, 2023 RZBZZ#+-A=+-H 2,255,191,893 7765 20115692 - 0123457
Notes: BiRE -
(i)  The par value of the ordinary share of the Company is USD0.0005 per share. (i) AAREBEROEERER0.0005ETT

(i) On June 18, 2024, the Board of the Company has resolved to issue a total of
48,527,438 new shares under the 2022 RSU Plan as approved and adopted
by the Company in March 2022, among which 41,594,938 shares were issued
and allotted to a trustee and would be repurchased by the Company if the
vesting conditions were not met. The Company's obligation to repurchase
the aforesaid shares are accounted for as treasury shares.

BRERITERBRAF

(ii)

%:%:EEﬁH+AE ARRERER
FRBEARAN T —_F= AHLETR
%m f**ﬁx@ﬂkﬁmuﬁ%%ﬁ*
3£48,527 438 R M ) + EHp 41,594,938 8%
@E%ﬁﬁm%%ﬁﬁA i A% 32 K EEw
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Currency Share-based
Capital Statutory translation  compensations
reserve (a) reserves differences reserve Others (b) Total
DRGBAERH
EXfifi@)  EERE ERAREE HeReE Efta(b) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARMTR ARBTT ARETR ARETR
At January 1, 2024 R-ZE-m%-A-A (5,389,435) 9,826 (30,569) 2,431,195 471,095 (2,507,888)
Exercise of share options TPRRE - - - (165,432) = (165,432)
Tax benefit from share-based WEAARAZANHBEESR
payments of subsidiaries - - - 12,092 - 12,092
Currency translation differences EHmEER - - 16,759 - = 16,759
Share-based compensations R BEBRHIE = = = 408,552 > 408,552
RSUs vested and settled ESBRERNTRARGD B - - - (195,566) - (195,566)
Transactions with minority EPYRENR S (FEc)
shareholders (Note ¢) - - - - (84,186) (84,186)
Others Bt - - - - (3,998) (3.998)
At December 31,2024 RZB-ME+-A=+-H (5,389,435) 9,826 (13,810) 2,490,841 382,911 (2,519,667)
At January 1, 2023 R=E-=%-8-H (5,389,435) 9826 (49,27) 2,266,986 476,037 (2,685813)
Exercise of share options lid e - - - (40930) - (40930)
Tax benefit from share-based WEAARAZANHBEESR
payments of subsidiaries = = = (3854) - (3854)
Currency translation differences ErRmEER - - 18658 - 5 18658
Share-based compensations MR BERSHE = = = 355,508 = 355,508
RSUs vested and settled BEBRAEENTRARN Ef - - - (146,515) - (146,519)
Transactions with minority BOYBROR S
shareholders - - - - (44,230) (44,230)
Others Eft = - - - 39,288 39,288
At December 31,2023 R-E-=%+-A=1+-H (5,389,435) 9826 (30,569) 2431195 471,095 (2507,888)
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

(@) The negative capital reserves were mainly attributable to (i) a deduction
of RMB3,527.6 million in 2016 in relation to the re-designation of ordinary
shares in eLong Cayman to preferred shares in the Company in connection
with the elong Cayman Privatization, which represented the difference
between the fair value of the preferred shares and the carrying value of the
ordinary shares relinquished; and (ii) a deduction of RMB1,514.4 million in
2016 in relation to the incorporation of the Company and consummation of
the eLong Cayman Privatization, which was primarily due to the issuance of
26,051,810 ordinary shares at par value, and a share premium arise from the
difference between its fair value and par value.

(b) Others mainly represents the reserves arising from the conversion of
preferred shares of the Group before the years presented and also the
transactions with minority shareholders.

() In January 2024, a subsidiary of the Group has issued certain of its ordinary
shares to the non-controlling shareholders of a subsidiary in exchange for
their equity interests in the subsidiary so as to form an internal subgroup
to centralise all the subsidiaries as involved in the hotel management
businesses within that subgroup. There is no change in the Group's
control over the subsidiary as involved before and after this internal group
reorganization. The debit to the other reserves represents the fair value of
the shares as issued by the aforesaid subsidiary in excess of the carrying
amounts of the non-controlling interests as acquired by that subsidiary.

On March 19, 2024, the Company declared a final dividend of HKDO0.15
per share for the year ended December 31, 2023. The final dividend of
HKD341.5 million was paid on July 19, 2024.

The Board of Directors of the Company resolved to propose to the
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on June 26, 2025 (the "AGM") for the distribution of a final dividend of
HKDO0.18 per share (totalling approximately HKD419,177,000) for the
year ended December 31, 2024. The proposal for the distribution of the
final dividend above is subject to the consideration and approval of the
shareholders at the AGM. This proposed dividend is not reflected as a
dividend payable in these consolidated financial statements, but will
be reflected as an appropriation from distributable reserves for the year
ending December 31, 2025.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

The major subsidiaries as acquired by the Group during the year ended

December 31, 2024 are as below:

On January 31, 2024, the Company has acquired 70% equity interest in
Ningbo Qingteng Yijia Hotel Management Co., Ltd. (“Ningbo Qingteng”)
from third parties and accounted for such acquisition as a business
combination. Ningbo Qingteng is principally engaged in the provision
of hotel management services primarily in Ningbo, Hangzhou and

Shaoxing cities, the PRC.

On November 29, 2024, the Company has acquired 100% equity interest
in Karasuyamajo from third parties and accounted for such acquisition
as a business combination. Karasuyamajo is principally engaged in the

operation of golf courses in Japan.

On December 30, 2024, the Company has acquired 90% equity interest
in Lanting from third parties at an aggregate considerations of RMB45
million and contributed capital of RMB142.5 million to Lanting in cash.
The acquisition and capital increase constitute a package deal. Upon
completion of the transaction, the Group held 93.75% equity interest in
Lanting and accounted for the transaction as a business combination.
Lanting is principally engaged in the provision of the operation of
the Shaoxing Lanting Forest Safari Zoo located in the Shaoxing City,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC. The Zoo is still in its pre-operation stage and

it is expected that the operations of the Zoo will be launched in 2026.

Details of the purchase consideration, the assets/liabilities acquired and

goodwill on the acquisition are as follows:

AEBREBE T -_WmE+-_A=+—H8
LHFEERENEEHRBARNT ¢

RZZE-_WE—-—A=+—H KRAEE
EZNTRBERFEIRBEEEREERA
BI([ERBHE]) 700 - WKzZEES
BARRBEBEH  BRBEBRITENTE
R ~ BUM R AR BT BR (HOE E B TR AR 7S A9
E

RZZTZMFE+—A=Z+NAB ' ARFEB
2 85 = 7 4R 55 L1391 009 B - 346K
BEBABAEBAY - BLUATERA
EY PSR

R-ZZE-_WNFE+=_A=+H " ARQAE
BEE=ZFNEREARB4sBETIWE
BMZo0%liE  WHRESRBE=IEAR
14258 &I o AW RIGEEK —
ERXRD ZRHTKE  AEBFEMW
£93.75%RHE - WHEZRHAERERE
O - MEETEXFRHBUNFBNIER
ETHAREERMNEEHNEHEE -
BB ANENSHELEERE - Bt
RZTEZNFRREE o

BERE WEEE AGBEREBESEEN
AEHBOT

Ningbo Qingteng Karasuyamajo Lanting
R 53 [
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T AR¥T T
Purchase consideration: BERE :
Cash consideration paid ENESNRE 105,000 170,491 187,500
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Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

The purchase price allocation (PPA) and the assets/liabilities recognized

as a result of the acquisition are as follows:

For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

WEEER D E&IH&Z%%IEHMEM &
&/ AfEw
Ningbo Qingteng Karasuyamajo Lanting
ERER Sl LS

Fair value at the

acquisition date

Fair value at the

acquisition date

Fair value at the

acquisition date

RUEE B #/Y RULE B EW AUEE B E®
AREE RAREE AREE
January 31, November 29, December 30,
2024 2024 2024
—s-mE —E-mE —E-mE
—A=+—H +—-BA=tnhH +T=A=+H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARBT T ARBT T
Cash and cash equivalents BehBeEEY 6,299 9,674 7,742
Restricted cash SR B3R & - - 7,000
Trade receivables & 5 WA 2,188 2,045 =
Prepayment and other receivables TE AT FRIE K Ho A FE YR IR - 2,800 18,519
Inventories e - 538 -
Property, plant and equipment YE - BB R 63 78,124 67,412
Intangible assets mVEE

— Trade names (Note i) — R (MIEED 129,600 23,331 =

— Tourist and scenic spot area —IRERERSERE
operation right (Note ii) (B &Fii) = = 62,800
- Others — HAfth - 5 -
Right-of-use assets HREEE 1,347 4,882 64,940
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE - = 8,354
Trade payables B SN FIA (85) (3,380) (992)
Other payables and accruals Hib N RIE R ERTE A (7,061) (66,185) (15,344)
Lease liabilities HERE (1,539) (4,882) =
Current income taxes liabilities BNERFRS BB & - - (21,198)
Deferred income tax liabilities BIEFFISTHEE (32,400) (12,497) (27,628)
Total identifiable net assets AR FEERE 98,412 34,455 171,605
Non-controlling interest FEEIRE = (29,524) - (10,725)
Goodwill (Note iii) 2 (5T iii) 36,112 136,036 26,620
105,000 170,491 187,500
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BiEZE = ZEZWF+=A=+—HILFE

Notes:

The intangible assets as identified from the acquisition primarily consist of
trade names and tourist and scenic spot area operation right. They are initially
recognized and measured at fair value.

(i)  The trade names as identified from the acquisition of Ningbo Qingteng and
Karasuyamajo represent a series of hotel brands owned by Ningbo Qingteng
and the brand owned by Karasuyamajo respectively, and both are initially
recognized at fair value. The Group assessed and estimated the useful life of
the trade names to be 20 years by reference to comparable market deals or
similar brands of comparable companies in the industry.

(i)  The tourist and scenic spot area operation right represents Lanting's
exclusive right to operate the Shaoxing Lanting Forest Safari Zoo (the “Zoo")
with a remaining contractual period of 40 years.

(i) Goodwill is primarily attributable to the operating synergies and economies
of scale expected to be derived from combining the operations. None of the
goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purpose.

From the respective acquisition dates to December 31, 2024, Ningbo
Qingteng, Karasuyamajo and Lanting collectively contributed post-
acquisition revenue of approximately RMB19.2 million and net profit of

approximately RMB1.8 million to the Group.

If the acquisitions of Ningbo Qingteng, Karasuyamajo, and Lanting had
occurred on January 1, 2024, the Group's revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2024 would have been increased by approximately
RMB26.7 million, while the Group's net profit would have been
decreased by approximately RMBO.5 million.

G

WEEENDBBETVEELTEZE %Fﬁfﬁ&mﬁ
FRREER - MECVI SR RIABEER

Eo

() BYRBERERERSILSBRONEESBIR
RERFHER N — RIIEE @R RS L
BAEMME ﬁﬁ%iﬂ?ﬂ&fﬂ EAAHER
AEEE2ENALBTISR HHITEAA
BB AR B LGB R AR AR
e AFHR20F -

“r

(i RESBEELEREFHEEEEAEBTR
MEEEYE ([BWE ) WBREEHE - R
BANHRA0E -

(i) BEIERBENAHEEBAHELNKESE
%[RRI B R AR A B AR FE - TRERRL SR P ]
EHIFSH -

ESENKERPE-_T-_MF+=-_A=
+—H  BREE - BUNEBEEAEAE
BEHREMAOARE 10 25EBITAREZ K
BAARE18HBETHHEFFEE -

MEKRESZREE SLUBEE=EER
ZTEINF-A—HBHEBEL  AEEHEHZEZ
Z-_WFE+ZA=+—BLEFEMNRAR
BEMHARE267EET - MAEEREF
PR ARKEOSESTT -
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For the year ended December 31,

4 BE_E-_NF+=-_A=+—HItFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E_ME —EC-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBFT
Profit before income tax B EFr 45 %50 AL a ) 2,397,826 1,853,689
Adjustment for: AT ZIBFE
— Foreign exchange losses, net (Note 10) — [ X &8 758 (aE10) 96,128 66,767
— Net (reversal of)/provision for impairment loss on — TREEREEIE
financial assets (BE),/ BiEFE (17,791) 17,482
— Net loss on disposal of property, plant and —HEWE - BER
equipment and termination of leases (Note 10) BEA RIS
& EE (Ffst10) (139) 2,592
- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment — % BER
(Note 14) RETTE (HH3T14) 265,636 185,701
- Depreciation of right-of-use asset (Note 15) — ERAEEERE (ME15) 90,184 46,440
- Amortization of intangible assets (Note 20) —EpEEEH (ME20) 726,786 678,616
— Impairment of inventories —FERE - (45)
~ Share-based compensation (Note 8) — RN BEROME
(P5E8) 408,329 348,136
— Fair value changes on investments measured at —BAREEAEEEES
fair value through profit or loss (Note 18) FTABEMIREAR
BE25 (Ffti1s) (27,001) 32,493
~ Finance income (Note 11) — BRSO (B=ET1) (194,624) (174,776)
~ Finance costs (Note 11) — B ER (1) 230,895 157,050
— Investment income from investments measured — IREHENAGTERNRE
at amortised cost (Note 10) FIB1E B WA (FFE10) (55,155) (101,520)
- Other losses/(gains) - net — HthEE (W) F58 8,869 (26,343)
— Share of results of associates (Note 16) — JE(hEEE N R A
(Bt&E16) (10,599) 33,402
- Dividend income (Note 9) — R BHA (FH5E9) (7,113) (7,357)
Changes in working capital: EEESEY
— Inventories —FE (4,952) 1,627
— Trade receivables — B EWIE (477,219) (47,292)
-~ Prepayment and other receivables — TERTRIE K H A IR (865,731) (1,359,240)
~ Restricted cash - XRHRE 12,910 (38,034)
— Trade payables — B o RENRIEA 306,837 1,177,541
— Accrued expenses and other current liabilities — R REMRBAE 340,089 1,175,944
Cash generated from operations KEFBRE 3,224,165 4,022,873

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Borrowings

and interest

Borrowings

and interest

payable due payable due  Lease liabilities Long-term
within a year after a year (Note 15) payables Total
—FR3H —FRIH HERE
ERREANE fEHREMHE (Wat15)  REEMTE b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET R ARET R ARET R ARET T ARBT R
As at January 1, 2024 R-Z-mF-F-A 2,540,095 10,942 461,200 327,422 3,339,659
Acquisitions of subsidiaries WEEH B - - 6,421 - 6,421
Cash flows Reng 296,015 1,119,240 (120,995) (578,908) 715,352
Accrued interest expenses et M ERX 132,272 29,010 25911 43,702 230,895
Currency translation differences ERREER 22,103 4,069 (1,480) 16,203 40,895
Other non-cash movements BB LED (1,631,196) 1,631,196 483,619 1,623,313 2,106,932
As at December 31, 2024 R-B-ME+-A=+-H 1,359,289 2,794,457 854,676 1,431,732 6,440,154
As at January 1, 2023 R=Z==§-A-H 463,552 1,857,903 113429 824,064 3,258,948
Acquisitions of subsidiaries WERBAF 106,301 11,004 47 404 = 164,709
Cash flows BemE 133,151 (185,366) (62,349) (528921) (643,485)
Accrued interest expenses JEHFIBEY 2,448 110,932 10,040 13,630 157,050
Currency translation differences EHmEER 29474 1,638 15 18649 49876
Other non-cash movemnents HtRe g 1,785,169 (1,785,169) 352,561 = 352,561
As at December 31, 2023 R=F==#+-A=1-H 2,540,095 10942 461,200 3740 3,339,659
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

The major non-cash transactions for the year ended December 31,

2024 primary comprise:

Settlement of trade payables through the offset of balance
in the designated deposit account with restrictive use — Note
3.1(b)(ii)

Recognition of right-of-use assets, finance lease receivables
and lease liabilities - Note 15 and 22(g)

Transactions with non-controlling interests — Note 30(c)

A three-year term borrowing as at December 31, 2023
was wholly refinanced by a one-year term borrowing from
the lending bank on January 18, 2024. The one-year term
borrowing was subsequently refinanced by a three-year term
borrowing from the lending bank on November 26, 2024. The
Group has only received the net incremental proceeds (i.e. the
principal amounts of the new three-year term borrowing in
excess of the principal amounts of the aforesaid one-year term

borrowing) in cash from these refinancing arrangements.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group has utilized banking facilities of
approximately RMB2,002 million (2023: RMB1,170 million) in the form of
letters of guarantees, in which approximately RMB1,786 million (2023:
RMB885 million) are provided to business partners in connection with air

ticketing business for financial security.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any

significant contingent liabilities.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

The purchase commitments represent the minimum payment that
the Group would pay for the purchase of travel related products
assuming inventory risk, advertising services and other services

pursuant to the existing agreements with the respective suppliers.

Purchase commitments B RIE

Capital expenditure contracted for not yet incurred as at December
31,2024 and 2023 is as follows:

BEAEEASEREES HERN
RAmRBEREREER REFR
R\ ) R AR TS A N E At BR TS B0 S (K

3 -

As at December 31,

R+=—A=+-—H
2024 2023
—E-NEF —TE-=HF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREET T
2,120,776 345,252

RZE-_NFR-_E-_=ZF+=-A=
+—B8  BiOEEMAELENERNHE

X
As at December 31,
R+=H=t+—H
2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
Investment in a subsidiary NGRS 4,767 65,000
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 472 + & MR &M
BIVEE 334,289 171,458
339,056 236,458
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly
or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant influence
over the other party in making financial and operation decisions. Parties
are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control.
Members of key management and their close family member of the

Group are also considered as related parties.

Save as disclosed in elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the following significant transactions were carried out
between the Group and its related parties during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023. In the opinion of the Directors, the related
party transactions were carried out in the normal course of business
and at terms negotiated between the Group and the respective related

parties.

The following companies are major related parties of the Group

that had balances and/or transactions with the Group during the

M-S EENERAEEENZ -7 - 3k
ERHES TP BEREERRITEREKRR
27 NETREREBT - METX
RHES] - PG R - AEEER
EERB R RENTRIMER ST -

AN\Y

\|
/

i

BRAGEMBRREMMEEHAREEI
INTERR ST BRAEE R EER A RE
EZE_NMERZT=F+ZRA=+—
HIEFERNET BEZRA  ZF5HEA
RETDRBBEKBEPRAEEEEF
R B 7 T R AR AT ©

LWTRARAAEBENEZ@EH S B
REBEE-_T-_NFR-_T-_=F+=
A=+ —BLEFERLREEFHE#%

years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Company
A

Trip.com Group Limited (“Trip") and its affiliated companies
Trip.com Group Limited ([ #5712 |) M E Bt E A 7
Tencent Holdings Limited (“Tencent”) and its affiliated
companies
BEAERBR AR ([FEHA)) REBEB AR
Tongcheng Holdings Co., Ltd. (“Tongcheng Holdings”)
and its affiliated companies
AR N BR AR ([RRER]) REBBAR
Suzhou Tongcheng Lvjin Technology Co., Ltd.
("Tongcheng Lvjin") and its affiliated companies
FHMFARIRE AR AR ([RARES |) REBE AR
Suzhou Tongcheng Hanglv Technology Co., Ltd.
("Tongcheng Hanglv") and its affiliated companies
MNFRRMIRREAR AR ([RRMIR ) REBE AR
Suzhou Honghu Huixing Network Technology Co., Ltd. and its
subsidiaries

FMNBBRBTRENMRARATREKE AR

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F
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Relationship with the Group
ERA R B WY BA &

Shareholder with significant influence over the Group
HUAREEAFEATENNRR

Shareholder with significant influence over the Group

HAREEAFEARENHRR

Controlled by shareholders with significant influence
over the Group

HEAEBAFERTE W R

Controlled by shareholders with significant influence
over the Group

HEAREBAFERTE NI

Controlled by shareholders with significant influence
over the Group

MU AREBAFERTE W R

Associate of the Group

REBBERT

il



For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Company
AL

Yitong Quwan Cultural Tourism Management (Suzhou) Co.,

Ltd. and its subsidiaries
BREBITUEIREE R (FM) GRA R REANE QA
Suzhou Yitong Meicheng Hotel Management Co., Ltd.
BMNAERZIDAEEEEGR AR
Yicheng Information Technology (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.

and its subsidiaries
IR (E BRI (BM) AR AR RHEME A
Hubei Jicheng Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

Mt EREEEBEERAT

Hainan Ancheng Hotel Management Co., Ltd.
BEAREREEEERAR

Shenzhen Qicheng Feiteng Hotel Management Co., Ltd.
YRR R AER S B R BR AT

Beijing Aijing Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

and its subsidiaries
EREFEEEERERARLEMEAR
Shanghai Ailu Hotel Management Co., Ltd.
FENEREEBEERAT
Yinchuan Tongxin Internet Hospital Co., Ltd.
iR FIR B B B8P A IR A A
Liangcheng Hotel Management (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.
RIBBEER (BM) BRAA
Shanghai Shanli Hotel Management Co., Ltd.
FEEMBEERBEREEDNR
Suzhou Sucheng Health Care Travel Co,, Ltd.
#FMNEFEREREBRAA
Xiamen Jianfa International Travel Agency Group Co,, Ltd.

EPIEERERKRITHSEGRA

Relationship with the Group

BEAKEHNEE

Associate of the Group

REERE QT
Associate of the Group
AREBEAT

Associate of the Group

AREBELT
Associate of the Group
REEE QT
Associate of the Group
AR BB N A
Associate of the Group
REEEE QT

Associate of the Group

REEEE QA
Associate of the Group
AR B E AT
Associate of the Group
R BB N A
Associate of the Group
REE QT
Associate of the Group
REBEE QT
Associate of the Group
i e YN
Associate of the Group

AREBEAT

—E_MEFERE
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=t-ALEE

2024 2023
—EB-MmEF —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT
Commission and other service income received or B sk FE U R T B R &
receivable from related parties: HRBWA -
— Trip and its affiliated companies —EREREBEAT 2,628,374 2,180,701
— Tencent and its affiliated companies — B R HEE A A 35,094 13,803
— Tongcheng Lvjin and its affiliated companies —RERE REBE QR 6,618 7,722
- Tongcheng Hanglv and its affiliated companies — MR R EEE A A 5,796 4,057
- Tongcheng Holdings and its affiliated companies — BRI & HE A A 1,970 3,157
- Others — Hity 43,973 14,051
Total st 2,721,825 2,223,491
Commission, order processing costs and other service BT ER @ REE
fees paid or payable to related parties: HES B #5
HMR%E
~ Tencent and its affiliated companies — A REBE AT 2,203,136 2,268,844
- Tongcheng Hanglv and its affiliated companies — [FEMIR R E BB A A 30,260 38,310
— Trip and its affiliated companies —BRERHEEE AR 25,862 10,611
— Tongcheng Lvjin and its affiliated companies —RERE REBE QR 6,872 9,823
— Tongcheng Holdings and its affiliated companies — REER&EBE QR 5,038 4,019
~ Others — Hit 32,504 20,489
Total #Et 2,303,672 2,352,096
Purchases of equity interests in investee companies from  [E) IR A AR K2 EL BB A §)
Tongcheng Hanglv and its affiliated companies BERIRE R RN RE - 891,150
Purchase of property, plant and equipments from a mEAO—RM B RE
subsidiary of Tencent BWE - BEREE - 3,982

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

As at December 31,

R+=—A=t+—AH
2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T
Trade receivables, prepayment and other RE B ME S EWGRIE -
receivables from related parties, gross TR RR R b EW IR -
(Notes 22 and 23): #EE (M2 /&23) -
— Suzhou Honghu Huixing Network — BN B EITARE R
Technology Co,, Ltd. and its subsidiaries BR A REM B AT 416,821 11,829
— Tencent and its affiliated companies — A REBB AT 344,154 342,794
— Trip and its affiliated companies —ERERABBE AT 65,603 54,638
- Tongcheng Hanglv and its affiliated — FEMAR R E BB A R
companies 7,601 14,994
- Tongcheng Lvjin and its affiliated companies — REEREREBEAR 3,206 7,523
- Tongcheng Holdings and its affiliated — R ZER R EEE AR
companies 1,118 3,884
- Others — Hfh 169,828 124,602
Total et 1,008,331 560,264
Cash held in other financial institutions: REMESRMEERENRS -
— Tencent and its affiliated companies — B R H BB A R 555,790 483,727
Investments measured at fair value BRAREBHEFEEHEH
through profit or loss: FFABEMRE -
- Tongcheng Lvjin and its affiliated companies — REEREREBE AR 183,148 180,328

The receivables from related parties arise mainly from ordinary

course of business. As at December 31, 2024, except for the finance

lease receivables from an associate company (the terms of which

were disclosed in Note 22(g)), the receivables from related parties

are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

FEW B A REEEN —REBFBR
PEL RZT-_WNF+—A=+—
B BREKRKS DT RENREHE (K
BB PAMTEE22(0) B 88 41 - FEUS AR
FREAELR 2LBEEETEER
HAPR
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

As at December 31,

R+t=—A=+-—H
2024 2023
—EomE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Trade payables and other payables to related parties SNTHEEBTHE S
(Notes 26 and 27): JRE 1~ SR8 K% H fh FE A<
OE (M k26 & 27)
— Trip and its affiliated companies —EREREBEAR 2,328,231 2,034,215
— Tencent and its affiliated companies — B R HEE A A 1,458,464 366,456
- Tongcheng Hanglv and its affiliated companies — [FREMAR R E BB A A 2,638 70,797
— Tongcheng Lvjin and its affiliated companies —RERE REBE QR 2,809 5,271
- Tongcheng Holdings and its affiliated companies — RRERREBE AR 1,563 4,501
- Others — Hith 74,135 55,646
Total #st 3,867,840 2,536,886
Except for the consideration payable to a shareholder (the terms of BRIEN — R EHN (LIRS E M
which were disclosed in Note 27(a)), the payables to related parties ¥27)IREE) - FEATRAEE 5 0B AR
are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. - REREETEFMR -

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F
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The compensations paid or payable to key management personnel

(including CEO and other senior executives) for employee services

are show below:

HREERBENRENTIEZEREAR
(BRTRERIREMESRITHAR)
MR

Year ended December 31,

BE+-HA=+—-BHLEE

2024 2023

a1 22 —Eo=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%ET ARETT

Wages and salaries IER%& 22,518 21,758

Discretionary bonus BIBTEAL 6,182 6,093

Pension costs — defined contribution plans BRARSKA — REMRNKETE 400 361
Other social security costs, housing benefits HHRER  TEEMR

and other employee benefits HitfEERF 495 433

Share-based compensation expenses AR BERE MR 52,189 16,535

Total #st 81,784 45,180

—Z_UEEFEEIRE | ANNUAL REPORT 2024



For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+t-A=+-HLEE

2024 2023
b1 22 —T-=F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBTT

Beginning of the year FH] 75,866 78,559
Loans advanced EEMER 89,458 15,000
Loan repayments received BB EFER (35,408) (6,737)
Interest charged BEFIE 1,422 1,836
Interest received 2 YERF 2 - (1,000)
Others Hitp (4,937) (11,792)
End of the year FR 126,401 75,866

Note:

The loans to related parties are generally with terms of less than one year
and are unsecured and bear interests at fixed interest rates ranging from

3.45% to 5.00% (2023: 3.65%) per annum.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=t-BHLEE

2024 2023
—EBomEF kSt =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Addition of right-of-use assets NEFREEE
— Shanghai Ailu Hotel Management Co,, Ltd. - PN EBEEEERAR - 5172
- Yicheng Information Technology (Guangzhou) — BREFEEREM (BEM)
Co, Ltd. =N - 368
- Tongcheng Holdings — RRRER 3,245 =
Total Bt 3,245 5,540
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEEENSAT
- Shanghai Ailu Hotel Management Co., Ltd. - ENEREEEERAR 3,077 3,742
- Yicheng Information Technology (Guangzhou) — B EFEEEM (EM)
Co, Ltd. BRRF - 8
- Tongcheng Holdings — AR 48 =
Total it 3,125 3,750
As at December 31,
W+=A=t+—8H
2024 2023
—E-MF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBFT
Lease liabilities HEBE
- Shanghai Ailu Hotel Management Co,, Ltd. - LN EBEEERARATF 60,365 70,958
- Yicheng Information Technology (Guangzhou) — BREERM (BEM)
Co,, Ltd. BRAR - 93
- Tongcheng Holdings — [RIIR1ERR 2,726 -
Total #st 63,091 71,051
Z“EUEFERE | ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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There were no material subsequent events during the period from
December 31, 2024 to March 20, 2025 (the date of these consolidated

financial statements being approved by the Board of Directors of the

R-ZF-_WNE+-A=+—-HBE=-F-H
FZAZ+H (RRREFEHENGREH
Bx R IR RFLEEALERRSE

Company). o
As at December 31,
R+=B=+-H
2024 2023
—E-EF —=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt AR®BT ARET T
ASSETS 5E
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries HENHB AR 22,546,579 22,093,829
Investments accounted for using FRAEREARNRE
the equity method 11,993 9,713
Investments measured at fair value BEAREEFEREE
through profit or loss BEFABENRE 61,037 56,000
Other receivables H b U FRIA 54 53
22,619,663 22,159,595
Current assets REBEE
Prepayment and other receivables FAAS FRIE N B R e R0R 2,068,860 1,953,817
Short-term investments measured at amortised IR SER AT EH
cost RHIRE 100,137 167,718
Short-term investments measured at RARBEAEAEEZS
fair value through profit or loss FFABZENEHEE 163,535 144,590
Derivative financial instruments THEemMmIA 6,194 24,699
Restricted cash XIREIEE 68,402 72,103
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 1,392,993 529,705
3,800,121 2,892,632
Total assets BEEHE 26,419,784 25,052,227
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

As at December 31,

R+t=—A=+-—H
2024 2023
—E-mEF —To=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
ik ARBTT ARETT
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves attributable to equity RAREREE AR
holders of the Company IEEARRGFE
Share capital [N 8,022 7,765
Share premium Rin&E 39(ii) 20,761,663 20,115,692
Treasury shares JERETah) 39(ii) (123) =
Other reserves Hhf#E 39(ii) 2,437,427 2,375,716
Retained earnings RERH 39(ii) 369,860 426,862
Total equity ERAE 23,576,849 22,926,035
LIABILITIES &
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Borrowing &3 2,046,129 =
ZEFEFERE | ANNUAL REPORT 2024



For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

As at December 31,

R+=A=+-—H
2024 2023
g 11 13 —EZ=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B s ARETT ARET T

Current liabilities RBEE

Borrowing B= 101,569 1,814,923
Other payables and accruals H e 5/ IE R EET & 692,255 308,331
Current income tax liabilities BIEAFTIS R aE 2,982 2,938
796,806 2,126,192
Total liabilities =Rtk 2,842,935 2,126,192
Total equity and liabilities EnkaERE 26,419,784 25,052,227

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved

by the Board of Directors of the Company on March 20, 2025 and

was signed on its behalf by:

Wu Zhixiang
Director

EE

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F
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For the year ended December 31,

2024 E—E-_NF+_A=+—HILFE

Share Treasury Other Retained

premium shares reserves earnings Total

RYEE  ERRG  EftRE  REERW @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARETR ARETrn AR%Tn AR%Tzn
At January 1, 2024 R-g-m&-5-A 20,115,692 - 2375716 426,862 22,918,270
Profit for the year EREA - - - 252,920 252,920
Exercise of share options TiEmRRE 450,405 - (165,432) = 284,973
RSUs vested and settled BEBREENTRYIRAEN 195,566 25 (195,566) = 25
Share-based compensations IR BERA IS - - 409,011 - 409,011
Recognition of treasury shares BRERRR - (148) - - (148)
Dividends provided for or paid BREISIFZRE - - - (309,922)  (309,922)
Currency translation differences EHBEET - - 13,698 - 13,698
At December 31, 2024 RZZB-WE+=A=1-8 20,761,663 (123) 2437427 369,860 23,568,827
At January 1, 2023 W=Z-=%-5-A 19,877,004 - 2,198,555 609,205 20684784
Loss for the year FREE - - - (182,363) (182,363)
Exercise of share options lidtie 92,173 = (40930) = 51,43
RSUs vested and settled EREREENZREIRNEN 146,515 = (146,515) 5 S
Share-based compensations MR BRSNS = = 346,742 = 346,742
Currency translation differences ERAEER - = 17,864 = 17,864
At December 31,2023 RZBZ=%+-A=1-H 20,115,692 - 2375716 426,862 22,918,270
ZZTZUFFERSE | ANNUAL REPORT 2024



For the year ended December 31,2024 BHE T —MNF+-A=+—HILFE

RRARR-_ZB_NFEFR_F_=F+_A

The Company's principal subsidiaries (including controlled and

structured entities) as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are set out below. E‘f’— AEXZEMB AR (BEZEHRERE
HER)HIWT -
Place of incorporation/ Country/place of Equity/beneficial
establishment operation and Particulars of issued/ interest held
Company name and kind of legal entity date of incorporation paid-in capital as at December 31, Principal activities
AR/ ISR KENRE RERE
PR EEREEN EE9%/4ERSMALAA B2RG/EERARE  MoAIt-B 1EER
2024 2003
1 S s
Directly held:
ERRE:
elong Inc. Cayman, limited liability company ~ PRC/April 4, 2001 USDoo1 100% 100%  Investment holding
elong Inc HEHE BREMLT wE/-3Z-FRARA  0ER 100% 0% RERR
Indirectly held:
HiEs:
eLong Net Information Technology (Beijing) Co, Ltd. ~ PRC, limited liability company PRC/August 17,1999 USD214277,229 100% 100%  Platform semvice of hotel business
ERRERRARARLA)
RBESRIT R BRAF) e FRALLT BE/-AANENATER  ameER 100% 0% EEEROTARE
Suzhou Chenghuiwan International Travel Agency PRC, limited liability company PRC/November 24, 2015 RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Travel related services
Co, Lo, MR ETRBRATAARA) (i)
BMEeTAE T RRA ) e FRALLT w8/ ZF-REt-AZtHA AREI 00007 100% 0% BEERERY
Suzhou Chuanglv Tianxia Information Technology PRC. limited liability company PRC/December 23, 2015 RMB100,000 100% 100%  Travel related services
Co, L. GRMEIRA ME ERIEERAR) (i)
BMBlER T B RIERRAR ) e FRALLE w8/ ZF-RET-AZT=H ARBI0007 100% 0% BEERERE
Beijing Tongcheng Huading International Travel Agency  PRC, limited liability company PRC/January 12, 2011 RMB5,000,000 100% 100%  Travel related services
(o, Ld. LR REES BRI BRAT) (i)
FRRE f%lﬁ%ﬁmﬁ R BB BREMAT BE/Z3--§-BtZR ARESN000T 100% 0% BEERERE
Tongcheng Netwoﬂechno\ogy (o, Ltd PRC, limited liability company PRC/March 10, 2004 RMB111,319.969 100% 100%  Travel related services
(REEEMBROERAR) ()
B ﬁ%ﬂ&%ﬁhﬂ i BB BREMAT BE/ZEIMEZATE AREINIIGMT 100% 0% BEERERY
Tongcheng Cultural Tourism Development Co, Ltd. PRC, limited liability company PRC/July 10,2015 RMB600,000,000 100% 100%  Travel related services
(R R RARAT) )
AR AR HE - BREMAT wE/ZE-RECATE ARBe000000m 100% 0% BERERE

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Place of incorporation/ Country/place of Equity/beneficial
establishment operation and Particulars of issued/ interest held
Company name and kind of legal entity date of incorporation paid-in capital as at December 31, Principal activities
HRAL/ ISR BENRE BEER
LEER EEEREN SERZ/WERIMALAE BRA/EBERARE  WoAZT-R IEER
2024 2023
ZBIpE  CEcE
elong International Travel (Hong Kong) Limited HK limited liability company PRC/March 17,2017 RB451,650 100% 100%  Travel related services
EERRETERERAA
SRARE (58) BRAT B ERAALT HE/ZE-tEATER ARBISNT 100% 0% HERERS
Beijing Elong Intemational Travel Co, Ltd. PRC, limited liability company ~ PRC/July 29, 2004 RIB1,500,000 100% 100%  Travel related services
QrRERERRTHARD AN

FREEBRE AR hE - BREMAT HE/ZZEMELAZTAR  ARES0007T 100% 0% HERERS

eDraco Travel Limited HK limited liability company PRC/February 11,2016 USD100,000 100% 100%  Travel related services

eDraco Travel Limted FE BRAMAT BE/ZENEZAT-B 0000ET 100% 0% HERERE

Notes: MfsE -

(i)  Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under the PRC law which () WBEBEFEDERTMAIEBERE  Fad
comply with tax-related policies in China. BT ISR -

(i) Contractual Arrangement Entities. (iy BHLHEE-

(iii)y  Registered as limited liability companies under the PRC law. (i) WBEPBEOEEIMOBRAF -

(iv) The English names of certain subsidiaries referred herein represent the (iv) BRI ETHBARNKEXZREBAES
Directors’ best effort at translating the Chinese names of these companies as BRAZBHEUZER NP XEEBIEHOH
no English names have been registered. - EAAZSEATNEEREEHE -

(v)  All companies comprising the Group have adopted December 31 as their v) ANEEBETHEATNCHEM T -_A=+—H
financial year end date. REMBFELEER -

(vi) None of the companies comprising the Group issued any debt securities in Vi) NEBETHEATN-_ZE _MFEHRET
2024 ERMERES

(vii) None of the non-controlling interests are considered as material to the (i) BEIFERESHAEBMEBEN BB
Group as none of them individually is more than 5% of the Group's total RIE-NMEN T -_=F+-A=+—H
equity as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. ZEIERERER AN T EBRAEEE

HEZSHY5% o
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

R E T AR % SRS B RS IR I PR
preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These policies AREMEETEER - BB BHRBEEN %
ERER2INEEFENERER © 47
U BHRERTI AR (BEARR R REM

This note provides a list of other accounting policies adopted in the

have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless

otherwise stated. The consolidated financial statements are for the

Group consisting of Company and its subsidiaries. BARE)mE -
(a) Consolidation (@) HmEAR
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over MERBEREEEREHIENE
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity B EIEABHETE) HAEHE
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable P ME MG ] & B HREER R
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability REEREA - WaeERHEZER
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. BN EZSEW  AASEY

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated

from the date when control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealized gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been

adjusted to conform with the Group's accounting policies.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(a) Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Subsidiaries controlled through contractual
arrangements

The prevailing PRC rules and regulations restrict foreign
ownership of companies that provide internet content,
call center services, travel agency and transportation
ticketing services, which represent the core activities
and services provided by the Group. As a result of such
restrictions, the Company does not have equity interests
in certain of its PRC operating entities. However, pursuant
to a series of contractual arrangements of the Group with
each of Beijing E-dragon Information Technology Limited

IRBEFELSRKMERLDF)
Suzhou Chengyi International Technology Limited (Z#/M|
RERERFBRAT]) (“Suzhou Chengyi”), Tongcheng
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (RIF2@4& EHEAR (7 B R
A 7A]) (“Tongcheng Network”) and their respective equity

("Beijing E-dragon”),

holders (“Beijing E-dragon Contractual Arrangement’,

nou

"Suzhou Chengyi Contractual Arrangement’, “Tongcheng
Network Contractual Arrangement’, and collectively, the
“Contractual Arrangements”), which enable the Company

to:

govern the financial and operating policies of Beijing

E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi;

exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Beijing

E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi;

receive substantially all of the economic interest
returns generated by Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng
Network and Suzhou Chengyi, in consideration for the
technical services and software license provided by

certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company;

(a) FREARR(E)

(i)

T NFFERE

FABE LI B2
=7
B ERATRARE AR E
DEHERHTBENED
e DR - BT R SR
BRBOAR  RFRY T
SR 1200 B R BRI B
MRTS  BREERE A
AALMNE T+ RS EE
BAEBM - AT - REAE
UL R E R BT RA
AL RERED) - BMEE
R R A A ([ #MN R
) RREMH N RBRY
RAR (REAH]) REE
EMF*HﬁAREJim*
R ANEH ([LREES
QR THRMREROR
B TRZBESORE] -
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

(a) Consolidation (Continued) (@) WEANKR(E)
() Subsidiaries controlled through contractual () BBE LTI E L
arrangements (Continued) 7 (#&)

have the irrevocable and exclusive right, at any time
when applicable PRC law permits foreign invested
companies to operate an internet content provision
business, to purchase from the equity holders of
Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou
Chengyi for their respective equity interests in Beijing
E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi.
The exercise price of the option is equal to the actual
paid-in registered capital (or pro rata portion thereof,
as appropriate) unless otherwise specified under PRC
law on the date of exercise. If the transfer price of the
equity interest is greater than the loan amount, the
shareholders are required to immediately return the
proceeds from the transfer price in excess of the loan

amount to the Company; and

obtain a pledge over the entire ownership interests
of Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou
Chengyi from their respective equity holders to
secure the payment obligations of Beijing E-dragon,
Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi under the

Contractual Arrangements.
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(a) Consolidation (Continued)

For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(a) FREARR(E)

(i) Subsidiaries controlled through contractual (i)

arrangements (Continued)

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Company
has rights to exercise power over Beijing E-dragon,
Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi and their
respective subsidiaries, receive variable returns from its
involvement with Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network
and Suzhou Chengyi and their respective subsidiaries, and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou
Chengyi and their respective subsidiaries. Therefore, the
Company is considered to have the power to control
Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou
Chengyi and their respective subsidiaries. Consequently,
the Company regards Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng
Network and Suzhou Chengyi and their respective
subsidiaries as structured entities and consolidates the
financial positions and results of operations of these
entities in the consolidated financial statements of the

Group.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group
with direct control over Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng
Network and Suzhou Chengyi and their respective
subsidiaries and such uncertainties presented by the PRC
legal system could impede the Group's beneficiary rights
of the results, assets and liabilities of Beijing E-dragon,
Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi and their
respective subsidiaries. The directors of the Company
consider that the Contractual Arrangements are in
compliance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations

and are legally binding and enforceable.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

(a) Consolidation (Continued) (a) HmEANER(E)

(i) Business combination (i) EEAGF

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations except for business combination
under common control. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair

values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition date fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required by IFRS

Accounting Standards.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising

from such re-measurement are recognized in profit or loss.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(a) Consolidation (Continued)

(ii)  Business combination (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is a financial asset or liability is
recognized in accordance with IFRS 9 in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted

for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognized and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference

is recognized directly in profit or loss.

(a) FREARR(E)
(i) RBEEG(E)
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

(a) Consolidation (Continued)

(iif)

(iv)

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without
change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net
identifiable assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity.
Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests

are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the
date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognized in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive income
("OCI") in respect of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognized in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss, or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/

permitted by applicable IFRSs Accounting Standards.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant

influence but not control or joint control.

(a) Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting
in accordance with IAS 28. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recognized at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognize the investor's
share of the profit or loss and share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee after the date of
acquisition. Dividends received or receivable from associates
are recognized as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment. The Group's investments in these associates
include goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any
accumulated impairment loss. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group's share of the net fair value
of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted
for as goodwill and included as part of the carrying amount of

the investments.

If the ownership interest in an associate in the form of ordinary
shares is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognized in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss

where appropriate.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

(@) Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares

(Continued)

The Group's share of the associates’ post-acquisition profit
or loss is recognized in profit or loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income or
loss is recognized in other comprehensive income or loss. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against
the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf

of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investments in the
associate are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and presented the amount as a separate line item adjacent to
the share of the associate’s results in the consolidated income

statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognized in the Group's consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of unrelated investor's interests in the
associates. Unrealized losses are eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are

recognized in profit or loss.
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(b)

(a)

(b)

For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Investments in associates in the form of redeemable

convertible preferred shares

Investments in associates in the form of redeemable
convertible preferred shares or ordinary shares with preferential
rights shares are accounted as financial assets measured at fair

value through profit or loss.

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
group entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The Company's functional currency is
USD as its key activities and transactions are denominated in
USD. The Company’s primary subsidiaries are incorporated
in the PRC and these subsidiaries considered RMB as their
functional currency. As the major operations of the Group
are within the PRC, the Group determined to present its

consolidated financial statements in RMB.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-
measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in profit or

loss.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognized in profit or loss as part of the fair value

changes.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

(c) Group companies () EBATHE

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as

follows:

assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at the

date of that statement of financial position;

income and expenses for each income statement and
statement of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the rate on the

dates of the transactions); and

all resulting currency translation differences are

recognized in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognized in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid,
the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit or

loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Currency
translation differences arising are recognized in other

comprehensive income.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical costs less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses (if
any). Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable

to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss

during the financial period in which they are incurred.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognized in “Other gains/

losses — net”in the consolidated income statement.

Construction in progress represents office building and leasehold
improvements under construction. Construction in progress is

stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses (if any).

Cost includes the costs of construction and acquisition, and
capitalized costs attributable to the construction during the
period of construction. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction in progress until such time as the relevant assets are
completed and ready for intended use. When the assets concerned
are available for use, the costs are transferred to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment and depreciated in

accordance with the policy as set out in Note 14.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and
represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the
Group's interest in net fair value of the net identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets

acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents
the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is

monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is
compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher
of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognized immediately as an expense and is

not subsequently reversed.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(b) Intangible assets other than goodwill with indefinite

(c)

useful life

Intangible assets other than goodwill that have indefinite
useful life primarily include certain trade name acquired in
business combination which are recognized at fair values at
the date of the acquisition. The Group evaluates indefinite-
lived intangible assets at each reporting period to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support
an indefinite useful life. Intangible assets that have an
indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be

impaired.

Other intangible assets with definite useful lives

Other intangible assets with definite useful lives mainly
including trade names (other than those as mentioned in
Note 41.5(b) above), business and customer relationships,
technology platform, business cooperation arrangements and
internet domain names are stated at cost less accumulated

amortization and impairment losses (if any).
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

(d) Research and development expenditures (d) FFEEFXX

Research expenditure is recognized as an expense as incurred.
Costs incurred on development projects (relating to the design
and testing of new or improved products) are capitalized
as intangible assets when recognition criteria are fulfilled.
These criteria include: (1) it is technically feasible to complete
the software product so that it will be available for use; (2)
management intends to complete the software product and
use or sell it; (3) there is an ability to use or sell the software
product; (4) it can be demonstrated how the software product
will generate probable future economic benefits; (5) adequate
technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the software product are
available; and (6) the expenditure attributable to the software
product during its development can be reliably measured.
Other development expenditures that do not meet those

criteria are recognized as expenses as incurred.

Development costs previously recognized as expenses are
not recognized as assets in subsequent periods. Capitalized
development costs are amortized from the point at which the
assets are ready for use on a straight-line basis over their useful

lives.

All development costs incurred by the Group during the
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 do not meet the

capitalization criteria and hence are fully expensed off.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F

MARINELERERRFAXZ o F
BEIA B E AR (BERE RS
SR BCEEmB ) NF & 1
REBERERAMBBILEE - %5
RERLE - (1) TERZBR M EmIARE
Hu e AR E=ATITH 5 (2)
EEEARTXAERLHEZE
HER  ()BRNEARHEZRH
HEm  (4) Al BB E man
EERE 7 8 H IR R R E A

(5)8 B HEIEAM ~ BRI E At
é‘ﬁmﬁﬁzﬁ%ﬁ%’fﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ B
Em o 1 (6) % &&= fh 1 5 3 ER
NIEMEHI S BERT SE b At 8 o HAth
PIEZSBENFER T NES
R R BRI o

BT HERR 23 B S B0 B SR AR I S R
FER IR AEE - EENMER
MERAE B E R HEARRER
ERFHABAERE -

AEBHE—_ZT_MER T
F+=A :+—EI¢¢F§*§$E’\JP)’T
BRBERAL T EHBEEREF
% FE B -



For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Intangible assets other than goodwill that have an indefinite
useful life or intangible assets not ready to use are not subject
to amortization and are tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
they might be impaired. Assets that are subject to depreciation
and amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
might not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the

impairment at each reporting date.

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through profit

or loss), and
those to be measured at amortized cost.
The classification depends on the Group's business model for

managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the

cash flows.
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(a)

(b)

(c)

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be
recorded either in profit or loss or in other comprehensive
income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend
on the business model in which the investment is held.
For investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to present
subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive

income.

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only when

its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognized on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards

of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or

loss are expensed in profit or loss.
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(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement

categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortized cost: assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortized cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at amortized cost and is
not part of a hedging relationship is recognized in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognized or impaired.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in
“other gains/losses — net” using the effective interest rate

method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income: assets
that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive income, except
for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains and losses which
are recognized in profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognized in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognized in other gains/losses — net. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment expenses are

presented in other gains/losses — net.
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(c) Measurement (Continued) (c) STE ()
Debt instruments (Continued) EHTLA (&)
Fair value through profit or loss: assets that do not meet - BRARBEFEEEEHIA
the criteria for amortized cost or FVOC| are measured Ba  TRHEHERATIRA
at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a REEFEEEEB T ARM
debt instrument that is subsequently measured at fair PHEWEEEZ BETVRAD
value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging BB 2 A LB ABmat
relationship is recognized in profit or loss and presented B HgRAREENERER
net in profit or loss within “fair value changes on FB)Et ABa B IE A PR
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss” F—Hr2E WI/E\W 5 3
in the period in which it arises. BRERANER  WHREESE

Eﬁf‘aﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ%‘iﬁﬁiﬂﬁ
FAERENKREARER
“@JJ REFBEFHE

Equity instruments #m T A

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments AEBHBERAABEAZEMERE
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected @IRE - MAREEREDEERN
to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments HEmrElm2ERIEEZAR
in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent BEWZREE - AR R IEERIL
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss HRER  AABEKEREET
following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from BENOEEEZ - ERKEKER
such investments continue to be recognized in profit or loss as R ERRESI B - R E 2]
other income when the Group's right to receive payments is BEEBRENBaTHERABE M
established. Ao

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value EAREBEFEEEEHTABR
through profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss and HEMEENAABEZESNER
presented in the consolidated income statement as “fair value PR - WG ERERNENN R
changes on investments measured at fair value through profit [RARBEFEEEZHTAE
orloss” HHIREQAABEEE] -
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(d) Impairment

The Group has the following types of financial assets subject to
IFRS 9's expected credit loss model:

trade receivables for sales of goods or provision of

services; and

other receivables

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortized cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk. Note 3.1(b) details how the Group
determines whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and also the information about the impairment of

trade and other receivables.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
when a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.
The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and
if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates
certain derivatives as either:

hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a

firm commitment (fair value hedges),

hedges of a particular risk associated with the cash flows of
recognised assets and liabilities and highly probable forecast
transactions (cash flow hedges), or

hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net
investment hedges).
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At the inception of the hedging, the Group documents the
economic relationship between hedging instruments and hedged
items, including whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging
instruments are expected to offset changes in the cash flows of
hedges items. The Group documents its risk management objective

and strategy for undertaking its hedge transactions.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised
in cash flow hedge reserve within equity. The gain or loss relating
to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or
loss within other income or other (losses)/gains -net. When a
hedging instrument expires, or is sold or terminated, or when a
hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any
cumulative deferred gain or loss and deferred costs of hedging in
equity at that time remains in equity until the forecast transaction
occurs, resulting in the recognition of a non-financial asset such as
inventory. When the forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the cumulative gain or loss and deferred costs of hedging
that were reported in equity are immediately reclassified to profit or

loss.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit

or loss and are included in other (losses)/gains — net.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less and cash held in
accounts managed by other financial institutions (i.e. cash held
in payment platforms which can be withdrawn at any time at the

Group's discretion).
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Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortized
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption amount is recognized in profit or loss over the

period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent that there is
no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it

relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the end of
the reporting period, the Group has a right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on or before
the end of the reporting period, are considered in classifying loan
arrangements with covenants as current or non-current. Covenants
that the Group is required to comply with after the reporting period

do not affect the classification at the reporting date.

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are
capitalized during the period of time that is required to complete
and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get

ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are

incurred.
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The income tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred income tax. Income tax is recognized in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other
comprehensive income or loss or directly in equity. In this case, the
income tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or

loss or directly in equity, respectively.

(@) Currentincome tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of each reporting period in the countries/territories where
the Group and its associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation, and it considers whether
it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment. It establishes provisions where appropriate on

the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(b) Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred income
tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is

settled.
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(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Inside basis differences (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available

against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries
and associates, except for deferred income tax liability where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally,
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the temporary
difference for associates. Only when there is an agreement in
place that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal
of the temporary difference in the foreseeable future, deferred
income tax liability in relation to taxable temporary differences
arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is not

recognized.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries
and associates only to the extent that it is probable the
temporary difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against which the temporary

difference can be utilized.
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(c)

(a)

(b)

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset where there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current income tax assets
against current income tax liabilities and where the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle

the balances on a net basis.

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected to be
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service are recognized
in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented
as current other payables and accruals in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

Defined contribution plans

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution plans organized by the relevant governmental
authorities. The Group's liability in respect of these plans
is limited to the contributions payable in each period.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred. Assets

of the plans are held and managed by government authorities.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonuses is recognized as a liability
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
for payment of bonus as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made. Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within one year and are measured at the amounts expected to

be paid when they are settled.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.
Employee entitlements to sick and maternity leave are not

recognized until the time of leave.

Share-based compensation

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates share incentive plan, under which it
receives services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (restricted shares units (“RSUs") and share options)
of the Company. The fair value of the services received in
exchange for the grant of the equity instruments (RSUs and
share options) is recognized as an expense in profit or loss with

a corresponding increase in equity.
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(e) Share-based compensation (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

In terms of the shares, RSUs and share options awarded to
employees or directors, the total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of equity instruments

(RSUs and share options) granted:

Including any market performance conditions;

Excluding the impact of any service and non-market

performance vesting conditions; and

Including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

Non-marketing performance and service conditions are
included in calculation of the number of RSUs and share
options that are expected to vest. The total amount expensed
is recognized over the vesting period, which is the period over

which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

The Company grants its equity instruments to employees of
its subsidiaries to exchange for their services related to the
subsidiaries. Accordingly, the share-based compensation
expenses, which are recognized in the financial statements,
are treated as part of the “Investments in subsidiaries” in the

Company's statement of financial position.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

(e) Share-based compensation (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of RSUs and share options that are
expected to vest based on the non-marketing performance and
service conditions. It recognizes the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding

adjustment to equity.

When the share options are exercised, the Company issues
new ordinary shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital
and share premium. Where there is any modification of terms
and conditions which increases the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, the Group includes the incremental fair
value granted in the measurement of the amount recognized
for the services received over the remainder of the vesting
period. The incremental fair value is the difference between
the fair value of the modified equity instrument and that of the
original equity instrument, both estimated as of the date of the
modification. An expense based on the incremental fair value is
recognized over the period from the modification date to the
date when the modified equity instruments vest in addition to
any amount in respect of the original instrument, which should
continue to be recognized over the remaining of the original

vesting period.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ ZZEZWF+ A =+—HILFE

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not

recognized for further operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any

one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the management’s
best estimate of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is

recognized as interest expense.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial
assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-
impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is applied to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the

loss allowance).

Interest income from financial assets measured at fair value is
recognized in profit or loss as part of “fair value changes on

investments measured at fair value through profit or loss”.

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F

HAKRBREBEEHMABREE
HEFEEE MEITREEETES
2ERRL - BSOS ERER &
HWiEE - RIS HREE - RRKEE
BHARER R -

MEZRBUERE - AIEENEME
BV B AT BEIE DR B E AR B Y B
REEMET - MEER—EEER
FrEsnER—EEBEEENERR
HARTBEMEARIE - (/R HER B -

BRERARREEHSHSERREE
REEFERRZAFEZHALE
REEEEHAHETEECMEX L
ZEREMRFTZRENE - BERRR
I I BBHER B EFAX -

*‘JEH&)\EL%@F’E%A RMERE B
BEERMAENRTE  HRERLERE
%ﬁﬁ%%mﬁﬁ%%ﬁl\ cBEBEAERFEE
HMENEBREENS @ EAERR
RN REENREFE (HIRERE
Bi&) -

BARBEFEZZBEENN S
ARBERERRRARBENERR
BHABSNREAAEEED N

— &k

o



For the year ended December 31,2024 BlZE —E - NF+ - A=+—HIFE

Interest income on financial assets at amortized cost calculated
using the effective interest method is recognized in profit or loss as

part of “other (losses)/gains — net”.

Interest income is presented as “finance income” where it is earned

from financial assets that are held for cash management purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of

the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less

any lease incentives receivable

variable lease payments that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual

value guarantees

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise that option,
lease payments to be made under an extension option if the

Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease

term reflects the Group exercising that option.
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For the year ended December 31,2024 BZ —E - NFE+ - A=+—HILFE

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining

balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date less any lease incentive received;

any initial direct costs; and

restoration costs.

Entity-specific details about the Group's leasing policy are provided
in Note 15(b).

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being
appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the
entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not

distributed at the end of the reporting period.
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In this annual report, unless the context otherwise require, the following RAFR  BRXESEREIN UTHA=ZAEE

expressions shall have the following meaning:

“2016 Share Incentive Plan”

[ —F—RFBRO AR S ]

“2018 Share Incentive Plan”

[—F— N\FR BT S

2019 RSU Plan”

[ZE—NFRRH
Retn Bz EtE) ]

“2019 Share Option Plan”

[—E—NFERETE ]

2022 RSU Plan”

[T —FXRHIKH5
BAETE ]

2022 Share Option Plan”

[T - —FHERETE

“2024 Share Scheme”

[ MFERHFE )

AGM”

[RRBFEAE ]

"APP"
[ERREF]

WMTRE -

the share incentive plan adopted and approved by the Company on August 26,
2016
RRABRZZT—RENR Z X BERARBE R B T2

the share incentive plan adopted and approved by the Company on March 9, 2018
RARRZE—NF= AN B ERA R AR5 SR E

the 2019 restricted share unit plan adopted and approved by the Company on July
2,2019
RABRZZE—NFELAZARARMEN T - NFZBRHIRG ELFHE

the 2019 share option plan approved by an ordinary resolution passed by
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company on August 2, 2019
ARBARRR-_ZB-NFNAAZRARNBRRFIIAE DBB T RRERIE
BTN EFEREE

the 2022 restricted share unit plan adopted and approved by the Company on
March 22,2022
ARARR B _F=RA -+ HEMARIEN T - — FRRHIRD BT

£

the 2022 share option plan approved by an ordinary resolution passed by
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company on
May 31, 2022

RARRRR_ZE__FAA=+—BARNREBFARE LBEBERARSE
HOER T~ —FRBAERTE

the 2024 share scheme approved and adopted by the Company at the annual
general meeting held on June 26, 2024
RARRZZBEZMFARAZTARBERORFBFRG HHERKANHN T =
PO Bzt 5 &l

the 2024 annual general meeting of the Company to be held on June 26, 2025 or
any adjournment thereof

ARARBR B -RAFRAZTARARTHN T - IFERRBEFRGHEEM
Ee

artificial intelligence
ALERE

Application
fERRF
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"APUS"
[FREBRF

“Articles of Association”

"Audit Committee”
[EZZEE]

“Beijing E-dragon”

Mg |

“Board”
[EEg
“Business Day(s)"

[&%A ]

“China” or "PRC”
[ ]

“Company”

[ARA] ]

“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”

(R EER

“Contractual Arrangement(s)”

[BHIZHE]

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F

annual paying users

FNEAP

the fifth amended and restated articles of association of the Company adopted on
June 26, 2024, as amended from time to time
RZTZWFRAZTREERANEE LRIER] REIIARRRABEIRME
(B BFEET)

the audit committee of the Board
EX2EREES

Beijing eLong Information Technology Co., Ltd. (At REEE BRITERAAF), a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on November 28,
2000, which is one of the Contractual Arrangement Entities
IREEFEERMARAT  RZZEZF+ - AT\ BRBEHBUEEK L
WEREERR - RAENLERZ —

the board of directors of the Company
RRBESE

any day(s) on which the stock exchange on which shares of the Company are
traded is open for the transactions of business

ARRRMETEEZBF R GMETEBR S ZEMAF

People’s Republic of China
hE AR AME

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited (RIF2ARITIZERRE R A R]) (formerly known
as Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited (Ef2ZBEZER AR A F])), an exempted
company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands
on January 14,2016

FERRITIERER AT (ABRBEEERERAR)  RZEZ—REF—-A+MH
HiRBEREREEAETMKINEREERAA

the entities we control through certain contractual arrangements

BIEBETAORIHEN TR

the series of contractual arrangements entered into by, among others, E-dragon
Beijing WFOE, Longyue Tiancheng WFOE and the Contractual Arrangement Entities,
details of which are described in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements”in
the Prospectus

B (Hh &48) Z34b —RWFOE ~ BN RBWFOE R AN L HF B R8PTRT L H) — R 7|
BRRY FEIARBRER[EHRY | —&



"CG code” or “Corporate
Governance Code”
[feEER~FA

“C-Travel”

[ C-Travel]

‘DAU"
[BRBAF]

“Director(s)”

[E=%]

“E-dragon Beijing WFOE"

[ #4384t RWFOE |

‘eLong” or “"eLong Cayman”

(B R [2EHRE]

“eLong Cayman Privatization”

[BEHSLAL]

“ESG”
[ESG]

"ESG Committee”
[IRE  HEkEREEE]

“GMV”
[R5

"Group", "vve”, "US”, or "our”

[ZREE ]3]
"HKD"

&)

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

EFRAIMERC FRE MR EERST A

C-Travel International Limited, a limited liability company incorporated under the
laws of the Cayman Islands on March 3, 2006 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Trip.com Group

C-Travel International Limited * R=FZEF= A= ARBER SR SEETMK
UHWERBEAR  WAKEENZENELA

daily active user

HZRAP

the director(s) of the Company

ARABES

eLong Net Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (E8EA{E BRI (HLR) R
AR]), a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established under the laws of the PRC on
August 17, 1999 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
BEMAELEMNGER) BARAE R—UANENR+HBREFBEEEKRY
WINEBERE  RARANEENB AR

elong Inc, a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on
May 19, 2004
elonginc.' RZZEZEMFRA+NARERSHEAEZEMELAEEH

has the meaning ascribed to it in page 102 of the Prospectus

ERBRERFEI02B/E T 2BE

environmental, social, and governance
RE - HERER

the environmental, social and governance committee of the Board
EEQRE HeREREES

gross merchandise volume, the total value of merchandise sold in the specified
market or through a specified platform during a given period

EmX 5% MERERBAEREREBAEETE LHENERAE

the Company, its subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entities from time to time

ARAF - ETROHEARRHRGEER

Hong Kong Dollar, the lawful currency in circulation of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of China

REBRBRNITHREAEERBER
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“Hong Kong”
(&%) e

“ICP License(s)"

[ICPEFAI & 15
“IFRS"
[ BARE B 75 R 5 22 A | 5

‘Independent Third Party(ies)”

[BZE=77] e

“Latest Practicable Date”

[EIEERRAI1THE e
“Listing”

[ £ e
“Listing Date”

[EH A e
“Listing Rules”

[ETRAI |

“Longyue Tiancheng WFOE"

[ et RF2WFOE | 15

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
hEARAMBEEBEFRITHER

Value added Telecommunications Services Operating Permit for Internet
information services

S EBEESRE AL EE N EE LR

IFRS Accounting Standards (comprising IFRS Accounting Standards and IAS

Standards, as well as their amendments and interpretations) as issued from time to

time by the International Accounting Standards Board

B &5 QEE‘J@$AT51€*%E’JI5%€EMR$& ERH SR (REBRBRI %
EEHEANBR G ERARE BRI RARRE)

third party(ies) independent of the Company and its connected persons (as
defined under the Listing Rules)
BYRARBIREBEAT (ERR EMHRA)WE=H

April 22, 2025, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this annual
report for the purpose of ascertaining the information contained herein
“ECRFNAZ+TZH - BIAFRGENRIEE P AEE TERNRRER
AJ{7 A Hf

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, which occurred
on the Listing Date
PRAA I LT B BB X AT AR BT

November 26, 2018, the date on which the Shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange

“E-N\ET-AZTARB BROHRBRATIRETEEH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BEBMARSMARARESZ EWARR - B TRER] - R EMT MBS

Suzhou Longyue Tiancheng Venture Capital Group Co., Ltd (&M BE1R K2 AR
BAEEABRAT]), a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established under the laws
of the PRC on September 7, 2017 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
BMENRIEAEREEBARAR  RZZE—+tFNAEHRBHBUEEK
VEINEBERE  RARANEENB LR



“Main Board”

[E1R]

“Marketing Services Framework

Agreement”

[ & S5 AR AE IR 1h o3

“Model Code”

[EZEsrAl

“MPUs"

[ANERF]

“Nomination Committee”

[R2R 8]

"OTA
AR IR & |

“Prospectus”

[HHR =2 ]

“Remuneration Committee”

[FHEZEg)]

“Reorganization”

(&4

“Reporting Period”
[R5 50

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operates in parallel with the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange
HEBRMEENESR S (T RIGHETIS) - IR PIGEM » WEE I
1TEE

the marketing services framework agreement entered into between the Company
and Tencent Computer on August 29, 2019 (as amended on October 11, 2020)
AAREBAAEMTI VMR _T-NENAZ TN BN EHERBIER R
(RZZ_ZF+HB+—HB1&:])

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
ETRBIMERCIPAE LM BT AESETER R HHERESTR

monthly paying users who make purchases on our platforms at least once during a

calendar month

—EAEARKMNFEELEE-RNANERF

nomination committee of the Board

ExgR®w%Be

online travel agency

AR IRE T &

the prospectus dated November 14, 2018 issued by the Company
RRBR-T—N\F+—HA+HBFIENERER

the remuneration committee of the Board

ExgFMEES

the reorganization arrangements undertaken by the Group in preparation for the
Listing

AEBERBHELTMETHEALY

the financial year ended December 31, 2024
HE_Z-_NF+_-_A=+—HIHBFEE
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“RMB”
AR ]

“RSU(s)"
52 BR i1 A 7 Bz |

SEO”

[ &% R HAE 5 ]

“Share(s)"

[Bfn ]

“Shareholder(s)”
AR ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B¢ 32 7

“substantial shareholder(s)”

[EEMIR ]

“Supplemental Marketing Services

Framework Agreement”

[ 78 & SH BRI AE 2R 7 o

“Suzhou Chengyi”

[ I2E

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited | Ef2MRITIEIRAER A F

Renminbi, the lawful currency of China

ARE - s EEE S

restricted share unit(s)
IR AR 0 BB

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BEREDIFESNB(ELSRAEERD) - K TRER] - FRRIAEMT BN

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, currently of nominal value
USD0.0005 each
A R AN 3R 45 AR T {.0.0005 35 TT B 3 3 A

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHFEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEMERZGMERAT

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Rules

BA EWRRIRE T 2 8%

the supplemental marketing services framework agreement dated October 11,
2020 entered into between the Company and Tencent Computer to amend
certain annual caps of the continuing connected transactions under the Marketing
Services Framework Agreement
AAREEAFTERIIEMA—TS _SF+ A+ —BOFEAE HIRBIER D
# o NERT B HRBERGEE THEFERSINETEFE LR

Suzhou Chengyi Internet Technology Limited (B&MNI2ERERIIRERAR)), a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on March 21, 2018,
which is one of the Contractual Arrangement Entities

BMNERBEARRERLAR R N\F=AZ T —BREBRBUEEKH
BREMERT - RENLHERZ—



“Tencent”

[ &R

“Tencent-based platforms”

[BERETFE]

“Tencent Group”

(s

“Tongcheng Network”

[R2A84 ]

“Tongcheng Holdings”

[ R3]

Tencent Holdings Limited, a company redomiciled to the Cayman Islands on
February 27, 2004 as an exempted company under the laws of the Cayman Islands,
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 700)

BAIERERAR  —BMRETNF-_A-++AREFASHEL2EAE
HRENRBMERSHSORR - ERHEFTERERZMERAF R LT
(Bt R5% - 700)

(i) our proprietary Weixin-based mini programs, which can be accessible by Weixin
users through the “Rail & Flight” and “Hotel” portals in Weixin Wallet, the mobile
payment interface of Tencent’'s Weixin or from the drop-down list of the favorite or
most frequently used mini programs in Weixin; and (ii) the “Rail & Flight”and “Hotel”
in QQ Wallet, the mobile payment interface of Tencent’s Mobile QQ and certain
other portals in Mobile QQ

HWEAWENEF  MERFMBRAKREES (BAMENBIHZNRE) B
[NEEREIRDAEE I AQSRMERESKERNMEFO TR KD E
A R(NQQER (BEREOMABBQQNRAME) KBEHQQHE THMA
AEy [ NEREE | R DA ]

Tencent, its subsidiaries and its controlled entities

B - EMB AR REEHEE

Tongcheng Network Technology Limited (FRIF2#84BHERR (D ERAF]), a joint
stock limited company established under the laws of the PRC on March 10, 2004,
which is one of the Contractual Arrangement Entities

FARAERBEROERAR - RZZZMF= A+ HRBERBEER ARG
BRAGE REDTHERZ—

Tongcheng Holdings Co., Ltd. (RIF2IEARRMDBR AT, a joint stock limited
company established under the laws of the PRC on March 17, 2017 pursuant to a
spin-off from Tongcheng Network
FRRERBRHERRE - —MREBEREEES LU RBHPEEZER_T—+F
=R+t BEZHIRG BRAR]
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“Tongcheng Online Business”

[RIF2 AR 575

“Trip.com Group”

)
"TSP(s)"
e A 6
"UsD”
%5

Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited

BRERITERBRAF

the online business unit of Tongcheng Network which comprises transportation
ticketing, accommodation reservation and certain other travel-related online
services offered through its online platforms

FREMKNGR CEBEN  BIERBHR T TARHNBERT - EERI R
T EHA KRR E SRR

Trip.com Group Limited, previously known as Ctrip.com International, Ltd., a
limited liability company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on
March 3, 2000 whose shares are listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: TCOM) and the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9961)

Trip.com Group Limited (AT#ECtrip.com International, Ltd. * —fAIR =TT F =
RA=AREHSHSEETMRINBR AR - KO EMETER B (kK
IR TCOM) RFEBEAZ P MR £ (B HR5E : 9961)

travel service provider(s)

R AR5 (e P

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America

XL XBUEEE
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Tongcheng Travel Holdings Limited
BERRTERERQE
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